Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in Autistic Adolescents:

An Examination of British and Turkish Families

Emre Deniz

Doctor of Philosophy

University of York

Education

August 2023

Abstract

Sibling bullying is highly prevalent and associated with a range of mental health difficulties. However, the question of whether this is a direct link or an indirect correlation remains unclear. In addition, families where a child is autistic appear to be at heightened risk for sibling bullying, though this population remains under-researched. Moreover, findings from single-culture research indicate varying rates of sibling bullying across cultures, though, to date, there is no cross-cultural understanding of sibling bullying. Finally, Covid-19 holds the potential to trigger sibling bullying, but there is no research yet examining this issue.

To close this knowledge gap, this thesis investigates the dynamics of sibling bullying in families of autistic adolescents from a Western (United Kingdom) and non-Western (Turkey) culture during Covid-19. It uses primary data from parents of 299 British and 171 Turkish autistic adolescents and secondary data from 416 British autistic adolescents.

Findings indicate that about two-thirds of autistic adolescents are involved in sibling bullying, with British ones showing slightly higher rates than their Turkish peers. In addition, sibling bullying appears to be indirectly linked to mental health through detrimental social behaviours (British & Turkish) and emotional regulation and self-esteem (British). Also, individual and family-level correlates of sibling bullying vary between British and Turkish cultures. Finally, Covid-19 seems to have had triple impacts on sibling relationships – negative, positive, and no impact – with its negative impact triggering instances of sibling conflict.

To conclude, British autistic adolescents are at an increased risk for being involved in sibling bullying than their Turkish peers. Additionally, sibling bullying indirectly leads to mental health difficulties through social and emotional dysfunction, and this indirect link varies across cultures. Also, varying risk factors of sibling bullying across cultures highlight the need for culturally sensitive prevention strategies. Finally, there is an increased need for effective prevention strategies due to the heightened risk of sibling bullying during Covid-19.

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Table of Contents	3
List of Tables	10
List of Figures	11
Acknowledgements	12
Declaration	13
Studies	14
Abbreviations	15
Chapter 1: Introduction	17
1.1 Significance of Studying Sibling Bullying	17
1.2 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Untangling the Relationship	
1.3 Sibling Bullying When A Child Is Autistic: An Overlooked Population	19
1.4 Investigating Sibling Bullying Across Cultures	20
1.4.1 The Case of the Untied Kingdom and Turkey	
1.5 Researching Sibling Bullying During Covid-19	22
1.5.1 Personal Reflection	
1.6 Problem Statement	24
1.7 The Current Thesis	24
References	27
Chapter 2: Literature Review	34
2.1 Autism	
2.1.1 Conceptualisation of Autism	
2.1.2 Prevalence of Autism	
2.1.3 Social, Behavioural and Emotional Characteristics of Autistic Children	

2.2 Sibling Relationships	
2.2.1 The Sibling Bond	
2.2.2 The Double-Edged Characteristics of Sibling Relationships	
2.3 Sibling Bullying	
2.3.1 Definition and Conceptualisation	
2.3.2 Theoretical Background	
2.3.3 Empirical Evidence	
2.4 Autism and Sibling Bullying	64
2.4.1 Theoretical Explanation	
2.4.2 Empirical Findings	
2.5 Sibling Bullying in Cross-Cultural Context	68
2.6 Sibling Bullying During Covid-19	70
	71
2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis eferences hapter 3: A Feasibility Check 3.1 Introduction 	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis eferences hapter 3: A Feasibility Check	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis eferences hapter 3: A Feasibility Check 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Methods	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis eferences hapter 3: A Feasibility Check 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Methods	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis eferences hapter 3: A Feasibility Check 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Methods 3.2 Methods 3.2.1 Ethics Statement 3.2.2 Study Location 3.2.3 Recruitment Strategy 3.2.4 Inclusion Criteria 3.2.5 Measures 3.2.6 Feasibility Evaluation 3.3 Results and Discussion 3.3.1 Sample Characteristics 3.2.2 Research Question 1. 	
 2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis eferences hapter 3: A Feasibility Check 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Methods 3.2.1 Ethics Statement 3.2.2 Study Location 3.2.3 Recruitment Strategy 3.2.4 Inclusion Criteria 3.2.5 Measures 3.2.6 Feasibility Evaluation 3.3 Results and Discussion 3.3.1 Sample Characteristics 3.3.2 Research Question 1 3.3.3 Research Question 2 	

3.3.5 Research Question 4	
3.4 Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 4: Study-I: Sibling Bullying in Turkish Adoles Cultural Validation of the Sibling Bullying Questionnai	cents: Translation and Cross- ire124
4.1 Introduction	
4.1.1 The Current Study	
4.2 Method	
4.2.1 Ethical Statement	
4.2.2 Participants	
4.2.3 Sample Characteristics	
4.2.4 Measures	
4.2.5 Data Analyses	
4.2.6 Missing Data	
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Factor Structure of the T-SBQ	
4.3.2 Reliability of the T-SBQ	
4.3.3 Validity of the T-SBQ	
4.3.4 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying	
4.4 Discussion	
4.4.1 Factor Structure of the T-SBQ	
4.4.2 Reliability	
4.4.3 Validity	
4.4.4 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying	
4.4.5 Strengths, Limitations, and Implications	
4.4.6 Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 5: Study II: Sibling Bullying and Mental Healt Adolescents: The Role of Social and Emotional Functio	h in British and Turkish Autistic ning157

5.1 Introduction	159
5.1.1 Risk Factors and Consequences of Sibling Bullying	
5.1.2 Sibling Bullying in Cross-Cultural Context	
5.1.3 The Current Study	
5.2 Methods	164
5.2.1 Ethics Statement	
5.2.2 Design	
5.2.3 Sampling	
5.2.4 Participants	
5.2.5 Measures	
5.2.6 Data Analyses	
5.3 Results	169
5.3.1 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying	
5.3.2 Risk Factors for Sibling Bullying	
5.3.3 Behavioural and Mental Health Correlates of Sibling Bullying	
5.3.4 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Indirect Associations	
5.4 Discussion	178
5.4.1 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying	
5.4.2 Risk Factors for Sibling Bullying	
5.4.3 Direct Correlates of Sibling Bullying	
5.4.4 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Indirect Associations	
5.4.5 Strengths and Limitations	
5.4.6 Conclusions and Suggestions	
References	
Chapter 6: Study III: A Longitudinal Study of Sibling Bullying and Menta Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Self-esteem	l Health in 195
6.1 Introduction	
6.1.1 The Current Study	
6.2 Methods	

6.2.1 Ethics Statement	
6.2.2 Sampling Autistic Adolescents	
6.2.3 Measures	
6.2.4 Covariates	
6.2.5 Statistical Analyses	
6.3 Results	210
6.3.1 Sample Characteristics	
6.3.2 Demographic Correlates of Interest Variables	
6.3.3 Path Analyses	
6.3.4 Covariates (Mediation)	
6.3.5 Sensitivity Findings	
6.4 Discussion	
6.4.1 Demographic Correlates	
6.4.2 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health and Wellbeing	
6.4.3 Sibling Bullying and Self-Esteem	
6.4.4 Self-Esteem, Mental Health, and Wellbeing	
6.4.5 Strengths and Limitations	
6.4.6 Conclusions and Implications	
References	
Chapter 7: Study IV: Sibling Relationships and Parental Interventions to Sib Bullying During Covid-19: A Qualitative Comparison of British and Turkish	ling Families
of Autistic Adolescents	241
7.1 Introduction	
7.1.1 Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships in Families with an autistic child	
7.1.2 Sibling Relationships in Cross-Cultural Context During Covid-19	246
7.1.3 The current study	
7.2 Methods	251
7.2.1 Ethical Approval	
7.2.2 Sampling	

7.2.3 Participants	
7.2.4 Measures	
7.2.5 Coding Frame and Analysis	
7.3 Results	256
7.3.1 The Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships	
7.3.2 Parental Response to Sibling Bullying	
7.4 Discussion	270
7.4.1 Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships	
7.4.2 Parental Interventions to Sibling Bullying	
7.4.3 Strengths and Limitations	
7.4.4 Conclusions and Suggestions	
References	276
Chapter 8: Key Findings, Integrated Discussion, and General Conclusions	
8.1 Summary of Key Findings	
8.1.1 Prevalence and Correlates of Sibling Bullying Across Cultures	
8.1.2 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Direct and Indirect Links	
8.1.3 Triggering Impacts of Covid-19 on Sibling Bullying and Parental Interventions	
8.2 Integrated Discussion	
8.2.1 Sibling Bullying Is Highly Prevalent	
8.2.2 The Risk of Sibling Bullying Potentially Heightens When A Sibling Has Autism	
8.2.3 Correlates of Sibling Bullying Vary Across Cultures	
8.2.4 There Are Indirect Paths From Sibling Bullying To Mental Health	
8.2.5 Covid-19 May Led To Inconsistent Rates of Sibling Bullying Across Cultures	
8.2.6 Parental Responses to Sibling Bullying Seem to Be Consistent Across Cultures	
8.3 Strengths	
8.4. Limitations	
8.5 Practical Implications	
8.6 Directions for Future Research	

8.7 General Conclusions			
References			
Appendices		327	
Appendix I:	Study-I Supplementary Materials		
Appendix II:	Study-II Supplementary Materials		
Appendix III:	Study-III Supplementary Materials		
Appendix IV:	Study-IV Supplementary Materials		

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Scale Modifications in the Parents' Survey
Table 4.1 Sociodemographic characteristics of the sample $(N = 301)$
Table 4.2 Fit summary of CFA models (N=301) 139
Table 4.3 Standardized Estimates of Item Factor Loadings based on the CFA (N=301)139
Table 4.4 The reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) of the scales and subscales
(N = 301)141
Table 4.5 Sibling bullying involvement by age and gender ($N = 301$)
Table 4.6 Frequency of Type of Sibling Bullying by Gender (N=301) 144
Table 5.1 Behavioural and Mental Health Correlates of Sibling Bullying: Direct
Associations173
Table 5.2 Psychosocial Correlates of Sibling Bullying: Indirect Associations
Table 6.1 Point Biserial Correlations between the Potential Covariates and Interest
Variables (N=416)211
Table 6.2 Zero-order Correlations between the Interest Variables (Spearman's Rs,
N=416)
Table 6.3 SEM Paths (N=415)
Table 6.4 Mediation Results (n=415)
Table 7.1 Demographic Characteristics of Siblings by Country
Table 7.2 Impacts of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships: Codes, Subcategories, and
Categories257
Table 7.3 Parents' Responses to Sibling Bullying: Codes, Subcategories, and
Categories
Table 8.1 Overview of significant correlates of sibling bullying across cultures
Table 8.2 Indirect Links Between Sibling Bullying and Mental Health

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The UK and Turkey's scores on Hofstede's cultural dimensions21
Figure 2.1 A Timeline of the Medical Definitive History of Autism40
Figure 2.2 The Prevalence of Autism Over The Past Five Decades
Figure 2.3 Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory
Figure 3.1 The Use of Two-Stage Consent In The Recruitment Process112
Figure 4.1 Model 1: First order correlated two-factor model140
Figure 5.1 Correlates of Sibling Victimisation/Perpetration by Country175
Figure 5.2 SEM-I: Sibling Bullying Victimisation and Emotional Difficulties in British
(B-SEM-I) and Turkish (T-SEM-I) Autistic Adolescents176
Figure 5.3 SEM-II: Sibling Bullying Perpetration and Emotional Difficulties in British
(B-SEM-II) and Turkish (T-SEM-II) Autistic Adolescents177
Figure 6.1 The Hypothesised Model Mediation Results
Figure 7.1 The Covid-19 Pandemic Timeline in The UK and Turkey
Figure 7.2 The Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships
Figure 7.3 Parents' Responses to Sibling Bullying

Acknowledgements

Perhaps there are many people, many of whom are unknown or unmet, who played an important role in the last four years of my PhD. Like my favourite baker, baristas who made me thousands of cups of coffee, the chef at my favourite restaurant, and those random people who made my day when I was at my lowest. Thank you all.

There are also named heroes behind the scenes of this scientific work. To begin with, I send my deepest thanks to my supervisor, Dr Umar Toseeb; without whom, none of my achievements over the past four years would have been possible. Thank you, Umar, for being the best mentor and a good friend to me throughout my PhD.

I would also like to send my special thanks to one of my best lucks at the University of York, Prof Kathryn Asbury, who has guided me and my work throughout my PhD while also always checking on me. Thank you, Kathryn, for all your support, kindness, and guidance.

Friends will not be forgotten here. I would like to thank my very dear doctoral friends, Laura Fox and Valeria Riveros Fuentes, with whom we started and ended our doctoral journeys. Thank you both for always being there for me. I would also like to thank Dr Gill Francis who has been a wonderful mentor and friend to me during the last three years of my PhD. Finally, I would like to thank my very dear friends Çağla and Kağan, who have brought me out of the darkest shades of my PhD journey countless times.

Perhaps most importantly, thank you Mom, Dad, and my lovely Siblings.

Last but not least, I want to thank me for doing all this hard work and never quitting.

Declaration

I declare that this thesis is a presentation of original work and I am the sole author. This work has not previously been presented for a degree or other qualification at this University or elsewhere. All sources are acknowledged as references.

I also declare that I wrote my thesis in journal-style academic format with the contribution of four individual studies. Adhering to the thesis formatting <u>guidelines</u> of the University of York, each study chapter consists of its own introduction, methods, results, and discussion and conclusion sections. Alongside individual study chapters, I provide an overall introduction, literature review, and discussion and conclusion chapters binding all four studies. This academic writing format inevitably leads to the repetition of some key aspects such as the presented literature, reported findings, and subsequent discussions.

I am the leading author of each study presented in this thesis. In regard to the contribution of others, my PhD supervisor, Dr Umar Toseeb, is added as a co-author in each study as he advised on the design, methodology, analysis, and revision of the papers. Additionally, the language experts in the translation committee of Study I, see below, are added as co-authors alongside my PhD supervisor. Finally, Prof. Kathryn Asbury is added as a co-author of Study-IV, see below, in recognition of her guidance on qualitative data analysis. References for each study are given as per the journal-style thesis guideline of the University of York.

Studies

Study-I: Deniz, E., Derinalp, P., Gulkanat, I., Kaz, C., Ozhan, N., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Bullying in Turkish Adolescents: Translation and Cross-Cultural Validation of the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire. *Journal of Family Violence*, *38*(2), 379-392.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-022-00360-2

Study-II: Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in British and Turkish Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Social and Emotional Functioning. <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/jvzn5</u> (Under review - Journal of Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders)

Study-III: Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2023). A longitudinal study of sibling bullying and mental health in autistic adolescents: The role of self-esteem. *Autism Research*, 16(8), 1533–1549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2987</u>

Study-IV: Deniz, E., Asbury, K., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Relationships and Parental Interventions to Sibling Bullying During Covid-19: A Qualitative Comparison of British and Turkish Families of Autistic Adolescents. <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/nqez3</u> (**Under revision** - Journal of Autism & Developmental Language Impairments)

Abbreviations

AQ	Autism Quotient
ADHD	Attention Deficits Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)
APA	American Psychiatric Association
ASC	Autism Spectrum Conditions
ASD	Autism Spectrum Disorder
ASSP	Autism Social Skills Profile
CBCL	Child Behaviour Checklist
CD	Coefficient of Determination
CDCP	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
CI	Confidence Interval
CIF	Comparative Fit Index
CLS	Centre for Longitudinal Studies
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
СТ	Coercion Theory
CPRI	Cumulative Perpetration Risk Index
CVRI	Cumulative Victimisation Risk Index
DEP	Double Empathy Problem
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
EF	Executive Function
ERC	Emotion Regulation Checklist
EST	Ecological Systems Theory
FIML	Full Information Maximum Likelihood
GFI	Goodness of Fit Indices
MAR	Missing at Random
MCAR	Missing Completely at Random
MCS	Millennium Cohort Study
MICE	Multiple Imputation by Chained Equations
ML	Maximum Likelihood

MLVM	Maximum Likelihood with Missing Values
MMR	Measles, Mumps, and Rubella
NT	Neurotypical
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
OSF	Open Science Framework
PBIS	Point Biserial
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PMM	Predictive Mean Matching
QCA	Qualitative Content Analysis
RCT	Resource Control Theory
RMSEA	Root Mean Square Error of Approximation
RSBQ	Revised Sibling Bullying Questionnaire
RSES	Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale
SBQ	Sibling Bullying Questionnaire
SD	Standard Deviation
SDQ	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
SEM	Structural Equation Model
SEN	Special Educational Needs
SWEMWS	Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale
SRMR	Standardized Root Mean Squared Residual
TLI	Tucker-Lewis Index
ТоМ	Theory of Mind
TSBQ	Turkish Sibling Bullying Questionnaire
UNICEF	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
WEIRD	Western, Industrialised, Educated, Rich, and Democratic
VIF	Variance Inflation Factor

Chapter 1: Introduction

In this chapter, I will introduce the relevance and timely value of investigating sibling bullying and mental health in families of British and Turkish autistic adolescents. I will start with the importance of researching sibling bullying, emphasising its high prevalence and harmful psychopathological consequences. Next, I will outline the nature of the link between sibling bullying and mental health underscoring the potential indirect correlations between them. Going forward, I will discuss why it is important to study sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic highlighting the fact that findings from the general population may not apply to this specific population. Moving on, I will outline the lack of cross-cultural understanding of sibling bullying and why it is needed and make a case for the value of researching sibling bullying between British and Turkish cultures. Finally, given that the conduct of this thesis coincided with the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic, I will highlight the emerging need to investigate the impacts of Covid-19 on sibling relationships and its potential triggering impacts on bullying. Here, I will also outline my personal reflection on embedding Covid-19 into this thesis. I will conclude this chapter by outlining the problem statement, overarching aim, and structure of my doctoral thesis.

1.1 Significance of Studying Sibling Bullying

Sibling bullying is highly prevalent and a major threat to the mental health of children and adolescents. Previous research has commonly shown that about one in two children is involved in sibling bullying every week (Dantchev et al., 2018, 2019; Duncan, 1999; Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke et al., 2015). With its rate exceeding prevalence estimates of peer bullying, about 20-25% (Juvonen & Graham, 2014), sibling bullying is potentially the most prevalent form of violence in children's and adolescents' lives (Hoetger et al., 2015; Perkins & Meyers, 2020; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013). Not only is sibling bullying highly prevalent, but also it leads to harmful consequences such as emotional dysregulation (Fite et al., 2022), insecure attachment (Bar-Zomer & Brunstein Klomek, 2018), antisocial and risky behaviours (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019), and various forms of mental health difficulties such as anxiety, depression, self-harm, internalising¹ and externalising problems² and poorer mental health (Bowes et al., 2014; Coyle et al., 2017; Dantchev et al., 2019; Duncan, 1999; Liu et al., 2020; Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2020b; Tucker et al., 2013). These harmful effects of sibling bullying appear to be present and long-lasting irrespective of the bullying role (i.e., the bully or the victim) (Bouchard et al., 2019) with bully-victims showing the worst outcomes (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Dantchev et al., 2019; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022). Its high prevalence and harmful consequences have brought this issue to the fore in today's scientific world.

1.2 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Untangling the Relationship

Although previous studies have shown a clear link between sibling bullying and mental health difficulties, whether this is a direct association or an indirect link through other factors has largely remained underexplored. Only one study to date, from the general population, has so far tested the nature of this association (i.e., Fite et al., 2022). These researchers have suggested that instead of a direct link sibling bullying is indirectly related to mental health difficulties. More specifically, they have found that increased rates of sibling bullying victimisation increase emotion dysregulation which, in turn, increases mental health difficulties in adolescents. On this, Fite and colleagues have argued that promoting the emotion regulation skills of adolescents is likely to protect their mental health from the deteriorating impacts of sibling bullying. Given that increased mental health difficulties increase the risk of being involved in sibling bullying (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019), identifying such factors that play a role in between sibling bullying and mental health is likely to reduce

¹ i.e., emotional difficulties and peer problems.

² i.e., conduct problems and hyperactivity/inattention.

their subsequent bullying experiences. Hence, to improve future preventative measures, it is important to direct more scientific attention to the nature of the link between sibling bullying and mental health and to explore what other factors, if any, play a role in this relationship.

1.3 Sibling Bullying When A Child Is Autistic: An Overlooked Population

To date, there is a dearth of evidence about the dynamics of sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic. The limited evidence, however, suggests that autistic individuals are more likely to be involved in sibling bullying than their non-autistic peers (Little, 2002; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). The existing literature fails to address whether such differences in the prevalence of sibling bullying also resemble the potential differences in its risk factors and outcomes between the autistic and non-autistic populations. However, some speculations could be made based on the behavioural and emotional characteristics of autistic children. For instance, while increased time spent together is a risk factor for sibling bullying in the general population, due to increased sibling interaction (Wolke & Skew, 2012), it may not serve as a precursor in families where a child is autistic due to restricted social interest of autistic children (Baron-Cohen et al., 1992; Grelotti et al., 2002). Additionally, the restricted social interest of autistic children may protect them from the deteriorating impacts of certain types of sibling bullying such as indirect sibling bullying. More precisely, social bullying is suggested to have more harmful effects on children's developmental outcomes than directsibling bullying (e.g., physical, damaging property) (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019). However, such negative experiences may show little to no impact on the developmental outcomes of autistic children due to their limited social processing skills (Frith & Hill, 2004), desire for loneliness (Kanner, 1943), and restricted social interest (Baron-Cohen et al., 1992; Grelotti et al., 2002). Consequently, it appears important to explore the dynamics of sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic as they may differ from families with non-autistic children.

1.4 Investigating Sibling Bullying Across Cultures

There is an urgent need for a cross-cultural understanding of sibling bullying for three major reasons. First, over 80% of the available literature on sibling bullying comes from Western cultures, thus, little is known about the dynamics of sibling bullying in non-Western cultures (Brett et al., 2023). Second, previous reports have shown that some ethnicities, such as White, are more prone to be involved in sibling bullying than others, such as Black, Asian, and Hispanic (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Tucker et al., 2013; Toseeb et al., 2018). While the reasons for this have stayed unclear, one may argue that this may be due to the representation issues in such research as their samples are formed by predominantly White participants. Third, previous research has shown varying prevalence and risk factors of sibling bullying across cultures (Sabah et al., 2022). For instance, despite the high prevalence rates of sibling bullying, recorded in Western cultures such as the United States i.e., 30-80% (Duncan, 1999; Finkelhor et al., 2006; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013; Tucker et al., 2013, 2014), lower sibling bullying rates, i.e., 10-20%, have been found in non-Western cultures such as China (Liu et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022). Similarly, potential reasons underlying such variations have remained unknown. Hence, without cross-cultural research, it will remain unknown whether the differences in the prevalence and correlates of sibling bullying reflect the existence of cross-cultural variation or whether they are due to inconsistent practices in its conceptualisation and measurement across cultures.

1.4.1 The Case of the Untied Kingdom and Turkey

As shown in Figure 4, the United Kingdom (UK) and Turkey substantially differ in their cultural norms and attitudes (Hofstede Insights, 2023). This is likely to play a role in the dynamics of sibling relationships and bullying across these cultures. For example, Turkish people are more collectivist whereas British people are more individualistic, that is, while the idea of "we" is more important in Turkish culture, the idea of "I" comes first in British culture in personal relationships. This is likely to play a role in the dynamics of sibling bullying across these two cultures. The reason for this is that, compared to individualistic cultures, sibling relationships in families from collectivist cultures are characterised by more warmth, intimacy, and closeness (Cicirelli, 1995; Sabet, 2008; Wolke et al., 2015) which are negatively correlated with sibling conflict and bullying (Buist & Vermande, 2014).

Additionally, given their masculinity and femininity characteristics, Turkish people seem to be less competition-driven than the British. On this, one might argue that the higher competition characteristics of British culture, compared to the Turkish culture, may elevate the risk of sibling bullying in such families by triggering competition over familial resources (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Liu et al., 2021; Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Furthermore, British people show significantly higher rates of indulgence meaning that they possess more positive attitudes and are more optimistic than their Turkish counterparts. This could potentially reflect upon the dynamics of sibling bullying too as optimistic personality traits are negatively correlated with sibling bullying (Evans et al., 2019).

Figure 4 (1.1)





The UK and Turkey not only differ at cultural-level dimensions but also show significant differences in family structures which may as well create variations in the dynamics of sibling bullying. For instance, the latest OECD (2023a, 2023b) figures show that, compared to British families, Turkish families are larger, formed by more children, and show higher rates of poverty than British families, all of which are potential risk factors for sibling bullying (Bowes et al., 2014; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Tucker et al., 2014). Additionally, Turkish parents apply punitive and harsh parenting practices more often than British parents (Aytac et al., 2019), which may also further trigger the likelihood of sibling bullying in such families (Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018; Wolke et al. 2015). There are also family-level risk factors for British children. For instance, the OECD figures indicate that British children are more likely to live in cohabiting families or in single-parent households than Turkish children, which heightens the risk for increased sibling bullying in British families (Tucker et al., 2014; Qing et al., 2022). Additionally, older siblings are more likely to serve as caregivers of younger siblings in Western countries compared to non-Western countries (Updegraff et al., 2011) which may further boost the risks of sibling bullying in British families due to increased unsupervised time spent together (Toseeb, 2022). Hence, ample differences in family characteristics across the UK and Turkey are likely to result in varying dynamics of sibling bullying in these two cultures.

1.5 Researching Sibling Bullying During Covid-19

On top of the widely existing research gap, the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic brought new uncertainties to the literature mainly around its potential deteriorating impacts on sibling relationships. This is because, during the pandemic, nearly all families across the globe were suppressed with the strict social restrictions which increased parental stress and brought profound challenges to intra-familial relationships (Asbury et al., 2021; Horton et al., 2022; Russell et al., 2020). This deteriorating impact of the pandemic on intra-family relationships was predicted to show a spillover impact on sibling relationships (Prime et al., 2020) such as increased sibling violence (Perkins et al., 2021). Confirming these, early findings have indicated that the Covid-19 pandemic, and the increased time spent at home, increased daily sibling conflict at home (Salmon et al., 2022), especially in families of autistic children (Tokatly Latzer et al., 2021; Stadheim et al., 2022; Toseeb, 2022). Since constant sibling conflict holds the potential to turn into sibling bullying (Wolke & Skew, 2012), it seems important to investigate the potential impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships of autistic children where pre-existing challenges were already in place.

1.5.1 Personal Reflection

My doctoral thesis was at its proposal stage at the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic (January 2020). At that time, I was involved in a research project – Feelings and Behaviours³ (FaB) – which found that Covid-19 brought profound intra-family challenges to families of children with special educational needs and disabilities, especially those with an autistic child. This personal research experience made me realise that Covid-19 holds the potential to negatively impact sibling relationships and trigger sibling bullying instances at home. Also, there were differing rates of Covid-19 cases and differing stringency of governmental measures in place between the UK and Turkey. Based on this, I predicted that the impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships and bullying may vary between these two cultures. Moreover, increased risks for sibling conflict during the pandemic brought my attention to differing parenting practices between these two cultures as they hold the potential to transform sibling conflict into bullying. Hence, reflecting upon my personal research experience and taking into account early findings in the literature, I predicted that Covid-19 would negatively impact sibling relationships with the potential to trigger sibling bullying. I

³ This project examined the impacts of Covid-19 on families where a child has special educational needs and disabilities (see Asbury et al., 2021).

also predicted that such a triggering impact of the pandemic on sibling bullying would likely vary between the UK and Turkey due to differing stringency of social restrictions in place as well as differing parenting styles.

1.6 Problem Statement

Despite the growing volume of research on sibling bullying, the existing literature has severe limitations. For instance, the majority of previous evidence comes from the general population while a very limited understanding of this phenomenon exists in families where a child is autistic. Additionally, despite the growing evidence on the dynamics of sibling bullying, both in the general and the autistic population, the literature is commonly based on reports from Western cultures while very little is known about its dynamics in non-Western cultures. This limits the cross-cultural understanding of this phenomenon, without which, a complete understanding of sibling bullying is not possible. Moreover, even though previous research has shown clear links between sibling bullying and mental health, recent research has indicated that this may be an indirect link through other factors instead of a direct correlation. To the best of my knowledge, no studies to date have looked into the nature of this association in the autistic population. Finally, the emergence of the Covid-19 pandemic has brought new uncertainties regarding its potentially detrimental impacts on sibling relationships. Therefore, the existing literature urgently needs cross-cultural studies to better understand sibling bullying and its dynamics in families where a child is autistic, especially during the Covid-19 period when additional challenges have arisen.

1.7 The Current Thesis

To address the aforementioned uncertainties and limitations in the literature, this doctoral thesis investigates sibling bullying and mental health in families of autistic adolescents from two distant cultures – British and Turkish – during Covid-19. In doing so, it

introduces an overall literature review, a pilot feasibility study, four individual studies, and an integrated discussion. A brief structure of this thesis is outlined below.

Chapter II is the overall literature review of my thesis. In this chapter, I outline an overview of the existing literature on the following topics of interest: 1) autism (i.e., conceptualisation and characterisation), 2) sibling relationships (i.e., positive and negative aspects), 3) sibling bullying (i.e., theoretical and empirical perspective), sibling bullying across cultures (i.e., evidence from previous single-culture studies), and 5) sibling bullying during Covid-19 (i.e., early findings on the impact of the pandemic). I conclude this chapter by outlining the contribution of this thesis to the existing gaps in the literature.

<u>Chapter III</u> is a pilot feasibility study. This study aims to report the methodological appropriateness of the proposed cross-cultural study⁴. More specifically, this study tests the feasibility of the four methodological aspects to be applied in the proposed cross-cultural study: *the consent procedure, participant recruitment strategy, inclusion criteria,* and *measures*. Findings highlight important considerations regarding the necessary methodological revisions to be applied prior to the conduct of the proposed cross-cultural study.

In Chapters <u>IV</u> to <u>VII</u>, I introduce four studies that collectively form this thesis. To begin with, <u>Study I</u> (Chapter IV) aims to adapt (i.e., translation and validation) an English-originated sibling bullying measure⁵ into the Turkish language to improve the measurement consistency across English- and Turkish-speaking populations. Additionally, <u>Study II</u> (Chapter V) aims to explore the cross-cultural variability in the dynamics⁶ of sibling bullying across families of autistic adolescents from the UK and Turkey. This study also aims to look into the indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health and whether these indirect associations vary across the two cultures using cross-sectional data. Furthermore,

⁴ i.e., <u>Chapter V</u>.

⁵ i.e., Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (Dantchev et al., 2019).

⁶ i.e., prevalence and demographic, social, emotional, and mental health correlates.

Study III (Chapter VI) investigates the direct and indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health in British autistic adolescents using longitudinal data from a population-based birth-cohort study⁷. This study expands the cross-sectional findings from the latter study by providing a causal perspective on the potential indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health. Finally, <u>Study IV</u> (Chapter VII) aims to explore the cross-cultural variations in the impacts of Covid-19 on sibling relationships and parental responses to sibling bullying in British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents. Findings from this study help to interpret the prevalence rates of sibling bullying across the two cultures in Study II.

Finally, in <u>Chapter VIII</u>, I summarise key findings from the four studies, integrate them in a structured discussion, present the strengths and limitations of my thesis, and conclude future directions and implications.

⁷ i.e., Millennium Cohort Study.

References

- Asbury, K., Fox, L., Deniz, E., Code, A., & Toseeb, U. (2021). How is COVID-19 affecting the mental health of children with special educational needs and disabilities and their families?. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *51*(5), 1772-1780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2
- Aytac, B., Pike, A., & Bond, R. (2019). Parenting and child adjustment: a comparison of Turkish and English families. *Journal of Family Studies*, 25(3), 267-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13229400.2016.1248855</u>
- Bar-Zomer, J., & Brunstein Klomek, A. (2018). Attachment to parents as a moderator in the association between sibling bullying and depression or suicidal ideation among children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 9, 72. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00072</u>
- Baron-Cohen, S., Allen, J., & Gillberg, C. (1992). Can autism be detected at 18 months?: The needle, the haystack, and the CHAT. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *161*(6), 839-843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.161.6.839</u>
- Bouchard, G., Plamondon, A., & Lachance-Grzela, M. (2019). Parental intervention style and adult sibling conflicts: The mediating role of involvement in sibling bullying. *Journal of social and personal relationships*, *36*(8), 2585-2602.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407518793227

- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032-e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Brett, H., Bartoli, A. J., & Smith, P. K. (2023). Sibling bullying during childhood: A scoping review. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 101862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2023.101862

Buist, K. L., & Vermande, M. (2014). Sibling relationship patterns and their associations with

child competence and problem behavior. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(4), 529. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0036990

- Cicirelli, V. G., & Cicirelli, V. G. (1995). Sibling relationships in cross-cultural perspective. *Sibling relationships across the life span*, 69-85.
- Coyle, S., Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., Tennant, J. E., & Klossing, J. (2017). The associations among sibling and peer-bullying, social support and internalizing behaviors. In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (Vol. 46, No. 6, pp. 895-922). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-017-9412-3
- Dantchev, S., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2018). Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: A prospective cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(14), 2321-2328. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1017/S0033291717003841</u>
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). Trouble in the nest: Antecedents of sibling bullying victimization and perpetration. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(5), 1059. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0000700</u>
- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extrafamilial bullying. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 14(8), 871–886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2009). A push or a punch: Distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(1), 183-208.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298</u>
- Evans, C. B., Smokowski, P. R., Rose, R. A., Mercado, M. C., & Marshall, K. J. (2019).
 Cumulative bullying experiences, adolescent behavioral and mental health, and academic achievement: An integrative model of perpetration, victimization, and bystander behavior. *Journal of child and family studies*, 28, 2415-2428.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1078-4</u>

- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2006). Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child abuse & neglect*, 30(12), 1401-1421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006</u>.
- Fite, P. J., Cooley, J. L., Tampke, E. C., Hesse, D. R., & Doyle, R. L. (2022). The Role of Emotion Dysregulation in the Links Between Sibling Victimization and Internalizing Symptoms in Middle Childhood. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 44(2), 560-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-022-09956-w</u>

Frith, U., & Hill, E. (Eds.). (2004). Autism: Mind and brain. OUP Oxford.

- Grelotti, D. J., Gauthier, I., & Schultz, R. T. (2002). Social interest and the development of cortical face specialization: What autism teaches us about face processing. *Developmental Psychobiology: The Journal of the International Society for Developmental Psychobiology*, 40(3), 213-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.10028</u>
- Hoetger, L. A., Hazen, K. P., & Brank, E. M. (2015). All in the family: A retrospective study comparing sibling bullying and peer bullying. *Journal of Family Violence*, *30*, 103-111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-014-9651-0
- Hofstede Insights. (2023, January 13). Country Comparison Hofstede Insights. https://www.hofstede-insights.com/country-comparison/turkey,the-uk/
- Horton, A. L., Russell, B. S., Tambling, R. R., Britner, P. A., Hutchison, M., & Tomkunas,
 A. J. (2022). Predictors of children's emotion regulation outcomes during COVID-19:
 Role of conflict within the family. *Family Relations*, 71(4), 1339-1353.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12717
- Juvonen, J., & Graham, S. (2014). Bullying in schools: The power of bullies and the plight of victims. Annual review of psychology, 65, 159-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-010213-115030</u>

Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. Nervous child, 2(3), 217-250.

- Liu, X., Peng, C., Yu, Y., Yang, M., Qing, Z., Qiu, X., & Yang, X. (2020). Association between sub-types of sibling bullying and mental health distress among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *11*, 368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073</u>
- Liu, X., Wolloh Ii, M. G., Lin, X., Qiu, X., Qing, Z., Wang, W., ... & Lu, D. (2021). The association between sibling bullying and psychotic-like experiences among children age 11–16 years in China. *Journal of affective disorders*, 284, 31-37.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073
- Little, L. (2002). Middle-Class Mother Perceptions Of Peer And Sibling Victimisation Among Chilldren with Asperger's Syndrome and Nonverbal Learning Disorders. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 25(1), 43-57.

https://doi.org/10.1080/014608602753504847

- Lundström, S., Chang, Z., Kerekes, N., Gumpert, C. H., Råstam, M., Gillberg, C. A., ... & Anckarsäter, H. (2011). Autistic-like traits and their association with mental health problems in two nationwide twin cohorts of children and adults. *Psychological medicine*, *41*(11), 2423-2433. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291711000377
- Menesini, E., Camodeca, M., & Nocentini, A. (2010). Bullying among siblings: The role of personality and relational variables. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 921–939. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151009X479402

OECD. (2023a). Family Database. https://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm

- OECD. (2023b). *Poverty rate (indicator)*. Accessed on 04 January 2023. https://data.oecd.org/inequality/poverty-rate.htm.
- Peng, C., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Cheng, J., Qiu, X., & Liu, X. (2022). Co-occurrence of sibling and peer bullying victimization and depression and anxiety among Chinese adolescents: The role of sexual orientation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 131, 105684.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105684

- Perkins, N. H., Rai, A., & Grossman, S. F. (2021). Physical and emotional sibling violence in the time of COVID-19. *Journal of family violence*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-</u> 021-00249-6
- Prime, H., Wade, M., & Browne, D. T. (2020). Risk and resilience in family well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *American Psychologist*, 75(5), 631. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/amp0000660</u>
- Qing, Z., Ma, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). Prevalence and associated family factors of sibling bullying among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4169. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.892598
- Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020). Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, *51*, 671-682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-020-01037-x</u>
- Sabah, A., Aljaberi, M. A., Lin, C. Y., & Chen, H. P. (2022). The Associations between Sibling Victimization, Sibling Bullying, Parental Acceptance–Rejection, and School Bullying. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 19(23), 16346. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192316346</u>
- Sabet, S. J. (2008). Sibling relationships across cultures: A comparison of United States and Egyptian sibling relations. *Theses Digitization Project*. 3553. https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/etd-project/3553
- Salmon, S., Taillieu, T. L., Fortier, J., Stewart-Tufescu, A., & Afifi, T. O. (2022). Pandemicrelated experiences, mental health symptoms, substance use, and relationship conflict among older adolescents and young adults from Manitoba, Canada. *Psychiatry Research*, 311, 114495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2022.114495</u>

Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(8), 1726-1736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512468327</u>

- Stadheim, J., Johns, A., Mitchell, M., Smith, C. J., Braden, B. B., & Matthews, N. L. (2022).
 A qualitative examination of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and adolescents with autism and their parents. *Research in developmental disabilities*, *125*, 104232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2022.104232</u>
- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggressive behavior*, 41(1), 14-24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557

- Tokatly Latzer, I., Leitner, Y., & Karnieli-Miller, O. (2021). Core experiences of parents of children with autism during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. *Autism*, 25(4), 1047-1059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320984317</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *48*, 2308-2318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 50(5), 1457-1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Precursors of sibling bullying in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *108*, 104633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633

Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling conflict during COVID-19 in families with special educational

needs and disabilities. *British journal of educational psychology*, *92*(1), 319-339. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12451

- Toseeb, U., & Wolke, D. (2022). Sibling bullying: a prospective longitudinal study of associations with positive and negative mental health during adolescence. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *51*(5), 940-955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01495-z</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A. M., & Turner, H. (2013). Prevalence and correlates of sibling victimization types. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(4), 213–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.01.006
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014). Family dynamics and young children's sibling victimization. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(5), 625–633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000016</u>
- Updegraff, K. A., McHale, S. M., Killoren, S. E., & Rodríguez, S. A. (2011). Cultural variations in sibling relationships. *Sibling development: Implications for mental health practitioners*, 83-105.
- Wolke, D., & Samara, M. M. (2004). Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(5), 1015-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x</u>
- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2012). Bullying among siblings. *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. .<u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh.2012.004</u>
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917-929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X</u>

Chapter 2: Literature Review

2.1 Autism

2.1.1 Conceptualisation of Autism

Since the onset of its first conceptualisation, autism has been a topic of interest in the medical field. It was first believed to be part of schizophrenia or schizoid-like personality disorders until an Austrian-American psychiatrist, Leo Kanner (1943), coined it as a unique and distinct neurodevelopmental condition. Given that its roots come from the field of psychiatry, the longstanding impact of the medical approach on the conceptualisation of autism has outweighed its other ways of conceptualisation. However, in the early 90s, an autism self-advocate, Jim Sinclair, published a newsletter for Autism Network International – an organisation formed by autistic individuals and their parents – where they strongly refused the idea of the need for a cure for autistic individuals (Sinclair, 1993). This, with the support from other disability advocates (e.g., physical disabilities), created one of the initial waves of move-away from the medial model of disability which then, collectively, led to new ways of conceptualising disability such as the social model or so-called neurodiversity. Below, I discuss a historical summary of each model alongside their strengths and weaknesses and my positionality.

Medical Model. Autism was not scientifically explored or researched until the early 20th century when a Swiss psychiatrist, Bleuler (1911) first coined the term "autism" to describe schizoid and schizophrenic characteristics of clinical patients. Bleuler used the term *autismus* – meaning the self in Greek Latin – to describe the socially withdrawn characteristics of patients. He described the behavioural characteristics of autistic patients as "turned in on themselves, averted from reality; the most essential part of their split-up ego is withdrawn into a dream world of ideas and wishes so that external reality is merely a source of the disturbance" (Bleuler, 2011, p.382). Given Bleuler's great influence on the psychiatric

community at that time (Rutter, 1978), the term autism continued to be used to describe schizophrenic patients until the mid-20th century.

Decades after its first occurrence in Bleuler's work, a child psychiatrist from John Hopkins Hospital, Leo Kanner, re-used the term autism to describe the unique behavioural characteristics of his patients. In his article titled *Autistic Disturbances of Affective Contact*, Kanner (1943) presented a clinical case study of 11 patients whom he later diagnosed with *infantile autism*. According to Kanner, the common behavioural characteristics of autistic children were: 1) *inability to relate to other people or situations, 2) extreme (autistic) aloneness, 3) delay in communication skills, 4) echolalic language instead of semantically and conversationally meaningful language, 5 restricted interest and repetitive behaviours, 6) desire for sameness and resistance to changes, 7) a good rote memory, and 8) occurrence of the symptoms within the first 30 months of age.* This was the first clinical differentiation between autism and schizophrenia, which Kanner described as:

These characteristics form a unique "syndrome" not heretofore reported, which seems to be rare enough, yet is probably more frequent than is indicated by the paucity of observed cases. It is quite possible that some such children have been viewed as feebleminded or schizophrenic. In fact, several children of our group were introduced to us as idiots or imbeciles, one still resides in a state school for the feebleminded, and two had been previously considered as schizophrenic (1943, p.242).

Despite Kanner's re-conceptualisation of autism and arguments on the patients' unique characteristics – that they do not fit into schizophrenia but instead form a unique condition –confusion over the two concepts remained in the literature for a long time. The reason for this was argued to be the unfortunate choice of words by Kanner to introduce a new neurological condition by using a pre-established psychiatric term "autism" (Rutter, 1978). This confusion in the scientific committee led scientists to use two distinct neurological conditions – autism and schizophrenia – interchangeably (e.g., Laufer & Gair, 1969). To overcome this challenge, Rutter (1978) published an article to distinguish autism from schizophrenia by outlining the differences between Bleuler's concept of autistic aloneness and Kanner's description of social withdrawal. Based on these differences, Rutter suggested that autism and schizophrenia are qualitatively and meaningfully different forms of psychiatric conditions and that they should not be used interchangeably.

The American Psychiatric Association (APA) was late to conceptualise autism as they did not mention autism in the first two editions of their Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM, 1952; 1968). The APA defined autism as a unique mental disorder under the "infantile autism" diagnostic category in DSM-III (APA, 1980) right after Rutter's (1978) differentiation between autism and schizophrenia. In the diagnostic manual, infantile autism was described as: "a lack of responsiveness to other people, gross impairment in communicative skills, and bizarre responses to various aspects of the environment, all developing within the first 30 months of age " (APA, 1980, p.87) which resembled Kanner's (1943) definition of infantile autism. In the DSM-III, an argument was also made on the distinction between autism and schizophrenia suggesting that the two disorders are unrelated.

Later on, in 1987, the APA published a revised version of DSM (DSM-III-R) in which they included a more comprehensive manifestation of autism under the diagnosis named "autistic disorder". DSM-III-R introduced sixteen domains in which autism manifests itself as dysfunction that are nested within three major developmental areas: 1) social interaction and reciprocity, 2) communication, and 3) restricted and repetitive behaviours. To standardise the diagnostic process of autistic individuals, the DSM-III-R suggested that an autism diagnosis can be made if dysfunction is observed in at least six out of sixteen domains, and at least two from each overarching developmental area. The DSM-III-R also
required an early manifestation of symptoms (i.e., before 30 months of age) with the full manifestation of autistic features before the age of three years, resembling Kanner's (1943) diagnostic features.

In the fourth edition (1994) and its revised form (2000), for the first time, the APA characterised autism as a spectrum disorder and categorised it under pervasive developmental disorders (PDD). Although the word "spectrum" was not used in the definition of autistic disorder, the way the diagnostic criteria for autistic disorder included the severity of symptoms and mentioned the variations in the presentation of symptoms in each individual pointed towards a spectrum. For instance, autistic individuals who were on the high end of the spectrum were identified either as having Asperger's syndrome – a milder form of autism first coined by Hans Asperger (1944) – or pervasive developmental disorders not otherwise specified (PDD-NOS), while those on the low end of the spectrum were characterised with either autism, childhood disintegrative disorder (CDD), or Rett syndrome. The Rett syndrome was specifically used to define girls with severe autistic symptomology that is accompanied by physical and mental dysfunction.

In 2003, the biggest genome project in history, the Human Genome Project, failed to identify heritability in autism which was mainly attributed to the challenges in associating the genetic variants to the five different autistic diagnoses (Autistic Disorder, PDD-NOS, Asperger's, CDD, and RETT syndrome) used in the DSM-IV-TR. To overcome this, the APA revised the diagnostic criteria for autism in its latest edition (DSM-V, 2013) by suggesting an all-inclusive diagnosis – Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) – ranging from mild to severe functionality. In the DSM-V, ASD is classified as a neurodevelopmental disorder that "encompasses disorders previously referred to as early infantile autism, childhood autism, Kanner's autism, high-functioning autism, atypical autism, pervasive developmental disorder not otherwise specified, childhood disintegrative disorder, and

Asperger's disorder" (APA, 2013, p.50). Additionally, the RETT syndrome is now categorised as an intellectual disability instead of being part of the ASD continuum. Hence, the most up-to-date medical definition of autism, according to the APA (2013), is persistent difficulties in social communication and interaction (i.e., social-emotional reciprocity, non-verbal communication, forming and maintaining relationships) and showing restricted and repetitive behavioural patterns (i.e., restricted interests, repetitive behaviours, resistance to changes and insistence on sameness, and hyper- or hypo-reactivity to sensory input). The medical definitive history of autism, from its first occurrence (Bleuler, 1911) to the most up-to-date concept (APA, 2013) is illustrated in Figure 1.

Social Model. A contemporary model, the social model of disability, emerged in the 1970s to challenge the idea that the disability is located within the individual (medical model) and that society should invest in curing the impairments of those individuals and bring them as close as possible to the non-impaired individuals. The model was proposed by disabled people themselves as a response to the systemic discrimination in society due to the longstanding values of the traditional medical model. Investigation of private files in public records (Baldwinson, 2019) has revealed the fact that the social model of disability first appeared in the Physically Impaired Against Segregation (UPIAS) report in the early 1970s in the UK. This report argued, for the first time, that disability arises from the barriers created by society and is not nested within an individual. More specifically, the social model suggested that people with impairments are not disabled themselves, they are disabled because of society's unrealistic expectations and unwillingness to accommodate their needs.

The scientific conceptualisation of the term "social model of disability" was first made by a British social scientist Mike Oliver (1990) who was a physically impaired person and disability rights activist. To Oliver, the unhuman language used by the medical model of disability and its sole focus on individual-level conceptualisation rather than societal conceptualisation of disability caused great discrimination in society. Therefore, Oliver argued that there was an immediate need for a re-conceptualisation of disability and that society should not focus on the impairments of those individuals but, instead, try to adapt itself to meet their needs. Oliver stated that the narrow focus on the individuals' impairment was the fundamental issue underlying societies' failure in social inclusion. The social model of disability is a paradigm that refuses the individual deficit model (medical) and suggests that the underlying reasons why disabled people are not able to perform certain tasks as nondisabled people are located within society (e.g., poorly designed infrastructure) not due to individuals' impairments. Since its emergence, the social model of disability has received a high volume of attention and popularity and has led to significant changes in today's society.

One particular area that the social model of disability had its highest impact on was the language used to describe disabled people. Before the social model of disability, the language used to describe disability was extremely medicalised, less humanised, highly discriminatory, and somewhat hurtful. For instance, children with learning disabilities were called "handicapped", or "mentally retarded", which basically focused on individuals' deficits and somewhat encouraged discrimination. With the social model of disability, a more humane, inclusive, and person-centred language has been used to describe disability such as children with learning difficulties instead of handicapped children. The social model of disability has also promoted changes in laws, societal values, and nationwide policy revisions. In the late 20th century and early 21st century, the social model of disability received its highest popularity and has become the most dominant identity for disabled people (Stein & Stein, 2006).

The social model of disability has also received many critiques over its disregard for the need for medical approaches and treatments to improve the quality of life of disabled

39

Figure 1 (2.1)

A Timeline of the Medical Definitive History of Autism



people. Critiques have come from both disabled people and others (e.g., scientists, and professionals) who defend the necessity of the medical model and the need for medical treatment, especially for individuals with profound disabilities. For instance, there have been some critiques suggesting that the changes in societal structures and social environments can not be successful without a specific focus on individual deficits (Haegele & Hodge, 2016). Similarly, Shakespeare (2006) indicated that the strong focus on the environment in the social model of disability neglects individuals' impairments and, thus, fails to acknowledge the link between individuals' impairments and their social environment. Moreover, some have argued that even if society fully adapts to meet the needs of all impaired individuals, this may bring new forms of hidden social exclusions, such as a previously recommended model of creating a village for wheelchair users (Finkelstein, 1988).

Author's Positionality. The medical and social models of disability are two distinct concepts that seem to be at two far edges of a continuum in how to conceptualise disability. While the medical model locates disabilities within individuals, the social model argues that disabilities arise from society. In the medical model of disability, doctors and medical professionals are given the full responsibility of contributing to the lives of disabled people (e.g., identification, treatment, care). The social model of disability, however, rejects the need for a medical diagnosis and treatment and gives the responsibility to all stakeholders of society to accommodate the needs of the disabled community. While the social model is well suited to meeting the needs of high-functioning people with disabilities, their neglect of the need for treatment, therapy and other medical approaches to improve the lives of people with aims of the medical model seem to fit well to the needs of individuals with profound disabilities, while it is disregarded by those high-functioning individuals who can function well without any need for medical input or treatment. I, as the author of this thesis,

acknowledge the growing importance and popularity of the social model of disability knowing that it potentially represents the view of many, if not the majority, in the autistic community. However, I am also aware of the necessity of the medical model, especially for individuals with profound disabilities, whose developmental needs and quality of life can be improved with medical approaches and treatments. Therefore, I, position myself in the middle of the continuum where the medical and social models of disability represent two extremes. Aligning with the social model of disability, I use inclusive and condition-first language, i.e., autistic individuals, when referring to those individuals as per the preferences of the autistic community. Following the medical model, I report the prevalence estimates and behavioural and emotional characteristics of autistic individuals according to medical diagnostic criteria and medical approaches.

2.1.2 Prevalence of Autism

The prevalence of autism has shown a growing tendency since the onset of its first conceptualisation. The very first prevalence estimates of autism, dating to the 1960s and 1970s, indicate a prevalence of two to four cases per 10,000 individuals in Europe and the United States (Lotter, 1966; Treffert, 1970). With the current definition of autism in the DSM-V (APA, 2013), a recent report from the United Kingdom indicates that more than 1 in 50 children were diagnosed with autism as of 2020 (McConkey, 2020). Similar reports come from other countries. For example, the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (2023) has indicated that 1 in 36 children are currently diagnosed with autism in the United States rising from 1 in 150 since 2000. Historical changes in the prevalence of autism, since its first conceptualisation to the latest definition, are shown in Figure 2.

There have been various debates over the potential triggering factors of the prevalence of autism which has increased sharply over the past couple of decades. One of these was Kanner's (1943) theory of *refrigerator mothers* in which he argued that severe social communication and behavioural difficulties associated with autism may be caused by cold, emotionally detached, and unaffectionate mothers. This argument was repeatedly refused by researchers until it was completely abandoned by the scientific community (Cook & Willmerdinger, 2015; Davidson, 2022). Additionally, although some links between Vitamin D deficiency and intensive early screen exposure and autism have been found (Cannell, 2008; Dong et al., 2021; Kushima et al., 2022), no cause-effect association has yet been concluded. Taking it to a more extreme level, a scientific paper, in *The Lancet*, suggested that exposure to measles, mumps, and rubella (MMR) vaccine may be related to the increased rates of autism in children (Wakefield, 1998). This scientific paper was later retracted by the journal and all findings and conclusions were widely discredited by the extended scientific community across the globe. Hence, none of the above-mentioned reasons were proven to be a cause of autism or a potential reason for the spike in its recent rates. Lately, recent population-based cohort studies suggested, and this is widely accepted by the scientific community, that the rise in the rates of autism may be particularly related to the improvement in the diagnostic criteria and the diagnosis procedures (Hansen et al., 2015).

Figure 2 (2.2)





Autism has been repeatedly reported to be more common in boys than girls. Previous reports have indicated that males are about four times more likely to be diagnosed with autism than females (Baron-Cohen, 2012; Charman, 2011, Landa, 2008). Even the latest figures, with the skyrocketing rates of autism, have shown this to be the case (Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, 2023). Based on these sex differences in prevalence rates, taking the cognitive and behavioural characteristics of autistic individuals into account, Baron-Cohen (2002) proposed the extreme male brain theory suggesting that autistic individuals may show an extreme version of the male brain which advances in systemising but shows considerable difficulties in empathising and vice versa for the female brain. However, this theory has recently been challenged by a recent controversy indicating that girls may be underrepresented in autism research and may be underdiagnosed due to their tendency to mask and camouflage their autistic traits (Corscadden & Casserly, 2021; Gould, 2017; Sedgewick et al., 2021). Some researchers have also argued that this may be due to the low sensitivity and validity of the current autism observation scales (e.g., autism diagnostic observation schedule) in measuring autism as they were primarily designed by taking into account autistic male characteristics and male-type restricted repetitive behaviours (Duvekot et al., 2017). Hence, the idea of whether the autistic brain represents the extreme male brain characteristics and whether girls are four times less likely to have autism than boys has so far remained a controversial topic of interest in the field.

2.1.3 Social, Behavioural and Emotional Characteristics of Autistic Children

Social and Behavioural Characteristics. In the current definition of autism, in DSM-V (APA, 2013) autism is defined as a neurodevelopmental disorder characterised by persistent deficits in social communication and social interaction across three main contexts: 1) social-emotional reciprocity, 2) nonverbal communicative behaviours, and 3) developing or forming relationships. However, the social behavioural characteristics of autistic children are not limited to such diagnostic criteria. For instance, some researchers have found that autistic children show increased rates of aggression, coercive behaviours, and temper tantrums compared to their non-autistic peers (Farmer & Aman, 2011; Hill et al., 2014). Additionally, difficulties in the theory of mind and executive function skills severely limit such individuals' perspective-taking, empathy, and emotional and behavioural regulation skills, which then leads to social dysfunction (de Bruin et al., 2007; Gilotty et al., 2002; Kimhi, 2014; Leung et al., 2016; Mazza et al., 2017; Torske et al., 2018). Supporting this, a population health-based report from the United States has also indicated that autistic children, aged four to seventeen, show substantially lower social functioning than their non-autistic peers (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006). Furthermore, autistic children may show a desire for loneliness (Bleuler, 1911; Kanner, 1943), social avoidance (Matson et al., 2009; Richer, 1976), and difficulties in forming relationships and friendships (APA, 2013; Calder et al., 2013; Petrina et al., 2014). It may also depend on with whom they desire to form friendships with. For instance, based on the homophily theory, researchers have argued that autistic children show a higher desire to form friendships with other autistic children than non-autistic children (Hoffmann et al., 2021). Hence, autism is accompanied by a wide variety of social behavioural difficulties, but the extent to which each difficulty occurs in a child will depend on where the individual is on the autism spectrum.

Emotional Characteristics. Autistic individuals also differ from their non-autistic peers in terms of their psychopathological characteristics. For instance, autistic children are more likely to show higher emotional distress, conduct problems, peer problems, and hyperactivity/inattention compared to their non-autistic peers with the most noticeable differences appearing in peer problems and hyperactivity/inattention domains (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2006). There are also psychiatric comorbidities accompanying autism. For instance, previous research has shown that autistic individuals are

more likely to have major depression disorder, separation anxiety, generalised anxiety, agoraphobia, social phobia, and obsessive-compulsive disorder than non-autistic children (de Bruin et al., 2007; Ghaziuddin et al., 2002; Joshi et al., 2010, 2013; Muris et al., 1998). The researchers have estimated that around 14-30% of autistic children show major depressive problems while 84% have severe anxiety symptoms (Joshi et al., 2010; Leyfer et al., 2006; Muris, et al., 1998). The very high prevalence of severe anxiety symptoms in autistic children made many researchers consider it as a characteristic of autism instead of a comorbidity (Leyfer et al., 2006). Hence, autistic children show a wide range of severe psychopathological conditions some of which are thought to be more than comorbidity, and may even be an aspect of autism, due to their very high prevalence.

2.2 Sibling Relationships

2.2.1 The Sibling Bond

The answer to the question *who is a sibling?* slightly varies across Western and non-Western cultures. In Western societies, in general, siblings are commonly defined based on biological, genealogical, or legal markers (i.e., full, half, step, adoptive, foster), while non-Western cultures are inclined to describe siblings by extended societal values and kinship (Cicirelli, 1995). Looking into Western definitions, full- and half-siblings are those who share two or one biological parent/s, respectively; step-siblings are those who do not share a biological parent but are joined by one of their parent's marriage, and adoptive/foster siblings are those who, one or both, are raised by parents with whom they have no biological or otherwise-formed relations with (Cicirelli, 2013). In non-Western cultures, blood or marriage-related ties are not the sole indicators of the concept of "sibling" as those with strong emotional bonds, e.g., cousins, are often conceptualised as siblings (Adams, 1999). However, cultural globalisation and changes in cultural identities in today's world (Vorhölter,

2012), create a trend towards a unipolar, i.e., Westernised, conceptualisation of the term "sibling" across the globe.

About eight in 10 children grow up with at least one sibling (Tippett & Wolke, 2015; US Census Bureau, 2023). This is the case in both Western and non-Western cultures, though in general, non-Western families are larger – formed by more children – than Western families (OECD, 2023). Not only do most children grow up with a sibling, but they also share about 50% DNA (Visscher et al., 2006) and spend about half of their time together until they reach adolescence (Dunifon et al., 2017). Such shared experiences make the sibling bond the strongest and the longest-lasting bond (Cicirelli, 2013). On this, McHale said: "Siblings are most people's longest-lasting relationships—from early in childhood through old age. This means they can understand you in ways other people can't". (Weir, 2023, para. 1). In her book, *Mansfield Park*, Jane Austen also wrote about the strength of the sibling bond:

Children of the same family, the same blood, with the same first associations and habits, have some means of enjoyment in their power, which no subsequent connections can supply; and it must be by a long and unnatural estrangement, by a divorce which no subsequent connection can justify, if such precious remains of the earliest attachments are ever entirely outlived. (1817, p.247).

2.2.2 The Double-Edged Characteristics of Sibling Relationships

Even though siblings are strongly bonded to one another, their relationships are formed by both positive and negative interactions (Campione-Barr & Killoren, 2019). Researchers have suggested that sibling relationships are ambivalent, while there is intense love, there is also intense hatred (Wolke & Skew, 2012). On this, McHale said, "We often find that siblings who have intense conflict are also intensely loyal and loving to one another" (Weir, 2023, para. 4). Perhaps, this could relate to the fact that increased sibling interest and closeness increase the time siblings spend together (Stoneman, 2001) and, in turn, increased time spent together increases the likelihood of negative sibling interactions, such as sibling conflict, in such families (Toseeb, 2022). Therefore, even though siblings are strongly bonded to one another, this bond is woven with positive and negative emotions and interactions.

The double-edged characteristics of sibling relationships collectively shape the social, emotional, and behavioural adjustment of siblings, for better and for worse (Buist et al., 2013; Campione-Barr & Killoren, 2019; Kramer & Conger, 2009; McHale et al., 2012; Sanders, 2017; Wolke & Skew, 2012). On the positive side, for instance, closeness and intimacy between siblings have been found to improve various developmental skills of children such as social¹, communication², and cognitive skills³ and behavioural and emotional adjustment⁴ (Abramovitch et al., 1979; Azmitia & Hesser, 1993; Boer et al., 2013; Gass et al., 2007; Stormshak et al., 1996; Yeh & Lempers, 2004). Likewise, certain forms of negative sibling interactions, such as sibling conflict, jealousy, and rivalry, have also been found to contribute to certain developmental skills⁵ of children (Bedford et al., 2000; Brody, 2004; Brown & Dunn, 1996). However, it is important to note that persistent and frequent negative sibling interactions, such as conflict, are likely to turn into a harmful form of sibling interaction, such as sibling bullying (Wolke & Skew, 2012), which has adverse impacts on the developmental course of children and adolescents (Dantchev et al., 2018, 2019; Foody et al., 2020; Menesini et al., 2010; Plamondon et al., 2021).

2.3 Sibling Bullying

2.3.1 Definition and Conceptualisation

Sibling bullying remained a neglected topic of interest in the literature until the past decade (Brett et al., 2023) for many reasons one of which is the lack of a commonly accepted

¹ e.g., sharing, caring, nurturance, prosociality.

² e.g., verbal ability, active listening, turn taking.

³ e.g., imitation, play skills, perspective taking.

⁴ e.g., empathy, emotional regulation, self-esteem, sense of belonging.

⁵ e.g., conflict resolution skills, perspective-taking and empathy, development of self, and identity formation.

definition and conceptualisation of this phenomenon (Chandran et al., 2019; Dantchev & Zemp, 2022; Wolke et al., 2015). More specifically, previous researchers have used the terms *aggression, violence, abuse, conflict, and bullying* interchangeably when describing negative sibling interactions (e.g., Coyle et al., 2017; Duncan, 1999; Eriksen & Jensen, 2006; Morrill et al., 2018). This is problematic as it, inevitably, resulted in inconsistency between previous prevalence estimates of sibling bullying and under-reporting of the scale of the problem (Coyle et al., 2017; Hoetger et al., 2015). It has also, potentially, delayed the acknowledgement of sibling bullying as an adverse form of sibling experience (Brett et al., 2023). To overcome this inconsistency in its conceptualisation and improve standardised measurement practices, Wolke and colleagues have provided a clear definition of sibling bullying:

Any unwanted aggressive behaviour(s) by a sibling that involves an observed or perceived power imbalance and is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated; bullying may inflict harm or distress on the targeted sibling including physical, psychological, or social harm. It encompasses two modes of bullying (direct and indirect) as well as four types of bullying (physical, verbal, relational, and damage to property). (2015, p.918).

Sibling bullying can take two forms: direct and indirect (Wolke et al., 2015). Direct forms of sibling bullying aim for immediate harm which includes hurting a sibling physically (e.g., hitting, kicking, pushing) or verbally (e.g., calling nasty names) or damaging their belongings (e.g., stealing money, breaking toys). Indirect forms, however, aim for long-term harm through social ties (i.e., involvement of other people) which includes social (e.g., excluding from their friendship groups) and psychological (e.g., telling lies or spreading rumours about them to make others dislike them) actions. Previous research has shown gender differences in the forms of sibling bullying with boys being more likely to be involved in direct-type of sibling bullying while girls are more likely to be involved in indirect types of sibling bullying (Björkqvist et al., 1992; Lagerspetz, 1988; Sutton et al., 1999). Some researchers have argued that indirect forms of sibling bullying, such as social exclusion, may have more adverse psychopathological outcomes than the direct type of sibling bullying (Thomas et al., 2016).

There are also different sibling bullying roles that individuals can take on, depending on whether they are the victim, the perpetrator, or both in bullying instances (Bouchard et al., 2019). The literature categorises those individuals under four different groups: 1) uninvolved, 2) bully-only (so-called pure bully), victim-only (so-called pure victim, passive victim), and *bully-victim* (so-called provocative/proactive victim) (Dantchev et al., 2018, 2019; Tanrikulu & Campbell, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a, 2020b, Toseeb & Wolke, 2022, Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke & Skew, 2012). In the existing literature, the commonly accepted cutoff value for bullying involvement is determined as *once a week* (Toseeb et al., 2018; 2020b; Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke & Skew, 2011; Wolke et al., 2015). Based on this, if a person is exposed to or perpetrates bullying actions less frequently than once a week (e.g., never, once or twice, once a month), they are considered uninvolved in bullying. Additionally, the bully-only group represent those who perpetrate bullying actions towards their sibling/s at least once a week but are not victimised by their sibling/s. In contrast, the victim-only group represents individuals who are victimised by their sibling/s at least once a week but do not perform such behaviours towards their sibling/s. Finally, bully-victims are those who are victimised by their sibling/s and bully them at least once a week.

2.3.2 Theoretical Background

Various theoretical frameworks have so far been followed to reach a more holistic understanding of sibling bullying. These include but are not limited to the attachment theory, the coercion theory, the resource control theory, and the social learning theory (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Plamondon et al., 2021; Wolke et al., 2015; Wolke & Skew, 2012). The current thesis, however, is guided by three specific theoretical frameworks namely the coercion theory, ecological systems theory, and resource control theory. The reason for this specific choice of theories is that they explain the occurrence of sibling bullying based on individual (i.e., aggressive behaviours – coercion theory), family (i.e., familial resources – resource control theory), and broader contextual factors (i.e., culture, ecological systems theory) which are within the main scope of this thesis. More specifically, the coercion theory guides the current thesis to better understand siblings' aggressive behaviours and the reinforcement of such behaviours within the family context such as ineffective parental response to sibling conflict and how they relate to the dynamics of sibling bullying. Additionally, from an evolutionary perspective, the resource control theory guides the current thesis for a better understanding of the link between limited family resources (e.g., poverty) and sibling bullying. Finally, the ecological systems theory guides the current thesis in terms of the differing dynamics of sibling bullying in a cross-cultural context. More information about these theoretical frameworks and their guidance in the current thesis is introduced below.

Coercion Theory. The Coercion Theory (CT) suggests that children show coercive behaviours to gain or maintain power or control others within the family (Patterson et al., 1967). According to the CT, children learn such behaviours as a result of ineffective parental responses to their aggressive and hostile behaviours (Thomas, 2011). The existing literature provides compelling evidence in support of these arguments. For instance, previous research suggests that uninvolved parenting increases aggression and antisocial behaviours (Knutson, 2004; Luyckx et al., 2011). Additionally, ineffective parental intervention in sibling conflict and bullying has been shown to reinforce subsequent sibling conflict and bullying (Bouchard et al., 2019; Bouchard & Sonier, 2021; Cicirelli, 2013; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Felson & Russo, 1988; Relva et al., 2019; Tucker & Kazura, 2013; Updegraff et al., 2005).

The application of the CT is particularly relevant when researching sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic. This is because siblings in such families may get stuck in a coercive cycle due to a combination of increased conflictual situations and ineffective parenting (Lunkenheimer et al., 2016; Maljaars et al., 2014). More specifically, there are increased conflictual intra-family relationships in families where a child is autistic compared to non-autistic child families (Hartley et al., 2017; Papp & Hartley, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b). On top of this, there is also increased parental differential treatment and parental favouritism in families where a child is autistic, compared to non-autistic child families (Brody et al., 1992; McHale et al., 1986; McHale & Pawletko, 1992). Such a combination of increased conflictual situations and ineffective parenting may trap children in a coercive cycle in those families (Piro-Gambetti et al., 2023; Lin et al., 2023; Qing et al., 2022). Hence, increased coercive behaviours and ineffective parental responses to conflicted intra-family relationships are likely to create a coercive cycle meaning that such siblings are exposed to constant, persistent, and recurring aggressive behaviours.

Resource-Control Theory. The Resource-Control Theory (RCT) suggests that children show coercive behaviours to secure or control desirable but scarce family (e.g., food, toys) or social (e.g., parental attention) resources, (Hawley, 1999). According to Hawley, coercive strategies involve accessing the desired resources through aggressive and manipulative behaviours (e.g., physical harm, social exclusion). Supporting these, some researchers have argued that the main motivation behind dominance-oriented coercive behaviours, such as bullying, is to gather or protect material and social resources such as parental time, affection, and favouritism (Farrell & Dane, 2020; Olthof et al., 2011; Reijntjes et al., 2013; Salmon & Hehman, 2014).

The RCT principles closely relate to sibling bullying and have commonly been tested by previous researchers (e.g., Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2020a; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; Qing et al., 2022). For instance, an increased number of siblings has been found as a risk factor for increased sibling bullying with researchers arguing that this is due to the increased competition over limited material or social familial resources (Bowes et al., 2014; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019b, Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2018; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; Tucker et al., 2013). Further supporting the RCT principles, some researchers have argued that poverty and low- family income are precursors of sibling bullying (Eriksen & Jensen, 2006, 2009; Qing et al., 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018; Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Similarly, some previous researchers have suggested that high parental education is linked to increased risks of sibling bullying (Eriksen & Jensen, 2006; Tucker et al., 2013a, 2018), potentially due to increased employment rate and, thus, reduced parental supervision and attention (Benson & Mokhtari, 2011; Johnston & Swanson, 2006). Finally, existing evidence suggests that older siblings are more likely to be involved in sibling bullying compared to younger siblings (Bowes et al., 2014; Toseeb et al., 2018; Tippett & Wolke, 2015) arguing that this may be driven by eldest children's desire to control limited familial resources. Consequently, the RCT is a useful theoretical framework for identifying whether sibling bullying instances are related to siblings' efforts to control limited family resources.

Despite the existing evidence supporting the RCT's arguments, evidence conflicting with these arguments also exists in the literature. For instance, while some researchers have suggested that low familial resources, i.e., family income, increase the risk of sibling bullying, some have found no association between family income and sibling bullying (Hoffman et al., 2005). Similarly, some others reported that sibling bullying may be even more common in high-income families compared to families with low resources (Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Additionally, while some researchers have reported positive correlations between increased parental education and sibling bullying, this is also not universally supported as some others have found no correlation between parental education and sibling

bullying (Bowes et al., 2014; Eriksen & Jensen, 2009). Furthermore, while some researchers have suggested that an increased number of siblings is a risk factor for sibling bullying, others found either no link or negative associations between sibling bullying and the number of siblings (Hardy, 2001). Hence, the literature has remained inconsistent regarding whether or not the factors that relate to controlling familial resources, e.g., birth order, number of siblings, parental education and familial income, are risk factors for sibling bullying

Ecological Systems Theory. In his field trips, Urie Bronfenbrenner, a cross-cultural psychologist, observed that human behaviours show drastic changes from one environment to another, within and between cultures, based on which he proposed the Ecological Systems Theory (EST, Bronfenbrenner, 1979). According to Bronfenbrenner, "The ecology of human development involves the scientific study of the progressive, mutual accommodation between an active and growing human being and the changing properties of the immediate settings in which the developing person lives, as this process is affected by relations between these settings, and by the larger contexts in which the settings are embedded" (1979, p.21). The EST takes its roots from Lewin's (1935) dynamic theory of personality which suggests that human behaviours are products of an interaction between individuals and the environment they live in.

To unfold, the EST (Bronfenbrenner, 1979) proposes hierarchically nested six environments that collectively and dynamically shape individuals' development and behaviour. The first level, *the individual level*, is formed by the personal characteristics of individuals such as ethnicity, age, sex, personality, social, behavioural, and emotional functioning, and mental health. The second level, *microsystem*, comprises an individual's immediate environment in which they are in constant interaction such as the number of friends, parent-child relationships, parenting styles, and family characteristics and structures. The third level, *mesosystem*, comprises interactions between multiple systems, for instance, home-peer interactions, parent-teacher interactions, and home-neighbourhood interactions. The fourth level, *exosystem*, consists of distal environmental dynamics that are not directly related to the child, but that events occurring in this particular environment indirectly affect the child's behaviour, such as school and neighbourhood characteristics. The fifth level, *macrosystem*, refers to individuals' broadest-level environment, such as culture, and their indirect influence on individuals' developmental outcomes. Finally, the sixth environment refers to the *chronosystem* level which comprises major life events during a lifetime such as the loss of a family member, or traumatic or historic events, e.g., war, epidemic, pandemic, etc. A graphical representation of these six environments is presented below, see Figure 3.

Figure 3 (2.3)

Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory (Lopez et al., 2021, p.367)



The EST has been a useful theoretical approach for researchers to better understand the dynamics of sibling bullying. However, so far, the majority of previous research has commonly focused on the influences of immediate rather than distal environmental factors on the dynamics of sibling bullying. For instance, taking the central component of the EST into account, i.e., individual characteristics, researchers have so far linked ethnicity, sex, birth order, number of siblings, siblings' sex composition, and age gap to sibling bullying (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013a, 2014a). Moving outwards from the individual characteristics, a wide range of microsystem environmental factors have been identified as risk factors for increased sibling bullying: family income, poverty, single-parent status, parental education, parenting styles, parental differential treatment, and interparental conflict (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Hartley et al., 2017; Papp & Hartley, 2019; Qing et al., 2022; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b; Tucker et al., 2014a, 2018; Wolke et al., 2015).

Moving towards the distal environments, i.e., mesosystem, researchers have found a strong relationship between sibling bullying and peer bullying suggesting that those who experience bullying at one place are more likely to experience bullying at the other place compared to those not involved (Duncan, 1999; Menesini et al., 2010; Wolke & Skew, 2012). To the best of my knowledge, to date, there is no evidence showing the influence of upperlevel environments, i.e., exo-macro- and chrono-system levels, on the dynamics of sibling bullying. Hence, although the EST is a commonly applied theoretical framework in bullying research, more research is needed to shed light on the potential influences of broader-level environmental factors on the dynamics of sibling bullying.

2.3.3 Empirical Evidence

Prevalence of Sibling Bullying. Sibling bullying is the most common type of violence in the lives of children and adolescents. Previous research has shown that around one in two children and adolescents experience sibling bullying (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Tippett & Wolke, 2014; Toseeb et al., 2020; Tucker et al., 2013a). Though others have

reported lower (Liu et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022) or higher rates ranging between 10-80% (Duncan, 1999; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013). This variation in the prevalence of sibling bullying is mainly due to the differences in the measurement and conceptualisation of bullying (Bjereld et al., 2020; Modecki et al., 2014; Wolke et al., 2015). Despite the variation in the reported prevalence of sibling bullying, its lower and upper range is still more common than other types of violence in children and adolescents' lives such as peer and cyberbullying (Juvonen & Graham, 2014; Modecki et al., 2014). That is, although the exact rates of sibling bullying are hard to estimate, it seems to be highly prevalent in children's and adolescents' lives.

Although sibling bullying is highly prevalent in both children's and adolescents' lives, it shows an increasing pattern from early childhood to late childhood before starting to decline from early adolescence onwards (Finkelhor et al., 2006; Toseeb et al., 2020b, Tucker et al., 2014b). This is perhaps related to the shift in children's developmental needs and interests. More specifically, with increased social communication and language skills as children grow up, they start to interact more with their siblings until they reach adolescence upon which their interest shifts from siblings to peers (Oliva & Arranz, 2005). This shows that increased sibling interaction and time spent together are linked to increased risks for sibling bullying involvement (Toseeb, 2022). Further supporting this, researchers have found declining patterns of sibling interest and increasing patterns of peer interest alongside declining sibling bullying and increasing peer bullying rates (Finkelhor et al., 2016, Tucker et al., 2014b). Therefore, it is seen that developmental needs play a role in the type of bullying that children are exposed to, and sibling interest, and therefore bullying, seem to decline with the transition from childhood to adolescence.

Precursors of Sibling Bullying. Existing empirical findings have indicated a wide range of individual and family-level precursors of sibling bullying (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev

et al., 2018; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013a, 2014a), with individual-level precursors being stronger predictors than family-level factors (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2020a). This aligns well with the EST (Bronfenbrenner; 1979) which suggests that individuals' behaviours are influenced by multiple layers of immediate and distal environments while emphasising significant direct effects of individuals' immediate environments. Based on the EST, one could expect broader-level environmental precursors of sibling bullying (i.e., culture). However, the existing literature presents no findings in this regard due to the lack of existing cross-cultural research on sibling bullying. Therefore, the investigation of sibling bullying in broader, i.e., cross-cultural, contexts is an urgent matter (Sabah et al., 2022).

Looking at individual-level precursors, sibling bullying is linked to a wide range of individual characteristics such as sex, ethnicity, birth order, number of siblings, siblings' sex composition, and siblings' age gap. More precisely, first-born children are more likely to be involved in sibling bullying potentially due to the increased feelings of jealousy with the birth of the second child and drastic loss of family resources, e.g., parental attention, material resources, upon the birth of the new sibling (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2020a). Relatedly, an increased number of siblings increases the risk of sibling bullying potentially due to the increased competition over the limited familial resources (Hawley, 1999), increased time spent with siblings, and overcrowding (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Tucker et al., 2013a; Wolke & Skew, 2012). Additionally, being a male and having an older male sibling increases the risk of being involved in sibling bullying, with males often being the bully and females the victim of sibling bullying (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Dantchev et al., 2019; Duncan, 1999; Hoffman et al., 2005; Menesini et al., 2010; Qing et al., 2022; Wolke & Skew, 2012). Furthermore, having a sibling close in age is also a risk factor for increased sibling bullying perhaps due to the increased daily sibling interactions

and time spent together (Felson & Russo, 1988; Tucker et al., 2013a). Moreover, White individuals are more likely to bully a sibling and be victimised by a sibling than non-White individuals, though it is not yet clear how ethnicity plays a role in sibling bullying (Toseeb et al., 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013a). Finally, individuals with pre-existing mental health difficulties (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Katsantonis, 2022) and those with poor behavioural functioning (Toseeb et al., 2020a), e.g., prosociality and emotion regulation, are at increased risks for involvement in sibling bullying than others with no pre-existing mental health difficulties or behavioural dysfunction.

Although an abundance of evidence exists on the individual-level precursors of sibling bullying, the literature is somewhat inconsistent. For instance, contradicting the evidence suggesting males are more likely to be involved in sibling bullying than females, some studies have shown that females are either equally or more likely to be involved in sibling bullying than males (Button & Gealt, 2010; Duncan, 1999). Additionally, contradicting the evidence reporting that the increased number of siblings and having a sibling close in age as risk factors for sibling bullying, some others have found no correlation between the number of siblings or age gap and sibling bullying (Hardy, 2001; Hoffman et al., 2005; Laopratai et al., 2023; Qing et al., 2022). Furthermore, although pre-existing mental health difficulties are suggested to be risk factors for increased rates of sibling bullying, those individuals may perceive and report higher rates of bullying exposure than their actual bullying involvement rates (Bowes et al., 2014). Hence, although an abundance of research has shown individual-level risk factors of sibling bullying, more research is needed to clarify the contradicting evidence in the literature.

There are also family-level precursors of sibling bullying which can be categorised under three overarching domains: 1) family composition, 2) family socio-economic status, and 3) parenting characteristics. Regarding family composition, higher rates of sibling bullying have been reported in single-parent (Qing et al., 2022) and overcrowded households (Makinde et al., 2016) compared to two-parent and less crowded households. Additionally, low parental education and low family income increase risks for sibling bullying (Chandran et al., 2019; Dantchev et al., 2018; Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Qing et al., 2022; Wolke & Skew; 2012; Tippett & Wolke; 2015) potentially due to the increased competition over the limited family resources (Hawley, 1999). In regard to parenting characteristics, harsh or punitive parenting style (Eriksen & Jensen, 2006; Toseeb et al., 2020a), parent-to-child violence (Eriksen & Jensen, 2006; Heinrich, 2017; Qing et al., 2022), interparental conflict (Dantchev & Wolke; 2019; Heinrich, 2017; Hoffman et al., 2005; Qing et al., 2022), parental rejection of the child (Sabah et al., 2022), and parental differential treatment (Brody et al., 1992; McHale et al., 1986) and maltreatment (Radford et al., 2013) are significant precursors of sibling bullying. Finally, ineffective parental intervention in sibling conflict and bullying increases the repetition of such actions in the future (Cicirelli, 2013; Felson & Russo, 1988; Relva et al., 2019; Tucker & Kazura, 2013).

Again, although ample evidence has shown family-level precursors of sibling bullying, the literature contains somewhat contradicting evidence. For instance, some researchers have found no correlations between parental marital status, i.e., single-parent households, and sibling bullying involvement (Hardy, 2001; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2020a; Tucker et al., 2014a). Additionally, while the majority of evidence suggests that low parental education is a risk factor for increased sibling bullying, some others reported otherwise suggesting high parental education increases the risk of sibling bullying arguing that this may be related to a lack of resources, perhaps parental attention, supervision, etc, and lesser family stability (Tippett & Wolke, 2014; Tucker et al., 2014a). Finally, not aligning with the theoretical assumptions (i.e., resource control theory) and empirical findings on family income and sibling bullying, some researchers either found no correlations between sibling bullying and family income (Toseeb et al., 2020a) or positive correlations suggesting higher rates of sibling bullying in higher income families than low-income families (Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Finally, despite the growing evidence, Wolke et al., (2015) argued that sibling bullying may not be linked to family-level socio-demographics, such as parental education, and single-parent status, but may relate to parenting characteristics. These contradictions warrant more research to shed light on the family-level precursors of sibling bullying.

Outcomes of Sibling Bullying. Given its high prevalence, one could expect sibling bullying to be associated with a wide range of developmental outcomes. Although negative sibling interactions, i.e., conflict, could contribute to the quality of sibling relationships and favour certain developmental outcomes of children (Campione-Barr & Killoren, 2019), sibling bullying is reported as a harmful form of sibling interaction that leads to deteriorated developmental outcomes (Hoetger et al., 2015; Wolke et al., 2015). Given that the literature is severely limited on sibling bullying, there is little knowledge about its influence on different developmental outcomes. Though, the limited evidence points towards three major developmental outcomes of sibling bullying: 1) behavioural and emotional dysfunction, 2) psychopathological difficulties, and 3) peer problems.

To begin with, in terms of social, behavioural, and emotional dysfunction, increased rates of sibling bullying are associated with reduced social skills (e.g., prosociality, empathy, friendship, and number of friends) (Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a, 2020b; McCoy et al., 1994). Additionally, involvement in sibling bullying, as either the bully or victim, is associated with reduced emotional and self-regulation (Toseeb et al., 2020a; Fite et al., 2022; Foody et al., 2020). Moreover, previous research has shown that increased sibling bullying rates decrease the level of self-esteem later in life (Plamondon et al., 2021; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022) while high self-esteem served as a protective

factor against sibling bullying involvement (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019). These authors have also found that individuals who are involved in sibling bullying are more likely to show higher rates of antisocial (e.g., crime) and high-risk (i.e., alcohol use, nicotine dependency, illicit drug use) behaviours compared to those who are not involved in sibling bullying. Consequently, sibling bullying involvement is associated with increased risks for social, behavioural, and emotional dysfunction.

In terms of its link with psychopathological difficulties, increased rates of sibling bullying are linked to a wide range of psychopathological outcomes. For instance, regarding negative mental health outcomes, researchers have shown that sibling bullying is associated with increased anxiety and depression (Bowes et al., 2014; Dantchev et al., 2019; Duncan, 1999; Laopratai et al., 2023; Liu et al., 2020), loneliness (Duncan, 1999), internalising and externalising problems (Coyle et al., 2017; Plamondon et al., 2021; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke & Skew; 2011), psychological distress (Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; Tucker et al., 2013b), suicidal ideation and self-harm (Bowes et al., 2014, Dantchev et al., 2019; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022), and psychotic (Dantchev et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2021) and traumatic symptoms (Radford et al., 2013). In terms of positive mental health, increased rates of sibling bullying are correlated with poorer self-esteem (Katsantonis, 2022; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022) and wellbeing (Duncan, 1999; Plamondon et al., 2021; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; Truong et al., 2022). Although sibling bullying appears to be correlated with a wide range of psychopathological difficulties, the nature of these associations has remained unknown.

Given that there is growing literature suggesting a link between sibling bullying and psychopathological difficulties, it is particularly important to understand the nature of this association, whether it is direct or indirect. Although mediation analyses (i.e., causal statistical models for indirect associations) have previously been performed on sibling bullying, they all included sibling bullying as the mediator variable instead of the predictor of psychopathological difficulties (e.g., Bouchard et al., 2019; Katsantonis, 2022; Menesini et al., 2010; Plamondon et al., 2021). Looking more closely at the literature, precisely, prosociality, emotion regulation, and self-esteem strike as potential mediators between sibling bullying and psychopathological difficulties due to their significant correlations with sibling bullying (Fite et al., 2022; Foody et al., 2020; Menesini et al., 2010; Plamondon et al., 2021; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a, 2020b; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022) and psychopathological outcomes (Chervonsky & Hunt, 2019; Corden et al., 2021; Mazurek, 2014; McCauley et al., 2019; Moksnes & Reidunsdatter, 2019; van der Cruijsen & Boyer, 2021). Taking from there, a recent study that tested the indirect links between sibling victimisation on internalising symptoms has found indirect effects of sibling victimisation on internalising problems through emotion dysregulation (Fite et al., 2022). These recent findings strengthen the argument that, instead of a direct link, the associations between sibling bullying and psychopathological difficulties may be indirect in nature.

Not only does sibling bullying negatively impact developmental outcomes, but it also shows a negative spillover impact on pupils' peer relationships. Previous research has argued that bullying starts at home (Wolke & Skew, 2012). Taken from here, and based on the social learning theory (SLT), others have argued that individuals who are victimised at home are more likely to be victimised by their friends at school and those who bully a sibling at home are more likely to bully a peer at school compared to those who are not involved in sibling bullying (Duncan, 1999; Foody et al., 2020; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Truong et al., 2022; Tucker et al., 2014b; Wolke & Samara, 2004). Such triggering impacts of sibling bullying on peer bullying are likely to reduce the number of friends and friendship quality (McCoy et al., 1994). This may also explain the reason why individuals who are involved in sibling bullying show increased levels of loneliness (Duncan, 1999).

2.4 Autism and Sibling Bullying

2.4.1 Theoretical Explanation

Although a theoretical framework linking sibling bullying and autism has not yet been established. There are, however, three commonly applied theoretical frameworks in explaining the behavioural characteristics of autistic children: 1) Theory of Mind, 2) Executive Function theory, and 3) Double Empathy Problem. These theoretical frameworks mainly base their roots on individuals' social, cognitive, and behavioural functioning, such as the ability to take others' perspectives, emotional and behavioural regulation, and empathy (Lantrip et al., 2016; Milton, 2012; Wimmer & Perner, 1983). Additionally, EF or ToM have often been researched together due to their high inter-relations (Kouklari et al., 2019; Kramer & Stephens, 2014). Based on this, I argue that an improved understanding of these theoretical frameworks may help to better understand the dynamics of sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic.

Theory of Mind. The Theory of Mind (ToM) was first introduced by Premack and Woodruff (1978) as individuals' ability to imagine mental states of self and others. Following this, Wimmer and Perner (1983) developed the wrong belief test with which they found that children start to develop ToM skills as early as three years of age. Based on Wimmer and Perner's (1983) early findings, Baron-Cohen et al. (1985) hypothesised that autistic children would perform poorly in ToM tests and would be unable to predict others' beliefs and behaviours. Confirming this, in their multigroup experimental study, autistic subjects failed to take others' perspectives, even though their mean age was higher than non-autistic subjects. This early study was later replicated many times with researchers repeatedly suggesting that autistic children show ToM deficits, independent of their intellectual level (Baron-Cohen, 2000; Frith & Happé, 1994; Schneider et al., 2013).

Both poor and advanced ToM skills have been shown to be linked to an increased likelihood of being involved in sibling bullying as either the victim or the bully, respectively (Cook et al., 2010; Shakoor et al., 2012). More specifically, poor ToM skills are linked to a high likelihood of being a victim of bullying while bullies have been found to have high ToM skills (Smith, 2004; Sutton et al., 1999; Van Roekel et al., 2010). Further supporting this, a study has suggested that girls show better ToM skills than boys which makes them superior social bullies (indirect bullying) than boys (Rivers & Smith, 1994). Indirect correlations between ToM skills and bullying involvement could also be established as ToM skills relate to reduced social functioning (Randall, 1997; Repacholi et al., 2003) and high-risk behaviours (Sanvicente-Vieira et al., 2017) which are associated with increased sibling bullying (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). Given autistic children's deficits in ToM skills and the fact that their non-autistic siblings are likely to have superior ToM skills, autistic children may be more likely to be victimised by their siblings than bullying them. Finally, deficits in ToM skills also indicate that autistic children may not be aware of the negative consequences of their harmful behaviours (Bauminger, 2002) which may increase their likelihood of becoming the bully.

Executive Function. The Executive Function (EF) theory was first conceptualised by Pribram (1973) who conducted some of the earliest studies investigating the role of the prefrontal cortex on individuals' behavioural functioning. Since then, researchers have put a great effort into exploring skills that are related to the prefrontal cortex, i.e., EF skills, which has so far indicated 30 different skill sets that relate to EF (Baggetta & Alexander, 2016). The varying range of EF skills has been found to relate to three core developmental domains: 1) inhibition, 2) working memory, and 3) sustained and selective attention (Alvarez & Emory, 2006; Barkley,1996; Burgess et al.,1998; Pennington et al.,1996; Welsh, 2002). Additionally, EF skills have also been found to be comorbid with ToM skills (Ozonoff et al., 1991; Roca,

2016; Scott & Schoenberg, 2011; Szatmari et al., 1990). That is, deficits in either EF or ToM skills are likely to manifest as deficits in the other one. Additionally, like deficits in ToM skills, executive function deficits have also been found to be comorbid with autism (Prior & Hoffmann, 1990; Rumsey, 1985; Szatmari et al., 1990). A recent study has even conceptualised EF deficits as an endophenotype of autism (Demetriou et al., 2019). Hence, EF skills, together with ToM skills, are prefrontal cortex-related skills that are comorbid with autism.

Poorer EF skills are linked to increased risks of being involved in bullying which indicates that autistic individuals may be at heightened risk for being involved in bullying than non-autistic individuals. More specifically, Coolidge et al. (2004) have found EF deficits to predict bullying behaviours indicating that individuals with EF deficits are more likely to become bullies than those with high EF skills. Adding to this, high negative correlations have been found between EF skills and victimisation suggesting that those with EF deficits may be more prone to victimisation than those with high EF skills (Jenkins et al., 2018). Supporting both previous findings, Liu et al. (2017) have found that high EF skills protect against being victims of perpetrators of bullying. Furthermore, others have also shown that both bullies and victims show deficits in EF with victims showing extreme difficulties in EF tasks (Medeiros et al., 2016). There may also be indirect correlations between EF and bullying involvement. For instance, deficits in EF result in emotional dysregulation (Lantrip et al., 2016; Sira & Mateer, 2014; Sudikoff et al., 2015; Ursache et al., 2013) which is also closely linked to increased sibling bullying involvement (Toseeb et al., 2020a; Fite et al., 2022; Foody et al., 2020). Considering the fact that EF deficits are comorbid with autism, autistic children may be at an increased risk for being involved in sibling bullying compared to non-autistic children.

Double Empathy Problem. Until recently, researchers had repeatedly portrayed autistic children as lacking empathy or less empathic than their non-autistic peers (Yirmiya et al., 1992; Peterson, 2014). However, a new theoretical framework, The Double Empathy Problem (DEP),

suggests that the failure to take another's perspective, i.e., empathy, in social contexts, is reciprocal between autistic and non-autistic individuals (Milton, 2012). Given that reduced levels of empathy are linked to increased levels of bullying involvement (Chan & Wong, 2015; Walters & Espelage, 2018), a double empathy problem, i.e., between autistic and non-autistic individuals may heighten the risks for bullying involvement between autistic and non-autistic individuals. Supporting this, researchers have found a higher likelihood of bullying experiences for autistic children who attend a mainstream school compared to those who attend a special school (Humphrey & Hebron, 2015; Rowley et al., 2012). Based on these suggestions and given that lower rates of empathy are also linked to increased risks for sibling bullying involvement (Kandemir Özdinç, 2019; Menesini et al., 2010), it could be argued that families formed by autistic and non-autistic siblings may be at higher risks for sibling bullying than families with otherwise-formed sibling pairs due to the double empathy problem between siblings.

2.4.2 Empirical Findings

The limited evidence suggests that autistic individuals are more likely to engage in sibling bullying, both as victims and bullies, than their non-autistic peers (Nowell et al., 2014; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). This may be due to the behavioural and emotional characteristics of autistic children such as failing to follow the social rules, showing higher aggressive and coercive behaviours, and poorer social and emotional functioning (Humphrey & Hebron, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018). There may also be some other unmeasured reasons. For instance, deficits in social cognitive skills, i.e., ToM and EF, and the double empathy problem between the autistic and non-autistic siblings, are likely to further trigger the rates of sibling bullying in such families (Cook et al., 2010; Coolidge et al., 2004; Kandemir Özdinç, 2019; Menesini et al., 2010). Furthermore, there is higher parental differential treatment and favouritism in families where a child is autistic compared to families of non-autistic children which may

further increase the prevalence of sibling bullying in such families (Brody et al., 1992; McHale et al., 1986; McHale & Pawletko, 1992). Hence, sibling bullying seems to be more prevalent in families where a child is autistic due to additional individual- and family-level risk factors in place compared to families formed by non-autistic children only.

Several other factors could be speculated as to why autistic children are at an increased risk for sibling bullying. For instance, some suggest that the lack of theory of mind skills in autistic children increases their likelihood of being a victim of bullying (Van Roekel et al., 2010). Relatedly, some others argue that the more advanced social skills of non-autistic siblings – compared to their autistic siblings – may provide them with the appropriate arrangements to socially manipulate – indirect bullying – their autistic siblings (Smith, 2004; Sutton et al., 1999). Furthermore, due to their difficulties in the social processing of appropriate social interactions (Frith & Hill, 2004), autistic children may perpetrate bullying actions without being aware of the consequences of their such behaviours (Van Roekel et al., 2010). Finally, autistic children experience greater mental health difficulties than their non-autistic peers (Lundström et al., 2011) which is likely to increase their risk of being involved in sibling bullying is likely to place autistic individuals at an increased risk for its harmful consequences than their non-autistic peers.

2.5 Sibling Bullying in Cross-Cultural Context

Although there is growing evidence on the prevalence, precursors, and outcomes of sibling bullying, the available evidence comes primarily from Western cultures while little is known about its dynamics in non-Western cultures. That said, there has been no cross-cultural understanding of the dynamics of sibling bullying. This is problematic in various ways. For instance, the varying prevalence of sibling bullying may introduce potential variations in the outcomes of sibling bullying as a dose-effect relationship has been

established between sibling bullying exposure and adverse developmental outcomes (Dantchev et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2020; Wolke & Skew, 2012). Finally, taking Henrich et al.'s (2010), suggestion into account, i.e., results and conclusions arising from research conducted by Western scientists on Western subjects using Western-developed tools must not be generalised to non-Western cultures, it could be argued that lack of cross-cultural understanding of sibling bullying is particularly problematic in regard to effective prevention and intervention of sibling bullying as, to date, all available intervention programmes are based on the dynamics of sibling bullying in Western cultures. Hence, there is a growing need for cross-cultural research for a complete understanding of sibling relationships and bullying (Cicirelli, 1995; Sabah et al., 2022).

To the best of my knowledge, no cross-cultural research has been conducted on sibling bullying. However, both theoretical assumptions and empirical findings from singleculture studies point towards cross-cultural variations in the dynamics of sibling bullying. In terms of theoretical assumptions, i.e., EST (Bronfenbrenner; 1979), broader societal norms and values such as children's rights (e.g., life, health, education), individualistic and collectivistic norms, income inequality, poverty, and violence rates are expected to create imbalanced opportunities for sibling bullying across distanced cultures. Supporting this with empirical evidence, relatively higher rates of sibling bullying, i.e., 30-78%, have been recorded in Western cultures such as the United Kingdom (Dantchev et al., 2019; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a) and the United States (Skinner & Kowalski, 2013; Tucker et al., 2013) compared to much lower rates, i.e., 10-20%, in non-Western cultures such as China (Liu et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022). Taken together, the existing theoretical and empirical assumptions flag potential cross-cultural variations in the dynamics of sibling bullying across culturally distanced, i.e., Western and non-Western, countries.

2.6 Sibling Bullying During Covid-19

According to the World Health Organisation (2023), Covid-19 is a highly contagious disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus, which first emerged in late 2019 in Wuhan province, China. Its highly transmissible nature forced governments all around the world to impose nationwide social restrictions in order to protect public health. Such social restrictions included, but were not limited to, nationwide or local lockdowns, school closures, stay-at-home restrictions, and several social distancing measures. The nature of such social restrictions, in most cases, meant changes in routines, social isolation, home confinement, constant contact with family members, and increased unsupervised time siblings spent together. Such unexpected and highly profound social measures brought challenges to intra-family relationships, with those with pre-existing challenges in place being affected even more adversely than others (Asbury et al., 2021; Feinberg et al., 2022).

Early studies on the impact of Covid-19 have shown an immensely profound impact of social restrictions on intra-family dynamics. For instance, some researchers have found that the pandemic had profound detrimental impacts on parental anxiety, depression, stress, burden, and intra-familial relationships (Asbury et al., 2021; Russell et al., 2020). Additionally, some others have reported increased family chaos since the onset of the pandemic with spillover impact on parent-child relationships and sibling relationships (Cassinat et al., 2021). Taking these early findings into account, some researchers predicted that such intra-family challenges, introduced by the pandemic, would lead to other intrafamily troubles such as parent-child and sibling conflict and violence (Pereda & Díaz-Faes, 2020; Perkins et al., 2021; Prime et al., 2020).

Despite researchers' early predictions, only a few studies to date have investigated the potential detrimental impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic on sibling relationships. Aligning with early predictions, evidence from the general population has so far shown that Covid-19

deteriorated sibling relationships as increased rates of sibling conflict and violence were measured, in most families, since the onset of the pandemic (Cassinat et al., 2021; Horton et al., 2022; Salmon et al., 2022). Taking existing evidence further, recent research has shown increased rates of sibling bullying in Indonesian adolescents since the onset of the pandemic (Borualogo & Casas, 2023). Similarly, some other researchers have also found increased rates of sibling conflict and violence in families of autistic children and adolescents since the onset of the Covid-19 pandemic (Stadheim et al., 2022; Toseeb, 2022). Hence, although the literature is severely limited, the existing evidence, from the general and autistic populations, points towards increased sibling conflict and bullying during the pandemic, compared to prepandemic. Though, to date, no cross-cultural understanding of the impacts of Covid-19 on sibling relationships exists, neither in the general nor in the autistic population. Consequently, there is an urgent need for cross-cultural research to better understand the impacts of Covid-19 on sibling relationships, especially in families of autistic children where pre-existing challenges were already in place.

2.7 Contribution of the Current Thesis

Sibling bullying is prevalent in the lives of adolescents both in the general as well as the autistic population. Though, the existing findings, from single-country studies, point towards a potential variation in the prevalence of sibling bullying across cultures. However, it is not yet clear whether these variations are due to differing conceptualisation and measurement practices of sibling bullying or whether they reflect higher rates of sibling bullying in certain cultures than others. In this thesis, <u>Study I</u> (Chapter IV) adapts a well-known English-originated sibling bullying measure into the Turkish language to increase consistent measurement practices between English- and Turkish-speaking populations. Using both the original and adapted versions of this measure, <u>Study II</u> (Chapter V) explores the

potential variation in the prevalence of sibling bullying between British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents.

Sibling bullying is associated with a range of mental health difficulties. Though, this link may not be a straight line, as recent research in the general population has shown indirect relationships between sibling bullying and mental health through emotion regulation. The nature of this relationship has so far remained unclear in the autistic population. In this thesis, <u>Study II</u> and <u>Study III</u> explore the direct and indirect links between sibling bullying and mental health in British and Turkish autistic adolescents. <u>Study II</u> provides a cross-cultural perspective on the nature of this association, while <u>Study III</u> (Chapter VI) brings a casual interpretation.

The risk of being involved in sibling bullying seems to have been heightened during the Covid-19 pandemic mainly due to the increased time siblings spent together at home. This risk appears to have been higher in families where a child is autistic as these families were disproportionally affected by Covid-19 and associated social distancing measures. In the current thesis, <u>Study IV</u> (Chapter VII) adds to the literature as it provides the first insights into potential variation in the impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships across two distant cultures – British and Turkish – where social distancing measures were in place at differing stringency.
References

- Abramovitch, R., Corter, C., & Lando, B. (1979). Sibling interaction in the home. *Child development*, 997-1003. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1129325</u>
- Adams, B. N. (1999). Cross-cultural and US kinship. In Handbook of Marriage and the
- Family (pp. 77-91). Boston, MA: Springer US.
- Alvarez, J. A., & Emory, E. (2006). Executive function and the frontal lobes: a meta-analytic review. *Neuropsychology review*, 16, 17-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11065-006-9002-x</u>
- American Psychiatric Association. (1952). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (1st ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1968). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (2nd ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1980). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association (1987). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (3rd ed., Revised (DSM-III-R)). Washington DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). DSM-IV-TR. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.

Austen, J. (1990). Mansfield park. Oxford Paperbacks.

Asbury, K., Fox, L., Deniz, E., Code, A., & Toseeb, U. (2021). How is COVID-19 affecting the mental health of children with special educational needs and disabilities and their families?. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *51*(5), 1772-1780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2

- Asperger, H. (1992). Autistic Psychopathy'in childhood.(trans. U. Frith) In: Frith U. Autism and Asperger Syndrome.
- Azmitia, M., & Hesser, J. (1993). Why siblings are important agents of cognitive development: A comparison of siblings and peers. *Child development*, 64(2), 430-444.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1993.tb02919.x
- Baggetta, P., & Alexander, P. A. (2016). Conceptualization and operationalization of executive function. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 10(1), 10-33.

https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12100

- Baldwinson, T. (2019). UPIAS-THE UNION OF PHYSICALLY IMPAIRED AGAINST SEGREGATION (1972-1990): A Public Record from Private Files. TBR CONSULTING.
- Barkley, R. A. (1996). Linkages between attention and executive functions. In G. R. Lyon & N. A. Krasnegor (Eds.), Attention, memory, and executive function (pp. 307–325). Paul H Brookes Publishing Co..
- Baron-Cohen, S., Leslie, A. M., & Frith, U. (1985). Does the autistic child have a "theory of mind"?. *Cognition*, 21(1), 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8
- Baron-Cohen, S. (2000). Theory of mind and autism: A review. International review of research in mental retardation, 23, 169-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0074-</u> 7750(00)80010-5
- Baron-Cohen, S. (2002). The extreme male brain theory of autism. *Trends in cognitive sciences*, *6*(6), 248-254.
- Baron-Cohen, S. (2012). Autism and the technical mind. Scientific American, 307(5), 72-75.
- Bauminger, N. (2002). The facilitation of social-emotional understanding and social interaction in high-functioning children with autism: Intervention outcomes. *Journal of*

autism and developmental disorders, 32, 283-298.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016378718278

- Bedford, V. H., Volling, B. L., & Avioli, P. S. (2000). Positive consequences of sibling conflict in childhood and adulthood. *The international journal of aging and human development*, 51(1), 53-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/G6PR-CN8Q-5PVC-5GTV</u>
- Benson, L., & Mokhtari, M. (2011). Parental employment, shared parent–child activities and childhood obesity. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 32, 233-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-011-9249-0</u>
- Bjereld, Y., Augustine, L., & Thornberg, R. (2020). Measuring the prevalence of peer bullying victimization: Review of studies from Sweden during 1993–2017. *Children and youth services review*, 119, 105528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105528</u>
- Björkqvist, K., Lagerspetz, K. M., & Kaukiainen, A. (1992). Do girls manipulate and boys fight? Developmental trends in regard to direct and indirect aggression. *Aggressive behavior*, 18(2), 117-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-2337(1992)18:2%3C117::AID-</u> <u>AB2480180205%3E3.0.CO;2-3</u>
- Bleuler, E. (1911). The Theory of Negativism [Zur Theorie des Schizophrenen Negativismus]. Psychiatrische und Neurologische Wochenschrift, 13(18-21), 557-559.
 Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF01797139. (Original work published 1910-1911). *Journal of Mental Science*, 57(237), 381-383. .
 https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.57.237.381
- Boer, F., Goedhart, A. W., & Treffers, P. D. (2013). Siblings and their parents. In Children's sibling relationships (pp. 41-54). Psychology Press.
- Borualogo, I. S., & Casas, F. (2023). Sibling bullying, school bullying, and children's Subjective Well-Being before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Indonesia. *Child indicators research*, 1-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-023-10013-5</u>

- Bouchard, G., Plamondon, A., & Lachance-Grzela, M. (2019). Parental intervention style and adult sibling conflicts: The mediating role of involvement in sibling bullying. *Journal of social and personal relationships*, *36*(8), 2585-2602.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407518793227
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032-e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Brett, H., Bartoli, A. J., & Smith, P. K. (2023). Sibling bullying during childhood: A scoping review. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 101862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2023.101862
- Brody, G. H., Stoneman, Z., & McCoy, J. K. (1992). Associations of maternal and paternal direct and differential behavior with sibling relationships: Contemporaneous and longitudinal analyses. *Child Development*, 63(1), 82-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1992.tb03597.x</u>
- Brody, G. H. (2004). Siblings' direct and indirect contributions to child development. *Current directions in psychological science*, 13(3), 124-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2004.00289.x</u>
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Harvard university press.

Brown, J. R., & Dunn, J. (1996). Continuities in emotion understanding from three to six years. *Child development*, 67(3), 789-802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u>
<u>8624.1996.tb01764.x</u>Benson, L., & Mokhtari, M. (2011). Parental employment, shared parent–child activities and childhood obesity. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 32, 233-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-011-9249-0</u>

Buist, K. L., Deković, M., & Prinzie, P. (2013). Sibling relationship quality and

psychopathology of children and adolescents: A meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 33(1), 97-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.10.007</u>

- Button, D. M., & Gealt, R. (2010). High risk behaviors among victims of sibling violence. *Journal of family violence*, 25, 131-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-009-</u> 9276-x
- Calder, L., Hill, V., & Pellicano, E. (2013). 'Sometimes I want to play by myself':
 Understanding what friendship means to children with autism in mainstream primary schools. *Autism*, 17(3), 296-316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312467866</u>
- Campione-Barr, N., & Killoren, S. E. (2019). Love them and hate them: The developmental appropriateness of ambivalence in the adolescent sibling relationship. *Child development perspectives*, 13(4), 221-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12345</u>
- Cannell, J. J. (2008). Autism and vitamin D. *Medical hypotheses*, 70(4), 750-759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2007.08.016
- Cassinat, J. R., Whiteman, S. D., Serang, S., Dotterer, A. M., Mustillo, S. A., Maggs, J. L., & Kelly, B. C. (2021). Changes in family chaos and family relationships during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from a longitudinal study. *Developmental psychology*, *57*(10), 1597. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0001217
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC. (2006). Mental health in the United
 States: parental report of diagnosed autism in children aged 4-17 years--United States,
 2003-2004. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 55(17), 481-486.
- Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (January 2023). *Data & Statistics on Autism Spectrum Disorder*. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/autism/data.html</u>
- Chan, H. C. O., & Wong, D. S. (2015). The overlap between school bullying perpetration and victimization: Assessing the psychological, familial, and school factors of Chinese adolescents in Hong Kong. *Journal of child and Family Studies*, 24, 3224-3234.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-015-0125-7

- Chandran, S., Prakrithi, S. N., Prakash, K. G., & Kishor, M. D. (2019). "Bullying in Incognito Mode": The evolution of sibling bullying. *Indian Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 35(2), 142-147. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijsp.ijsp_44_18
- Charman, T. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders. *Child Psychology and Psychiatry: Frameworks for Practice*, 140-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119993971.ch23</u>
- Chervonsky, E., & Hunt, C. (2019). Emotion regulation, mental health, and social wellbeing in a young adolescent sample: A concurrent and longitudinal investigation. *Emotion*, 19(2), 270. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/emo0000432</u>
- Cicirelli, V. G., & Cicirelli, V. G. (1995). Sibling relationships in cross-cultural perspective. *Sibling relationships across the life span*, 69-85.
- Cicirelli, V. (2013). Sibling relationships across the life span. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Cook, C. R., Williams, K. R., Guerra, N. G., Kim, T. E., & Sadek, S. (2010). Predictors of bullying and victimization in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic investigation.
 School psychology quarterly, 25(2), 65. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0020149</u>
- Cook, K. A., & Willmerdinger, A. N. (2015). The history of autism.
- Coolidge, F. L., DenBoer, J. W., & Segal, D. L. (2004). Personality and neuropsychological correlates of bullying behavior. Personality and Individual differences, 36(7), 1559-1569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2003.06.005</u>
- Corden, K., Brewer, R., & Cage, E. (2021) Personal Identity After an Autism Diagnosis:
 Relationships With Self-Esteem, Mental Wellbeing, and Diagnostic Timing. *Front. Psychol.* 12:699335 <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.699335</u>
- Corscadden, P., & Casserly, A. M. (2021). Identification of Autism in Girls: Role of Trait Subtleties, Social Acceptance and Masking. *REACH: Journal of Inclusive Education in*

Ireland, 34(1). Retrieved from:

https://www.reachjournal.ie/index.php/reach/article/view/313

- Coyle, S., Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., Tennant, J. E., & Klossing, J. (2017). The associations among sibling and peer-bullying, social support and internalizing behaviors. In *Child & youth care forum* (Vol. 46, pp. 895-922). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-017-9412-3
- Dantchev, S., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2018). Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: A prospective cohort study. *Psychological Medicine*, 48(14), 2321-2328. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1017/S0033291717003841</u>
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *10*, 651.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). Trouble in the nest: Antecedents of sibling bullying victimization and perpetration. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(5), 1059. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0000700
- Dantchev, S., & Zemp, M. (2022). Does bullying occur behind closed doors? Agreement of bullying reports between parents and children and its differential associations with child outcomes. *Children*, 9(10), 1440. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children9101440</u>
- Davidson, M. (2022). Vaccination as a cause of autism—myths and controversies. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2017.19.4/mdavidson</u>
- de Bruin, E. I., Ferdinand, R. F., Meester, S., de Nijs, P. F., & Verheij, F. (2007). High rates of psychiatric co-morbidity in PDD-NOS. Journal of autism and developmental disorders, 37, 877-886. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0215-x</u>

Demetriou, E. A., DeMayo, M. M., & Guastella, A. J. (2019). Executive function in autism

spectrum disorder: history, theoretical models, empirical findings, and potential as an endophenotype. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 10, 753. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00753

Dong, H. Y., Wang, B., Li, H. H., Yue, X. J., & Jia, F. Y. (2021). Correlation between screen time and autistic symptoms as well as development quotients in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12, 619994.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.619994

- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extra-familial bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *14*(8), 871-886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Dunifon, R., Fomby, P., & Musick, K. (2017). Siblings and children's time use in the United States. *Demographic Research*, 37, 1611-1624. https://doi.org/10.4054/DemRes.2017.37.49
- Duvekot, J., van der Ende, J., Verhulst, F. C., Slappendel, G., van Daalen, E., Maras, A., & Greaves-Lord, K. (2017). Factors influencing the probability of a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder in girls versus boys. *Autism*, 21(6), 646-658. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316672178
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2006). All in the family? Family environment factors in sibling violence. *Journal of family violence*, 21, 497-507. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2009). A push or a punch: Distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(1), 183-208.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298</u>
- Farrell, A. H., & Dane, A. V. (2020). Bullying, victimization, and prosocial resource control strategies: Differential relations with dominance and alliance formation. Evolutionary

Behavioral Sciences, 14(3), 270. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ebs0000178

- Farmer, C. A., & Aman, M. G. (2011). Aggressive behavior in a sample of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(1), 317-323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2010.04.014
- Feinberg, M. E., A Mogle, J., Lee, J. K., Tornello, S. L., Hostetler, M. L., Cifelli, J. A., ... & Hotez, E. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on parent, child, and family functioning. *Family Process*, 61(1), 361-374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12649</u>
- Felson, R. B., & Russo, N. (1988). Parental punishment and sibling aggression. Social Psychology Quarterly, 11-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2786980</u>
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2006). Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child abuse & neglect*, 30(12), 1401-1421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006.
- Fite, P. J., Cooley, J. L., Tampke, E. C., Hesse, D. R., & Doyle, R. L. (2022). The Role of Emotion Dysregulation in the Links Between Sibling Victimization and Internalizing Symptoms in Middle Childhood. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 44(2), 560-569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-022-09956-w
- Foody, M., Samara, M., & O'Higgins Norman, J. (2020). Bullying by siblings and peers:
 Poly-setting victimization and the association with problem behaviours and
 depression. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90, 138-157.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12311
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2006). Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child abuse & neglect*, 30(12), 1401-1421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006</u>.

Finkelstein, V. (1988). To deny or not to deny disability. *Physiotherapy*, 74(12), 650-652.

Frith, U., & Happé, F. (1994). Autism: Beyond "theory of mind". Cognition, 50(1-3), 115-

132. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(94)90024-8

- Frith, U., & Hill, E. (Eds.). (2004). Autism: Mind and brain. OUP Oxford.
- Gass, K., Jenkins, J., & Dunn, J. (2007). Are sibling relationships protective? A longitudinal study. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 48(2), 167-175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01699.x
- Ghaziuddin, M., Ghaziuddin, N., & Greden, J. (2002). Depression in persons with autism: Implications for research and clinical care. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 32, 299-306. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016330802348
- Gilotty, L., Kenworthy, L., Sirian, L., Black, D. O., & Wagner, A. E. (2002). Adaptive skills and executive function in autism spectrum disorders. *Child Neuropsychology*, 8(4), 241-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1076/chin.8.4.241.13504</u>
- Gould, J. (2017). Towards understanding the under-recognition of girls and women on the autism spectrum. *Autism*, 21(6), 703-705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361317706174</u>
- Hansen, S. N., Schendel, D. E., & Parner, E. T. (2015). Explaining the increase in the prevalence of autism spectrum disorders: the proportion attributable to changes in reporting practices. *JAMA pediatrics*, 169(1), 56-62.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.1893

- Hardy, M. S. (2001). Physical aggression and sexual behavior among siblings: A retrospective study. *Journal of family violence*, 16, 255-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1011186215874</u>
- Hartley, S. L., Papp, L. M., Mihaila, I., Bussanich, P. M., Goetz, G., & Hickey, E. J. (2017).
 Couple conflict in parents of children with versus without autism: Self-reported and observed findings. *Journal of child and family studies*, *26*, 2152-2165.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0737-1

Hawley, P. H. (1999). The ontogenesis of social dominance: A strategy-based evolutionary

perspective. Developmental

https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.1998.0470

- Heinrich, M. I. (2017). *Precursors and outcomes of sibling bullying* (Doctoral dissertation, Kingston University). https://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.733460
- Hill, A. P., Zuckerman, K. E., Hagen, A. D., Kriz, D. J., Duvall, S. W., Van Santen, J., ... & Fombonne, E. (2014). Aggressive behavior problems in children with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence and correlates in a large clinical sample. *Research in autism spectrum disorders*, 8(9), 1121-1133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2014.05.006</u>
- Hoetger, L. A., Hazen, K. P., & Brank, E. M. (2015). All in the family: A retrospective study comparing sibling bullying and peer bullying. *Journal of Family Violence*, *30*, 103-111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-014-9651-0
- Hoffmann, L., Wilbert, J., Lehofer, M., & Schwab, S. (2021). Are we good friends?–Friendship preferences and the quantity and quality of mutual friendships. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, *36*(4), 502-516. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2020.1769980
- Hoffman, K. L., Kiecolt, K. J., & Edwards, J. N. (2005). Physical violence between siblings a theoretical and empirical analysis. *Journal of Family issues*, 26(8), 1103-1130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X05277809</u>
- Horton, A. L., Russell, B. S., Tambling, R. R., Britner, P. A., Hutchison, M., & Tomkunas, A. J. (2022). Predictors of children's emotion regulation outcomes during COVID-19:
 Role of conflict within the family. *Family Relations*, 71(4), 1339-1353.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12717
- Humphrey, N., & Hebron, J. (2015). Bullying of children and adolescents with autism spectrum conditions: A 'state of the field'review. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19(8), 845-862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.981602</u>

- Jenkins, L. N., Tennant, J. E., & Demaray, M. K. (2018). Executive functioning and bullying participant roles: Differences for boys and girls. *Journal of School Violence*, 17(4), 521-537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2018.1453822</u>
- Johnston, D. D., & Swanson, D. H. (2006). Constructing the "good mother": The experience of mothering ideologies by work status. *Sex roles*, 54, 509-519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-006-9021-3</u>
- Joshi, G., Wozniak, J., Petty, C., Martelon, M. K., Fried, R., Bolfek, A., ... & Biederman, J. (2013). Psychiatric comorbidity and functioning in a clinically referred population of adults with autism spectrum disorders: a comparative study. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 43, 1314-1325. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1679-5</u>
- Juvonen, J., & Graham, S. (2014). Bullying in schools: The power of bullies and the plight of victims. Annual review of psychology, 65, 159-185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-010213-115030</u>
- Kandemir-Ozdinç, N. (2019). Sibling bullying and peer bullying relations to empathy, moral disengagament, problem solving, and parental acceptance-rejection. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Middle East Technical University.
- Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. Nervous child, 2(3), 217-250.
- Katsantonis, I. (2022). The mediating role of school and sibling bullying in the relationship between subjective well-being and mental health symptoms. *Psych*, 4(2), 258-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/psych4020022</u>
- Kimhi, Y. (2014). Theory of mind abilities and deficits in autism spectrum disorders. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 34(4), 329-343.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/TLD.0000000000033
- Knutson, J. F., DeGarmo, D. S., & Reid, J. B. (2004). Social disadvantage and neglectful parenting as precursors to the development of antisocial and aggressive child behavior:

Testing a theoretical model. *Aggressive behavior*, 30(3), 187-205. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20016

- Kouklari, E. C., Tsermentseli, S., & Monks, C. P. (2019). Developmental trends of hot and cool executive function in school-aged children with and without autism spectrum disorder: Links with theory of mind. *Development and psychopathology*, 31(2), 541-556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579418000081</u>
- Kramer, L., & Conger, K. J. (2009). What we learn from our sisters and brothers: For better or for worse. *New directions for child and adolescent development*, 2009(126), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1002/cd.253
- Kramer, J. H., & Stephens, M. L. (2014). Executive Function. In Encyclopedia of the Neurological Sciences (Second Edition). M. J. Aminoff & R. B. Daroff (Eds.) (pp. 236-238). Academic Press. ISBN 9780123851581. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385157-4.00451-6</u>
- Kushima, M., Kojima, R., Shinohara, R., Horiuchi, S., Otawa, S., Ooka, T., ... & Katoh, T. (2022). Association between screen time exposure in children at 1 year of age and autism spectrum disorder at 3 years of age: the Japan Environment and Children's Study. *JAMA pediatrics*, 176(4), 384-391. https://doi.org:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.5778
- Lagerspetz, K. M., Björkqvist, K., & Peltonen, T. (1988). Is indirect aggression typical of females? Gender differences in aggressiveness in 11-to 12-year-old children. *Aggressive behavior*, 14(6), 403-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-2337(1988)14:6%3C403::AID-</u> AB2480140602%3E3.0.CO;2-D
- Landa, R. J. (2008). Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders in the first 3 years of life. *Nature Clinical Practice Neurology*, 4(3), 138-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ncpneuro0731</u>
- Lantrip, C., Isquith, P. K., Koven, N. S., Welsh, K., & Roth, R. M. (2016). Executive function and emotion regulation strategy use in adolescents. *Applied Neuropsychology: Child*,

5(1), 50-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21622965.2014.960567</u>

- Laopratai, M., Jirakran, K., & Chonchaiya, W. (2023). Factors affecting sibling bullying and its association with self-esteem and depression in middle school students. *European journal of pediatrics*, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-023-05015-y</u>
- Laufer, M. W., & Gair, D. S. (1969). Childhood schizophrenia. *The schizophrenic syndrome*, 378-461.
- Leung, R. C., Vogan, V. M., Powell, T. L., Anagnostou, E., & Taylor, M. J. (2016). The role of executive functions in social impairment in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Child Neuropsychology*, 22(3), 336-344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2015.1005066</u>
- Lewin, K. (1935). A Dynamic Theory of Personality: Selected Papers, by Kurt Lewin... Translated by Donald K. Adams... and Karl E. Zener... McGraw-Hill.
- Leyfer, O. T., Folstein, S. E., Bacalman, S., Davis, N. O., Dinh, E., Morgan, J., ... & Lainhart,
 J. E. (2006). Comorbid psychiatric disorders in children with autism: Interview development and rates of disorders. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *36*, 849-861. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0123-0</u>
- Lin, X., Lin, L., Wang, X., Li, X., Cao, M., & Jing, J. (2023). Association between Mothers' Emotional Problems and Autistic Children's Behavioral Problems: The Moderating Effect of Parenting Style. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 20(5), 4593. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20054593</u>
- Liu, T. L., Guo, N. W., Hsiao, R. C., Hu, H. F., & Yen, C. F. (2017). Relationships of bullying involvement with intelligence, attention, and executive function in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 70, 59-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2017.08.004</u>
- Liu, X., Peng, C., Yu, Y., Yang, M., Qing, Z., Qiu, X., & Yang, X. (2020). Association between sub-types of sibling bullying and mental health distress among Chinese

children and adolescents. Frontiers in psychiatry, 11, 368.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073

- Liu, X., Wolloh Ii, M. G., Lin, X., Qiu, X., Qing, Z., Wang, W., ... & Lu, D. (2021). The association between sibling bullying and psychotic-like experiences among children age 11–16 years in China. *Journal of affective disorders*, 284, 31-37.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073
- Lopez, M., Ruiz, M. O., Rovnaghi, C. R., Tam, G. K., Hiscox, J., Gotlib, I. H., ... & Anand,
 K. J. (2021). The social ecology of childhood and early life adversity. *Pediatric research*, 89(2), 353-367. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41390-020-01264-x
- Lotter, V. (1966). Epidemiology of autistic conditions in young children: 1. Prevalence. *Social psychiatry*, *1*, 124-135.
- Lunkenheimer, E., Lichtwarck-Aschoff, A., Hollenstein, T., Kemp, C. J., & Granic, I. (2016). Breaking down the coercive cycle: How parent and child risk factors influence real-time variability in parental responses to child misbehavior. *Parenting*, 16(4), 237-256. https://doi.org/10.1080/15295192.2016.1184925
- Lundström, S., Chang, Z., Kerekes, N., Gumpert, C. H., Råstam, M., Gillberg, C. A., ... & Anckarsäter, H. (2011). Autistic-like traits and their association with mental health problems in two nationwide twin cohorts of children and adults. *Psychological medicine*, *41*(11), 2423-2433. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291711000377
- Luyckx, K., Tildesley, E. A., Soenens, B., Andrews, J. A., Hampson, S. E., Peterson, M., & Duriez, B. (2011). Parenting and trajectories of children's maladaptive behaviors: A 12-year prospective community study. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 40(3), 468-478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2011.563470</u>
- Maljaars, J., Boonen, H., Lambrechts, G., Van Leeuwen, K., & Noens, I. (2014). Maternal parenting behavior and child behavior problems in families of children and adolescents

with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 44, 501-512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1894-8</u>

- Matson, J. L., Fodstad, J. C., & Mahan, S. (2009). Cutoffs, norms, and patterns of comorbid difficulties in children with developmental disabilities on the Baby and Infant Screen for Children with aUtIsm Traits (BISCUIT-Part 2). *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 30(6), 1221-1228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2009.04.004</u>
- Mazurek, M. O. (2014). Loneliness, friendship, and well-being in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, *18*(3), 223-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312474121</u>
- McCauley, J. B., Harris, M. A., Zajic, M. C., Swain-Lerro, L. E., Oswald, T., McIntyre, N., ...
 & Solomon, M. (2019). Self-esteem, internalizing symptoms, and theory of mind in youth with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 48(3), 400-411. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2017.1381912
- McConkey, R. (2020). The rise in the numbers of pupils identified by schools with autism spectrum disorder (ASD): a comparison of the four countries in the United Kingdom. *Support for learning*, *35*(2), 132-143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9604.12296</u>
- McCoy, J. K., Brody, G. H., & Stoneman, Z. (1994). A longitudinal analysis of sibling relationships as mediators of the link between family processes and youths' best friendships. *Family Relations*, 400-408. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/585371</u>
- McHale, S. M., Sloan, J., & Simeonsson, R. J. (1986). Sibling relationships or children with autistic, mentally retarded, and nonhandicapped brothers and sisters. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *16*(4), 399-413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01531707</u>
- McHale, S. M., & Pawletko, T. M. (1992). Differential treatment of siblings in two family contexts. *Child development*, 63(1), 68-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> <u>8624.1992.tb03596.x</u>

- McHale, S. M., Updegraff, K. A., & Whiteman, S. D. (2012). Sibling relationships and influences in childhood and adolescence. *Journal of marriage and family*, 74(5), 913-930. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2012.01011.x</u>
- Medeiros, W., Torro-Alves, N., Malloy-Diniz, L. F., & Minervino, C. M. (2016). Executive functions in children who experience bullying situations. *Frontiers in psychology*, 7, 1197. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01197</u>
- Menesini, E., Camodeca, M., & Nocentini, A. (2010). Bullying among siblings: The role of personality and relational variables. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 921-939. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/026151009X479402</u>
- Milton, D. E. (2012). On the ontological status of autism: The 'double empathy problem'. *Disability & society*, 27(6), 883-887. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.710008</u>
- Modecki, K. L., Minchin, J., Harbaugh, A. G., Guerra, N. G., & Runions, K. C. (2014).
 Bullying prevalence across contexts: A meta-analysis measuring cyber and traditional bullying. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 55(5), 602-611.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.06.007
- Moksnes, U. K., & Reidunsdatter, R. J. (2019). Self-esteem and mental health in adolescents– level and stability during a school year. *Norsk Epidemiologi*, 28(1-2). https://doi.org/10.5324/nje.v28i1-2.3052
- Morrill, M., Bachman, C., Polisuk, B., Kostelyk, K., & Wilson, S. (2018). An exploration of the relationship between experiences with sibling abuse and peer bullying: A pilot study. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 11, 113-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-017-0156-x</u>
- Muris, P., Steerneman, P., Merckelbach, H., Holdrinet, I., & Meesters, C. (1998). Comorbid anxiety symptoms in children with pervasive developmental disorders. *Journal of*

anxiety disorders, 12(4), 387-393. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6185(98)00022-X

Nowell, K. P., Brewton, C. M., & Goin-Kochel, R. P. (2014). A multi-rater study on being teased among children/adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and their typically developing siblings: associations with ASD symptoms. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 29(4), 195-205.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357614522292

OECD. (2023a). Family Database. https://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm

- Oliva, A., & Arranz, E. (2005). Sibling relationships during adolescence. *European journal of developmental psychology*, 2(3), 253-270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17405620544000002</u>
- Oliver, M. (1990). Critical texts in social work and the welfare state the politics of disablement. *Recuperado de https://disability-studies. leeds. ac. Uk/library.*
- Olthof, T., Goossens, F. A., Vermande, M. M., Aleva, E. A., & van der Meulen, M. (2011).
 Bullying as strategic behavior: Relations with desired and acquired dominance in the peer group. *Journal of school psychology*, 49(3), 339-359.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2011.03.003</u>
- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., & Rogers, S. J. (1991). Executive function deficits in highfunctioning autistic individuals: relationship to theory of mind. *Journal of child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 32(7), 1081-1105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.1991.tb00351.x
- Papp, L. M., & Hartley, S. L. (2019). Child-present and child-themed marital conflict in daily life of parents of children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Developmental psychology*, 55(1), 148. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0000631</u>
- Patterson, G. R., Littman, R. A., & Bricker, W. (1967). Assertive behavior in children: A step toward a theory of aggression. *Monographs of the society for research in child development*, 32(5), iii-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1165737</u>

- Peterson, C. (2014). Theory of mind understanding and empathic behavior in children with autism spectrum disorders. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, *39*, 16-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2014.05.002</u>
- Peng, C., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Cheng, J., Qiu, X., & Liu, X. (2022). Co-occurrence of sibling and peer bullying victimization and depression and anxiety among Chinese adolescents: The role of sexual orientation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *131*, 105684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105684
- Pennington, B. F., & Ozonoff, S. (1996). Executive functions and developmental psychopathology. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 37(1), 51-87. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1996.tb01380.x
- Pereda, N., & Díaz-Faes, D. A. (2020). Family violence against children in the wake of COVID-19 pandemic: a review of current perspectives and risk factors. *Child and adolescent psychiatry and mental health*, 14(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-</u> 020-00347-1
- Perkins, N. H., Rai, A., & Grossman, S. F. (2021). Physical and emotional sibling violence in the time of COVID-19. *Journal of family violence*, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-021-00249-6</u>
- Petrina, N., Carter, M., & Stephenson, J. (2014). The nature of friendship in children with autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(2), 111-126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2013.10.016</u>
- Piro-Gambetti, B., Rodriguez, G., Papp, L. M., Greenlee, J. L., & Hartley, S. L. (2023). Parent couple conflict and emotional and behavioral problems in youth with autism: Longitudinal investigation of bidirectional effects. *Development and Psychopathology*, 35(1), 62-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579421000596</u>

Plamondon, A., Bouchard, G., & Lachance-Grzela, M. (2021). Family dynamics and young

adults' well-being: The mediating role of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *36*(9-10), NP5362-NP5384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518800313</u>

- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind?. *Behavioral and brain sciences*, 1(4), 515-526. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1017/S0140525X00076512</u>
- Pribram, K. H. (1973). The primate frontal cortex–executive of the brain. *In Psychophysiology* of the frontal lobes (pp. 293-314). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-564340-5.50019-6
- Prime, H., Wade, M., & Browne, D. T. (2020). Risk and resilience in family well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. *American Psychologist*, 75(5), 631. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/amp0000660
- Prior, M., & Hoffmann, W. (1990). Brief report: neuropsychological testing of autistic children through an exploration with frontal lobe tests. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1007/BF02216063</u>
- Qing, Z., Ma, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). Prevalence and associated family factors of sibling bullying among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4169. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.892598
- Radford, L., Corral, S., Bradley, C., & Fisher, H. L. (2013). The prevalence and impact of child maltreatment and other types of victimization in the UK: Findings from a population survey of caregivers, children and young people and young adults. *Child abuse & neglect*, *37*(10), 801-813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.02.004</u>

Randall, P. (2003). Adult bullying: Perpetrators and victims. Routledge.

v, P., Talos, I. F., Haker, S., Lieberman, D., & Everett, P. (2004). The tale of Phineas Gage, digitally remastered. *Journal of neurotrauma*, 21(5), 637-643. https://doi.org/10.1089/089771504774129964

Reijntjes, A., Vermande, M., Goossens, F. A., Olthof, T., van de Schoot, R., Aleva, L., & van

der Meulen, M. (2013). Developmental trajectories of bullying and social dominance in youth. *Child abuse & neglect*, 37(4), 224-234.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.12.004

- Relva, I. C., Alarcão, M., Fernandes, O. M., Carvalho, J., & Fauchier, A. (2019). Sibling conflict and parental discipline: The mediating role of family communication in Portuguese adolescents. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *36*, 295-304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10560-019-00600-3
- Repacholi, B., & Slaughter, V. (Eds.). (2004). Individual differences in theory of mind: Implications for typical and atypical development. Psychology Press.
- Rice, C. (2013). Time trends in diagnosis. In F. Volkmar (Ed.), *Encyclopaedia of autism spectrum disorders* (pp. 3121). New York, NY: Springer.
- Richer, J. (1976). The social-avoidance behaviour of autistic children. *Animal Behaviour*, 24(4), 898-906. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(76)80020-6

Rivers, I., & Smith, P. K. (1994). Types of bullying behaviour and their correlates. *Aggressive behavior*, 20(5), 359-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-</u> 2337(1994)20:5%3C359::AID-AB2480200503%3E3.0.CO;2-J

- Roca, M. (2016). The relationship between executive functions and theory of mind: a long and winding road. Journal of Neurology, *Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 87(3), 229-229.
- Rowley, E., Chandler, S., Baird, G., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Loucas, T., & Charman, T. (2012). The experience of friendship, victimization and bullying in children with an autism spectrum disorder: Associations with child characteristics and school placement. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(3), 1126-1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2012.03.004
- Rumsey, J. M. (1985). Conceptual problem-solving in highly verbal, nonretarded autistic men. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 15(1), 23-36.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01837896

- Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020). Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, *51*, 671-682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-020-01037-x
- Rutter, M. (1978). Diagnosis and definition of childhood autism. *Journal of autism and childhood schizophrenia*, 8, 139-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01537863</u>
- Sabah, A., Aljaberi, M. A., Lin, C. Y., & Chen, H. P. (2022). The Associations between
 Sibling Victimization, Sibling Bullying, Parental Acceptance–Rejection, and School
 Bullying. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 19(23),
 16346. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192316346</u>
- Salmon, C. A., & Hehman, J. A. (2014). The evolutionary psychology of sibling conflict and siblicide. *The evolution of violence*, 137-157.
- Sanvicente-Vieira, B., Romani-Sponchiado, A., Kluwe-Schiavon, B., Brietzke, E., Araujo, R.
 B., & Grassi-Oliveira, R. (2017). Theory of mind in substance users: a systematic minireview. *Substance use & misuse*, 52(1), 127-133.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2016.1212890

- Salmon, S., Taillieu, T. L., Fortier, J., Stewart-Tufescu, A., & Afifi, T. O. (2022). Pandemicrelated experiences, mental health symptoms, substance use, and relationship conflict among older adolescents and young adults from Manitoba, Canada. *Psychiatry Research*, 311, 114495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2022.114495
- Schneider, D., Slaughter, V. P., Bayliss, A. P., & Dux, P. E. (2013). A temporally sustained implicit theory of mind deficit in autism spectrum disorders. *Cognition*, 129(2), 410-417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2013.08.004</u>
- Scott, J. G., & Schoenberg, M. R. (2010). Frontal lobe/executive functioning. In The little

black book of neuropsychology: A syndrome-based approach (pp. 219-248). Boston, MA: Springer US.

- Sedgewick, F., Hull, L., & Ellis, H. (2021). Autism and masking: How and why people do it, and the impact it can have. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Shakespeare, T. (2006). The social model of disability. *The disability studies reader*, 2, 197-204.
- Shakoor, S., Jaffee, S. R., Bowes, L., Ouellet-Morin, I., Andreou, P., Happé, F., ... & Arseneault, L. (2012). A prospective longitudinal study of children's theory of mind and adolescent involvement in bullying. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, 53(3), 254-261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02488.x</u>
- Sinclair, Jim (1993). Don't mourn for us. Autism Network International Newsletter. Volume 1, Number 3, 1993. Retrieved from:

https://philosophy.ucsc.edu/SinclairDontMournForUs.pdf

- Sira, C. S., & Mateer, C. A. (2014). Executive Function. In Encyclopedia of the Neurological Sciences (Second Edition). M. J. Aminoff & R. B. Daroff (Eds.). (pp. 239-242).
 Academic Press. ISBN 9780123851581. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385157-4.01147-7</u>.
- Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(8), 1726-1736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512468327</u>
- Smith, P. K. (2004). Bullying: recent developments. *Child and adolescent mental health*, 9(3), 98-103. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1573400513666170502123214</u>
- Stein, M. A., & Stein, P. J. (2006). Beyond disability civil rights. Hastings 1J, 58, 1203.
- Sudikoff, E. L., Bertolin, M., Lordo, D. N., & Kaufman, D. A. S. (2015). Relationships between executive function and emotional regulation in healthy children. J. Neurol. Psychol, 2.

- Stadheim, J., Johns, A., Mitchell, M., Smith, C. J., Braden, B. B., & Matthews, N. L. (2022).
 A qualitative examination of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and adolescents with autism and their parents. *Research in developmental disabilities*, *125*, 104232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2022.104232</u>
- Stormshak, E. A., Bellanti, C. J., & Bierman, K. L. (1996). The quality of sibling relationships and the development of social competence and behavioral control in aggressive children. *Developmental psychology*, 32(1), 79. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0012-1649.32.1.79</u>
- Stoneman, Z. (2001). Supporting positive sibling relationships during childhood. Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews, 7(2), 134-142. https://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.1019
- Sutton, J., Smith, P. K., & Swettenham, J. (1999). Bullying and 'theory of mind': A critique of the 'social skills deficit'view of anti-social behaviour. *Social development*, 8(1), 117-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9507.00083</u>
- Szatmari, P., Tuff, L., Finlayson, M. A. J., & Bartolucci, G. (1990). Asperger's syndrome and autism: Neurocognitive aspects. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 29(1), 130-136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199001000-</u> 00021
- Tanrikulu, I., & Campbell, M. A. (2015). Sibling bullying perpetration: Associations with gender, grade, peer perpetration, trait anger, and moral disengagement. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 30(6), 1010-1024. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514539763</u>
- Thomas, E.A. (2011). Coercion Theory. In: Goldstein, S., Naglieri, J.A. (eds) Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development. Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9_589

Thomas, H. J., Chan, G. C., Scott, J. G., Connor, J. P., Kelly, A. B., & Williams, J. (2016).

Association of different forms of bullying victimisation with adolescents' psychological distress and reduced emotional wellbeing. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 50(4), 371-379.

- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2014). Socioeconomic status and bullying: A metaanalysis. *American journal of public health*, 104(6), e48-e59.
- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggressive behavior*, 41(1), 14-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557</u>
- Torske, T., Nærland, T., Øie, M. G., Stenberg, N., & Andreassen, O. A. (2018). Metacognitive aspects of executive function are highly associated with social functioning on parent-rated measures in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *11*, 258. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2017.00258</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *48*, 2308-2318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Precursors of sibling bullying in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse* & Neglect, 108, 104633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *50*(5), 1457-1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>
- Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling conflict during COVID-19 in families with special educational needs and disabilities. *British journal of educational psychology*, 92(1), 319-339.

https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12451

- Toseeb, U., & Wolke, D. (2022). Sibling bullying: a prospective longitudinal study of associations with positive and negative mental health during adolescence. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *51*(5), 940-955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01495-z</u>
- Treffert, D. A. (1970). Epidemiology of infantile autism. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 22(5), 431-438.
- Trivers, R. L. (1974). Parent-offspring conflict. American zoologist, 14(1), 249-264.
- Truong, T. K. H., Tran, H. T., Ngo, T. H. G., Truong, Q. L., & Ngo, M. T. (2022). Sibling bullying among Vietnamese children: the relation with peer bullying and subjective wellbeing. *Current Issues in Personality Psychology*, 10(3), 216-226. https://doi.org/10.5114/cipp.2021.110025
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A. M., & Turner, H. (2013a). Prevalence and correlates of sibling victimization types. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(4), 213–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.01.006
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. (2013b). Association of sibling aggression with child and adolescent mental health. *Pediatrics*, 132(1), 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-3801
- Tucker, C. J., & Kazura, K. (2013). Parental responses to school-aged children's sibling conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 22, 737-745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9741-2</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014a). Family dynamics and young children's sibling victimization. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(5), 625–633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000016</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014b). Sibling and peer victimization in childhood and adolescence. *Child abuse & neglect*, *38*(10), 1599-1606.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.05.007

- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., & Turner, H. (2018). Family adversity's role in the onset and termination of childhood sibling victimization. *Psychology of violence*, 8(1), 10. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/vio0000087
- Updegraff, K. A., Thayer, S. M., Whiteman, S. D., Denning, D. J., & McHale, S. M. (2005). Relational aggression in adolescents' sibling relationships: Links to sibling and parentadolescent relationship quality. *Family Relations*, 54(3), 373-385. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2005.00324.x
- Ursache, A., Blair, C., Stifter, C., & Voegtline, K. (2013). Emotional reactivity and regulation in infancy interact to predict executive functioning in early childhood.
 Developmental psychology, 49(1), 127. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0027728</u>
- US Census Bureau, (January 2023). 2020 Census. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/decennial-census/decade/2020/2020-census-</u> main.html
- van der Cruijsen, R., & Boyer, B. E. (2021). Explicit and implicit self-esteem in youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 25(2), 349-360.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320961006

- Van Roekel, E., Scholte, R. H., & Didden, R. (2010). Bullying among adolescents with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence and perception. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 40, 63-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0832-2</u>
- Visscher, P. M., Medland, S. E., Ferreira, M. A. R., Morley, K. I., Zhu, G., Cornes, B. K., ... & Martin, N. G. (2006). Assumption-free estimation of heritability from genome-wide identity-by-descent sharing between full siblings. *PLoS genetics*, 2(3), e41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0020041</u>

Vorhölter, J. (2012). Negotiating social change: Ugandan discourses on Westernisation and

neo-colonialism as forms of social critique. *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, 50(2), 283-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022278X12000055</u>

- Wakefield, A. J., Murch, S. H., Anthony, A., Linnell, J., Casson, D. M., Malik, M., ... & Walker-Smith, J. A. (1998). RETRACTED: Ileal-lymphoid-nodular hyperplasia, non-specific colitis, and pervasive developmental disorder in children. *The Lancet*, 351(9103), 637-641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(97)11096-0</u>
- Walters, G. D., & Espelage, D. L. (2018). Resurrecting the empathy–bullying relationship with a pro-bullying attitudes mediator: The Lazarus Effect in Mediation Research. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 46, 1229-1239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-017-0355-9</u>
- Weir, K. (January, 2023). *Improving sibling relationships*. Retrieved from: https://www.apa.org/monitor/2022/03/feature-sibling-relationships
- Welsh, M. C. (2002). Developmental and clinical variations in executive functions. Developmental variations in learning: Applications to social, executive function, language, and reading skills, 139-185.
- Wimmer, H., & Perner, J. (1983). Beliefs about beliefs: Representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. *Cognition*, 13(1), 103-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(83)90004-5</u>
- Wolke, D., & Samara, M. M. (2004). Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(5), 1015-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x</u>
- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2011). Bullied at home and at school: Relationship to behaviour problems and unhappiness. *In: McFall S, ed. Understanding society: early findings from the first wave of the UK's household longitudinal study*. London: Economic and Social Research Council.

- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2012). Bullying among siblings. *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. .<u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh.2012.004</u>
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917-929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X</u>
- Yeh, H. C., & Lempers, J. D. (2004). Perceived sibling relationships and adolescent development. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 33, 133-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOYO.0000013425.86424.0f</u>
- Yirmiya, N., Sigman, M. D., Kasari, C., & Mundy, P. (1992). Empathy and cognition in highfunctioning children with autism. Child development, 63(1), 150-160.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1992.tb03603.x

Chapter 3: A Feasibility Check

Emre Deniz

Abstract

The current feasibility study tested the appropriateness of a proposed methodology that aimed to be applied in the study presented in Chapter 5. More specifically, this small-scale study tested the feasibility of four methodological aspects: 1) a two-stage consent (i.e., parental consent and child assent), 2) recruitment strategy, 3) inclusion criteria, and 4) measures. Given that all the psychological measures to be used in the proposed study were developed in English and extensively tested in British culture, the feasibility study only took place in Turkish culture where English is not the native language of the population. In total, 20 families of autistic adolescents (i.e., a parent, an autistic child, and a non-autistic child from each family) were aimed to be recruited within a two-week timeframe. Overall, the two-step consent process worked efficiently to prevent children who did not wish to take part in the study from answering the questionnaires as four children did not participate even though their parents consented to their participation. Additionally, the target parent sample was successfully recruited within the projected timeline, although some challenges were flagged in the recruitment process, i.e., a high number of parents had to be eliminated due to a strict inclusion criterion. Moreover, a high attrition rate was observed in one of the scales due to its length. The methodological challenges are discussed in detail and revisions are suggested for the main study.

Keywords: Autism, sibling bullying, social and emotional functioning, mental health. **Citation:** This chapter presents a feasibility study of the work presented in <u>Chapter 5</u> and is not subject to publication.

3.1 Introduction

Sibling bullying is prevalent and has detrimental outcomes in the lives of autistic adolescents. Previous studies have shown that around one in two autistic adolescents experience sibling bullying which is associated with increased mental health difficulties (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020). Although there is a link between sibling bullying and mental health difficulties, recent studies have suggested that the nature of this association may be indirect. For instance, some researchers have found that sibling bullying increases internalising and externalising problems of autistic adolescents through reduced self-esteem (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022). In addition, Toseeb et al. (2020) have found that sibling bullying is linked to reduced social skills which, in turn, is correlated with increased mental health difficulties in autistic adolescents. Moreover, a recent finding, from the general population, has indicated that emotion regulation significantly mediates the associations between sibling bullying and mental health in middle childhood (Fite et al., 2022).

Although sibling bullying is highly prevalent, its prevalence varies across Western and non-Western cultures. For instance, higher rates of sibling bullying (30-80%) have been reported from western families such as British and American (Dantchev et al., 2019; Duncan, 1999; Finkelhor et al., 2006; Tucker et al., 2013) compared with non-western families such as Chinese (20%-30%) (Liu et al., 2020, 2021; Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022). This may be due to the differing cultural values between Western and non-Western families, such as individualism and collectivism. For instance, parental differential treatment, which is linked to negative sibling interactions such as conflict and bullying (Brody et al., 1992), is perceived more negatively in individualistic families than in collectivist ones (McHale et al., 2005). Additionally, parentification – caregiving responsibilities of siblings – is higher in Western than non-Western families (Kosonen, 1996; Updegraff et al., 2011) which is linked to increased sibling conflict and, potentially, bullying (McHale & Gamble, 1989).

Notwithstanding, non-western families are more likely to apply physical punishment as part of disciplinary measures compared to Western families (Aytac et al., 2019) which may result in a higher risk of sibling bullying in non-western families compared to Western ones (Cicirelli, 2013). That is, differences in cultural norms, values, and family characteristics may result in differing rates of sibling bullying across distanced cultures.

Although previous studies have shown varying rates of sibling bullying across culturally distanced countries, this may be due to the differences in the conceptualisation of bullying. Additionally, while it is evident that sibling bullying is linked to mental health difficulties, this may be an indirect correlation through third factors. Moreover, no research to date has tested whether the direct and indirect correlates of sibling bullying show variations across cultures. To close this gap in knowledge, a cross-cultural study was proposed to test the cross-cultural variability in the prevalence and correlates of sibling bullying between families from a Western (United Kingdom) and non-Western (Turkey) culture in the autistic population (see <u>Chapter 5</u>). Given that this is the first study to test the cross-cultural variability in the prevalence and correlates of sibling bullying between families, many uncertainties existed in regard to the proposed methodology of the study. Hence, the current study aimed to test the feasibility of the methodology, i.e., consent procedure, participant recruitment strategy, inclusion criteria, and measures, to be applied in the proposed cross-cultural study. In doing so, the following research questions were asked:

- 1) Is the two-stage consent process feasible to recruit child participants?
- 2) Is the participant recruitment strategy sufficient to recruit the target sample size?
- 3) Are the inclusion criteria well-defined to recruit the target sample size?
- 4) Is the response rate on each questionnaire sufficient to handle the missing data?

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Ethics Statement

Ethical approval for this pilot study was granted by the Department of Education Ethics Committee, University of York (Ref: FC20/1). Parents provided informed consent for their own as well as their autistic and non-autistic children's participation in the study. Parents who consented to their children's participation were also asked to indicate whether they prefer their children to take part in an online or a face-to-face survey. Autistic adolescents and their siblings also provided informed assent.

3.2.2 Study Location

Although the main study of this pilot study was planned to take place in two locations - the UK and Turkey (see <u>Chapter 5</u>) – this feasibility study was carried out exclusively in Turkey, where the questionnaire's original language, English, was not the native language of the participants.

3.2.3 Recruitment Strategy

In this pilot study, a sample of 20 Turkish families of autistic adolescents, including a parent, an autistic child, and a non-autistic sibling from each family, were to be recruited. The sample size was defined as 10% of the main study target sample size (n=200) from each population. In the feasibility study, three data sources were reached to recruit 20 Turkish families of autistic adolescents: *1- social media (e.g., parental network groups, national and local autism charity groups), 2- personal networks, and 3- local and national autism charities and organisations' networks.*

3.2.4 Inclusion Criteria

Three inclusion criteria were specified to recruit the target sample: (1) at least one child in the family must have been previously diagnosed with autism, (2) the autistic child must have at least one non-autistic sibling, and (3) both the autistic and non-autistic child have to be *between 10 and 18 years of age*. The latter criterion particularly aimed to recruit siblings closest in age.

3.2.5 Measures

3.2.5.1 Demographic Information. In the parent's demographic questionnaire, participants were asked to answer the following questions regarding their own demographic information: gender, marital status, employment status, highest academic qualification, and number of children. Additionally, parents were also asked to report the following demographic characteristics of their children: age, gender, birth order, type of school their children attend (e.g., special, mainstream), and the physical power imbalance between the two siblings.

3.2.5.2 The Autism Quotient. The Autism Quotients (AQ), which are currently available in three forms, namely child (Auyeung et al., 2008), adolescent (Baron-Cohen et al., 2006), and adult (Baron-Cohen et al., 2001), are well-known and widely used autism screening measures. In the current study, all three forms were used to assess the autistic traits of the child/adolescent/adult diagnosed with autism in the target sample. The child version was used for those aged 10-11 years old, the adolescent version for those aged 12-15 years old, and the adult version was used for those aged 16 years old or older. Overall, The AQs consist of similarly worded 50 items that are answered on a four-point Likert-type scale *(ranging from definitely agree to definitely disagree)*. The Turkish versions of the AQ questionnaires had previously been translated into Turkish and validated in the Turkish population (Cetinoglu & Aras, 2022; Kose et al., 2010) and are available to obtain from the Autism Research Centre's website (2020).

3.2.5.3 The Sibling Bullying Questionnaire. The Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (SBQ) was used to assess the sibling bullying, victimisation and perpetration, and experiences of the autistic and non-autistic children in the target sample. The SBQ was

originally adapted from the Olweus Bullying Questionnaire (Olweus, 2007) to measure sibling bullying experiences of children and adolescents (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019). The SBQ measures four different types of bullying experiences, namely physical, verbal, relational, and other types. The SBQ is a 14-item scale that consists of seven sibling bullying victimisation and seven sibling bullying perpetration items answered on a five-point Likert type scale (1=never, 2=only ever once or twice, 3=2 or 3 times a month, 4=about once aweek, 5=several times a week). In addition to scale items, autistic adolescents and their siblings were also asked whether they clearly understood the items when answering the SBQ to test the scale appropriateness. The SBQ had not been translated into Turkish and validated in the Turkish population at the time of this feasibility study. Thus, to ensure its reliability and validity in this population, a translation and validation study was later carried out in a Turkish sample of adolescents as part of this pilot study (see Chapter 5).

3.2.5.4 The Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire. The Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (Goodman, 1997) was used to measure the internalising and externalising problems of Turkish autistic adolescents. The SDQ is a well-known parent-report questionnaire that is widely used to assess the internalising and externalising problems of children and adolescents from early childhood to late adolescence. The CBCL, with its eight main domains and 113 items, is a considerably more comprehensive scale than the SDQ in terms of measuring a broad range of mental health difficulties. Additionally, the SDQ had previously been translated into Turkish and validated in a Turkish sample of children and adolescents (Güvenir et al., 2008). The SDQ consists of 25 items that are answered on a three-point Likert-type scale (*0=not true, 1=somewhat true, 2-certainly true*) and is formed by five subscales, namely emotional difficulties, peer problems, hyperactivity/inattention, conduct problems, and prosociality. In the current pilot study, four subscales of the SDQ were used to measure internalising problems (emotional difficulties and peer problems) and externalising problems (hyperactivity/inattention and conduct problems) of autistic adolescents.

3.2.5.5 The Child Behaviour Check List. The Child Behaviour Check List (CBCL, Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001) was used to assess the internalising and externalising problems and emotional dysregulation profile of autistic adolescents. The CBCL is a widely used questionnaire that had previously been translated into Turkish and validated in a Turkish sample of children and adolescents (Dumenci et al., 2004). The CBCL consists of 113 items answered on a three-point Likert-type scale (*0=never*, *1=sometimes*, *2=often*) and is formed by the following subscales: anxious/depressed, somatic complaints, delinquent behaviour, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, and aggressive behaviour. In the CBCL, the anxious/depressed, and somatic complaints subscales are summed to generate the externalising problems test scale. Additionally, in the CBCL, the emotional dysregulation test scale is generated by summing 3A subscales (attention problems, aggression, and anxious/depressed).

3.2.5.6 The Autism Social Skills Profile. The Autism Social Skills Profile (ASSP) was specifically developed to measure the social functioning of autistic children and adolescents (Bellini & Hopf, 2007). The ASSP is a 45-item scale that is answered on a four-point Likert-type scale (*1=never*, *2=sometimes*, *3=often*, *4=very often*) and formed by three subscales: social participation, social reciprocity, and detrimental social behaviours. The ASSP had previously been translated into Turkish and validated in a sample of Turkish autistic children and adolescents (Demir, 2009). The Turkish form of ASSP (Demir, 2009) is slightly shorter than its original form as four items were removed due to low factor loadings. Therefore, in this feasibility study, the 41-item version of the ASSP was tested in a Turkish sample of autistic adolescents.
3.2.6 Feasibility Evaluation

The current pilot study is exploratory, in its nature, as its main aim was to evaluate the methodological appropriateness of the proposed cross-cultural study (see <u>Chapter 5</u>) in four main domains: *consent process, recruitment strategy, inclusion criteria*, and *measures*. Since previous researchers have suggested that pilot studies should only include descriptive analysis and focus on the feasibility of the main study (Lancaster et al., 2004), no inferential statistics were conducted on the feasibility data. Therefore, the feasibility study was designed to report the following: participant characteristics, consent/assent rate, questionnaires' completion rates, and the overall survey completion time.

3.3 Results and Discussion

This feasibility study was conducted to test the methodological appropriateness of the study in <u>Chapter 5</u>. Overall, the feasibility study showed that the proposed methodology had strengths while also flagging some potential methodological challenges. Methodological challenges and recommended revisions are discussed below.

3.3.1 Sample Characteristics

In total, 22 parents and 18 autistic and non-autistic siblings participated in the study. All parents and non-autistic siblings took part in the online survey distributed by Qualtrics software (2020). Autistic adolescents, however, took part either in the online (n=8) or inperson survey (n=10). This was due to 10 parents indicating that their autistic child would not be able to answer an online survey on their own. Of parents, 68% were mothers, 85% were married, 50% had a college or above degree, about 55% were in paid employment and 55% had only two children. Of autistic adolescents, 82% were males, 64% were attending a mainstream school, 50% were older than their non-autistic siblings while the other half were younger, and their mean age was 13.05. Of non-autistic adolescents, 55% were females and their mean age was 13.22. Additionally, 32% of autistic adolescents were physically stronger than their non-autistic siblings while 36% were physically weaker.

3.3.2 Research Question 1

First, the feasibility study tested whether a two-stage consent process (i.e., parental consent and child's assent) is feasible to recruit child participants. This was to minimise the chances of children taking part in the study without their own assent. In the feasibility study, the two-stage consent process appeared to work well as some children did not take part in the study either due to parents not consenting to their participation or children not assenting to their own participation. More specifically, one parent did not consent to their autistic child's participation and three parents did not consent to their non-autistic child's participation in the feasibility study. Additionally, three autistic children and one non-autistic child preferred not to take part in the survey even though their parents consented to their participation. Hence, four autistic and four non-autistic siblings did not take part in the feasibility study. Although the number of autistic and non-autistic siblings that took part in the pilot feasibility study was equal (n=18), not all families created a sibling dyad. That is, in some families, only the autistic child took part in the study but not the non-autistic child and vice versa. The use of the two-stage consent in the recruitment process is illustrated in Figure 1. These findings indicated that the two-stage consent process was necessary to ensure no child takes part in the study without their assent.

A child's assent is an indication of their affirmative agreement to take part in a study without a need for a complete understanding of the study (Erb et al., 2002). Previous researchers (Oulton et al., 2016; Roth-Cline & Nelson, 2013) and the American Psychological Association (2016) suggest that it is crucial to give children an opportunity to understand the study – to the best of their ability – and give them a voice to indicate whether they are willing to participate in the study or not to comply with the code of ethics and respect their human rights. Therefore, although a combination of parental consent and the child's assent predicted a loss in the number of child participants and sibling dyads in the main study, this consent procedure was retained in the main study to prevent children from taking part in the main study without their own assent. Due to the use of this two-stage consent process, the feasibility study predicted that the number of parents would potentially outweigh the number of siblings and that there may be fewer sibling dyads than the total number of recruited child participants in the main study.

Figure 1 (3.1)

The Use of Two-Stage Consent In The Recruitment Process



3.3.3 Research Question 2

Second, the feasibility study looked to see whether the participant recruitment strategy was effective in reaching the target sample size in the proposed study. In the feasibility study, 20 families of autistic adolescents, including a parent, an autistic child, and a non-autistic sibling, were aimed to be recruited within a two-week period. This aim was to test whether a 3-month data collection period would be sufficient to recruit over 200 families of autistic adolescents from each culture in the proposed study. The feasibility findings showed that the participant recruitment strategy was successful in recruiting the target number of parents (n=22) within a two-week period. However, the number of autistic and non-autistic siblings recruited in the feasibility study (n=18) remained slightly below the target sample size due to the two-stage consent process applied. That is, a revision was needed in the tested recruitment strategy to ensure that the target sample size will be recruited in the main study. Given that the main study's target sample size is significantly larger than the targeted sample size in the feasibility study, it appeared particularly important to support this recruitment strategy with a more robust data source to be able to recruit a higher number of parents and autistic and nonautistic siblings in the main study. For this, school-based participant recruitment is suggested to be incorporated with the feasibility study recruitment strategy in the main study. Such an addition to the recruitment strategy holds promise to boost the number of child and parent participants in the main study.

3.3.4 Research Question 3

Third, the feasibility study tested whether the participant inclusion criteria were welldefined to reach the target sample size in the main study. Although the target sample of parents was reached within the projected timeline in the feasibility study, a great challenge arose in the participant recruitment phase which was mainly about the eligibility of the parents who were willing to take part in the study but did not meet the inclusion criteria. Upon receiving the study invitation on social media or through autism charities' network, many parents of autistic adolescents showed interest in the study, but the majority were not eligible to take part due to not meeting one of the inclusion criteria, namely "both the autistic and non-autistic child had to be between 10 and 18 years of age". Defining such a narrow age range as an inclusion criterion, for both the autistic and non-autistic siblings, posed a great risk for a reduced sample power in the main study. Thus, a revision in this specific inclusion criterion was greatly needed to overcome this challenge in the main study.

Since the main study was proposed to focus on sibling bullying experiences and social and emotional outcomes of autistic siblings, the age criterion for non-autistic siblings was removed to widen the scope of the project. Additionally, previous evidence indicated a wider age range for the adolescence period, from nine to early 20s (Petersen & Hamburg, 1986; Sawyer et al., 2018; World Health Organization, 2020), than the age range that was initially defined in this feasibility study (10-18 years). Taken from there, a new age-related inclusion criterion was proposed to reach autistic adolescents from a wider age range that falls within the adolescence period: "The autistic child must be between 9 and 20 years of age". Such a revision in the said inclusion criterion is expected to increase the sample power in the main study.

3.3.5 Research Question 4

Fourth, the feasibility study also aimed to test whether the proposed measures are suitable to use in the main study based on the risk of attrition and the overall survey length. In the feasibility survey, parents were asked to answer 273 items which, on average, took 48 minutes to complete by parents. This brought concerns over attrition and dropouts as researchers have reported that participants are likely to drop out or stop completing a survey if it takes more than 20 minutes to complete (Revilla & Ochoa, 2017). Confirming this suggestion, high attrition was spotted in one of the measures, namely the CBCL, in which 55% of parents did not complete the questionnaire. Such an attrition rate in a questionnaire is likely

to prevent the use of advanced statistical techniques to handle missing data (White et al., 2011), which would then significantly reduce the statistical power of the analysis in the proposed study. The high attrition rate in the CBCL was potentially due to its length as it had the highest number of items (n=113) in the survey. Additionally, the 50-item AQ measures (Child, adolescent, adult), which were the second longest questionnaire in the survey, also significantly increased the length of the survey, thus, posing a great risk for attrition in the main study. These findings indicated that alternative shorter measures to the CBCL and AQ could be effective in minimising this risk of attrition in the main study.

In terms of the revision of the CBCL, the scale was used to measure the internalising and externalising problems and emotional dysregulation profile of autistic adolescents. Given that the SDQ behaved well in measuring the internalising and externalising problems of Turkish autistic adolescents in the feasibility study, it is suggested there is no need for a second questionnaire (i.e., CBCL) to measure the same domain. However, a shorter replacement scale was needed to measure the emotion regulation skills of autistic adolescents in the main study as this domain was not covered by other scales. For this, the Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC; Shields & Cicchetti, 1997), which is an 8-item scale and has previously been used in both the British and Turkish population was recommended to be used in the main study.

To further reduce the number of items in the survey, the 50-item AQ measures were replaced with their 10-item short forms (AQ-10; Allison et al., 2012). Additionally, given that AQ-Adult and AQ-Adolescent are two identical scales – the only difference is that AQ-Adult is a self-report measure while AQ-Adolescent is a parent-report scale – the AQ-Adult was removed from the survey. That is, in the main study, the AQ-10-Child is to be used to measure the autistic traits of individuals aged 9-11 years and the AQ-10-Adolescent for those aged 12 years and older.

Apart from these revisions, a slight revision was also made to the ASSP scale, although this was not to reduce the scale items. More specifically, the Turkish form of the ASSP was missing four items from the original scale due to the low factor loadings spotted in the validation study (Demir, 2009). Since the proposed main study (<u>Chapter 5</u>) aimed for crosscultural comparisons between the UK and Turkey, the removed four items from the Turkish ASSP were decided to be re-added to the questionnaire to have an equal number of items on the questionnaire across the two cultures. Finally, no revisions were required for the SBQ and the SDQ scales as no methodological challenges were encountered in the feasibility study. Overall, these recommended revisions would reduce the number of items in the main study survey by more than half. Based on this, as aimed, the main study survey is projected to take approximately 20 minutes to complete by parents. More information in regard to the scale revisions can be seen in Table 1.

3.4 Conclusions

Despite the methodological challenges, this small-scale study indicated that the proposed methodology could be feasible to recruit the target population for the main study, provided that the suggested revisions are made. Additionally, the revised inclusion criteria are expected to allow the researcher to reach the target sample size more easily in the main study. Moreover, although the use of a two-stage recruitment procedure would potentially reduce the number of recruited child participants and sibling dyads in the main study, it is expected to give children the chance to not take part in the study, if they prefer not to participate. Finally, upon the suggested revisions made in the psychometric scales, all measures are expected to behave well in the main study (Chapter 5).

Table 1 (3.1)

Scale Modifications in the Parents' Survey

No	Domain	Scale	Number of Items	Informant	Completion Rate N (%)	Use in the Main Study	Modifications	Revised Number of Items	Comments
1	Internalising / Externalising Problems	SDQ	20 items	Parent	86%	Yes	None	20 items	The scale is eligible to be used in the main study.
2	Sibling Bullying	SBQ	14 items	Parent	82%	Yes	None	14 items	The scale is eligible to be used in the main study.
3	Social Functioning	ASSP	41 items	Parent	86%	Modify	+4 items	45 items	The missing 4 items from the original scale are to be re-added to the Turkish ASSP for cross-cultural compatibility.
4	Autistic traits	AQ (Child, Adolescent, Adult)	50 items	Parent	90%	Modify	-40 items	10 items	AQ-10 (Child and Adolescent) short forms are to be used in the main study instead of their long forms. The AQ-Adult scale is to be replaced with the AQ-10- Adolescent.
5	Emotion Dysregulation Internalising / Externalising Problems	CBCL	113 items	Parent	45%	No	To be replaced with the ERC	8 items	The CBCL is to be replaced with the ERC in the main study.
6	Demographics	Demographic Questionnaire	35 items	Parent	100%	Yes	None	35 items	The scale is eligible to be used in the main study.
	Total		273 items (48 minutes	;)				132 items (Approx. 20 minut	tes)

References

- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2001). Manual for the ASEBA school-age forms & profiles: child behavior checklist for ages 6-18, teacher's report form, youth self-report: an integrated system of multi-informant assessment. University of Vermont, research center for children youth & families.
- Allison, C., Auyeung, B., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2012). Toward brief "red flags" for autism screening: the short autism spectrum quotient and the short quantitative checklist in 1,000 cases and 3,000 controls. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(2), 202-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.11.003</u>
- American Psychological Association. (2016). Revision of Ethical Standard 3.04 of the"
 Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct"(2002, as amended 2010). *The American Psychologist*, 71(9), 900.
- Autism Research Centre. (2020). Tests. https://www.autismresearchcentre.com/tests/.
- Auyeung, B., Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., & Allison, C. (2008). The autism spectrum quotient: Children's version (AQ-Child). *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 38(7), 1230-1240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-007-0504-z</u>
- Aytac, B., Pike, A., & Bond, R. (2019). Parenting and child adjustment: a comparison of Turkish and English families. *Journal of Family Studies*, 25(3), 267-286.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13229400.2016.1248855
- Baron-Cohen, S., Wheelwright, S., Skinner, R., Martin, J., & Clubley, E. (2001). The autismspectrum quotient (AQ): Evidence from asperger syndrome/high-functioning autism, malesand females, scientists and mathematicians. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 31(1), 5-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005653411471</u>
- Baron-Cohen, S., Hoekstra, R. A., Knickmeyer, R., & Wheelwright, S. (2006). The autismspectrum quotient (AQ)—adolescent version. *Journal of autism and developmental*

disorders, 36(3), 343. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0073-6

Bellini, S., & Hopf, A. (2007). The development of the Autism Social Skills Profile: A preliminary analysis of psychometric properties. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 22(2), 80-87.

https://doi.org/10.1177/10883576070220020801

- Brody, G. H., Stoneman, Z., McCoy, J. K., & Forehand, R. (1992). Contemporaneous and longitudinal associations of sibling conflict with family relationship assessments and family discussions about sibling problems. *Child development*, *63*(2), 391-400.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1992.tb01635.x
- Cetinoglu, E., & Aras, S. (2022). The Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ) Adolescent's Version in Turkey: Factor structure, reliability and validity. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 52(7), 3260-3270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-</u> 05257-5
- Cicirelli, V. (2013). Sibling relationships across the life span. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). Trouble in the nest: Antecedents of sibling bullying victimization and perpetration. *Developmental psychology*, 55(5), 1059.
 <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0000700</u>
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 10, 651. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651
- Demir, Ş. (2009). *Otizmli çocukların sosyal becerilerinin farklı değişkenler açısından değerlendirilmesi* [Unpublished Doctoral dissertation]. Ankara University Faculty of Education.

- Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2022). A Longitudinal Study of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Self-esteem. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/km9f2</u>
- Dumenci, L., Erol, N., Achenbach, T. M., & Simsek, Z. (2004). Measurement structure of the Turkish translation of the Child Behavior Checklist using confirmatory factor analytic approaches to validation of syndromal constructs. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 32(3), 335-340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JACP.0000026146.67290.07</u>
- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extra-familial bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *14*(8), 871-886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2006). Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child abuse & neglect*, 30(12), 1401-1421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006</u>
- Erb, T. O., Schulman, S. R., & Sugarman, J. (2002). Permission and assent for clinical research in pediatric anesthesia. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 94(5), 1155-1160.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00000539-200205000-00018
- Fite, P. J., Cooley, J. L., Tampke, E. C., Hesse, D. R., & Doyle, R. L. (2022). The Role of Emotion Dysregulation in the Links Between Sibling Victimization and Internalizing Symptoms in Middle Childhood. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 44(2), 560-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-022-09956-w</u>
- Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, *38*(5), 581-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u>7610.1997.tb01545.x
- Güvenir, T., Özbek, A., Baykara, B., Arkar, H., Şentürk, B., & İncekaş, S. (2008). Güçler ve güçlükler anketi'nin (gga) Türkçe uyarlamasinin psikometrik özellikleri. *Turkish Journal of Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, *15*, 65-74.

Kosonen, M. (1996). Siblings as providers of support and care during middle childhood:
Children's perceptions. *Children & Society*, 10(4), 267-279.
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.1996.tb00595.x

- Köse, S., Bora, E., Erermis, S., & Aydin, C. (2010). Otizm-Spektrum Anketi Türkçe formunun psikometrik özellikleri*/Psychometric features of Turkish version of Autism-Spectrum Quotient. *Anadolu Psikiyatri Dergisi*, 11(3), 253.
- Lancaster, G. A., Dodd, S., & Williamson, P. R. (2004). Design and analysis of pilot studies: recommendations for good practice. *Journal of evaluation in clinical practice*, *10*(2), 307-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2002.384.doc.x</u>
- Liu, X., Peng, C., Yu, Y., Yang, M., Qing, Z., Qiu, X., & Yang, X. (2020). Association between sub-types of sibling bullying and mental health distress among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 11, 368. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00368</u>
- Liu, X., Wolloh Ii, M. G., Lin, X., Qiu, X., Qing, Z., Wang, W., ... & Lu, D. (2021). The association between sibling bullying and psychotic-like experiences among children age 11–16 years in China. *Journal of affective disorders*, 284, 31-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073
- McHale, S. M., & Gamble, W. C. (1989). Sibling relationships of children with disabled and nondisabled brothers and sisters. *Developmental psychology*, 25(3), 421. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0012-1649.25.3.421
- McHale, S. M., Updegraff, K. A., Shanahan, L., Crouter, A. C., & Killoren, S. E. (2005).
 Siblings' differential treatment in Mexican American families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 67(5), 1259-1274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00215.x</u>
- Olweus, D. (2007). *Olweus Bullying Questionnaire (OBQ)* [Database record]. APA PsycTests. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/t56255-000</u>
- Oulton, K., Gibson, F., Sell, D., Williams, A., Pratt, L., & Wray, J. (2016). Assent for

children's participation in research: why it matters and making it meaningful. *Child: care, health and development, 42*(4), 588-597. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12344

- Peng, C., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Cheng, J., Qiu, X., & Liu, X. (2022). Co-occurrence of sibling and peer bullying victimization and depression and anxiety among Chinese adolescents: The role of sexual orientation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 131, 105684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105684</u>
- Qing, Z., Ma, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). Prevalence and associated family factors of sibling bullying among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4169. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.892598</u>
- Petersen, A. C., & Hamburg, B. A. (1986). Adolescence: A developmental approach to problems and psychopathology. *Behavior Therapy*, 17(5), 480-499. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(86)80090-9
- Revilla, M., & Ochoa, C. (2017). Ideal and maximum length for a web survey. *International Journal of Market Research*, 59(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.2501/IJMR-2017-039</u>
- Roth-Cline, M., & Nelson, R. M. (2013). Parental permission and child assent in research on children. *The Yale journal of biology and medicine*, 86(3), 291.
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., & Patton, G. C. (2018). The age of adolescence. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 2(3), 223-228.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1

- Shields, A., & Cicchetti, D. (1997). Emotion regulation among school-age children: the development and validation of a new criterion Q-sort scale. *Developmental psychology*, 33(6), 906. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.33.6.906</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 48, 2308-2318.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2

- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *50*(5), 1457-1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A. M., & Turner, H. (2013). Prevalence and correlates of sibling victimization types. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(4), 213-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.01.006</u>
- Updegraff, K. A., McHale, S. M., Killoren, S. E., & Rodríguez, S. A. (2011). Cultural variations in sibling relationships. *Sibling development: Implications for mental health practitioners*, 83-105.
- White, I. R., Royston, P., & Wood, A. M. (2011). Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. *Statistics in medicine*, *30*(4), 377-399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.4067</u>
- World Health Organization. (January 2020). *Adolescent health*. Accessed on: https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health

Chapter 4: Study-I: Sibling Bullying in Turkish Adolescents: Translation and Cross-Cultural Validation of the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire

Emre Deniz¹ MSc., Pelin Derinalp¹, PhD., Ilayda Gulkanat¹, MA., Cagla Kaz², MA., Neslihan Ozhan³, MSc., Umar Toseeb¹, PhD.

¹ Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK

² Department of Politics, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK

³ Department of Psychology, University of Southampton, Southampton SO17 1PS, UK

Correspondence

Correspondence regarding this article should be addressed to Emre Deniz, Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK, email: <u>emre.deniz@york.ac.uk</u>.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial disclosure.

Funding Source: This study has been conducted as a part of a PhD study that is fully funded by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of National Education, Directorate-General for Higher and Foreign Education.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Copyright ©: The original Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (SBQ) may not be produced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise without the prior permission of Professor Dieter Wolke.

Citation

Deniz, E., Derinalp, P., Gulkanat, I., Kaz, C., Ozhan, N., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Bullying in Turkish Adolescents: Translation and Cross-Cultural Validation of the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire. *Journal of Family Violence*, 38(2), 379-392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-022-00360-2

Abstract

Purpose: The primary aim of this study was to translate the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (SBQ) into Turkish and validate it. A secondary aim was to estimate the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. Method: The SBQ was translated by a team of English-Turkish bilinguals. Self-report data were collected from Turkish adolescents (N=301) aged 10 to 18 years old (mean age=14.25 years, SD=2.46). Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was used to confirm the factor structure of the newly translated Turkish SBQ (T-SBQ). Descriptive analyses were then conducted to report the characteristics of the sample and the prevalence of sibling bullying. Results: CFA confirmed the original two-factor structure of the T-SBQ indicating that a first-order correlated two-factor model shows the best fit: $x^{2=160.33}$ (p <.001), df=61, RMSEA=.07, CFI=.95 and TLI=.93. The T-SBQ showed satisfactory levels of internal consistency in victimisation (α =.84) and perpetration (α =.83) subscales, excellent reliability in the overall test scale (α =.90), and a high level of convergent validity when compared with the Revised Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (α =.79). In terms of sibling bullying prevalence, approximately half of the adolescents (51%) reported having been involved in some form of sibling bullying in the preceding six months, either as purevictim (18%), pure-bully (3%) or bully-victim (30%). This result aligns with the findings from other countries such as the United States (41%), Israel (51%), and the United Kingdom (49%). Conclusions: The T-SBQ is valid and reliable in measuring sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents and sibling bullying is prevalent in the lives of Turkish adolescents.

Keywords. Siblings, bullying, victimisation, questionnaire, Turkish, translation, validation.

4.1 Introduction

Nearly 90% of children grow up with at least one sibling in both Western and non-Western societies (Eroğlu & Topkaya, 2019; Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Relationships between siblings bind them in both positive and negative ways (Vangelisti, 2009). While positive sibling interactions contribute to children's cognitive and social development by providing them with precious early years experiences (Boer et al., 2013) negative sibling relationships are associated with social, emotional, and behavioural difficulties (Bank et al., 2004; Toseeb et al., 2018).

Negative sibling interactions tend to include conflict, aggression, fights, violence, abuse, and bullying (Whiteman et al., 2011). Although fights and conflicts are common and seen as normative in sibling relationships (Lamb et al., 2014), there is a lack of consensus surrounding the differences between ordinary sibling conflict and bullying. Sibling conflict is an inevitable part of sibling relationships which is often characterised by rivalry, envy, and jealousy, which are accepted as ordinary parts of sibling relationships (Sanders, 2004). Accordingly, sibling conflicts are categorised as destructive (unreasonable behaviours that damage relationships) or constructive (reasonable behaviours that contribute to a child's development) conflicts, and either type is suggested to be taken seriously as both types have the potential to distress rivals (Caspi, 2011).

Sibling conflicts may result in more harmful behaviours, - bullying- if they start to show the following characteristics: (1) intention to harm, (2) frequent repetition, (3) happens between two children with power imbalance, (4) happens when there is lack of any manipulation by the other person (Olweus, 1984). In addition to Olweus's definition of bullying behaviour, Caffaro (2013) has added three behavioural characteristics that can be classified under sibling bullying as (1) physical aggression that aims to make a sibling feel unsafe or threatened, (2) an increasing frequency of aggression that is not easy to be spotted and stopped by bystanders, and (3) a refusing attitude/behaviour in relation to respect other sibling's views or emotions. A broader definition of sibling bullying that guides this study is made by Wolke et al. (2015) as: "any unwanted aggressive behaviour(s) by a sibling that involves an observed or perceived power imbalance and is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated; bullying may inflict harm or distress on the targeted sibling including physical, psychological, or social harm" (p.918).

Sibling bullying is the most frequent and yet the least recognised form of violence in most adolescents' lives (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009). Research has shown that around half of adolescents have been involved in sibling bullying at least once a week (Toseeb et al., 2018; 2020b; Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke & Skew, 2011), with boys being more likely to be perpetrators and girls being victims of bullying (Camodeca et al., 2002; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2020a). Although sibling bullying is much more common between closely aged siblings (Tucker et al., 2013b), it seems to decrease with age (Toseeb et al., 2020b). Despite this, bullying among siblings has been ignored, as it is often considered by parents and professionals as a routine part of a child's development (Caffaro, 2013).

A growing body of literature suggests that sibling bullying has long-lasting negative effects on adolescents' mental health (Bowes et al., 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Natsuaki et al., 2009; Toseeb et al., 2020b). Previous longitudinal studies have shown that sibling bullying in early adolescence predicts a range of mental health outcomes in middle and late adolescence. Being involved in any type of sibling bullying at the age of 11 years, either as a victim or perpetrator, is associated with higher internalising and externalising problems at the age of 14 years (Toseeb et al., 2020b), and lower levels of wellbeing and self-esteem at age 17 years (Toseeb & Wolke, 2021). Additionally, children who experienced frequent sibling bullying at home were twice as likely to show psychiatric disorders such as anxiety, depression, and self-harm, than the ones who did not (Bowes et al., 2014; Wolke & Skew,

2011; Dantchev et al.,2019). Tucker et al. (2013a) found children and adolescents who were victims of any type of sibling aggression, physical, psychological, or property-based, to show greater mental health distress than those who were not involved. Moreover, it is also suggested that sibling bullying in early adolescence is associated with nicotine dependence, and antisocial and high-risk behaviours in late adolescence (Dantchev et al., 2018).

Although there is a consistent body of literature on sibling bullying experiences in childhood or early adolescence and its psychopathological associations in early or late adolescence, it is frequently argued that the current literature is heavily based on the research that has been conducted in Western, Industrialised, Educated, Rich, and Democratic (WEIRD) countries (Lin et al., 2020, Wolke & Samara, 2004). While clear variations in the prevalence, type, and consequences of sibling bullying across cultures have been reported (Ji et al., 2016, Lin et al., 2020), still very little is known about sibling bullying in some non-WEIRD cultures, such as Turkey.

In the Turkish literature, so far, a handful of Turkish researchers have investigated sibling relationships, conflict, and abuse in children and adolescents. For instance, Akduman (2010) investigated sibling abuse has reported a high prevalence of physical (83%), verbal (78%), relational (45%) and property-based aggression (69%) in Turkish preschool children. Another study focusing on sibling conflict strategies of adolescent girls found that behavioural characteristics of older and younger siblings were correlated with conflict resolution strategies of older siblings, although the study did not indicate any prevalence of sibling conflict (Bayram, 2014). In addition, a study that was conducted with undergraduate students (mean age=21 years) has indicated that 18% of participants have been abused by a sibling and 25% have abused their sibling in their early years (Demirbas, 2016). Apart from these, only one study has so far focused on sibling bullying in Turkish children (9-12-year-

olds) in which a positive and significant association between sibling bullying and peer bullying was reported (Kandemir-Ozdinc, 2019).

The Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (SBQ) is a well-known and widely used scale that has been adopted from the Olweus Bullying Questionnaire (Olweus, 1991) by Wolke and Samara (2004) consisting of the following items: (1) hitting/kicking, (2) taking/ damaging belongings, (3) calling nasty names, and (4) making fun of. The SBQ has been frequently found to be reliable and valid by others in different cultures and languages e.g., in the UK (Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Wolke & Skew, 2011), in Israel (Wolke & Samara, 2004), and in Italy (Menesini et al., 2010). However, when using the SBQ in an Italian sample of adolescents, Menesini et al. (2010) reformulated items of the original SBQ and turned the questionnaire into a 10-item scale (five for bullying and five for victimisation). They took out an item (make fun of) and included two new items to the scale, namely excluding/ignoring and spreading rumours. Following this, Kandemir-Ozdinc (2019) translated the reformulated version of the SBQ (Menesini et al., 2010) into Turkish and revised it by including three more bullying items and turning it into a nine-item sibling bullying scale.

More recently, however, Dantchev et al. (2019) have revised the original SBQ and updated it to a 14-item questionnaire consisting of victimisation and perpetration subscales with three additional items: (1) keeping them out of things on purpose, leaving them out of their group of friends or completely ignoring them, (2) telling lies or spread rumours about them or trying to make others dislike them, and (3) bullying them in another way. Although the validity and reliability of the reformulated version of the SBQ (Menesini et al., 2010) have been previously conducted in Turkey (Kandemir-Ozdinc, 2019), the updated SBQ (Dantchev et al., 2019), which is a more comprehensive scale, has not been validated in the Turkish culture.

4.1.1 The Current Study

To the best of the authors' knowledge, no previous studies have reported the prevalence and frequency of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents from early to late adolescence years (10-18). In addition, it is important to shed light on the possible association between sibling bullying and potential covariates such as age, gender, birth order, and the number of siblings (Camodeca et al., 2002; Wolke & Skew, 2011; Toseeb et al., 2018). Given the potential detrimental effects of sibling bullying on adolescents' psychopathological outcomes, it was crucial to explore and report the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. In addition, there was a need for a new translation and validation study for the updated version of the SBQ in a Turkish sample of adolescents. Therefore, this study aimed: (1) to translate the original scale into Turkish and validate it in a Turkish sample of adolescents, (2) to assess the factor structure of the newly translated questionnaire, (3) to examine the reliability and validity of the new scale, and (4) to estimate and report the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. To address these aims, the following research questions were asked:

(1) What is the factor structure of the newly translated T-SBQ?

(2) Is the newly translated T-SBQ a reliable instrument to measure sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents?

(3) Is the newly translated T-SBQ valid in measuring sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents?

(4) What is the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents?

4.2 Method

4.2.1 Ethical Statement

Ethical approval for the study was granted by the Department of Education Ethics Committee, University of York (Ref: FC20/1). A two-stage opt-in consent process was used to collect data for this study. In the first stage of the survey, parents were asked to consent to their child's participation. Parents who consented to their child's participation were mostly mothers (62%) with the remaining being fathers (38%). Following parental consent, since the consent age in Turkey is 18 years, all adolescents were asked to provide assent and complete the survey.

4.2.2 Participants

A convenience sampling method was used to recruit the study participants. First, a cross-sectional online survey was administered to parents of adolescents using the Qualtrics software (Qualtrics, 2020). All parents were recruited via social media, parental online forums, and personal networks. In addition, a snowballing technique in which parents were asked to distribute the survey to the other eligible parents was also applied to reach the target sample. To encourage participation, a prize draw was held for a chance to win one of four Amazon.com.tr vouchers (25b, 50b, 75b, 100b). Four parents received one of four incentives, on behalf of their children, following the prize draw. At the beginning of the survey, parents were asked to answer two questions, namely their gender and email addresses, and then allow their children to answer the rest of the survey. Adolescents were then asked to answer a short questionnaire containing demographic questions and two different measures of sibling bullying.

4.2.3 Sample Characteristics

The demographic characteristics of the sample are given in Table 1 and are described here. The sample consisted of a total of 301 adolescents, 162 girls (54%) and 139 boys

(46%). Participants' ages ranged from 10 to 18 years, with a mean age of 14.25 (SD = 2.46). Among the participants, 41% (N= 124) were the firstborn, 26% (N= 78) were middle, and 33% (N= 64) were the youngest. Of the sample, 36% had one sibling, 30% had two siblings, and 34% had three or more siblings. For the present study, similar to the classification of the United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF, 2005), ages between 10 to 12 years were classified as early adolescence (27%, N= 81), 13 and 15 as middle adolescence (36%, N= 108), and 16-18 as late adolescence (37%, N= 112).

Table 1 (4.1)

c	· · ·	1 1	• 1		C.1 1	(11 201)
``	aciad	omogrank	110 01	haractaristics o	t the cample	$a (N) - \langle I \rangle$
1.1		emogram	LLC. (.1	шпшскеныцся о	1 INC SUMDIC	(1/V)(1)
\sim	001000	0			,	

	Ν	Proportion
Gender		
Female	162	54.58
Male	139	45.42
Age		
10	26	8.64
11	28	9.30
12	27	8.97
13	39	12.96
14	33	10.96
15	36	11.96
16	46	15.28
17	36	11.96
18	30	9.97
Birth Order		
Eldest	123	41.13
Middle	77	25.78
Youngest	99	33.09
Number of Siblings		
1	110	36.21
2	89	30.36
3	102	33.43
Type of School		
Public School	235	78.07
Private School	24	7.97
Faith School	20	6.65
Other	22	7.30
Grade Level		
Primary School	7	2.33
Middle School	115	38.20
High School	163	54.25
Recently Graduated	16	5.32
(High School)		

Note. Recently Graduated (High School) refers to the participants who have recently graduated from high school and have not started their college degree yet due to the time of data collection (summer holiday).

4.2.4 Measures

Adolescents were asked to complete a number of questionnaires. These were all administered in the Turkish language. Full details are provided in the following sections.

4.2.4.1 The Turkish Sibling Bullying Questionnaire. The 14-item English SBQ assesses how frequently adolescents have been perpetrators or victims of sibling bullying in the preceding six months (Dantchev et al., 2019). The perpetration question is "How often did you do any of the following to your brothers or sisters in the last six months": (1) I hit, kicked, pushed or shoved a brother or sister around, or threatened to do this, (2) I took money or other things from a brother or sister or damaged their belongings, (3) I called a brother or sister nasty and hateful names (4) I made fun of a brother or sister in other ways, (5) I kept a brother or sister out of things on purpose, leaving them out of my group or completely ignoring them, (6) I spread rumours about a brother or sister, or tried to make others dislike them, (7) I bullied in another way. The victimisation subscale of the SBQ consists of the same seven items that are reworded for the victimisation experiences: "How often did your brothers or sisters do any of the following to you in the last six months?". Items 1-2 refer to physical, 3-4 refer to verbal, 5-6 refer to relational, and item 7 refers to other types of sibling bullying/victimisation that are not covered by the first six items (Dantchev et al., 2019; Menesini et al., 2010; Wolke & Samara, 2004). Participants are asked to respond to both sets of questions on a five-point Likert scale (1 = never, 2 = only ever once or twice, 3 = 2 or 3)times a month, 4 = about once a week, 5= several times a week).

A Turkish version of the SBQ was developed for this study using the expert committee approach (Beaton et al., 2000). The expert committee consisted of five bilinguals. In the committee, two translators were aware of the concept of the questionnaire, two were experts in linguistics and one was a native speaker of both languages; however, the latter was blind to the questionnaire and the field. As the first step, two bilingual translators conducted the forward translation of the SBQ from English to Turkish, independently. Second, the expert committee discussed the discrepancies between the two translations and drafted the Turkish version of the SBQ. Third, two bilingual translators, blind to the English version of the SBQ, back-translated it to English to ensure the accuracy of the forward translation. Fourth, the expert committee checked and resolved the discrepancies between forward and backwards translations and revised the wording. Fifth, the expert committee agreed that the Turkish version of the questionnaire had content validity and named the new scale as *the Turkish Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (T-SBQ)*. As the last step, the reliability and validity of the T-SBQ were tested in a Turkish sample of adolescents. The newly translated T-SBQ and the translation procedure can be seen in Table S1 and Figure S1 (supplementary materials).

4.2.4.2 The Revised Sibling Bullying Questionnaire. The Revised Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (R-SBQ; Kandemir-Ozdinc, 2019), which is a Turkish adaptation of the questionnaire that Menesini et al. (2010) adapted, was also administered to the adolescents to test the convergent validity of the T-SBQ. The R-SBQ is a 9-item self-report questionnaire that measures adolescents' sibling bullying (perpetration-only) behaviours on a five-point Likert-type scale. The scale's inter-item reliability was measured as a=.63 and the one-factor structure of the R-SBQ (perpetration) was reported as follows: (x2= 68.00, df = 24, p = .00; x2/df = 2.8; GFI = .98, CFI = .96, TLI = .94, SRMR = .03, RMSEA = .05). Although the Turkish R-SBQ does not show high internal consistency, it showed a similar reliability score (a=.63) as the original scale (a=.65; Menesini et al., 2010).

4.2.5 Data Analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted on STATA/ MP version 16.1 (Stata Corp., 2019).

Research Question 1. Prior to confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), a principal component analysis (PCA) with the Promax rotation method was performed to decide the

number of factors related to the items on the T-SBQ. Further, to determine whether the factor structure of the T-SBQ adhered to the hypothesised structure, a CFA was conducted. Each of the items was treated as a continuous variable. The victimisation items were loaded onto a victimisation latent variable and the perpetration items were loaded onto a perpetration latent variable. The residuals between victimisation and perpetration method factors were also correlated. The Maximum Likelihood (ML) estimation with missing data algorithm was used to perform the CFA. The linearity, multicollinearity and univariate normality were tested to check any possible disturbance in the data, as the ML requires normal distribution. To check the linearity, data visualisation techniques were used (residual/scatter plots and histograms) and no violation was identified. Variance inflation factor (VIF, ≤ 5) and Tolerance (≥ 0.1) values were measured to check the multicollinearity. Collinearity tests indicated that the data met the assumption of multicollinearity; Tolerance = 0.33 - 0.62 and VIF = 1.68-2.97(Mean= 2.19, see Table S2, supplementary materials). Lastly, skewness and kurtosis values were checked for univariate normality and data indicated normal distribution with no skewed or flatty trends as all the values ranged between 0 and 1. Model fit was considered adequate where the comparative fit index (CFI) and Tucker-Lewis index (TLI) values were \geq .90 (Hu & Bentler, 1999) and root mean squared error of approximation (RMSEA) values were $\leq .08$ (Browne & Cudeck, 1992).

Research Question 2. Cronbach's alpha (α) coefficient was used to assess the internal consistency reliability of the T-SBQ. To do this, inter-item and intra-scale correlation coefficients were calculated. First, item-test and item-rest coefficients were estimated. Second, the correlation between subscales and the overall test scale was tested. Coefficient value \geq .70 is accepted as *adequate* internal consistency reliability (Nunnally, 1978).

Research Question 3. The validity of the T-SBQ was tested using two methods, construct and convergent validity. To evaluate the construct validity, a CFA was run on the

original factor structure, and factor loadings of each item were reported. To assess the convergent validity, the total scores obtained from the two measures were correlated and compared. First, inter-scale correlation coefficients between the T-SBQ and R-SBQ were calculated to report whether both scales measure the same construct consistently. Second, correlation coefficients between the subscales of the new measure and the overall test scale of the T-SBQ and R-SBQ were tested to see whether they are significantly correlated and measure the common construct.

Research Question 4. Descriptive statistics were generated to determine the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. The total score of the T-SBQ was used to create three continuous variables -victimisation, perpetration, and overall sibling bullyingwith higher scores reflecting the higher levels of involvement. A well-accepted cut-off value, about once a week (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Toseeb et al., 2018; Wolke & Samara, 2014), was also used to derive binary variables to report the prevalence and frequency of sibling victimisation and perpetration. Participants were categorised as involved in sibling bullying if they reported any type of victimisation/perpetration at least about once a week in the preceding six months. Additionally, adolescents were assigned into four sibling bullying groups according to Dantchev et al.'s (2019) previous classification: (i) Non-involved: Adolescents who reported being victimised and perpetrating their sibling less than once a week, (ii) Pure Bullies: Adolescents who reported being victimised less than once a week but having perpetrated their sibling at least once a week, (iii) Pure Victims: Adolescents who reported having perpetrated their sibling less than once a week but being victimised at least once a week, and (iv) Bully-Victims: Adolescents who reported both being victimised and having perpetrated their siblings at least once a week. Lastly, to report the frequency of the different types of sibling bullying involvement, the following binary variables were derived:

136

Physical (Items 1 & 2), Verbal (Items 3 & 4), Relational (Items 5 & 6), and Other-type (Item 7).

4.2.6 Missing Data

The following null hypothesis was proposed: The missing data would be missing completely at random (MCAR). To test this null hypothesis, *mcartest* was run in which a significant p-value rejects the probability of the null hypothesis being true, meaning that the data is not MCAR. The results suggested that the missing data in the data set were MCAR as the p-value was not significant (N= 301, $x^2=2178.72$, *df*=21, *p*=.29).

Furthermore, the multiple imputation by chained equations (MICE) technique was used to deal with missing data and to maximise the power. First, the regression (regress) method was specified for imputing the continuous variables, ordered logistic regression (Ologit) for categorical variables, and logistic regression for binary variables (logit). Second, all variables, including sociodemographic variables, were included in the imputation model to increase precision and avoid missing data bias. Third, 10 imputed data sets were created by using the MICE algorithm, fully conditional specification equations, with the specified methods for each variable. The proportions of missing data and the number of imputations for each variable are shown in Table S3 (supplementary materials). Further, all descriptive analyses were then conducted using this imputed dataset by the *mi estimate* command. Factor analyses, however, were conducted by using the "Maximum likelihood estimation with missing data" algorithm.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Factor Structure of the T-SBQ

Prior to CFA, a PCA was conducted to test whether the original factor structure would be replicated on the newly translated scale. The PCA suggested that there were three components with eigenvalues greater than one ($\lambda > 1$). Although Kaiser (1960) claims that there are as many reliable factors as there are eigenvalues greater than one, the T-SBQ were loaded on two latent factors. The reasons for doing this were as follows: (1) the original SBQ has a two-factor structure, (2) the third component on the newly translated measure did not explain a big variance in the data (.07), and (3) the semantic concept of the items on the scale is not suitable to be loaded onto the third component. Therefore, two factors were derived with eigenvalues of 6.28 and 1.60, respectively, and together accounted for 56.38 of the variance explained (see Table S4, supplementary materials).

Furthermore, a CFA was run to confirm the measurement model, factor structure and dimensionality of the T-SBQ using the Maximum Likelihood (ML) algorithm. Since the original SBQ has a two-factor structure, two distinct models with a two-factor structure, Model 1: First order correlated two-factor model (two correlated method factors - *victimisation and perpetration*), and Model 2: Second order correlated two-factor bifactor model (a common factor *-sibling bullying-* and two correlated method factors *-victimisation and perpetration*), were tested. According to the CFA results, the model fit indices were as follows: Model 1: $x^2 p < .001$, df = 61, RMSEA= .07, CFI= .95 and TLI= .93, and Model 2: $x^2 p = .008$, df = 47, RMSEA= .043, CFI= .98 and TLI= .97 (see Table 2, Figure 1, & Figure S2). Although both models yielded an adequate fit to the data, *Model 1* was accepted as the factor structure of the T-SBQ due to its more acceptable cut-offs of the factor loadings (see Table 3).

Table 2 (4.2)

Fit summary of CFA models ($N=301$)
-------------------------------------	---

CFA models	$X^{2}\left(p ight)$	df	RMSEA	RMSEA CI 90%	CFI	TLI
Model 1- First-order correlated two-	160.333	61	.07	.06 ~ .08	.95	.93
factor model	(.000)					
Model 2- Second-order correlated	73.473	47	.04	.02 ~ .06	.98	.97
bifactor model	(.008)					
Suggested cut-off value			$< .08^{a}$		$> .90^{b}$	>.90 ^b
Note ^a Browne and Cudeck (100)	bHu and	Bont	lor(1000)			

Note. ^aBrowne and Cudeck (1992), ^bHu and Bentler (1999).

Table 3 (4.3)

Standardized Estimates of Item Factor Loadings based on the CFA (N=301)

	Mo	odel 1		Model 2		
Item	F1	F2	F1	F2	CF	
	Vic	PrP	Vic	PrP	SB	
1- I was hit, kicked, pushed or shoved around or they threatened to do this.	.70		.23*		.81	
2- I had things damaged or taken from me, including money.	.66		.50		.44*	
3- I was called nasty and hateful names.	.78		.45		.58	
4- I was made fun of.	.75		.45		.55	
5- They kept me out of things on purpose, leaving me out of their group of friends or completely ignoring me.	.55		.60		.23*	
6- They told lies or spread rumours about me, or tried to make others dislike me.	.50		.53		.20*	
7- I was bullied in another way.	.62		.69		.26*	
8- I hit, kicked, pushed or shoved a brother or sister around, or threatened to do this.		.78		.23*	.90*	
9- I took money or other things from a brother or sister or damaged their belongings.		.56		.37*	.41*	
10- I called a brother or sister nasty and hateful names.		.79		.42*	.61	
11- I made fun of a brother or sister.		.75		.48	.53	
12- I kept a brother or sister out of things on purpose, left them out of my group or completely ignored them.		.50		.44*	.27*	
13- I spread rumours about a brother or sister or tried to make others dislike them.		.45		.57	.13*	
14- I bullied in another way.		.63		.66	.30*	

Note. F= Factor, CF= Common factor, * r < .45.

Figure 1 (4.1)

Model 1: First-order correlated two-factor model



4.3.2 Reliability of the T-SBQ

Cronbach's alpha coefficients indicated that the T-SBQ has excellent internal consistency in the overall test scale (α =.90) and good reliability in the subscales (Victimisation, α = .84; Perpetration, α = .83). The inter-scale and intra-scale correlation coefficients are shown in Table 4, S5 and Figure S3 (supplementary materials). Additionally, the T-SBQ items showed sufficient inter-item correlations ranging from .21 to .70. Although some items showed weak correlations (β < 0.3), this was observed mostly between the victimisation and perpetration subscales' items, as they intended to measure slightly different constructs. Since the cut-off value for the minimum standardised coefficient was accepted as .2, as suggested by Rummel (1988), no items were removed from the scale because of weak inter-item correlations. Further information regarding the item's Cronbach's alphas, item-test, and inter-item correlations can be seen in Tables S6 and S7 (supplementary materials).

Table 4 (4.4)

The reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) of the scales and subscales (N = 301)

Scales / Subscales	The SBQ (α)	The R-SBQ (α)	The T-SBQ (α)
1- Victimisation (subscale)	.80*	-	.84
2- Perpetration (subscale)	.74*	-	.83
3- Overall test scale	_	.63**	.90

Note. Cronbach's alpha for the overall test scale of the SBQ was not reported and the R-SBQ has no subscales. * (Dantchev et al., 2019), ** (Kandemir-Ozdinc, 2019).

4.3.3 Validity of the T-SBQ

The convergent validity of the T-SBQ was good as inter-scale correlations between the T-SBQ and R-SBQ were found to be high ($\alpha = .79$), suggesting that both scales measure sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents, consistently. Additionally, the correlation between the perpetration subscale of the T-SBQ and the overall test scale of the R-SBQ was significantly higher than the correlation between the victimisation subscale of the T-SBQ and the overall R-SBQ. This was an expected result as the R-SBQ only consisted of perpetration items and did not aim to measure victimisation. Inter-scales and between subscales correlations of the T-SBQ and R-SBQ supported the convergent validity of the new measure (see Figure S3). Additionally, CFA results showed that the factor loadings of the T-SBQ items range from .45 to .79. This suggests that the T-SBQ has adequate construct validity as each observed item was adequately correlated with a method factor.

4.3.4 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying

As shown in Table 5, more than half of adolescents, 51% (n=154), reported at least one type of sibling bullying at least once a week. In regards to the bullying roles, the majority of adolescents who experienced sibling bullying were bully-victims (30%), whereas they were least likely to be pure-bullies (3%). Regarding the frequency of the types of sibling bullying, verbal bullying was the most common type of sibling bullying (39%), whereas other-type of sibling bullying was reported as the least common one (14%). Concerning the overall patterns of sibling bullying throughout adolescence, it increased slightly from early adolescence (54%) to middle (57%), and decreased from middle to late adolescence (42%). In addition, the frequency of the types of sibling bullying showed an inconsistent trend during adolescence. On the one hand, physical bullying showed a downward pattern from early (44%) through the middle (42%) and late adolescence (26%). On the other hand, verbal, relational and other-type of sibling bullying increased from early to mid-adolescence and decreased from middle to late adolescence.

Regarding birth order, the number of siblings, and sibling bullying involvement, as shown in Table S8 (supplementary materials), the eldest adolescents showed a higher rate of sibling bullying (63%) than the middle (50%) and youngest (37%) ones, showing that there may be a potential correlation between sibling bullying and birth order. Additionally, adolescents who had one-only sibling showed the highest sibling bullying rate (58%)

compared to the ones who had two (49%), and three or more (45%) siblings. Furthermore, they also showed a higher prevalence of physical sibling bullying involvement (47%) than the adolescents with two (35%) and, three or more (27%) siblings.

Where gender differences are concerned, boys were more likely to be involved in overall sibling bullying (53%), victimisation (49%), and perpetration (33%) than girls (SB=49; V=47; P=32). They were also more likely to take pure-bullies (pb=4%) and pure-victims (pv-=19%) roles than girls (pb=%3%; pv=17%). With respect to the gender differences in sibling bullying types, boys were more likely to be involved in any types of sibling bullying, physical (p; 39%), verbal (v; 40%), relational (r; 17%), and other-type (o;15%), than girls (p=35%; v=38%; r=14%; o=12%).

Table 5 (4.5)

Sibling bullying involvement by age and gender (N = 301)

	Girls	Boys	Overall	Early adolescence (Boys/Girls)	Middle adolescence (Boys/Girls)	Late adolescence (Boys/Girls)
	%	%	%	%	%	%
Sibling bullying involvement						
Victimisation	47	49	48	50	56	38
				(43/55)	(68/46)	(36/41)
Perpetration	32	34	33	29	43	27
				(16/41)	(55/34)	(29/25)
Overall sibling bullying	49	53	51	54	57.6	42
				(47/61)	(70/48)	(42/43)
Sibling bullying groups						
Uninvolved	50	47	49	44	42	58
				(53/36)	(30/52)	(58/57)
Pure-Victims	17	19	18	25	15	15
				(30/21)	(16/14)	(13/17)
Pure-Bullies	3	4	3	5	2	3
				(3/6)	(2/2)	(5/2)
Bully-Victims	30	30	30	25	41	23
				(13/36)	(52/32)	(23/23)
<u>Type of sibling bullying</u>						
Physical	35	39	37	44	42	26
				(38/51)	(51/36)	(29/23)
Verbal	38	41	39	32	48	35
				(23/42)	(62/39)	(35/35)
Relational	14	17	15	11	20	13
				(11/11)	(30/13)	(9/16)
Other	12	16	14	11	16	13
				(6/15)	(26/8)	(13/13)

Note. Values in parentheses are showing the prevalence of boys and girls, respectively.

Looking at the age-gender related differences in sibling bullying involvement, girls in early adolescence were more likely to be involved in victimisation (55%) and perpetration (41%) than the girls in middle (v=46%; p=34%) or late (v=41%; p=25%) adolescence. Additionally, girls in late adolescence were less likely to be victimised and bullied than those in early and middle adolescence. In terms of boys, however, those in middle adolescence were more likely to be involved in victimisation (68%) and perpetration (54%) than the ones in early and late adolescence. Moreover, boys were less likely to be victimised during late (36%) and to bully during early (16%) adolescence than boys of other ages (see Table 6).

Table 6 (4.6)

Frequency of Type of Sibling Bullying by Gender (N=301)

Туре	Items	Total	Girls	Boys
	Victimisation	(/0)	(/0)	(70)
ical	1- I was hit, kicked, pushed or shoved around or they threatened to do this.	31	29	33
Physi	2- I had things damaged or taken from me, including money.	11	11	11.5
bal	3- I was called nasty and hateful names.	25	23	28
Ver	4- I was made fun of.	29	27	32
onal	5- They kept me out of things on purpose, leaving me out of their group of friends or completely ignoring me.	11	11	10
Relati	6- They told lies or spread rumours about me, or tried to make others dislike me.	5	5	4
Other	7- I was bullied in another way.	10	10	10
	Perpetration			
sical	8- I hit, kicked, pushed or shoved a brother or sister around, or threatened to do this.	22	23	21
Phys	9- I took money or other things from a brother or sister or damaged their belongings.	6	4	9
bal	10- I called a brother or sister nasty and hateful names.	19	19	20
Ver	11- I made fun of a brother or sister.	20	20	20
ional	12- I kept a brother or sister out of things on purpose, leaving them out of my group or completely ignored them.	6	4	7
Relat	13- I spread rumours about a brother or sister or tried to make others dislike them.	2	1	3
Other	14- I bullied in another way.	7	5	10
4.4 Discussion

The aims of this study were to test the psychometric properties of the newly translated T-SBQ and to estimate the prevalence of sibling bullying involvement in Turkish adolescents. The analyses were based on cross-sectional sibling bullying data, self-reported by Turkish adolescents. Results indicated that the T-SBQ is a reliable and valid scale in measuring sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents, confirming its two-factor structure (victimisation and perpetration) as in the original scale. Moreover, it was found that sibling bullying is prevalent in the lives of Turkish adolescents, suggesting that it should be seen as a serious problem by parents and policymakers rather than a normative sibling interaction.

4.4.1 Factor Structure of the T-SBQ

In regard to the first aim, the newly translated scale showed adequate model fit and good item-factor loadings with a correlated two-factor structure in a Turkish sample of adolescents. This also aligns with the original factor structure of the SBQ (Dantchev et al., 2019). Thus, the original factor structure of the SBQ was replicated and retained as the factor structure of the T-SBQ. The two factors on the T-SBQ were then named victimisation and perpetration, identical to the original scale.

4.4.2 Reliability

Further analyses were conducted to ensure the internal consistency reliability of the scale. According to the findings, the T-SBQ showed excellent reliability in the test scale suggesting that all the items on the T-SBQ measured the same construct, consistently. Moreover, both subscales of the T-SBQ were also satisfactorily correlated with each other and compatible with the original SBQ (Dantchev et al., 2019); this suggests that both subscales measured similar constructs (victimisation and perpetration). As it has repeatedly been found reliable in previous studies (Dantchev et al., 2019; Kandemir-Ozdinc, 2019; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Wolke & Samara, 2004, Wolke & Skew,

2011), these results also suggest that the Turkish translation version of the new SBQ is a reliable scale in measuring sibling bullying.

4.4.3 Validity

With reference to the convergent validity of the scale, good inter-scale correlations between the T-SBQ and R-SBQ confirm that both scales are in agreement in measuring sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. Additionally, although the perpetration subscale of the T-SBQ was found to be highly correlated with the R-SBQ, a moderate association was found between the victimisation subscale and the R-SBQ test scale. This might be due to the construct of the R-SBQ, as it consists of only perpetration items, not victimisation. In regards to the construct validity of the T-SBQ, all items on the SBQ were found to be highly correlated with the rest and had good item-factor loadings. Likewise, to other versions (Dantchev et al., 2019; Kandemir-Ozdinc, 2019; Menesini et al., 2010; Wolke & Samara, 2004), these findings suggest that the Turkish version of the new SBQ is also a valid scale for measuring sibling bullying.

4.4.4 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying

To the second aim, the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents was estimated, for the first time, and compared with the results of the previous research that has been carried out in other populations. The findings suggested that more than half of the adolescents reported having been involved in at least one type of sibling bullying at least once a week, in the past six months. This result aligns with the findings from other cultures such as the United States of America (Duncan, 1999), Israel (Wolke & Samara, 2004), and the United Kingdom (Toseeb et al., 2018; Toseeb et al., 2020b; Wolke & Skew, 2011).

The overall patterns of sibling bullying fluctuated during adolescence. It increased from early to middle adolescence and decreased from middle to late adolescence. While the current finding that shows an increase in sibling bullying from early to middle adolescence accords with a previous report from the UK (Toseeb et al., 2020b), the later decrease with age also accords with what Tucker et al. (2013b; 2019) reported in terms of sibling victimisation rates in the U.S. However, it is not consistent with results reported by Kandemir-Ozdinc (2019) and Finkelhor et al. (2006) who reported sibling victimisation perpetration to decrease with age, with the latter being reporting peak sibling violence between six and nine years of age. This difference may be attributed to differences in the age of adolescents and the individual and family characteristics of the research samples.

Concerning the gender differences in sibling bullying, some previous studies argue that boys are more likely to bully a sibling and girls are more likely to be victimised by a sibling (Camodeca et al., 2002; Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke & Skew, 2011). However, the current findings indicate that boys were more likely to be involved in both victimisation and perpetration than girls. Although this inconsistency could be attributed to the presence of cross-cultural differences regarding the roles attributed to siblings due to their gender (Cicirelli, 1995), the current findings also accord with some other Western studies' reports. For instance, Duncan (1999) also found boys to be more likely to be involved in any type of sibling bullying. Additionally, another recent study has reported that boys are more likely to be victims and perpetrators of traditional bullying compared to girls (Zsila et al., 2019). One reason underlying this inconsistency can be the bullying measure that is used in the studies. Hara (2002) argued that bullying measures that include more indirect bullying items than direct bullying would provide a higher prevalence of bullying for girls, while another measure with more direct bullying items would provide a higher prevalence for boys.

In addition, aligning with Tippet and Wolke's (2015) findings, the current study indicates that eldest siblings are more likely to get involved in sibling bullying than the middle and youngest ones. Moreover, this result also accords with the findings from a different socio-economic culture, the UK, which suggests that first-born children are more likely to be bullies and bully-victims compared to second and later-born siblings (Toseeb et al., 2020a). Although Menesini et al. (2010, p.933) suggested that "sibling bullying is related to the quality of the sibling relationship and not to birth order", they further concluded that "the presence of an older brother per se seems to be a risk factor for the emergence of victimisation at home" which may alienate with the findings of the current study.

Regarding the type of sibling bullying involvement, in line with the previous findings, *verbal* bullying was found to be the most common type of sibling bullying (Skinner & Kowalski, 2013; Wolke & Samara, 2004), whereas the *other-type* of sibling bullying was reported as the least common one (Dantchev et al., 2019). Additionally, consistent with the reported literature, physical bullying has been found as the most common type of sibling bullying during early adolescence (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Tippett & Wolke, 2015).

4.4.5 Strengths, Limitations, and Implications

Like all other research, this study has some strengths and limitations. One major strength is that this study provides a new valid and reliable scale to the Turkish literature to measure self-report sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. Since the factor structure of the original scale has been replicated and confirmed on the T-SBQ, the scale also provides future researchers with a cross-culturally comparable tool in which the results from English-Turkish SBQs can be reliably compared. Also, an additional strength could be the intensive translation process of the SBQ in which the expert committee approach was adapted by five bilinguals to provide an accurate Turkish translation. Another strength is that this is the first study to provide the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents from early to late adolescence years (10-18). Even though parents might not be aware of instances of sibling bullying among their children, as it usually happens behind closed doors, some previous researchers have reported the prevalence of sibling bullying based on parents' responses (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009). In this sense, reporting the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents based on their self-report data could be seen as another strength of this study. A further contribution of this research is that it is expected to gather scientists', experts', parents', and Turkish society's attention to the topic by reporting a prevalent sibling bullying rate in Turkish adolescents.

There were also some potential limitations in this study. First, the instrument used in this study, the R-SBQ, for parallel test reliability and convergent validity of the T-SBQ served as one limitation. Since this scale is a translated version of the old version of the SBQ, six questions out of 14 items on the T-SBQ were the same as or similar to the items of the R-SBQ. Thus, this similarity might have led to the high correlation found between the R-SBQ and T-SBQ test scales. Second, convenience sampling was used to recruit participants to fill out an online survey, further research with randomly recruited representative samples could improve the generalisability of the results. Therefore, all the findings of the present study shall be considered within pointed limitations.

Despite the limitations, the findings of the current study may have several implications for future research on sibling bullying, and the need for prevention and intervention programs at home. First, the current study highlights that sibling bullying is prevalent in most Turkish adolescents' lives and raises the importance of developing and implementing valid intervention programs specifically developed for Turkish adolescents. Second, there is an emerging need to raise bystanders' awareness of seeing bullying among their children as *non-normative*, as it is defined as one of the potential deterrents to the prevention and intervention of sibling bullying (Skinner & Kowalski, 2013). Third, a longitudinal study with a nationally representative sample is needed to shed light on the trajectory of the prevalence of sibling bullying during adolescence and to shed light on the potential covariates of sibling bullying. Likewise, there is a significant need for big-scale cross-cultural studies to identify differences in sibling bullying in different sociocultural contexts. Finally, this study also encourages other researchers to replicate the current study in the Turkish context, to gain a better understanding of the prevalence and precursors of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents.

4.4.6 Conclusions

The current study sought to translate and validate a measure of sibling bullying in the Turkish language. The newly translated T-SBQ has adequate reliability and validity. Therefore, the measure is a suitable and appropriate scale to measure sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents. The prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents is high, in both girls and boys and hits the peak during middle adolescence years. These findings suggest that sibling bullying during adolescence is cause for concern in Turkey and should be seen as a serious problem by parents, policymakers, and researchers, given its wellestablished links to poor mental health outcomes.

References

- Akduman, G. G. (2010). An investigation of sibling abuse in terms of different variables at early childhood period. *Balıkesir Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, 13(24), 115-126.
- Bank, L., Burraston, B., & Snyder, J. (2004). Sibling conflict and ineffective parenting as predictors of adolescent boys' antisocial behavior and peer difficulties: Additive and interactional effects. *Journal of research on adolescence*, *14*(1), 99-125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2004.01401005.x
- Bayram, H. G. (2014). What determines the sibling conflict resolution strategies of adolescents? Parents, siblings, or temperament (Master's thesis).

https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-9338(15)31223-2

- Beaton, D. E., Bombardier, C., Guillemin, F., & Ferraz, M. B. (2000). Guidelines for the process of cross-cultural adaptation of self-report measures. Spine, 25(24), 3186-3191. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200012150-00014
- Boer, F., Dunn, J., & Dunn, J. F. (2013). Children's sibling relationships: Developmental and clinical issues. Psychology Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203772799</u>
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032–e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. *Sociological methods & research*, 21(2), 230-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124192021002005</u>
- Caffaro, J. V. (2013). Sibling abuse trauma: Assessment and intervention strategies for children, families, and adults. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203797075
- Camodeca, M., Goossens, F. A., Terwogt, M. M., & Schuengel, C. (2002). Bullying and victimization among school-age children: Stability and links to proactive and reactive

aggression. Social Development, 11(3), 332–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-</u> 9507.00203

- Caspi, J. (2011). *Sibling aggression: Assessment and treatment*. Springer Publishing Company. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2290</u>
- Cicirelli, V. G. (1995). Sibling relationships in cross-cultural perspective. In *Sibling relationships across the life span* (pp. 69-85). Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-6509-0_6
- Dantchev, S., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2018). Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: a prospective cohort study. Psychological Medicine, 48(14), 2321–2328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717003841</u>
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). Trouble in the nest: Antecedents of sibling bullying victimization and perpetration. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(5), 1059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000700</u>
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 10, 651. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651
- Demirbas, H. (2016). Is there a relation between sibling abuse and guilt and shame?. Global Journal of Psychology Research: New Trends and Issues, 6(2), 70-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.18844/gjpr.v6i2.680</u>
- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extrafamilial bullying. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *14*(8), 871–886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2009). A push or a punch: Distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *24*(1), 183–208.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298

- Eroğlu, Y., & Topkaya, N. (2019). Boşanma ile ilgili uyum güçlüğü çeken çocuklarda kişilik özellikleri ve benlik kavramı. *Türk Psikolojik Danışma ve Rehberlik Dergisi*, 9(52).
- Hara, H. (2002). Justifications for bullying among Japanese schoolchildren. Asian Journal of Social Psychology, 5(3), 197-204. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-839X.00104
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural equation modeling: a multidisciplinary journal*, 6(1), 1-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118</u>
- Ji, L., Zhang, W., & Jones, K. (2016). Children's experience of and attitudes towards bullying and victimization. School bullying in different cultures: Eastern and western perspectives, 170-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139410878.012</u>
- Kaiser, H. F. (1960). The application of electronic computers to factor analysis. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 20(1), 141–151.

https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000116

- Kandemir-Ozdinç, N. (2019). Sibling bullying and peer bullying relations to empathy, moral disengagament, problem solving, and parental acceptance-rejection. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Middle East Technical University.
- Lamb, M. E., Sutton-Smith, B., Sutton-Smith, B., & Lamb, M. E. (2014). Sibling relationships: Their nature and significance across the lifespan. Psychology Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315802787</u>
- Lin, M., Wolke, D., Schneider, S., & Margraf, J. (2020). Bullies get away with it, but not everywhere: Mental health sequelae of bullying in Chinese and German students. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *51*(9), 702-718. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0022022120949913

Menesini, E., Camodeca, M., & Nocentini, A. (2010). Bullying among siblings: The role of

personality and relational variables. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 921–939. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/026151009X479402</u>

- Natsuaki, M. N., Ge, X., Reiss, D., & Neiderhiser, J. M. (2009). Aggressive behavior between siblings and the development of externalizing problems: Evidence from a genetically sensitive study. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(4), 1009.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0015698
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric Theory: 2d Ed. McGraw-Hill. ISBN:9780070474659, 0070474656
- Olweus, D. (1984). Aggressors and Their Victims: Bullying at School. In N. Frude, & H. Gault (Eds.), Disruptive Behavior in Schools (pp. 57-76). New York: Wiley.
- Olweus, D. (1991). Bully/victim problems among school children: Basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. *The Development and Treatment of Childhood Aggression*, 17, 411–448. ISBN:9781134746347, 1134746342
- Qualtrics. 2020. Qualtrics development company. Provo, UT. Retrieved from: https://www.qualtrics.com
- Rummel, R. J. (1988). Applied factor analysis. Northwestern University Press. ISBN:9780810108240, 0810108240
- Sanders, R. (2004). *Sibling relationships: Theory and issues for practice*. Macmillan International Higher Education. ISBN 023020306X, 9780230203068
- Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 28(8), 1726–1736.

https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0886260512468327

- StataCorp. (2019). Stata Statistical Software: Release 16. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.
- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home

environment and peer bullying. Aggressive Behavior, 41(1), 14–24.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557

- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2308–2318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Precursors of sibling bullying in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 108, 104633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(5), 1457–1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>
- Toseeb, U., & Wolke, D. (2021). Sibling bullying: a prospective longitudinal study of associations with positive and negative mental health during adolescence. Journal of youth and adolescence, 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01495-z</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. (2013a). Association of sibling aggression with child and adolescent mental health. *Pediatrics*, 132(1), 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-3801
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A. M., & Turner, H. (2013b). Prevalence and correlates of sibling victimization types. *Child abuse & neglect*, 37(4), 213-223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.01.006
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., & Turner, H. (2019). Patterns of sibling victimization as predictors of peer victimization in childhood and adolescence. *Journal of family violence*, 34(8), 745-755. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-018-0021-1</u>

- UNICEF. (2005). Adolescent Development: Perspectives and Frameworks–A discussion Paper. United Nations Children's Fund New York. UNICEF, 3.
- Vangelisti, A. L. (2009). *Feeling hurt in close relationships*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511770548
- Whiteman, S. D., McHale, S. M., & Soli, A. (2011). Theoretical perspectives on sibling relationships. *Journal of family theory & review*, 3(2), 124-139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1756-2589.2011.00087.x</u>
- Wolke, D., & Samara, M. M. (2004). Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(5), 1015–1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x
- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2011). Bullied at home and at school: Relationship to behaviour problems and unhappiness. *UNDERSTANDING SOCIETY*.
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: Sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917–929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X</u>
- Zsila, Á., Urbán, R., Griffiths, M. D., & Demetrovics, Z. (2019). Gender differences in the association between cyberbullying victimization and perpetration: The role of anger rumination and traditional bullying experiences. *International Journal of Mental Health* and Addiction, 17(5), 1252-1267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-018-9893-9</u>

Chapter 5: Study II: Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in British and Turkish Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Social and Emotional Functioning

Emre Deniz¹*, Umar Toseeb¹

¹ Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK Correspondence to: <u>emre.deniz@york.ac.uk</u>

Correspondence: Correspondence regarding this article should be addressed to Emre Deniz,

Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK, email:

emre.deniz@york.ac.uk.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

Funding Source: This study has been conducted as a part of a PhD study that is fully funded by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of National Education, Directorate-General for Higher and Foreign Education.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Citation

Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in British and Turkish Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Social and Emotional Functioning. <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/jvzn5</u> (**Under Review** - Journal of Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders).

Abstract

Nearly one in two autistic adolescents is involved in sibling bullying, which is linked to increased mental health difficulties. Despite its high prevalence, only a handful of studies have focused on the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health in autistic adolescents. Of these, a vast majority of evidence comes from Western cultures while little is known about non-western cultures. For the first time, the current study investigated the crosscultural variability in the prevalence, risk factors, and mental health correlates of sibling bullying between a Western (the United Kingdom) and a non-Western (Turkey) country. Parents of British (N=289) and Turkish (N=171) autistic adolescents, aged 9-20, years completed online questionnaires. Structural equation models were fitted to test the risk factors for behavioural and mental health correlates of sibling bullying. Overall, sibling bullying was highly prevalent in the lives of both British and Turkish autistic adolescents as more than twothirds either bullied a sibling or were bullied by a sibling every week. Consistent with previous reports, higher rates of sibling bullying were significantly correlated with poorer mental health in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Additionally, sibling bullying was indirectly linked to mental health difficulties through detrimental social behaviours (British and Turkish) and emotion regulation (British-only) in autistic adolescents. There were no indirect correlations between sibling bullying and mental health through social skills in either sample. Implications of these findings as well as cross-cultural similarities and differences are discussed in more detail in light of relevant cross-cultural psychological theory.

Keywords: Autism, cross-cultural, emotion regulation, mental health, sibling bullying, social functioning.

5.1 Introduction

Sibling bullying is a form of violence that involves frequently repeated aggression that intends to harm a weaker sibling physically, verbally, relationally, or psychologically (Wolke et al., 2015). As many as one in two adolescents in the general population (Deniz et al., 2022; Duncan, 1999; Toseeb et al., 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013) as well as the autistic population (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018) experience sibling bullying. This makes it the most prevalent form of intra-familial violence in the lives of adolescents (McDonald & Martinez, 2016). Despite its overwhelmingly high prevalence, bullying amongst siblings has been overlooked as many consider it a natural part of daily sibling interaction (Caffaro, 2013; Rypi, 2023). This normalising discourse on sibling bullying has potentially contributed to the delay in the discovery of its antecedents and detrimental effects (Skinner & Kowalski, 2013), particularly in autistic samples.

5.1.1 Risk Factors and Consequences of Sibling Bullying

While the literature is severely limited, the present evidence offers some insight into individual and family-level risk factors for sibling bullying. In terms of individual risk factors, being White, male, first-born, having two or more siblings, and having an older brother increase the risk for sibling bullying involvement (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013, 2014). In regard to family-level risk factors, low family income, low parental education, lone parent status, harsh parenting, parental absence, parental differential treatment, and child-parent and inter-parental conflict are identified as risk factors for increased sibling bullying (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Qing et al., 2022; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2020a; Tucker et al., 2014; Wolke et al., 2015). Although the aforementioned evidence comes from the general population, some of these risk factors, such as being White, first-born, having two or more siblings, harsh parenting, lone parent status, and low family income, have also been confirmed in the autistic population (Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b). Adding to this, late-diagnosed autistic adolescents and those who share a bedroom with their siblings are also at increased risk for being involved in sibling bullying (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022). The available evidence is predominantly based on reports from Western cultures. This is problematic as children's development and behaviour are influenced by a number of complex factors, including broader societal influences (Bronfenbrenner, 1979).

Sibling bullying is linked to mental health difficulties in the general as well as the autistic population. In the general population, increased rates of sibling bullying are associated with increased mental health difficulties such as anxiety, depression, self-harm, and internalising¹ and externalising² problems (Bowes et al., 2014; Coyle et al., 2017; Duncan, 1999; Liu et al., 2020; Tucker et al., 2013; Toseeb et al., 2020a). Although considerably limited research has been conducted in the autistic population, similar findings have been reported. Autistic adolescents who are involved in sibling bullying, either as the victim or the bully, show higher levels of mental health difficulties (e.g., internalising and externalising problems) than those not involved (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b). Hence, the existing evidence draws a clear link between increased rates of sibling bullying and increased mental health difficulties in the general and autistic populations.

Due to its potentially deteriorating effects and high prevalence, an urgent need to protect the mental health of those involved in sibling bullying has been repeatedly flagged (Bar-Zomer & Brunstein Klomek, 2018; Bowes et al., 2014; Deniz et al., 2022; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; Wolke et al., 2015). The fact that sibling bullying often happens behind closed doors and parents are often unaware of their children's sibling bullying experiences (Wiehe,

¹ i.e., emotional and peer problems.

² i.e., conduct problems and hyperactivity.

1997; Wolke et al., 2015) means that it may not be possible to detect all individuals at risk for sibling bullying. To minimise its negative consequences, researchers have sought to identify mediating factors between sibling bullying and mental health that could potentially serve as a protective mechanism for mental health. One of these, research from the general population, has indicated that being victimised by a sibling indirectly increases mental health difficulties by reducing the emotional regulation ability of the victim (Fite et al., 2022). Similarly, Toseeb et al. (2020a) also argued that emotion regulation is related to both sibling bullying and mental health and that it has the potential to mediate this association. Similarly, in the autistic population, increased sibling bullying has been found to be linked to increased mental health difficulties through worsened self-esteem (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022). These latest findings suggest that intervening in such mediators – emotion regulation and self-esteem – may protect the mental health of those involved in sibling bullying.

5.1.2 Sibling Bullying in Cross-Cultural Context

Ecological systems theory (EST, Bronfenbrenner, 1979) suggests that the immediate environments individuals live in (e.g., family, neighbourhood, culture) shape the way they think, feel, and behave. Based on this argument, Kuczynski (2003) argues that intra-family relationships are likely to be influenced by broader contextual factors such as family characteristics, neighbourhood socio-economic status, and cultural norms. In support of this, the prevalence and correlates of sibling bullying have been found to vary across culturally distinct populations. For example, more American children (30-85%) are involved in sibling bullying (Button & Gealt, 2010; Duncan, 1999; Finkelhor et al., 2006; Tucker et al., 2013) compared to Chinese (10-20%) children (Liu et al., 2020, 2021; Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022). That is, sibling bullying is a universal phenomenon, though its prevalence may show cross-cultural variations. Likewise, the United Kingdom (UK) and Turkey have two distant cultures (Hofstede Insights, 2022) which are likely to reflect upon sibling relationships (Cicirelli, 1995). For example, older siblings are more likely to be caregivers of younger siblings in Western cultures than non-westerners (Updegraff et al., 2011), meaning that British adolescents may be at greater risk for sibling bullying compared to their Turkish peers. In addition, British children are more likely to live in cohabiting families or in single-parent households than Turkish children (OECD, 2023a, 2023b), which are identified as risk factors for increased sibling bullying involvement (Tucker et al., 2014). Conversely, Turkish families are larger, have more children, and show higher rates of poverty than British families (OECD, 2023a, 2023b), all of which may put Turkish children at increased risk for sibling bullying than their British counterparts (Bowes et al., 2014; Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Consequently, the cultural distance between British and Turkish cultures is likely to reflect on the sibling bullying experiences of adolescents living in the UK and Turkey.

5.1.3 The Current Study

The existing reports indicate strong links between sibling bullying and mental health, although this may not be a direct correlation. A growing body of literature suggests that there may be indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health through third factors, instead of a direct link. However, the literature on the indirect effects of sibling bullying on mental health is severely limited. So far, only two factors – self-esteem and emotion regulation – have been found to mediate the associations between sibling bullying and mental health (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Fite et al., 2022). Although not clear-cut, social skills may also be a mediator between sibling bullying and mental health as previous reports indicate that sibling bullying is correlated with reduced social skills (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019) which, in turn, is correlated with increased mental health difficulties in autistic adolescents

(Toseeb et al., 2020a). Hence, it is not yet clear whether sibling bullying is a direct or indirect risk factor for increased mental health difficulties.

Although bidirectional relationships exist between sibling bullying and social skills and between social skills and mental health in autistic adolescents, no research to date has tested whether social skills play a role in the relations between sibling bullying and mental health. Additionally, the finding that emotion regulation impacts the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health (Fite et al., 2022) comes from the general population which may not apply to the autistic population as the prevalence and mental health correlates of sibling bullying are likely to vary between autistic and non-autistic populations (Toseeb et al., 2020b). Furthermore, nearly all existing evidence on the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health comes from the Western populations which should not be generalised to non-Western cultures where little to no evidence exists (Henrich et al., 2010). Hence, a cross-cultural study was needed to understand the role of emotion regulation and social skills in the associations between sibling bullying and mental health.

To address this gap in knowledge, the current study aimed to investigate the crosscultural variations in the prevalence, risk factors, and mental health correlates of sibling bullying. Additionally, the present study aimed to examine the mediator roles of emotion regulation and social skills in the relations between sibling bullying and mental health in autistic adolescents from a Western (UK) and a non-Western (Turkey) culture. In doing so, a structural model was proposed hypothesising that sibling bullying may be indirectly correlated with mental health through emotion regulation and social skills. To test this, the following research questions (RQ) were asked: RQ1: "What is the prevalence of sibling bullying in British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents?", RQ2: "What are the risk factors for sibling bullying in British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents?" RQ3: "What are the behavioural and mental health correlates of sibling bullying in British and

163

Turkish families of autistic adolescents?", and RQ4: "Do emotional and social functioning play a role in the associations between sibling bullying and mental health in British and Turkish autistic adolescents?". Although cross-cultural differences are expected between the UK and Turkey, the direction of the differences could not be predicted.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Ethics Statement

This study is part of a larger-scale study in which ethical approval was granted by the Department of Education Ethics Committee, University of York (Ref: FC20/2). In addition to this ethical approval, permission to recruit participants from Turkish schools was sought from the Turkey Ministry of National Education (Ref: b34d-55f1-3d4e-9ee4-6c65).

5.2.2 Design

To explore the cross-cultural differences in the rates, risk factors, and mental health correlates of sibling bullying, this study adopted the *Etic* approach which simply focuses on the presence or absence of between-culture variations on a psychological phenomenon (Kagitcibasi & Berry, 1989). For this, a set of universal measures, i.e., cross-culturally valid, instead of culture-specific measures, are proposed to be used when exploring the similarities and differences between the British and Turkish cultures in sibling bullying and mental health. Hence, this study takes an outsider's perspective in exploring the similarities and differences in sibling bullying and mental health between British and Turkish cultures and is not an attempt to conduct in-depth testing of culture-level elements that underlie existing similarities and differences.

5.2.3 Sampling

Convenience sampling was adopted in recruiting parents of British and Turkish autistic adolescents. To be included in the study, families were required to meet all of the following inclusion criteria: 1) at least one child in the family has an autism diagnosis, 2) the autistic child has at least one neurotypical sibling, 3) the autistic child is between nine and 20 years of age³, 4) both children have lived in the same house in the preceding six months. In cases where families had more than one autistic or neurotypical child, they were asked to choose the ones closest in age and answer the survey questions accordingly. To identify autistic adolescents, parents were asked two screening questions: *1) Have any of your children been diagnosed with autism, Asperger's syndrome or autistic spectrum disorder? 2) What types of special education needs or disabilities does your child have?* Adolescents whose parents answered *yes* to the former question or *autism spectrum conditions* to the latter question were identified as autistic adolescents.

Parents of autistic adolescents were recruited from schools, autism charities, referral services, and private special education and rehabilitation centres in both countries. All data were collected online using the Qualtrics software (Qualtrics, 2021). The online survey consisted of pre-developed and validated psychological measures and a set of demographic questions written in participants' native languages (English or Turkish). In total, 301 British parents and 202 Turkish parents completed the distributed surveys. Of these, 12 British parents and 31 Turkish parents were removed from the sample due to not meeting the predetermined inclusion criteria (e.g., autism diagnosis, age range, etc.). Thus, all analyses were carried out on a sample of 289 British parents and 171 Turkish parents.

5.2.4 Participants

Sample characteristics of British and Turkish cultures are summarised here in brief and detailed information is outlined in Tables S1 and S2 (Supplementary materials). Over 80% of survey respondents were mothers in both cultures. Of these, more British parents (50%) than Turkish parents (22%) had a college or above degree. Moreover, the mean ages of

³This inclusion criterion was defined to recruit autistic adolescents. According to the World Health Organisation (2023), adolescence is the period of life between childhood and adulthood which covers ages 10 and 19. Since the current study was designed as a 1-year longitudinal study, the lower and upper age bounds were moved 1 year and set as 9 and 20 to maximise the sample power.

autistic adolescents were comparable across cultures (British=12.9 years, SD=2.4; Turkish=12.4 years, SD=3.2). However, Turkish neurotypical siblings were slightly older (Mean=14.3 years, SD=6.6) than their British counterparts (Mean=12.1 years, SD=3.6).

5.2.5 Measures

Parents of autistic adolescents were asked to answer a wide range of questionnaires in regard to demographics, behavioural characteristics, mental health, and sibling bullying experiences of their autistic child. Parents reported their own as well as their autistic children's demographic information. All measures are described here in brief, and detailed information is outlined in Appendix A and Table S3 (Supplementary materials).

5.2.5.1 Demographic Information. Parents' demographic information included ethnicity, highest educational qualification, marital status, and their relation with the autistic child (e.g., mother). Children's demographic information included age, gender, birth order, and physical power imbalance between siblings (e.g., the autistic child is physically stronger than the neurotypical sibling).

5.2.5.2 Autistic Traits. The Autism Quotient-10 (AQ-10; Allison et al., 2012), which consists of 10 items with responses recorded on a four-point Likert-type scale (l = definitelydisagree, 2 = slightly disagree, 3 = slightly agree, 4 = definitely agree) was used to assess the autistic characteristics of British and Turkish autistic adolescents. The overall test scores ranged from 10 to 40 with higher scores indicating more autistic traits. In the current study, the autistic traits variable was used as a potential confounder in the analyses.

5.2.5.3 Sibling Bullying. The Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (SBQ; Dantchev et al., 2019) was used to evaluate the sibling bullying victimisation and perpetration experiences of autistic adolescents. The SBQ is a 14-item – sibling bullying victimisation (7 items) and sibling bullying perpetration (7 items) – Likert-type scale (1=never, 2=only ever once or twice, 3=2 or 3 times a month, 4= about once a week, 5=several times a week). In the current

analyses, sibling bullying victimisation and sibling bullying perpetration were used as predictors with higher scores indicating higher rates of sibling bullying involvement.

Additionally, parents were also asked to respond to two questions in regard to past sibling bullying experiences of their autistic child: *1) "Has your autistic child ever talked to you about being bullied by their sibling?"* and *2) "Has your neurotypical child ever talked to you about being bullied by their autistic sibling?"*. The former question was used to construct the past sibling bullying victimisation experiences of the autistic child while the latter question corresponds to their past sibling bullying perpetration experiences.

5.2.5.4 Emotion Regulation. The Emotion Regulation Checklist (ERC; Shields & Cicchetti, 1997), which is an 8-item four-point Likert-type scale (1=never, 2=sometimes, 3=often, 4=almost always) was used to measure the emotion regulation skills of autistic adolescents. The total scores ranged from 8 to 32 with higher scores meaning better emotion regulation skills. The emotion regulation was used as a potential mediator in the current analyses.

5.2.5.5 Social Skills. The Autism Social Skills Profile (ASSP; Bellini & Hopf, 2007), which consists of 45 items that are answered on a four-point Likert-type scale (*1=never*, 2=sometimes, 3=often, 4=very often) was used to measure social skills under two constructs: 1) Social Functioning, which refers to meaningful social interaction and participation (*e.g.*, "Provides compliments to others") and 2) Detrimental Social Behaviours, which refers to socially inappropriate behaviours and negative peer experiences (*e.g.*, "Makes inappropriate comments"). In the current study, social functioning was measured using the social reciprocity and social participation subscales with higher scores meaning better social functioning. Additionally, the detrimental social behaviours subscale was used to measure the negative social interactions of autistic adolescents with higher scores indicating increased detrimental social behaviours.

5.2.5.6 Mental Health. The Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; Goodman, 1997), which is a 25-item, three-point Likert-type scale (0=not true, 1=somewhat true, 2=certainly true), was used to measure the internalising and externalising problems of autistic adolescents. For this, in line with the SDQ scoring guidelines (Goodman, 2001), emotional (5 items) and peer problems (5 items) subscales were summed to generate internalising problems. Additionally, conduct problems (5 items) and hyperactivity/inattention (5 items) subscales were summed to generate externalising problems (10 items) test scale with higher scores indicating higher internalising subscales were summed to generate externalising problems (10 items) test scale scores (10 items) test scale with higher scores indicating higher internalising subscales were summed to generate externalising problems (10 items) test scale with higher scores (10 items) test scale with higher scores meaning higher levels of externalising problems.

5.2.6 Data Analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted using STATA/ MP 17 (StataCorp, 2022). First, the prevalence of sibling bullying, overall and by demographic characteristics, was reported in both cultures (RQ1). Second, a structural equation model (SEM) was fitted to test the individual and cumulative risk factors⁴ for sibling bullying (RQ2). Third, Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to test the zero-order correlations between sibling bullying, emotion regulation, social functioning, detrimental social behaviours, and mental health (RQ3). Fourth, a further two SEMs and Sobel's tests were fitted to test the indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health through emotional and social functioning in both cultures (RQ4). All missing data were handled using two advanced statistical techniques: multiple imputations by chained equations and full information maximum likelihood. More information concerning data analyses can be found in Appendix A and Tables S4-S6 (Supplementary materials).

⁴ The significant individual risk factors for sibling bullying victimisation and sibling bullying perpetration were later combined to generate cumulative victimisation risk index and cumulative perpetration risk index.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying

To answer RQ1, the descriptive analysis showed that sibling bullying was highly prevalent in the lives of autistic adolescents. Approximately 72% of British autistic adolescents and 67% of Turkish autistic adolescents were involved in sibling bullying, either as a victim or a perpetrator. In regard to sibling bullying victimisation, nearly 53% of British autistic adolescents and 45% of Turkish autistic adolescents were victimised by their neurotypical siblings every week. Concerning sibling bullying perpetration, about 65% of British autistic adolescents and 56% of Turkish autistic adolescents bullied their neurotypical sibling every week. Of those involved in sibling bullying, being the bully-victim of sibling bullying was the most common role for autistic adolescents while being the victim-only was the least common role, in both cultures. More details regarding the prevalence of sibling bullying, by sibling bullying roles and demographic characteristics, can be found in Table S7 (Supplementary materials).

5.3.2 Risk Factors for Sibling Bullying

To address RQ2, an SEM was fitted to test the individual risk factors for sibling bullying, victimisation and perpetration, and to construct cumulative risk factor indices (see, Figure 1). Findings indicated cross-culturally common and culture-specific risk factors for sibling bullying. Regarding cross-cultural similarities, for instance, being victimised by their neurotypical sibling in the past was a significant risk factor for present sibling bullying victimisation in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. In regard to sibling bullying perpetration, being involved in sibling bullying, both victimisation and perpetration, were risk factors for present sibling bullying perpetration in both British autistic adolescents. Concerning the cross-cultural differences, having an opposite-gendered sibling, a physically more powerful sibling, a male sibling, and having been involved in sibling bullying perpetration in the past were significant risk factors for present sibling bullying victimisation in the British sample, but not in the Turkish sample. Moreover, having a physically weaker sibling was a risk factor for sibling bullying perpetration for British autistic adolescents but not for their Turkish peers. Furthermore, high parental education was a risk factor for sibling bullying victimization in the British sample. Finally, having a younger sibling was a risk factor for sibling bullying perpetration for Turkish autistic adolescents but not for their British peers.

Taken together, in the British sample, the cumulative victimisation risk index consisted of having an opposite-gendered sibling, having a physically more powerful sibling, having a male sibling, and having previously been involved in sibling bullying victimisation and perpetration. In the Turkish sample, however, the cumulative victimisation risk index consisted of high parental education and having previously been involved in sibling bullying victimisation. With reference to the cumulative perpetration risk index, it consisted of having a weaker sibling and having previously been involved in sibling bullying victimisation and perpetration. In the Turkish sample, however, the cumulative perpetration risk index consisted of having a younger sibling and having been previously involved in sibling bullying victimisation and perpetration.

5.3.3 Behavioural and Mental Health Correlates of Sibling Bullying

Answering RQ3, direct correlations between sibling bullying, emotion regulation, social functioning, detrimental social behaviours, and mental health were tested using Pearson's correlation coefficients (see Table 1). Findings indicated striking similarities and differences between the two cultures regarding the correlates of sibling bullying. In terms of similarities, increased rates of sibling bullying perpetration were directly correlated with increased detrimental social behaviours and internalising and externalising problems in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Unexpectedly, being a victim of sibling bullying was not directly correlated with reduced emotion regulation or increased internalising problems in either sample. Finally, autistic traits were not correlated with sibling bullying perpetration in either sample.

In terms of cross-cultural differences, increased sibling bullying victimisation was linked to increased externalising problems in British autistic adolescents but not in Turkish ones. Additionally, increased sibling bullying perpetration was directly associated with reduced emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents but not in Turkish ones. Moreover, while increased sibling bullying victimisation was a positive correlate of increased detrimental social behaviours in Turkish autistic adolescents, this was not the case for British autistic adolescents. Finally, sibling victimisation was negatively correlated with autistic traits in the British sample but not in the Turkish sample.

5.3.4 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Indirect Associations

To address RQ4, two distinct SEMs (SEM-I⁵ & SEM-II⁶) were fitted to investigate the indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health through emotion regulation, social functioning, and detrimental social behaviours. Additionally, the autistic trait variable was controlled as a potential confounder in the models. Moreover, cumulative bullying risk indices (CVRI⁷ & CPRI⁸) were also controlled as covariates of sibling bullying in the SEMs. The SEMs indicated acceptable fits to the data in both samples: British SEM-I (*B-SEM-I*)= x^2 (p)= .23, RMSEA= .03, CFI=.99, TLI=.98, CD=.51; British SEM-II (*B-SEM-I*)= x^2 (p)= .15, RMSEA= .04, CFI=.99, TLI=.97, CD=.46. Turkish SEM-I (T-*SEM-I*)=

⁵ SEM-I: Sibling bullying victimisation and mental health

⁶ SEM-II: Sibling bullying perpetration and mental health

⁷ CVRI: Cumulative victimisation risk index

⁸ CPRI: Cumulative perpetration risk index

Saturated, x^2 (p)= .57, RMSEA= .000, CFI=1.00, TLI=1.02, CD=.56; Turkish SEM-II (*T*-SEM-II)= x^2 (p)= .40, RMSEA= .01, CFI=1.00, TLI=.99, CD=.61. Overall, Sobel's test indicated significant indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. The Sobel's test findings are outlined in Table 2 and detailed path coefficients are shown in Figures 2 and 3 and Tables S8 and S9 (Supplementary materials).

In terms of cross-cultural similarities, sibling bullying perpetration, but not victimisation, was indirectly correlated with internalising and externalising problems through detrimental social behaviours in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. That is, British and Turkish autistic adolescents who bullied their neurotypical siblings showed high rates of detrimental social behaviours which, in turn, were correlated with high internalising and externalising problems.

In regard to cross-cultural differences, higher rates of sibling bullying, victimisation and perpetration, were indirectly linked to increased internalising problems through reduced emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents but not in the Turkish sample. That is, being involved in sibling bullying is a direct risk factor for reduced emotion regulation and, thus, an indirect risk factor for increased mental health difficulties for British autistic adolescents but not for their Turkish peers. Moreover, sibling bullying victimisation was indirectly linked to internalising and externalising problems through detrimental social behaviours in the Turkish sample, but not in the British sample. This shows that being a victim of sibling bullying was indirectly linked to mental health difficulties in Turkish autistic adolescents through increased detrimental social behaviours, which was not the case in the British sample.

Table 1 (5.1)

Behavioural and Mental Health Correlates of Sibling Bullying: Direct Associations

	UK (N=289)		TR (N=171)			
	Victimisation	Perpetration	Victimisation	Perpetration		
Autistic traits	42***	11	07	15		
Emotion regulation	05	27***	.03	.04		
Social Functioning	.29***	.02	.18*	.19*		
Detrimental Social Behaviours	.09	.45***	.26***	.42***		
Internalising Problems	.09	25***	.13	.25**		
Externalising Problems	17**	51***	.10	24**		

Note. Path coefficients are reported on full sample size using MICE. The significance level is set as p < .05.

Table 2 (5.2)

Psychosocial Correlates of Sibling Bullying: Indirect Associations

	Standardise									
	X -> M β	$M \rightarrow Y$ β	$X \rightarrow Y$ β	Indirect effect	Direct effect	Total effect	Standard error	Z	Р	95% CI
British Sample										
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Emotion Regulation \rightarrow Internalising Problems	18**	21***	.13*	.038	.133	.171	.01	2.14	.03	.01, .07
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Emotion Regulation \rightarrow Internalising Problems	29***	23***	.04	.066	.043	.109	.02	2.99	<.01	.02, .11
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Detrimental Social Behaviours \rightarrow Internalising Problems	.48***	.36***	.04	.173	.043	.216	.03	5.03	<.001	.10, .24
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Detrimental Social Behaviours \rightarrow Externalising Problems	.48***	.39***	.35***	.187	.354	.541	.03	5.82	<.001	.12, .25
Turkish Sample										
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Detrimental Social Behaviours \rightarrow Internalising Problems	.30**	.38***	.09	.115	.091	.206	.05	2.22	.02	.01, .22
Sibling Victimisation → Detrimental Social Behaviours → Externalising Problems	.30**	.26**	.18*	.078	.176	.255	.04	1.90	.05	00, .16
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Detrimental Social Behaviours \rightarrow Internalising Problems	.38***	.35***	.18*	.136	.185	.321	.04	3.08	<.01	.05, .22
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Detrimental Social Behaviours \rightarrow Externalising Problems	.38***	.21*	.29***	.079	.288	.367	.04	1.99	.04	.00, .15

Note. Significance level: *= *p*<.05, **=*p*<.01, ***=*p*<.001.

Figure 1 (5.1)





Figure 2 (5.2)

SEM-I: Sibling Bullying Victimisation and Emotional Difficulties in British (B-SEM-I) and Turkish (T-SEM-I) Autistic Adolescents

Turkish SEM-I (T-SEM-I)

British SEM-I (B-SEM-I)



CVRI Emotion Regulation Victimisation Victimisation Autistic Traits Social Functioning Detrimental Social Behaviours

Model B-SEM-I Fit: x² (p)=.23, RMSEA=.03, CFI=.99, TLI=.98, CD=.51

Model T-SEM-I Fit: Saturated, x² (p)=.57, RMSEA=.000, CFI=1.00, TLI=1.02, CD=.56

→ Significant positive paths

→ Significant negative paths

---- ► Insignificant paths

Figure 3 (5.3)

SEM-II: Sibling Bullying Perpetration and Emotional Difficulties in British (B-SEM-II) and Turkish (T-SEM-II) Autistic Adolescents

British-SEM-II (B-SEM-II)



Turkish-SEM-II (T-SEM-II)



Model B-SEM-II Fit: x² (p)=.15, RMSEA=.04, CFI=.99, TLI=.97, CD=.46

Model T-SEM-II Fit: x² (p)= .40, RMSEA=.01, CFI=1.00, TLI=.99, CD=.61

→ Significant positive paths

- → Significant negative paths
- ----> Insignificant paths

5.4 Discussion

Using a cross-cultural sample, for the first time, the current study looked to see whether the prevalence and risk factors of sibling bullying differ between British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Additionally, the current study examined whether sibling bullying is indirectly correlated with mental health and, if so, whether its indirect associations show cross-cultural variations between British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Overall, the current findings indicate that sibling bullying is highly prevalent in the lives of British and Turkish autistic adolescents. It also found cross-cultural similarities and differences in the risk factors for sibling bullying and in the way sibling bullying relates to mental health in autistic adolescents. For instance, while increased sibling bullying was indirectly linked to poorer mental health through reduced emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents, this was not the case for the Turkish ones. However, being involved in sibling bullying was indirectly related to poorer mental health through increased detrimental social behaviours in both cultures. Cross-cultural similarities and differences are further discussed in light of the Etic approach (Kagitcibasi & Berry, 1989).

5.4.1 Prevalence of Sibling Bullying

The current findings showed that nearly one in two British and Turkish autistic adolescents bullied their sibling or were bullied by their sibling at least once a week. Previous reports have also indicated that about 50% of British autistic adolescents experience sibling bullying (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b) every week, while no previous reports exist in the Turkish culture. Aligning well with the previous reports from the UK, the current findings support the notion that sibling bullying is the most common form of intrafamilial violence adolescents experience in their lives (Button & Gealt, 2010), adding that it may be a common cross-cultural risk factor for autistic adolescents. Since the prevalence rates that were found on parent-reported sibling bullying in autistic families are very similar to previous reports on autistic child self-reported sibling bullying, one might argue that there may be high agreement between child-parent report sibling bullying in families of autistic adolescents unlike the low to moderate agreement in the general population (Dantchev & Zemp, 2022). That is, parents of autistic adolescents are potentially more aware of their children's sibling bullying experiences than parents from non-autistic families.

Additionally, the current study found that the majority of autistic adolescents were involved in two-way sibling bullying as a victim and a perpetrator. This is in line with the previous work in British samples (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Deniz et al., 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018; Toseeb et al., 2020a, 2020b; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022). That is, the majority of Turkish and British autistic adolescents who were involved in sibling bullying were involved in twoway bullying meaning that they either initiated bullying behaviours and also retaliated bullying behaviours when bullied by their siblings. Previous researchers have suggested that autistic adolescents may be more likely to bully their non-autistic siblings potentially due to showing higher levels of aggression than their non-autistic peers and showing social communication difficulties such as misunderstanding others' intentions and behaviours (Libster et al., 2022; Nowell et al., 2014; Rowley et al., 2012). In addition, past researchers also argued that autistic children are more likely to be bullied than their non-autistic peers due to their behavioural characteristics (e.g., navigating the outside world, responding to bullying behaviours, etc.) making them the perfect victim of bullying (Humphrey & Hebron, 2015).

5.4.2 Risk Factors for Sibling Bullying

More differences than similarities were found between British and Turkish cultures in regard to the risk factors for sibling bullying. Regarding the cross-culturally common risk factors, autistic adolescents who reported being victimised by their neurotypical siblings were at increased risk for being victimised by their siblings in the present time. Similarly, individuals who were victimised by a sibling and who bullied a sibling in the past were more likely to experience sibling bullying later on. These findings well align with a past report as past sibling bullying experiences have been found to predict future sibling bullying involvement in autistic adolescents (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022).

In terms of cross-culturally distinct risk factors for sibling bullying, in the British culture, but not in the Turkish culture, adolescents who had an opposite-gendered sibling were at increased risk for being involved in sibling bullying than those with same-gendered siblings. Although the literature is severely limited on this, partially confirming this, a study also indicates that males are more likely to bully their female siblings than their male siblings (Menesini et al., 2010). Additionally, again aligning with previous research reports (Bowes et al., 2014; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Foody et al., 2020; Menesini et al., 2014; Toseeb et al., 2018), having an older male sibling is a significant risk factor for sibling bullying involvement at home for British autistic adolescents. Finally, those who were physically weaker than their siblings were at increased risk of being involved in sibling bullying. Again, this well aligns with previous reports as researchers have commonly characterised sibling bullying as a form of aggression initiated by the more powerful sibling towards the weaker sibling (Wolke et al., 2015).

In regard to distinct risk factors for sibling bullying in the Turkish culture, the current study found that high parental education is a risk factor for sibling bullying for Turkish, but not British, autistic adolescents. This is well-supported as some researchers also found higher parental education to be related to increased sibling bullying (Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Tucker et al., 2013, 2014). Since the majority of the respondents were mothers, one might argue that this may relate to the primary caregiver role of mothers in Turkey as about 94.4% of Turkish mothers take the caregiving responsibilities of their children alone (Turkiye Istatistik Kurumu, 2022). That is, an above college degree for Turkish mothers potentially means
decreased primary caregiver supervision for Turkish autistic adolescents, which is a risk factor for increased sibling bullying (Tucker et al., 2014; Wolke et al., 2015). Additionally, having a younger sibling was a risk factor for bullying a sibling for Turkish autistic adolescents. This is also supported by the existing reports as others also found that young siblings are more likely to be victims of sibling bullying (Dantchev et al., 2018; Deniz et al., 2022; Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2020a).

5.4.3 Direct Correlates of Sibling Bullying

The current study found cross-culturally common and culturally distinct direct links between sibling bullying and behavioural and mental health outcomes of autistic adolescents. In regard to cross-culturally common direct links, bullying a sibling was directly associated with internalising and externalising problems in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. This finding is well supported by previous research which drew a positive direct link between sibling bullying perpetration and poorer mental health in autistic adolescents (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b). Additionally, sibling bullying perpetration was directly associated with increased detrimental social behaviours in British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Although this has been the first study to test this association, the relevant literature supports the current findings as sibling bullying is found to be related to decreased prosocial behaviours (Foody et al., 2020; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b) and increased anti-social behaviours (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019) which are likely to be correlated with detrimental social behaviours.

Looking at the culturally unique correlates of sibling bullying, being victimised by a sibling was linked to increased externalising problems in British autistic adolescents but not in Turkish ones. This finding is both supported and contradicted by the limited evidence in the literature. While a recent study found no direct correlations between sibling victimisation and internalising and externalising problems (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022), past studies indicated

positive direct correlations between sibling victimisation and externalising problems in autistic as well as general populations (Bowes et al., 2014; Coyle et al., 2017; Duncan, 1999; Liu et al., 2020; Tucker et al., 2013; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b). Taken together, past research indicates strong direct links between sibling victimisation and externalising problems, which was also found in the British, but not Turkish, culture in this study. Though, all this evidence comes from Western populations while little to no knowledge exists in non-Western cultures. Hence, more cross-cultural research is needed to further clarify whether being bullied by a sibling is directly correlated with externalising problems in non-westerner autistic adolescents.

Although being a victim of sibling bullying was not directly correlated with reduced emotion regulation in either culture, bullying a sibling was linked to reduced emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents, but not in Turkish ones. Not aligning with the current findings, a recent study from the United States has reported that increased sibling victimisation is associated with reduced emotion regulation in adolescents (Fite et al., 2022). However, supporting the current findings, a UK-based study has found that perpetrators, but not victims, of sibling bullying show reduced emotion regulation (Toseeb et al., 2020a). Based on the latter evidence, one might argue that bullying a sibling, but not being bullied by a sibling, may be a direct risk factor for reduced emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents. Additionally, it could be argued that sibling bullying may not be linked to emotion regulation in Turkish autistic adolescents potentially due to some unmeasured protective factors of emotion regulation that exist in the Turkish, but not in the British, culture. More research, from the Turkish culture, is needed to unpack the reason why sibling bullying is not linked to emotion regulation and what the potential protective mechanisms of emotion regulation may be.

Finally, while sibling bullying perpetration was not correlated with autistic traits, in either sample, being victimised by a sibling was negatively correlated with reduced autistic

182

traits in the British sample but not in the Turkish sample. That is, British autistic adolescents who had lower autistic traits were more likely to be victimised by their neurotypical siblings than those with high autistic traits. This well aligns with the previous reports as others also found that autistic individuals with fewer autistic traits are more likely to be victimised by their peers than those with high autistic traits (Libster et al., 2022; Nowell et al., 2014; Rowley et al., 2012; Zablotsky et al., 2014). Previous researchers argue that this may be due to the fact that autistic individuals who have fewer autistic traits are more able to socially interact with their peers which increases the likelihood of experiencing negative social interactions such as bullying. It is, however, unclear why this was not the case for Turkish autistic adolescents. One might argue that this may potentially be due to cross-cultural differences in sibling relationships of autistic adolescents. For instance, British children take more caregiving responsibilities and spend less time with their parents than their Turkish peers which may increase the risk of being victimised by their neurotypical sibling. This may not be the case in Turkey due to less caregiving responsibilities and more parental supervision that Turkish children get compared to their British counterparts.

5.4.4 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Indirect Associations

As expected, indirect relationships were found between sibling bullying and mental health in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents with some sort of variation across cultures. For instance, increased sibling bullying, both victimisation and perpetration, was indirectly correlated with increased internalising problems through reduced emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents but not in Turkish ones. Although the literature is severely limited, this finding aligns well with previous reports where researchers found significant correlations between sibling bullying and emotion regulation and between emotion regulation and mental health (Boyes et al., 2020; Fite et al., 2022; Toseeb et al., 2020a). This indirect relationship may be explained by a previously made argument that poorly regulated emotions may be the reason for perpetrating sibling bullying as well as a reflection of existing mental health difficulties (Toseeb et al., 2020a). Based on their argument, these researchers have also suggested that emotional dysregulation could play a mediator role in the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health, which is now confirmed in the present analyses. However, it further remained unclear why this was not the case in Turkish culture. As outlined earlier, this may be because of the existence of some factors that may have protected the emotion regulation of Turkish autistic adolescents from the detrimental impacts of sibling bullying. For now, more research is needed to support this argument and shed light on the potential protective mechanisms, if any, for emotion regulation in Turkish culture.

There were also indirect relations between sibling bullying and mental health through detrimental social behaviours. For Turkish adolescents, as expected, both being bullied by a sibling and bullying a sibling were indirectly associated with poorer mental health through increased detrimental social behaviours. For British adolescents, however, only bullying a sibling (not being bullied) was associated with poorer mental health through more detrimental social behaviours. This is well in line with previous similar reports where researchers indicated significant associations between sibling bullying, prosociality and anti-social behaviours, and mental health (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Foody et al., 2020; Nantel-Vivier et al., 2014; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020b). It further remains unclear why being the victim of bullying is associated with detrimental social behaviours in Turkish autistic adolescents but not in British. One explanation for this could, possibly, be that British autistic adolescents who had high sibling bullying victimisation also had low autistic traits which are linked to increased social communication skills. Based on this, it could be argued that the detrimental impacts of being victimised by a sibling were not a risk factor for increased detrimental social behaviours in British autistic adolescents due to having low autistic traits providing them

with high social communication skills. Future research should explicitly investigate this possibility to further support the current preliminary argument on this.

5.4.5 Strengths and Limitations

The present study has several strengths. First, it has been the first study focusing on cross-cultural variances in the prevalence and psychosocial correlates of sibling bullying in autistic adolescents. Additionally, it is the first study to investigate the indirect associations between sibling bullying and emotional difficulties through emotion regulation, social functioning, and detrimental social behaviours in autistic adolescents. Moreover, all missing data were handled, in the present analyses, which minimised potential biases in parameter estimates. Furthermore, using pre-developed and cross-culturally validated psychological measures made the results of the current study more reliable and valid. Finally, using a parent-report sibling bullying measure might be considered as another strength as parents may be better reporters of children's bullying experiences, where the sample shows high emotional symptoms, as such children may be more likely to perceive or report a higher victimisation rate than the actual rate (Bowes et al., 2014).

There are also limitations that should be borne in mind when interpreting the findings. Although using parent-report measures was defined as one strength of the study, it is important to consider that parents may as well be less aware of their children's sibling bullying experiences and, thus, may underreport sibling bullying rates as it usually happens behind closed doors (Straus et al., 2017; Wolke et al., 2015). Additionally, low to moderate agreement between parent and child reports of child mental health has been reported, that is, the parent reports may not represent the actual rates of mental health difficulties children experience (Van der Meer et al., 2008). Finally, the data used in the current study was cross-sectional, thus, causal inferences on the findings of the present study should be avoided.

5.4.6 Conclusions and Suggestions

In summary, the present study found that sibling bullying is highly prevalent in the lives of British and Turkish autistic adolescents with more than half involved in sibling bullying, as a victim or a perpetrator, every week. Additionally, cross-cultural variations were found in the risk factors and behavioural and mental health correlates of sibling bullying between British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Moreover, sibling bullying was found to be correlated with increased internalising problems through decreased emotion regulation in British autistic adolescents but not in Turkish ones. Furthermore, sibling bullying was also indirectly linked to internalising and externalising problems through detrimental social behaviours in both British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Finally, it was found that autistic traits have a great potential to play a role in the way sibling bullying correlates to behavioural and mental health outcomes in autistic adolescents, and thus, needs to be paid attention in such analyses.

The current study followed the etic approach, which means that the current findings are solely based on the presence of cross-cultural variability in variables of interest and are not focused on or aimed at exploring the potential cultural elements underlying such crosscultural variations. Therefore, future researchers are advised to apply the emic approach and replicate the findings of the current study by looking at the underlying reasons for the crosscultural differences in the risk factors and correlates of sibling bullying reported in this study. Future researchers may also consider focusing on self-reported sibling bullying and mental health, as parents are often unaware of their children's sibling bullying experiences and internalising problems which may have led to under-reported sibling bullying and internalising problems in the present study.

References

- Allison, C., Auyeung, B., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2012). Toward brief "red flags" for autism screening: the short autism spectrum quotient and the short quantitative checklist in 1,000 cases and 3,000 controls. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 51(2), 202-212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2011.11.003</u>
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Neurodevelopmental disorders. In *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). American Psychiatric Pub, Washington, D.C.
- Bar-Zomer, J., & Brunstein Klomek, A. (2018). Attachment to parents as a moderator in the association between sibling bullying and depression or suicidal ideation among children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 9, 72. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00072</u>
- Bauminger, N., & Kasari, C. (2000). Loneliness and friendship in high-functioning children with autism. *Child development*, 71(2), 447-456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00156</u>
- Bellini, S., & Hopf, A. (2007). The development of the Autism Social Skills Profile: A preliminary analysis of psychometric properties. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental* Disabilities, 22(2), 80-87.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/10883576070220020801
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032-e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Boyes, M. E., Leitão, S., Claessen, M., Badcock, N. A., & Nayton, M. (2020). Correlates of externalising and internalising problems in children with dyslexia: An analysis of data from clinical casefiles. *Australian Psychologist*, 55(1), 62-72. https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12409

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Harvard university press.
- Button, D. M., & Gealt, R. (2010). High risk behaviors among victims of sibling violence. *Journal of family violence*, 25(2), 131-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-009-</u> 9276-x
- Caffaro, J. V. (2013). Sibling abuse trauma: Assessment and intervention strategies for children, families, and adults. Routledge.
- Cicirelli, V. G. (1995). Sibling relationships in cross-cultural perspective. In *Sibling relationships across the life span* (pp. 69-85). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Coyle, S., Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., Tennant, J. E., & Klossing, J. (2017, December). The associations among sibling and peer-bullying, social support and internalizing behaviors. In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (Vol. 46, No. 6, pp. 895-922). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-017-9412-3
- Dantchev, S., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2018). Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: a prospective cohort study. *Psychological medicine*, 48(14), 2321-2328. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717003841
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 10, 651. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651</u>
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). Sibling bullying at 12 years and high-risk behavior in early adulthood: A prospective cohort study. *Aggressive behavior*, 45(1), 18-32.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21793</u>
- Dantchev, S., & Zemp, M. (2022). Does bullying occur behind closed doors? Agreement of bullying reports between parents and children and its differential associations with child

outcomes. Children, 9(10), 1440. https://doi.org/10.3390/children9101440

- Deniz, E., Derinalp, P., Gulkanat, I., Kaz, C., Ozhan, N., & Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling Bullying in Turkish Adolescents: Translation and Cross-Cultural Validation of the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire. *Journal of Family Violence*, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-022-00360-2</u>
- Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2022). A Longitudinal Study of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Self-esteem. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/km9f2</u>
- Doyle, S. T., & Sullivan, T. N. (2017). Longitudinal Relations Between Peer Victimization,
 Emotion Dysregulation, and Internalizing Symptoms Among Early Adolescents. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 37(2), 165–191. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431615594458
- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extra-familial bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *14*(8), 871-886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2006). Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child abuse & neglect*, 30(12), 1401-1421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006</u>
- Fite, P. J., Cooley, J. L., Tampke, E. C., Hesse, D. R., & Doyle, R. L. (2022). The Role of Emotion Dysregulation in the Links Between Sibling Victimization and Internalizing Symptoms in Middle Childhood. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 44(2), 560-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-022-09956-w</u>
- Foody, M., Samara, M., & O'Higgins Norman, J. (2020). Bullying by siblings and peers: Polysetting victimization and the association with problem behaviours and depression. *British journal of educational psychology*, 90, 138-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12311</u>

Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. Journal of

child psychology and psychiatry, *38*(5), 581-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.1997.tb01545.x

- Goodman, R. (2001). Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40(11), 1337-1345. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200111000-00015
- Henrich, J., Heine, S. J., & Norenzayan, A. (2010). Most people are not WEIRD. *Nature*, 466(7302), 29-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/466029a</u>
- Hofstede Insights. (2022). Country Comparison Hofstede Insights. <u>https://www.hofstede-insights.com/country-comparison/turkey,the-uk/</u>
- Humphrey, N., & Hebron, J. (2015). Bullying of children and adolescents with autism spectrum conditions: A 'state of the field' review. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19(8), 845-862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.981602</u>
- Kagitcibasi, C., & Berry, J. W. (1989). Cross-cultural psychology: Current research and trends. *Annual review of psychology*, 40(1), 493-531.
- Kuczynski, L. (2003). Beyond bidirectionality. *Handbook of dynamics in parent-child relations*, 3-24.
- Libster Liu, X., Peng, C., Yu, Y., Yang, M., Qing, Z., Qiu, X., & Yang, X. (2020). Association between sub-types of sibling bullying and mental health distress among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *11*, 368. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00368
- Liu, X., Wolloh Ii, M. G., Lin, X., Qiu, X., Qing, Z., Wang, W., ... & Lu, D. (2021). The association between sibling bullying and psychotic-like experiences among children age 11–16 years in China. *Journal of affective disorders*, 284, 31-37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073

McDonald, C., & Martinez, K. (2016). Parental and others' responses to physical sibling

violence: A descriptive analysis of victims' retrospective accounts. *Journal of Family Violence*, *31*, 401-410. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-015-9766-y

- Menesini, E., Camodeca, M., & Nocentini, A. (2010). Bullying among siblings: The role of personality and relational variables. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 921-939. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151009X479402
- Nantel-Vivier, Amélie, Robert O. Pihl, Sylvana Côté, and Richard E. Tremblay. "Developmental association of prosocial behaviour with aggression, anxiety and depression from infancy to preadolescence." *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry* 55, no. 10 (2014): 1135-1144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12235</u>
- Nowell, K. P., Brewton, C. M., & Goin-Kochel, R. P. (2014). A multi-rater study on being teased among children/adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and their typically developing siblings: associations with ASD symptoms. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 29(4), 195-205.
 <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1177/1088357614522292</u>

OECD. (2023a). Family Database. https://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm

- OECD. (2023b). *Poverty rate (indicator)*. Accessed on 04 January 2023. https://data.oecd.org/inequality/poverty-rate.htm.
- Peng, C., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Cheng, J., Qiu, X., & Liu, X. (2022). Co-occurrence of sibling and peer bullying victimization and depression and anxiety among Chinese adolescents: The role of sexual orientation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 131, 105684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105684
- Qing, Z., Ma, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). Prevalence and associated family factors of sibling bullying among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4169. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.892598

Qualtrics, X. M. (February 2021). Qualtrics XM. Provo, Utah, USA. Available at:

- Rowley, E., Chandler, S., Baird, G., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Loucas, T., & Charman, T. (2012). The experience of friendship, victimization and bullying in children with an autism spectrum disorder: Associations with child characteristics and school placement. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(3), 1126-1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2012.03.004
- Rypi, A. (2023). Ambiguous but Crucial Boundaries-Professionals Differentiating Sibling
 Abuse from Sibling Quarrels. Sociological Focus, 1-17.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2023.2180466</u>
- Shields, A., & Cicchetti, D. (1997). Emotion regulation among school-age children: the development and validation of a new criterion Q-sort scale. *Developmental psychology*, 33(6), 906. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.33.6.906</u>
- Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(8), 1726-1736. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512468327
- StataCorp. (2022). Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.
- Straus, M. A., Gelles, R. J., & Stienmetz, S. K. (2017). Behind closed doors: Violence in the American family. Routledge.
- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggressive behavior*, 41(1), 14-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *48*(7), 2308-2318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2

Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Precursors of sibling bullying

in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse* & *Neglect*, *108*, 104633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633</u>

- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *50*(5), 1457-1469. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8
- Toseeb, U., & Wolke, D. (2022). Sibling bullying: a prospective longitudinal study of associations with positive and negative mental health during adolescence. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *51*(5), 940-955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01495-z</u>
- Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling conflict during COVID-19 in families with special educational needs and disabilities. *British journal of educational psychology*, 92(1), 319-339. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12451
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A. M., & Turner, H. (2013). Prevalence and correlates of sibling victimization types. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 37(4), 213-223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.01.006
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014). Family dynamics and young children's sibling victimization. *Journal of family psychology*, 28(5), 625. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/fam0000016</u>
- Turkiye Istatistik Kurumu. (January 2023). *Türkiye Aile Yapısı Araştırması, 2021*. Accessed on: <u>https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Turkiye-Aile-Yapisi-Arastirmasi-2021-</u> 45813
- Updegraff, K. A., McHale, S. M., Killoren, S. E., & Rodríguez, S. A. (2011). Cultural variations in sibling relationships. *Sibling development: Implications for mental health practitioners*, 83-105.

Van der Meer, M., Dixon, A., & Rose, D. (2008). Parent and child agreement on reports of

problem behaviour obtained from a screening questionnaire, the SDQ. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, *17*, 491-497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-008-0691-y</u>

Wiehe, V. R. (1997). Sibling abuse: Hidden physical, emotional, and sexual trauma. Sage.

- Wolke, D., & Samara, M. M. (2004). Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(5), 1015-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x</u>
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917-929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X</u>
- World Health Organization. (January 2023). *Adolescent health*. Accessed on: https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health

Chapter 6: Study III: A Longitudinal Study of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Selfesteem

Emre Deniz¹, Umar Toseeb¹

¹ Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK

Correspondence

Correspondence regarding this article should be addressed to Umar Toseeb, Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK, email: <u>umar.toseeb@york.ac.uk</u>.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial relationships relevant to this article to disclose.

Funding Source: This study has been conducted as a part of a PhD study that is fully funded by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of National Education, Directorate-General for Higher and Foreign Education.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Citation: Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2023). A longitudinal study of sibling bullying and mental health in autistic adolescents: The role of self-esteem. *Autism Research*, 16(8), 1533–1549. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2987</u>

Abstract

Sibling bullying is associated with poor mental health in autistic adolescents. The reasons for this remain unknown. The current study attempted to replicate the existing findings on the direct associations between sibling bullying and mental health in autistic adolescents and expand knowledge by focusing on the indirect associations through self-esteem. For this, the current study made use of existing data from the Millennium Cohort Study, a nationally representative UK-based birth cohort study. A mediation model was fitted to longitudinal data from a sample of 416 autistic adolescents aged 11, 14, and 17 years old who had at least one sibling. Findings indicated that sibling bullying was prevalent in the lives of autistic adolescents, especially in those who were late-diagnosed, had a shared bedroom, and lived in a low-income household. Additionally, increased sibling bullying in early adolescence was a significant predictor of reduced self-esteem in mid-adolescence; in turn, reduced self-esteem predicted poorer mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence through a reduction in self-esteem in mid-adolescence.

Lay Summary

Sibling bullying is prevalent in the lives of autistic adolescents and is shown to be associated with poor mental health. However, no previous research has investigated whether sibling bullying directly or indirectly predicts mental health difficulties. The current findings suggested that about 40% of autistic adolescents experienced sibling bullying at least once a week. In addition, the current findings indicate that being involved in sibling bullying indirectly increases the mental health difficulties of autistic adolescents by reducing their self-esteem.

Keywords. Autism, sibling bullying, self-esteem, mental health, wellbeing.

6.1 Introduction

Sibling relationships of autistic children are characterised by both positive and negative interactions. On the positive side, such siblings are reported to have less conflict and longer stability in their closeness as they age compared to non-autistic child families (Kaminsky & Dewey 2001; Orsmond et al. 2009). On the negative side, however, higher aggressive and disruptive behaviours have been observed among siblings in families of autistic children compared to other families (Mascha & Boucher, 2006). Such negative sibling relationships are likely to also include rivalry, jealousy, conflict, aggression, and bullying (Caspi, 2011; Edwards et al., 2006). Although rivalry, jealousy, and conflict are seen as normative parts of daily sibling interactions, consistent and frequent sibling conflict may lead to bullying which is a psychologically harmful form of violence (Olweus, 1984).

Sibling bullying is a form of intra-family violence. It is defined as frequent and repeated aggressive behaviours that intend to harm the weaker sibling physically, verbally, socially, or psychologically (Wolke et al., 2015). Sibling bullying is potentially the most prevalent form of violence in children's and adolescents' lives as nearly 50% report having been involved in sibling bullying, either as a bully, victim, or both (Deniz et al., 2022; Duncan, 1999; Toseeb et al., 2018; Wolke et al., 2015). Although sibling bullying has been found to be highly prevalent in both Western and non-western cultures, interestingly, reports from some countries, such as China, indicated lower rates of sibling bullying (10-20%) than the high prevalence in other countries (Liu et al., 2021 Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022). This indicates that there may be culture-level risk and protective factors of sibling bullying.

Some individual and family-level risk factors have been shown to be associated with sibling bullying. For example, individuals who are White, female, first-born, have a male sibling, have two or more siblings, and live in poverty are more likely to be victims of sibling bullying than those who are non-White, male, with no male sibling, have one only sibling, and live in high-income families (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019a; Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Liu et al., 2021; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018). Although having an older male sibling is suggested as a risk factor for sibling bullying (Bowes, 2014; Menesini et al., 2010), contradicting evidence also exists as Duncan (1999) reports that females are either equally or more likely to be perpetrators of sibling bullying compared to males. Hence, more research is needed to shed light on the interaction between sex and sibling bullying. Additionally, most of the evidence, in regard to individual and family-level precursors of sibling bullying, comes from the general population, therefore, more research is needed to test whether they apply to the autistic population.

Until recently, mental illness and wellbeing were considered two psychological constructs representing opposite ends of a linear spectrum. Recently, however, researchers have begun to draw a dividing line between mental illness and wellbeing, arguing that while they may be highly related, one does not mean the absence of the other (Keyes, 2005). Supporting this, the United Kingdom Department of Health (2014) published a report suggesting that mental illness and wellbeing are two distinct phenomena and that mental wellbeing is not simply the absence of mental illness. Additionally, using UK-based representative population cohort data, researchers have shown weak correlations between mental health difficulties and wellbeing (Patalay & Fitzsimons, 2016). They have also noted that mental illness and well-being have drastically different correlates, suggesting that these two terms should not be considered as ends of the same continuum, but as two separate, though related continua. Consistent with the recent trend, in this study, on the one hand, the term mental health is used to refer to individuals' internalising (i.e., emotional difficulties and peer problems) and externalising problems (i.e., conduct problems and hyperactivity/inattention) while on the other hand, well-being covers two main concepts:

hedonic (e.g., feeling good, subjective well-being) and *eudaimonic* (e.g., positive functioning) wellbeing (Clarke et al., 2010).

Self-esteem is briefly defined as a person's summary judgement of their own worth (Bailey II, 2003) and seems to be highly related to life satisfaction (Diener & Diener, 1995) and meaning in life (Steger et al., 2006). Previous studies, in the general and autistic populations, have shown that high levels of self-esteem are significantly correlated with low levels of mental health difficulties (McCauley et al., 2019; Moksnes & Reidunsdatter, 2019; van der Cruijsen & Boyer, 2021) and high levels of wellbeing (Corden et al., 2021; Mazurek, 2014; Moksnes & Reidunsdatter, 2019). However, the strong correlations between selfesteem and mental health and wellbeing do not indicate a causal relation. For instance, correlations between self-esteem and mental health and wellbeing appeared to be nonsignificant upon controlling for individual and family characteristics (Boden et al., 2008). On this, some researchers suggest that self-esteem is not part of mental health or wellbeing, but it is rather a potential correlate of both psychological constructs (Orth et al., 2012). As such, self-esteem has repeatedly been tested as a mediator factor in the associations between various predictor factors and mental health and wellbeing outcomes (Kurtović et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2013; Urzúa et al., 2018). Hence, in the present study, self-esteem is considered a distinct construct that potentially relates to both mental health and wellbeing, but it is not necessarily an indicator of either psychological phenomenon.

There is a link between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing in the general population. Sibling bullying is associated with high levels of anxiety and depression (Bowes, 2014; Duncan, 1999; Liu et al., 2020), psychological distress and self-harm (Wolke et al., 2015), internalising and externalising problems (Buist & Vermande, 2014; Coyle et al., 2017; Tucker et al., 2013), and poor wellbeing (Toseeb & Wolke, 2021). These associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing appear to be comparable

irrespective of the sibling bullying role (i.e., the victim or the bully) (Toseeb & Wolke, 2021). Therefore, there is an abundance of evidence demonstrating a link between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing in the general population.

Although autistic children are more likely to be involved in sibling bullying than nonautistic children (Toseeb et al., 2018), only a handful of research has focused on the associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing in autistic individuals. Autistic adolescents who are involved in sibling bullying in early adolescence show more internalising and externalising problems in early- and mid-adolescence, compared to those who are not involved in sibling bullying (Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). Irrespective of bullying roles (i.e., victim-only, bully-only, bully-victim), autistic adolescents who are involved in sibling bullying show greater internalising problems than non-involved ones. However, autistic adolescents who are perpetrators of bullying (bully-only) show significantly higher externalising problems than victims and bully-victims (Toseeb et al., 2020a). No study to date has investigated the associations between sibling bullying in early adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents. Therefore, the long-term implications of sibling bullying on the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents remain unclear.

Studies on sibling bullying and self-esteem in the general population are scarce. In one study, sibling violence was associated with lower levels of self-esteem in Singaporean youths (Gan & Tang, 2020). Nevertheless, the study findings relied on retrospective reporting of sibling violence from samples of youths aged 18-25 years old. This does not tell us much about the associations during early- and mid-adolescence. Additionally, a UK-based longitudinal study found that consistently high sibling bullying victimisation at age 11 years predicted lower levels of self-esteem at age 14 years (Sharpe et al., 2021). In the same sample, adolescents who were either victims or bully-victims of sibling bullying at age 11 years had lower self-esteem at age 17 years compared to non-involved adolescents (Toseeb & Wolke, 2021). These findings suggest that sibling bullying in early adolescence, irrespective of the bullying role, is associated with lower levels of self-esteem in mid-and lateadolescence. However, there has been no systematic investigation of the longitudinal association between sibling bullying and self-esteem in autistic adolescents.

6.1.1 The Current Study

Previous studies suggest direct links between sibling bullying and self-esteem; sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing; and self-esteem and mental health and wellbeing (e.g., Sharpe et al., 2021; Toseeb et al., 2020a; van der Cruijsen & Boyer, 2021). Although no evidence exists in the sibling bullying literature, two recent studies have suggested that self-esteem is a significant mediator in the associations between peer victimisation and mental health in Chinese children and adolescents (Zhong et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2022). The strong correlation between sibling and peer bullying (Wolke et al., 2015) points out that self-esteem may as well be a significant mediator between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing. Despite this, no study to date has tested whether self-esteem is a significant mediator of whether sibling bullying is an indirect correlate, through self-esteem, of poor mental health and wellbeing has remained unanswered.

The existing literature suggests that different types of sibling bullying (i.e., victimisation and perpetration) are differently correlated with self-esteem and mental health and wellbeing in adolescents, though the existing evidence is inconsistent. For instance, a recent study on autistic adolescents suggests that bullies of sibling bullying show greater externalising problems than victims or bully-victims of sibling bullying (Toseeb et al., 2020a). A recent study in the general population, however, indicates that victims or bully-victims of sibling bullying show poorer mental health and wellbeing than bullies of sibling bullying than bullies of sibling bully the perpendicules that victims than bullies of sibling bully the perpendicules that bullies of sibling bully the perpendicules that bully the perp

bullying (Toseeb & Wolke, 2021). Further evidence, from the general as well as the autistic population, demonstrates that different types of sibling bullying involvement (i.e., victimisation and perpetration) exert different effects on the mental health of those involved (Bowes et al., 2014; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019b; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). No studies to date have tested the associations between different types of sibling bullying and wellbeing in autistic adolescents.

Although there has been growing interest in researching sibling bullying and its correlates, the existing evidence comes primarily from the general population, while little knowledge exists in the autistic population. Additionally, the nature of the associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing (i.e., direct or indirect) has remained unknown. Finally, it is not yet clear how differing types of sibling bullying involvement (i.e., victimisation and perpetration) correlate with mental health and wellbeing in autistic adolescents. To address this knowledge gap, the current study aimed to 1) report the prevalence and individual – and family-level correlates of sibling bullying, 2) test the potential mediator role of self-esteem in mid-adolescence in the longitudinal associations between sibling bullying in early adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence, and 3) report whether the associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing differ based on the type of sibling bullying involvement (i.e., sibling bullying victimisation and sibling bullying perpetration) in autistic adolescents. In doing so, the current study proposes the following research questions and hypotheses:

Research Questions

RQ1: What is the prevalence of sibling bullying in autistic adolescents? RQ2: What are the individual – and family–level correlates of sibling bullying in autistic adolescents? RQ3: Does sibling bullying in early adolescence directly predict mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence?

RQ4: Does sibling bullying in early adolescence directly predict self-esteem in midadolescence?

RQ5: Does self-esteem in mid-adolescence directly predict mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence?

RQ6: Does self-esteem mediate the associations, if any, between sibling bullying in early adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence? RQ7: Do different types of sibling bullying experiences, victimisation and perpetration, correlate differently with mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents?

Hypotheses

 $H_{1:}$ Autistic adolescents with higher rates of sibling bullying in early adolescence would show poorer mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence compared to those with lower rates of sibling bullying in early adolescence.

H_{2:} Autistic adolescents with higher rates of sibling bullying in early adolescence would show lower levels of self-esteem in mid-adolescence compared to those with lower rates of sibling bullying in early adolescence.

 $H_{3:}$ Higher rates of self-esteem in mid-adolescence would be associated with better mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents.

H_{4:} Self-esteem in mid-adolescence would significantly mediate the longitudinal associations between sibling bullying in early adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Ethics Statement

The current study made use of existing data from the Millennium Cohort Study (MCS), which were accessed through the UK Data Service (2020). The MCS is a nationally representative UK-based cohort study. In the MCS, children born between 2000 and 2002, and their families, were recruited to the study when the children were 9 months old and subsequently followed at ages 3, 5,7, 11, 14, and 17 years. Local ethical approval for data collection was granted by relevant ethics committees (Full details are available <u>here</u>).

6.2.2 Sampling Autistic Adolescents

For the analyses reported here, primarily, data collected during adolescence (11, 14, and 17 years of age) were used. However, demographic information from the earlier waves was also used to determine sample demographics. Data from ages 11, 14, and 17 years were merged yielding 13,234 unique observations. The three-wave data sets were then labelled as follows: early adolescence (T1) when adolescents were 11 years old, mid-adolescence (T2) when they were 14 years old, and late adolescence (T3) when they were 17 years of age.

When the child was 5, 7, 11, and 14 years old, parents were asked: "Has a doctor or other health professional ever told you that your child had autism, Asperger's syndrome, or other autistic spectrum disorder?". Those individuals whose parents responded yes at any one of the time points were identified as autistic. This yielded a sample of 450 autistic adolescents. Those without any siblings at ages 11 and 14 were removed (n=34) which yielded an overall sample of 416 eligible autistic adolescents.

6.2.3 Measures

Sibling Bullying. At age 11 (T1) and 14 years (T2), adolescents self-reported their sibling bullying experiences by responding to a two-item sibling bullying questionnaire

(SBQ): (1) "How often do you hurt or pick on your brothers or sisters on purpose?", and (2) "How often do your brothers or sisters hurt you or pick on you on purpose?". The SBQ is a six-point Likert-type scale scored as follows: 0=never, 1=less often, 2=every few months, 3=about once a month, 4=about once a week, 5=most days. In the SBQ, these two items were combined to generate a sibling bullying variable in which higher scores mean increased rates of sibling bullying. Additionally, a well-accepted cut-off value, about once a week (Dantchev et al., 2019; Deniz et al., 2022), was specified to report the prevalence of sibling bullying. That is, participants who were victimised by a sibling or those who bullied a sibling at least once a week were categorised as *involved* in sibling bullying. The Cronbach's alpha values for the sibling bullying measure were good at two-time points (T1 α =.77; T2 α = .80).

Self-esteem. In the MCS, participants' self-esteem was measured using the five-item (positively worded) version of the Rosenberg Self-Esteem scale (RSE; Rosenberg, 1965). The adolescents self-reported their self-esteem on a four-point scale (0=strongly disagree, 1=disagree, 2=agree, 3=strongly agree). The items were: (1) "I feel that I am a person of worth, at least on an equal plane with others", (2) "I feel that I have a number of good qualities", (3) "I am able to do things as well as most other people", (4) "I take a positive attitude toward myself.", (5) "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself". Overall self-esteem scores were generated by summing the responses to all items ranging from zero to 15 with higher scores indicating higher levels of self-esteem. The RSE had good to high internal consistency at both time points (T1 α =.75; T2 α =.89).

Mental Health. When the adolescents were 17 years old (late adolescence), internalising and externalising problems were measured using the self-report Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; Goodman, 1997). The SDQ is a widely used mental health screen. Responses to 20 items are answered on a three-point scale (0=not true, 1=somewhat*true*, and 2=certainly true); higher scores indicated increased mental health difficulties. The items are divided into four subscales; emotional problems, peer problems, conduct problems, and hyperactivity. In line with the scoring guidelines (sdqinfo.org), emotional problems and peer problems subscales were combined to create an internalising problems scale. Similarly, conduct problems and hyperactivity subscales were summed to create an externalising problems scale. The SDQ showed excellent internal reliability (α =.82).

Wellbeing. The Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (S-WEMWBS; Tennant et al., 2007) was used to measure the wellbeing of adolescents when they were 17 years old (T3). The S-WEMWBS is a well-validated, reliable, and self-report instrument to assess the mental wellbeing of adolescents. The S-WEMWBS is a five-point Likert-type scale (1=none of the time, 2=rarely, 3=some of the time, 4=often, 5=all of the time) that consists of the following items: (1) "I have been feeling optimistic about the future", (2) "I have been feeling useful", (3) "I have been feeling relaxed", (4) "I have been dealing with problems well", (5) "I have been thinking clearly", (6) "I have been feeling close to other people", (7) "I have been able to make up my own mind about things". Responses to the items were summed to generate a total wellbeing score with higher scores indicating greater wellbeing. In addition, the total test scale of the 7-item S-WEMWBS was re-coded and adjusted to the 14-item test score to better reflect participants' wellbeing according to metrics provided in the scale's user guide (Stewart-Brown & Janmohamed, 2008). Detailed information regarding S-WEMWBS raw-score transformation can be found in Table S1 (Supplementary materials). In the present study, the S-WEMWBS had excellent internal consistency reliability (α =.80). Given that the score transformation is made at the scale level, not the item level, the internal consistency of the S-WEMWEBS is reported on the original scale.

6.2.4 Covariates

Potential covariates of sibling bullying were defined based on the existing empirical evidence and the availability of such variables in the MCS. More specifically, ethnicity, sex, number of siblings, birth order, and family income, have previously been found to be significant correlates of sibling bullying (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019a; Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Liu et al., 2021; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018). Hence, these variables were added as potential covariates of sibling bullying. Although no previous study has tested this, the current study also looked to see whether having a shared bedroom is a risk factor for sibling bullying, given that researchers have suggested that increased time spent together with limited personal space increases sibling conflict (Toseeb, 2022). These variables were also tested as potential covariates of other model variables (i.e., self-esteem, internalising and externalising problems, and wellbeing) if significant bivariate correlations were found.

At various time points, primary caregivers were asked to report a range of demographic information, such as the cohort member's ethnicity (0=Non-White, 1=White), sex (0=Female, 1=Male), number of siblings (0= One-only sibling, 1= Two or more siblings), and whether they had their own bedroom (0=No, 1=Yes). They also reported the family income (0= Above average OECD, 1= Below average OECD). Although not measured directly, birth order and late autism diagnosis variables were derived based on relevant reported information in the dataset:

Birth Order. When the child was 9 months old, parents were asked to report the number of siblings their child had. Based on this, children were labelled as "first-born" if they had no siblings at 9 months of age and "second or later born" if they had at least one.

Late Diagnosis. When the child was 5, 7, 11, and 14 years old, parents were asked whether their child was diagnosed with autism by a doctor or other health professional.

Adolescents were categorised as late diagnosed if their parent responded "No" when they were aged 5 years old, and "Yes" at any later time point (7, 11, or 14).

6.2.5 Statistical Analyses

The main aims of the analyses presented in this study were to: a) report the prevalence and demographic correlates of sibling bullying, b) explore the correlations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing, and c) test the mediator role of self-esteem in the associations between sibling bullying and negative and positive mental health. All statistical analyses were conducted on STATA/ MP 17 (Stata Corp., 2019).

First, descriptive statistics were produced to report the characteristics of the sample and the prevalence of sibling bullying. All descriptive statistics were performed on the multiply imputed data set using the *mi estimate* command. Second, Point Biserial (PBIS) correlation was used to determine the bivariate correlations among dummy coded demographic characteristics and discrete model variables (e.g., sibling bullying). Based on the PBIS matrix, the significant correlates of interest variables were identified as control covariates of interest variables in the proposed mediation model. Third, due to the nonnormal distribution in some interest variables, Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to report the zero-order correlations between sibling bullying and other model variables (i.e., self-esteem, internalising and externalising problems, and wellbeing. Fourth, a structural equation model (SEM) was fitted to test the direct and indirect effects of sibling bullying on mental health and wellbeing. Indirect effects were reported using the MEDSEM package in STATA (Mehmetoglu, 2018). A Monte Carlo simulation was fitted to replicate the MEDSEM findings on randomly generated samples (N=5000) to correct potential biases in parameter estimations.

Sensitivity Analyses. In the current study, the main analyses tested the mediating role of self-esteem in the associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing.

208

However, the current study also aimed to test whether different types of sibling bullying involvement, sibling bullying victimisation, sibling bullying perpetration, and overall sibling bullying, correlate differently with self-esteem, mental health, and wellbeing in autistic adolescents. For this, sensitivity analyses were conducted by replacing the overall sibling bullying (i.e., victimisation and perpetration combined) predictor variable with victimisation and perpetration. Any differences in the direct and indirect correlations, as well as in the mediation results are reported alongside the main model.

Missing Data. Prior to handling missing data, the missingness pattern in the dataset was evaluated to test whether the prerequisites for handling missing data were met. According to Rubin (2004), missing data can be handled if the missingness pattern in the dataset is missing at random (MAR), meaning that the missingness is not predicted by observed values in interest variables. For this, a binary variable *missingness pattern (0=No missing values, 1=At least 1 missing value in any observation)* was constructed. Furthermore, a multiple logistic regression analysis was conducted to test whether this variable – missingness pattern – was predicted by observed values in demographics (i.e., gender, ethnicity) or model variables (i.e., sibling bullying, self-esteem, mental health, wellbeing). The logistic regression indicated that the missingness pattern in the dataset was not predicted by any observed values in the demographic or interest variables. Detailed information regarding the missing at-random test can be seen in Table S2 (Supplementary materials).

Upon exploration of the missingness pattern in the dataset (MAR), missing values were handled using two advanced statistical techniques: multiple imputations by chained equations (MICE) and maximum likelihood with missing values (MLMV). In fitting MICE, predictive mean matching (PMM) was used to generate 50 multiply imputed datasets following a pre-made suggestion that "the number of imputed datasets (m) should be greater than the highest proportion of missingness" in interest variables (Van Buuren, 2018). The PMM was chosen over the regress method, as the regress option produced imputations outside scale ranges (e.g., negative values). Following this, the multiply imputed datasets were used to report descriptive statistics. Finally, the full information maximum likelihood (FIML) algorithm was used in the SEM analyses to handle missing values and maximise the sample power. More information regarding the number of missing and imputed values in interest variables is outlined in Table S3 (Supplementary materials).

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Sample Characteristics

At time 1, the mean age of the participants was 11.20 years, 88% were White, 78% were males, 59% were second or later-born (had at least one older sibling), 53% had two or more siblings, 69% had their own bedroom, 80% had a late autism diagnosis, and 34% were from low-income households. Overall, 62% of autistic adolescents self-reported being involved in sibling bullying at least once a week in early adolescence. Of these, 40% bullied their siblings, while 58% were victimised by their siblings. In addition, most autistic adolescents, who were involved in sibling bullying, were bully-victims (59%), while far fewer were victim-only (35%) or bully-only (6%). More information regarding sibling bullying roles by demographic characteristics can be seen in Table S4 (Supplementary materials).

6.3.2 Demographic Correlates of Interest Variables

Point biserial correlations (see Table 1) indicated that participants who were latediagnosed had a shared bedroom, and lived in a low-income household were more likely to be involved in sibling bullying than those who were early diagnosed, owned a bedroom, and lived in a high-income household. Although no other demographics were associated with sibling bullying, some demographics were correlated with other interest variables. For example, autistic adolescents who were White, female, early-diagnosed, and had an older sibling had lower self-esteem than others. Additionally, those who were White, female, earlydiagnosed, and lived in low-income households had poorer mental health and wellbeing than those who were non-White, male, late-diagnosed, and lived in high-income households. More details can be found in Table 1.

Prior to the test of the mediation, the current study looked to see whether the prehypothesised model meets the pre-existing mediation conditions (i.e., significant path a and path b) by testing zero-order correlations between the interest variables (see Table 2). Spearman's correlation matrix showed significant associations between sibling bullying in early adolescence and self-esteem in mid-adolescence (path a), and between self-esteem in mid-adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence (path b). There were, however, no concurrent associations between sibling bullying and self-esteem in early adolescence, while they were significantly and negatively correlated in mid-adolescence. Additionally, lower levels of self-esteem in early adolescence increased the risk for sibling bullying involvement in mid-adolescence. These findings confirmed that the prehypothesised model met the pre-determined mediation conditions.

Table 1 (6.1)

	Mean	Std. dev.	Sibling Bullying (T1)	Self-esteem (T2)	Internalising Problems (T3)	Externalising Problems (T3)	Wellbeing (T3)
Ethnicity	.88	.32	.09	15**	.07	.11*	07
Sex	.78	.41	03	.30***	31***	05	.01
Late diagnosis	.81	.38	.14**	.13**	05	15**	.10*
Birth order	.59	.49	01	14**	.08	04	08
Number of siblings	.53	.49	.07	.04	.01	.01	02
Own bedroom	.68	.46	.11*	01	.07	.04	.06
Family income	.33	.47	.11*	02	.18***	.11*	13**

Point Biserial Correlations between the Potential Covariates and Interest Variables (N=416)

Note: *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001. Ethnicity: 0=Non-White, 1=White; Sex: 0=Female, 1=Male; Late diagnosis: 0=No, 1=Yes; Birth order: 0= First-born, 1= Second-or later-born; Number of siblings: 0= One-only sibling, 1= Two or more siblings; Own bedroom: 0= No, 1= Yes; Family income: 0= Above average OECD, 1= Below average OECD. Positive values indicate higher rates of sibling bullying, increased internalising and externalising problems, and better self-esteem and wellbeing.

Table 2 (6.2)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1- Sibling Bullying (T1)	_						
2- Sibling Bullying (T2)	.42***	-					
3- Self-Esteem (T1)	.01	11*	_				
4- Self-Esteem (T2)	22***	21***	.44***	_			
5- Internalising Problems (T3)	01	.25***	14**	29***	_		
6- Externalising Problems (T3)	.24***	.41***	20***	35***	.42***	_	
7- Wellbeing (T3)	08	27***	.20***	.38***	47***	50***	_
Mean	5.18	3.81	16.27	15.49	7.61	7.37	21.17
Standard deviation	3.29	2.94	2.39	2.56	3.01	3.07	3.32

Zero-order Correlations between the Interest Variables (Spearman's R_s , N=416)

Note. *p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001. Higher scores indicate higher rates of sibling bullying, increased internalising and externalising problems, and better self-esteem and wellbeing.

6.3.3 Path Analyses

Upon meeting the pre-determined mediation conditions, the hypothesised mediation model was tested with the significant demographic covariates of interest variables (see Table 1). The model was also controlled for individuals' pre-existing self-esteem levels (early adolescence). The aim of the latter was to test whether individuals' self-esteem in midadolescence is predicted by their pre-existing self-esteem levels or their sibling bullying experiences. This study attempted to control the model for sibling bullying in midadolescence, however, this created a suppression effect and an inconsistent mediation due to sibling bullying in mid-adolescence acting as a reversed signed second mediator alongside self-esteem in mid-adolescence. To overcome this suppression effect, sibling bullying in mid-adolescence was later removed from the model, as it was not a variable of interest in the originally proposed mediation model. The pre-hypothesised SEM, which controlled for significant covariates, as well as self-esteem in early adolescence, provided a good model fit and explained a significantly large proportion of variance in the dependent variables: χ^2 (38) = 40.38, χ^2 (p)=.365, RMSEA = 0.012, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.99, CD= 0.63.

The SEM path analysis (see Table 3) showed that increased sibling bullying in early adolescence was significantly and directly associated with reduced self-esteem in midadolescence. Additionally, reduced levels of self-esteem in mid-adolescence were significantly and directly correlated with increased internalising and externalising problems and decreased wellbeing in late adolescence. Finally, internalising and externalising problems were concurrently and positively associated, both of which, in turn, were negatively correlated with wellbeing in late adolescence. That is, autistic adolescents with high levels of internalising problems in late adolescence showed high externalising problems and poor wellbeing in late adolescence, and vice versa. Sibling bullying in early adolescence was not a direct correlate of internalising and externalising problems or wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents. Additionally, lower levels of self-esteem in early adolescence were not directly associated with higher internalising and externalising problems or poorer wellbeing in late adolescence. That is, sibling bullying and self-esteem may not have prolonged direct effects on the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents.

The Sobel test (see Table 4) suggested that, instead of a direct link, there may be an indirect link between sibling bullying and internalising and externalising problems and wellbeing in autistic adolescents. More specifically, the mediation analysis indicated that sibling bullying in early adolescence was indirectly linked to increased internalising and

externalising problems and wellbeing in late adolescence through a reduction in self-esteem in mid-adolescence in autistic adolescents. All mediations were complete, that is, self-esteem fully mediated the associations between sibling bullying in early adolescence, mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents. The mediation model is illustrated in Figure 1.

Table 3 (6.3)

SEM Paths	(N=41	5,
-----------	-------	----

Standardised	β	SE	Z	р	95% CI
Direct Pathways					
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Sibling Bullying (T2)	.39	.05	7.38	<.001	.28, .49
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	16	.05	-2.92	.004	26,05
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	19	.09	-2.04	.041	38,01
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.02	.08	0.27	.787	14, .19
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.06	.07	0.91	.365	07, .20
Sibling Bullying (T2) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	.21	.10	2.12	.034	.02, .40
Sibling Bullying (T2) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.34	.08	4.03	<.001	.18, .51
Sibling Bullying (T2) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	19	.07	-2.69	.007	32,05
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	.39	.05	7.70	<001	.29, .49
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Sibling Bullying (T2)	09	.06	-1.63	.104	21, .02
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	02	.10	-0.17	.864	22, .18
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	06	.09	-0.74	.462	24, .11
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.01	.07	0.13	.897	14, .16
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	30	.10	-3.05	.002	49,10
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	27	.08	-3.30	<.001	43,11
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.30	.07	4.56	<.001	.17, .44
Concurrent Associations					
Sibling Bullying (T2) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Self-Esteem (T2)	10	.06	-1.65	.098	22, .02
Externalising Problems (T3) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Wellbeing (T3)	46	.07	-6.45	<.001	61,32
Internalising Problems (T3) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Wellbeing (T3)	56	.10	-5.25	<.001	78,35
Externalising Problems (T3) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Internalising Problems (T3)	.82	.15	5.65	<.001	.54, 1.11
Coverietes					
Ethnicity \rightarrow Sibling Bullying (T1)	.08	.06	1.49	.137	03, .20
Late Diagnosis \rightarrow Sibling Bullying (T1)	.13	.06	2.22	.026	.01, .24
Own Bedroom \rightarrow Sibling Bullying (T1)	11	.05	-2.03	.042	21,01
Family Income → Sibling Bullying (T1)	.10	.05	1.85	.064	01, .21
Sex \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	.24	.05	5.01	<.001	.15, .34
Birth order \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	15	.05	-2.77	.006	25,04
Sex \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	26	.07	-4.99	<.001	51,22
Family income \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	.24	.08	2.80	.005	.07, .41
Family income \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.09	.07	1.24	.215	05, .24
Ethnicity \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.02	.07	0.35	.725	11, .16
Family income \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	13	.06	-2.13	.033	24,01

Factor Loadings

Internalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow	Emotional Problems (T3)	.67	.07	9.58	<.001	.53, .80
Internalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow	Peer Problems (T3)	.43	.06	6.74	<.001	.31, .56
Externalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow	Conduct Problems (T3)	.64	.05	11.97	<.001	.53, .74
Externalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow	Hyperactivity (T3)	.75	.05	14.25	<.001	.64, .85

Table 4 (6.4)

Mediation Results (n=415)

	Standardised Coefficients			Sobel Test				
Mediation Pathways	X -> M	M -> Y	X -> Y	Ind. eff.	Std. err.	Z	р	95% CI
	$\beta(p)$	$\beta(p)$	$\beta(p)$					
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	158	301	196*	.048	.023	2.11	.035	.01, .09
\rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	(.004)	(.002)	(.041)					
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	158	272	.023	.043	.020	2.18	.029	.01, .09
\rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	(.004)	(<.001)	(.787)					
Sibling Bullying (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	158	.306	.068	048	.020	-2.45	.014	09,01
\rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	(.004)	(<.001)	(.365)					

Note. *Results that are different from the hypothesised mediation model.

Figure 1 (6.1)

The Hypothesised Model Mediation Results



Note. The solid black arrows represent significant positive interactions, the solid red arrows represent significant negative interactions, and the dotted arrows represent non-significant paths. The model controls for self-esteem (T1), however, it is not illustrated in the graph for clarity purposes. Additionally, paths between demographic covariates and interest variables (i.e., self-esteem, internalising and externalising problems, and wellbeing) are not shown for clarity purposes. However, their path coefficients are outlined in Table 3. Blue Highlighted: Main interest variables. Yellow highlighted: Control (covariate) variables. Ethnicity: 0=Non-White, 1=White; Sex: 0=Female, 1=Male; Late Diagnosis: 0=No, 1=Yes; Birth Order: 0= First-born, 1= Second-or later-born; Own Bedroom: 0= No, 1= Yes; Family Income: 0= Above Average OECD, 1= Below Average OECD. Positive values indicate higher rates of sibling bullying, increased internalising and externalising problems, and better self-esteem and wellbeing.

6.3.4 Covariates (Mediation)

The mediation model also controlled for potential covariates. For this, potential demographic correlates of sibling bullying (i.e., ethnicity, sex, birth order, number of siblings, own bedroom, and family income) were tested as risk factors in the proposed model, regardless of whether they showed a significant bivariate correlation with sibling bullying in PBIS matrix (Table 1). Additional paths were added between demographic variables and other model variables (i.e., self-esteem, internalising and externalising problems, and wellbeing) where significant correlations were found in PBIS matrix (see Table 1). The path analysis showed that being diagnosed late with autism was the only significant covariate of sibling bullying in early adolescence when tested with all other demographic variables. That is, ethnicity, sex, birth order, number of siblings, having own bedroom, and family income were not significant correlates of sibling bullying in early adolescence. Additionally, despite their bivariate correlations, being White, late diagnosed, and living in a low-income household were no longer significant correlates of externalising problems in late adolescence upon testing with other model variables. Similarly, being late-diagnosed with autism was no
longer a direct correlate of wellbeing in late adolescence upon tested in the mediation model, though low family income was still a significant correlate of poorer wellbeing in late adolescence Finally, no changes were observed in the significant correlates of internalising problems between the PBIS matrix (Table 1) and SEM paths (Table 3). That is, females and those who lived in low-income households showed higher internalising problems than males and those living in high-income households.

6.3.5 Sensitivity Findings

Two separate SEMs were fitted for sensitivity purposes to replicate the findings of the hypothesised mediation model by replacing sibling bullying in early adolescence (predictor) with victimisation and perpetration. Both sensitivity models provided good model fits: Sensitivity SEM-1= Model Fit= $\chi 2$ (35) = 39.28, $\chi 2$ (p)=.284, RMSEA = 0.017, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.98, CD= 0.61; Sensitivity SEM-2= $\chi 2$ (35) = 38.09, $\chi 2$ (p)=.330, RMSEA = 0.01, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.98, CD= 0.63. Sensitivity analysis path coefficients can be seen in Tables S5 and S6 (Supplementary materials).

The sensitivity findings were almost identical to the original mediation findings. In summary, sensitivity models suggested that, regardless of the sibling bullying role (i.e., being a victim or perpetrator), being involved in sibling bullying in early adolescence reduced selfesteem in mid-adolescence and, in turn, reduced self-esteem, increased internalising and externalising problems, and reduced wellbeing in late adolescence. Similar to the original model, there were no direct correlations between the predictor (i.e., sibling bullying victimisation or sibling bullying perpetration in early adolescence) and outcome variables (i.e., internalising and externalising problems and wellbeing in late adolescence). This indicates that self-esteem in mid-adolescence fully mediated the longitudinal associations between sibling bullying victimisation or perpetration in early adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents. Detailed information regarding sensitivity mediation findings can be seen in Table S7 (Supplementary materials).

Although there were no differences in path analysis between the sensitivity and original models, some differences were observed in the demographic correlates of sibling bullying. For example, the original model indicated that being late diagnosed with autism was the only significant correlate of sibling bullying in early adolescence. Sensitivity findings indicated that autistic adolescents who were late-diagnosed with autism were more likely to bully their siblings, but were not more prone to be victimised by their siblings. Additionally, although the original model suggested no other covariates of sibling bullying in early adolescence, the sensitivity models showed that autistic adolescents who were White and had a shared bedroom were more likely to be victimised by their siblings than those who were non-White or had their own bedroom. That is, regardless of sibling bullying role — victimisation or perpetration— individuals who were involved in any type of sibling bullying in early adolescence, victimisation or perpetration, showed similar trajectories of self-esteem and mental health and wellbeing in middle and late adolescence. Despite this, the precursors of sibling bullying seemed to vary depending on the bullying role.

6.4 Discussion

This study has been the first to examine the longitudinal associations between sibling bullying, self-esteem, mental health, and wellbeing from early to late adolescence in autistic adolescents. Consistent with past reports, from the general and autistic populations, the current study found that sibling bullying was highly prevalent in the lives of autistic adolescents as about 40% reported bullying a sibling and 58% reported being victimised by a sibling at least *about once a week* (Deniz et al., 2022; Duncan, 1999; Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a; Wolke & Samara, 2004; Wolke & Skew, 2012). This finding also supports an earlier argument suggesting that sibling bullying may be the most prevalent form

of violence in adolescents' lives (Hoetger et al., 2015; Krienert & Walsh, 2011; Wolke & Skew, 2012). Additionally, for the first time, the current findings indicated that self-esteem in mid-adolescence is a significant mediator between sibling bullying in early adolescence and mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents.

6.4.1 Demographic Correlates

Many researchers have suggested that having a male sibling is a risk factor for sibling bullying (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a, 2020b; Tucker et al., 2013, 2014). However, no significant correlations were found between sibling bullying and sex in the present study. Although the current findings contradict some previous reports, there is also inconsistency in the existing literature in terms of the relationship between sex and sibling bullying. For instance, while some researchers suggested that males are more likely to be perpetrators of sibling bullying (Menesini et al., 2010) others disagreed suggesting that females are either equally or more likely to be perpetrators of sibling bullying than males (Duncan, 1999). Additionally, Tippett and Wolke (2015) suggested that males are more likely to be victims as well as perpetrators of bullying compared to females. Moreover, while Tucker et al. (2013) found higher rates of sibling bullying between male-male sibling pairs than otherwise formed sibling pairs such as malefemale, Wolke and Skew (2011) found higher rates of bully-victims in families formed with mixed siblings (males-females) than otherwise formed families (i.e., brothers-only or sistersonly). That is, although previous studies draw an association between sex and sibling bullying, the existing evidence, including the current study findings, is inconsistent regarding the role of sex in sibling bullying. Hence, more research is needed to clarify the relations between siblings' sex composition and sibling bullying.

Less controversial, but still inconsistent, most of the existing evidence suggests that being the first-born and having two or more siblings increase the likelihood of being involved in sibling bullying (Bowes et al., 2014; Dantchev et al., 2018; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a, 2020b; Tucker et al., 2013, 2014). However, there are also opposing arguments in the literature. For instance, some researchers have found that first-born children are more likely to be both victims and bullies of sibling bullying than second or laterborns (Tippett & Wolke, 2015). Additionally, a recent report has shown that adolescents with one-only sibling had higher rates of sibling bullying than those with two or three or more siblings (Deniz et al., 2023). Adding to this inconsistency in the literature, no correlations were found between sibling bullying, victimisation and perpetration, and birth order or number of siblings. Hence, given that most of the existing evidence comes from the general population, more studies are needed to shed light on the role of birth order and the number of siblings in families of autistic adolescents.

Previous research has reported that coming from a White ethnic background is a risk factor for increased sibling bullying (Dantchev et al., 2018; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013, 2014). The present study found no correlations between ethnicity, number of siblings, birth order and sibling bullying in autistic adolescents. However, White autistic adolescents were more likely to be victimised by their siblings, but not to bully their siblings, than non-Whites. That is, autistic children who live in families from White ethnic backgrounds may be at increased risk for being bullied by their siblings, but may not be more likely to be perpetrators of bullying. This well aligns with a recent report, as Toseeb et al. (2020b) have also found that White adolescents are at increased risk of being a victim (i.e., victim-only) but not a perpetrator (i.e., bully-only) of sibling bullying. Perhaps, this may be because non-White families are more inclined to protect their autistic child during sibling conflict and bullying situations than White families (Deniz et al., 2023).

For the first time, the current study found that autistic adolescents who were latediagnosed with autism were at an increased risk for being involved in sibling bullying compared to those with an early autism diagnosis. The sensitivity models showed that this correlation was related to bullying a sibling but not being victimised by a sibling. That is, autistic adolescents who were late diagnosed with autism were more likely to bully their siblings than those who were early diagnosed. Given that females are more likely to be late-diagnosed with autism than males (Milner et al., 2023) this may potentially place autistic females at a relatively higher risk of involvement in sibling bullying than autistic males.

Similarly, for the first time, the current study explored that autistic adolescents who shared a bedroom with their siblings were more likely to be involved in sibling bullying than those who had their own bedrooms. Again, the sensitivity models showed that this was linked to bullying a sibling but not being victimised by a sibling. That is, autistic adolescents who shared a bedroom with their siblings were more likely to bully their siblings than those who had their own bedrooms. They were not, however, more likely to be victimised by their siblings than those who had their own bedrooms. One could argue that sharing a bedroom potentially prepares the best possible ground for sibling bullying as it increases the time spent together with no or low parental supervision, which increases the risk for sibling conflict and bullying (Monks et al., 2009; Wolke et al., 2015; Toseeb, 2022). It could also be argued that sharing a bedroom may potentially increase the risk of being involved in sibling bullying due to a lack of personal space and privacy (Stadheim et al., 2022). Given that sharing a bedroom increased the risk of bullying a sibling, but not being victimised by a sibling, one might argue that autistic adolescents may tolerate their siblings less than being tolerated by their siblings. Future researchers would benefit from replicating the current literature-leading findings suggesting that sharing a bedroom may be a risk factor for sibling bullying perpetration in autistic adolescents. Researchers would also benefit from replicating the current findings in non-autistic populations.

The existing literature on the relationship between low family income and sibling bullying has largely remained inconsistent in the past years. While some researchers found no correlations between sibling bullying and low family income (Dirks et al., 2019; Toseeb et al., 2020b), one study reported negative correlations (Toseeb et al., 2018). The present study, however, found significant correlations between sibling bullying and low family income which is consistent with previous reports (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Liu et al., 2021; Tippett & Wolke, 2015). This finding is also backed up by the resource control theory which suggests that coercive behaviour, in this context of bullying, takes place to gain or maintain control over limited resources (Salmon & Hehman, 2014). However, upon controlling for all other individual risk factors, family income was no longer correlated with increased sibling bullying. The current sensitivity findings also showed no significant correlations between subtypes of sibling bullying (victimisation and perpetration) and family income. This demonstrates that the inconsistency in the literature regarding the link between family income and sibling bullying may be due to the confounding effects of other risk factors. Thus, more research is needed to understand whether sibling bullying is more common in low-income families compared to high-income families upon controlling for other individual - and family-level risk factors.

In regard to the covariates of other interest variables, the current findings were somewhat congruent and somewhat inconsistent with the available literature. Consistent with the existing literature (Toseeb et al., 2018; Tucker et al., 2013), the current findings showed that autistic adolescents who were female and lived in low-income households had poorer mental health compared to males and those living in high-income households. They also indicated that autistic adolescents who lived in low-income households had poorer wellbeing compared to others, which also well aligns with a previous report (Toseeb & Asbury, 2022). Additionally, aligning with the previous reports, the current study found that female autistic adolescents and those who had older siblings were at increased risk for lower self-esteem than those without any older siblings (Corden et al., 2021; Fukuya et al., 2021). Although there is some evidence that somewhat contradicts the current findings, as some researchers have found no correlations between sex and self-esteem (Adkins, 2003; Arwert & Sizoo, 2020; Cooper et al., 2021), this evidence primarily comes from either autistic adults or the general population, while little is known about the demographic correlates of self-esteem in autistic adolescents. Thus, more research is needed to support or disprove the current findings, as the existing literature on which to base the current findings is weak.

6.4.2 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health and Wellbeing

The current findings rejected H₁ suggesting that sibling bullying involvement in early adolescence does not directly predict increased internalising and externalising problems and poorer wellbeing in late adolescence in autistic adolescents. The current findings do not align with an abundance of previous reports which indicated significant direct associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing (Bowes et al., 2014; Buist & Vermande, 2014; Coyle et al., 2017; Duncan, 1999; Liu et al., 2020; Mathis & Mueller, 2015; Plamondon et al., 2021; Tucker et al., 2013; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a; Toseeb & Wolke, 2021; Wolke et al., 2015). Perhaps one of the main reasons for this inconsistency may be that the current study findings indicated causal associations (i.e., mediation model), whereas the contradicting previous evidence indicated correlations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing without any causal inferences. Additionally, the current findings are based on the long-term longitudinal associations between sibling bullying and mental health, while some previous reports only focused on concurrent or proximal associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing. Supporting this argument, a recent report which tested the causal links (i.e., mediation) also found no direct links between sibling victimisation and internalising problems in adolescents (Fite et al., 2022). That is, although

most of the evidence in the literature indicates that sibling bullying is correlated with poorer mental health and wellbeing, the nature of this association may be indirect.

6.4.3 Sibling Bullying and Self-Esteem

In favour of H₂, aligning with the existing literature, the current findings suggested that autistic adolescents who had higher sibling bullying rates in early adolescence had lower levels of self-esteem in mid-adolescence (Plamondon et al., 2021; Sapouna & Wolke, 2013; Sharpe et al., 2021; Sherman et al., 2006; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013; Toseeb & Wolke, 2021), compared to those with lower rates of sibling bullying in early adolescence. Again, aligning with previous findings (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019b) based on zero-order correlations, i.e., not causal, high levels of self-esteem in early adolescence may serve as protective factors against subsequent sibling bullying involvement in mid-adolescence in autistic adolescents. Hence, it could be argued that increased rates of sibling bullying appear to be direct risk factors for reduced levels of self-esteem later in life and high levels of self-esteem seem to prevent experiencing sibling bullying later in life in autistic adolescents. Hence, promoting the self-esteem of autistic adolescents may reduce the risk of sibling bullying involvement for such individuals.

6.4.4 Self-Esteem, Mental Health, and Wellbeing

Backing H₃, autistic adolescents who had lower self-esteem in mid-adolescence showed higher internalising and externalising problems and poorer wellbeing in late adolescence compared to those with higher levels of self-esteem. The former finding well aligns with the previous reports, from the general population, as self-esteem has often been found as a negative correlate of internalising and externalising problems (Boyes et al., 2020; Cooper et al., 2017; Fernandes et al., 2021), and a positive correlate of wellbeing (Cooper et al., 2017; Corden et al., 2021; Padhy et al., 2011; Poudel et al., 2020). Although not hypothesised, there were no direct prolonged effects of self-esteem in early adolescence on internalising and externalising problems in late adolescence in autistic adolescents. This, perhaps, could be related to the development course of self-esteem as researchers have reported that self-esteem drops significantly when transitioning from childhood to adolescence (Harter, 2015). That is, high levels of self-esteem in middle adolescence, but not in early adolescence, may protect the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents in late adolescence.

Confirming H₄, higher rates of sibling bullying in early adolescence predicted reduced self-esteem in mid-adolescence. In turn, reduced self-esteem in mid-adolescence predicted poorer mental health wellbeing in autistic adolescents in late adolescence. The current findings extended the previous knowledge beyond past studies (Sharpe et al., 2021; Toseeb & Wolke, 2021) and, for the first time in the literature, suggested that self-esteem significantly mediates the associations between early sibling bullying involvement and later mental health difficulties and poorer wellbeing in autistic adolescents. The current findings also suggest that both being victimised by a sibling and bullying a sibling have similar deteriorating impacts on the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents.

6.4.5 Strengths and Limitations

A major strength of this study is the use of a sample of autistic adolescents that is drawn from a UK-based representative cohort study. The longitudinal and representative nature of the data increased the chance of generalisability of the results to western populations. Furthermore, the use of the well-known and widely used psychometric scales increased the validity and reliability of the reported results. Moreover, the use of advanced statistical techniques to handle missing data further minimised the bias estimates of the parameters and increased the sample power.

There were also limitations. For instance, although the current study used a nationally representative sample of adolescents in the UK, the sample consisted of predominantly male

participants (78%). Although recent figures still show that males are three to four times more likely to be diagnosed with autism, the ongoing debates indicate that females may be underrepresented in both autism research and diagnosis. Future researchers would benefit from a better representation of females. Moreover, the low power in the female sample further prevented us from conducting a multi-group SEM to test the potential effects of sex~late autism diagnosis (i.e., late diagnosed females) interaction in the associations between sibling bullying, self-esteem, and internalising problems. Furthermore, whilst the use of wellvalidated psychometric scales is the one strengths of the study, the measure of sibling bullying is based on single-item victimisation and perpetration questions. Future researchers should make use of multi-item sibling bullying scales to increase the sensitivity of the measure. Another limitation of the study is the type of self-report scales that were used to report sibling bullying, mental health, and wellbeing of the autistic participants. Since the sample was drawn from a nationally representative cohort study, none of the scales that were used was specifically developed for autistic individuals which raises concerns over the sensitivity of the findings. Additionally, the lack of information regarding siblings' age, gender, and autistic characteristics, which could serve as potential covariates, was another limitation. Finally, it is important to note that the current models did not control for other types of bullying and victimisation, especially peer bullying, which hold the potential to confound the associations reported in this study.

6.4.6 Conclusions and Implications

In conclusion, the current findings show that sibling bullying is highly prevalent in the lives of autistic adolescents as nearly one in two autistic adolescents experience sibling bullying about once a week. Additionally, instead of a direct link, sibling bullying involvement in early adolescence is indirectly correlated with poor mental health and wellbeing in late adolescence through a reduction in self-esteem in a mid-time-point (i.e., mid-adolescence) in autistic adolescents.

Regarding implications, the current findings suggest that sibling bullying is not a routine, part of daily sibling interaction and hence it should be considered a serious form of violence that deteriorates the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents. Hence, there is an immediate need for sibling bullying prevention programmes in families of autistic adolescents as early prevention of sibling bullying is likely to protect the self-esteem, and therefore, the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents. Finally, where delivering sibling bullying interventions is not feasible, due to them taking place behind closed doors and most children not disclosing such experiences to their parents or others, interventions targeting the self-esteem of such individuals are likely to further protect their subsequent mental health and wellbeing from the detrimental effects of sibling bullying.

 Adkins, K. L. (2003). Predicting self-esteem based on perceived parental favoritism and birth order. [Master's Dissertation, East Tennessee State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

https://www.proquest.com/openview/4e599f897a8b1543e784e34d847eda41/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

Arwert, T. G., & Sizoo, B. B. (2020). Self-reported suicidality in male and female adults with autism spectrum disorders: rumination and self-esteem. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *50*(10), 3598-3605.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04372-z

- Bailey 2nd, J. A. (2003). The foundation of self-esteem. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 95(5), 388.
- Boden, J. M., Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2008). Does adolescent self-esteem predict later life outcomes? A test of the causal role of self-esteem. *Development and psychopathology*, 20(1), 319-339. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579408000151
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032-e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Boyes, M. E., Leitão, S., Claessen, M., Badcock, N. A., & Nayton, M. (2020). Correlates of externalising and internalising problems in children with dyslexia: An analysis of data from clinical casefiles. *Australian Psychologist*, 55(1), 62-72.

https://doi.org/10.1111/ap.12409

Buist, K. L., & Vermande, M. (2014). Sibling relationship patterns and their associations with child competence and problem behavior. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(4), 529.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0036990

- Caspi, J. (2011). *Sibling aggression: Assessment and treatment*. Springer Publishing Company. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/car.2290</u>
- Clarke, A., Putz, R., Friede, T., Ashdown, J., Adi, Y., Martin, S., ... & Platt, S. (2010).
 Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS) acceptability and validation in English and Scottish secondary school students (The WAVES Project) Glasgow. *NHS Health Scotland*.
- Cooper, K., Smith, L. G., & Russell, A. (2017). Social identity, self-esteem, and mental health in autism. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 47(7), 844-854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2297</u>
- Cooper, R., Cooper, K., Russell, A. J., & Smith, L. G. (2021). "I'm proud to be a little bit different": The effects of autistic individuals' perceptions of autism and autism social identity on their collective self-esteem. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *51*(2), 704-714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04575-4
- Corden, K., Brewer, R., & Cage, E. (2021) Personal Identity After an Autism Diagnosis:
 Relationships With Self-Esteem, Mental Wellbeing, and Diagnostic Timing. *Front. Psychol.* 12:699335 <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.699335</u>
- Coyle, S., Demaray, M. K., Malecki, C. K., Tennant, J. E., & Klossing, J. (2017, December). The associations among sibling and peer-bullying, social support and internalizing behaviors. In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (Vol. 46, No. 6, pp. 895-922). Springer US. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-017-9412-3</u>
- Dantchev, S., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2018). Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: a prospective cohort study. *Psychological medicine*, 48(14), 2321-2328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291717003841</u>
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019a). Sibling bullying at 12 years and high-risk behavior in early adulthood: A prospective cohort study. *Aggressive behavior*, *45*(1), 18-32.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21793

- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019b). Trouble in the nest: Antecedents of sibling bullying victimization and perpetration. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(5), 1059. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/dev0000700
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *10*, 651.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651
- Deniz, E., Derinalp, P., Gulkanat, I., Kaz, C., Ozhan, N., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents: translation and cross-cultural validation of the sibling bullying questionnaire. *Journal of Family Violence*, *38*(2), 379-392.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-022-00360-2
- Deniz, E., Asbury, K., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Relationships and Parental Interventions to Sibling Bullying During Covid-19: A Qualitative Comparison of British and Turkish Families of Autistic Adolescents. <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/nqez3</u>
- Department of Health. (January 2014). *The Relationship Between Wellbeing and Health*. Accessed on:

- Diener, E., & Diener, M. (1995). Cross-cultural correlates of life satisfaction and selfesteem. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 68(4), 653. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.68.4.653
- Dirks, M. A., Recchia, H. E., Estabrook, R., Howe, N., Petitclerc, A., Burns, J. L., ... &
 Wakschlag, L. S. (2019). Differentiating typical from atypical perpetration of siblingdirected aggression during the preschool years. *Journal of child psychology and*

psychiatry, 60(3), 267-276. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12939

- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extrafamilial bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *14*(8), 871-886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Edwards, R., Hadfield, L., Lucey, H., & Mauthner, M. (2006). *Sibling identity and relationships: Sisters and brothers*. Routledge.
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2009). A push or a punch: Distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *24*(1), 183-208.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298</u>
- Fernandes, B., Newton, J., & Essau, C. A. (2021). The Mediating Effects of Self-Esteem on Anxiety and Emotion Regulation. *Psychological Reports*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294121996991</u>
- Fite, P. J., Cooley, J. L., Tampke, E. C., Hesse, D. R., & Doyle, R. L. (2022). The Role of Emotion Dysregulation in the Links Between Sibling Victimization and Internalizing Symptoms in Middle Childhood. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 44(2), 560-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-022-09956-w</u>
- Fukuya, Y., Fujiwara, T., Isumi, A., & Ochi, M. (2021). Association of birth order with mental health problems, self-esteem, resilience, and happiness among children: results from a-CHILD study. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 472.
- Gan, K. Q., & Tang, C. S. K. (2020). Sibling violence and psychological adjustment: the role of maladaptive coping and maternal authoritativeness. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520917510</u>
- Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. *Journal of child psychology and psychiatry*, *38*(5), 581-586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x</u>

- Harter, S. (2015). *The construction of the self: Developmental and sociocultural foundations*.Guilford Publications.
- Hoetger, L. A., Hazen, K. P., & Brank, E. M. (2015). All in the family: A retrospective study comparing sibling bullying and peer bullying. *Journal of Family Violence*, *30*(1), 103-111. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-014-9651-0
- Kaminsky, L., & Dewey, D. (2001). Siblings relationships of children with autism. Journal of autism and developmental disorders, 31(4), 399-410. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010664603039
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2005). Mental Illness and/or Mental Health? Investigating Axioms of the Complete State Model of Health. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(3), 539–548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.3.539</u>
- Krienert, J. L., & Walsh, J. A. (2011). My brother's keeper: A contemporary examination of reported sibling violence using national level data, 2000–2005. *Journal of Family Violence*, 26(5), 331-342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-011-9367-3</u>
- Kurtović, A., Vuković, I., & Gajić, M. (2018). The effect of locus of control on University
 Students' Mental Health: possible mediation through self-esteem and coping. *The Journal of psychology*, 152(6), 341-357.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2018.1463962

- Lee, J. S., Joo, E. J., & Choi, K. S. (2013). Perceived stress and self-esteem mediate the effects of work-related stress on depression. *Stress and Health*, 29(1), 75-81. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2428
- Lehnhardt, F. G., Falter, C. M., Gawronski, A., Pfeiffer, K., Tepest, R., Franklin, J., & Vogeley, K. (2016). Sex-related cognitive profile in autism spectrum disorders diagnosed late in life: implications for the female autistic phenotype. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 46(1), 139-154. <u>doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2558-7</u>

- Libster, N., Knox, A., Engin, S., Geschwind, D., Parish-Morris, J., & amp; Kasari, C. (2022). Personal victimization experiences of autistic and non-autistic children. *Molecular autism*, 13(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-022-00531-4</u>
- Liu, X., Peng, C., Yu, Y., Yang, M., Qing, Z., Qiu, X., & Yang, X. (2020). Association between sub-types of sibling bullying and mental health distress among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *11*, 368. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00368
- Liu, X., Wolloh Ii, M. G., Lin, X., Qiu, X., Qing, Z., Wang, W., ... & Lu, D. (2021). The association between sibling bullying and psychotic-like experiences among children age 11–16 years in China. *Journal of affective disorders*, 284, 31-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073</u>
- Mascha, K., & Boucher, J. (2006). Preliminary investigation of a qualitative method of examining siblings' experiences of living with a child with ASD. *The British Journal of Development Disabilities*, 52(102), 19-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1179/096979506799103659</u>
- Mathis, G., & Mueller, C. (2015). Childhood sibling aggression and emotional difficulties and aggressive behavior in adulthood. *Journal of Family Violence*, 30(3), 315-327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-015-9670-5
- Mazurek, M. O. (2014). Loneliness, friendship, and well-being in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, *18*(3), 223-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312474121</u>
- McCauley, J. B., Harris, M. A., Zajic, M. C., Swain-Lerro, L. E., Oswald, T., McIntyre, N., ... & Solomon, M. (2019). Self-esteem, internalizing symptoms, and theory of mind in youth with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 48(3), 400-411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2017.1381912</u>
- Mehmetoglu, M. (2018). Medsem: A Stata package for statistical mediation analysis. *International Journal of Computational Economics and Econometrics*, 8(1), 63-78.

https://doi.org/10.1504/IJCEE.2018.10007883

Menesini, E., Camodeca, M., & Nocentini, A. (2010). Bullying among siblings: The role of personality and relational variables. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 921-939. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151009X479402

Milner, V., Mandy, W., Happé, F., & Colvert, E. (2023). Sex differences in predictors and outcomes of camouflaging: Comparing diagnosed autistic, high autistic trait and low autistic trait young adults. *Autism*, 27(2), 402-414.
https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221098240

- Moksnes, U. K., & Reidunsdatter, R. J. (2019). Self-esteem and mental health in adolescents– level and stability during a school year. *Norsk Epidemiologi*, 28(1-2). <u>https://doi.org/10.5324/nje.v28i1-2.3052</u>
- Monks, C. P., Smith, P. K., Naylor, P., Barter, C., Ireland, J. L., & Coyne, I. (2009). Bullying in different contexts: Commonalities, differences and the role of theory. *Aggression and violent behavior*, *14*(2), 146-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2009.01.004</u>
- Nowell, K. P., Brewton, C. M., & Goin-Kochel, R. P. (2014). A multi-rater study on being teased among children/adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and their typically developing siblings: associations with ASD symptoms. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 29(4), 195-205.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357614522292

- Orsmond, G. I., Kuo, H. Y., & Seltzer, M. M. (2009). Siblings of individuals with an autism spectrum disorder: Sibling relationships and wellbeing in adolescence and adulthood. *Autism*, 13(1), 59-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361308097119</u>
- Orth, U., Robins, R. W., & Widaman, K. F. (2012). Life-span development of self-esteem and its effects on important life outcomes. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *102*(6), 1271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025558</u>

- Padhy, M., Rana, S., & Mishra, M. (2011). Self esteem and subjective wellbeing: Correlates of academic achievement of students. *Research Journal of Social Science & Management*, 1(7), 148-156.
- Patalay, P., & Fitzsimons, E. (2016). Correlates of mental illness and wellbeing in children: are they the same? Results from the UK Millennium Cohort Study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 55(9), 771-783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2016.05.019
- Peng, C., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Cheng, J., Qiu, X., & Liu, X. (2022). Co-occurrence of sibling and peer bullying victimization and depression and anxiety among Chinese adolescents: The role of sexual orientation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 131, 105684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105684</u>
- Plamondon, A., Bouchard, G., & Lachance-Grzela, M. (2021). Family dynamics and young adults' well-being: The mediating role of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, *36*(9-10), NP5362-NP5384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518800313</u>
- Poudel, A., Gurung, B., & Khanal, G. P. (2020). Perceived social support and psychological wellbeing among Nepalese adolescents: the mediating role of self-esteem. *BMC psychology*, 8(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-020-00409-1</u>
- Qing, Z., Ma, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). Prevalence and associated family factors of sibling bullying among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4169. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.892598</u>
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Rosenberg self-esteem scale (RSE). Acceptance and commitment therapy. Measures package, 61(52), 18.
- Rowley, E., Chandler, S., Baird, G., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Loucas, T., & amp; Charman, T. (2012). The experience of friendship, victimization and bullying in children with an autism spectrum disorder: Associations with child characteristics and school

placement. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(3), 1126-1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2012.03.004

- Olweus, D. (1984). Aggressors and Their Victims: Bullying at School. In N. Frude, & H. Gault (Eds.), Disruptive Behavior in Schools (pp. 57-76). New York: Wiley.
- Salmon, C. A., & Hehman, J. A. (2014). The evolutionary psychology of sibling conflict and siblicide. *The evolution of violence*, 137-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-9314-</u> <u>3_8</u>
- Sapouna, M., & Wolke, D. (2013). Resilience to bullying victimization: The role of individual, family and peer characteristics. *Child abuse & neglect*, 37(11), 997-1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.05.009</u>
- Seals, D., & Young, J. (2003). Bullying and victimization: prevalence and relationship to gender, grade level, ethnicity, self-esteem, and depression. *Adolescence*, *38*(152).
- Sharpe, H., Fink, E., Duffy, F., & Patalay, P. (2021). Changes in peer and sibling victimization in early adolescence: longitudinal associations with multiple indices of mental health in a prospective birth cohort study. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01708-z
- Sherman, A. M., Lansford, J. E., & Volling, B. L. (2006). Sibling relationships and best friendships in young adulthood: Warmth, conflict, and well-being. *Personal Relationships*, 13(2), 151-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2006.00110.x</u>
- Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(8), 1726-1736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512468327</u>
- Stadheim, J., Johns, A., Mitchell, M., Smith, C. J., Braden, B. B., & Matthews, N. L. (2022).
 A qualitative examination of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and adolescents with autism and their parents. *Research in developmental disabilities*, *125*, 104232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2022.104232</u>

- StataCorp. (2021). Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC.Steger, M. F., Frazier, P., Oishi, S., & Kaler, M. (2006). The meaning in life questionnaire: assessing the presence of and search for meaning in life. Journal of counseling psychology, 53(1), 80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.53.1.80</u>
- Stewart-Brown, S., & Janmohamed, K. (2008). Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale. *User guide. Version*, *1*.
- Stewart-Brown, S., Tennant, A., Tennant, R., Platt, S., Parkinson, J., & Weich, S. (2009).
 Internal construct validity of the Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale
 (WEMWBS): a Rasch analysis using data from the Scottish health education population
 survey. *Health and quality of life outcomes*, 7(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-7-15
- Tebartz van Elst, L., Pick, M., Biscaldi, M., Fangmeier, T., & Riedel, A. (2013). Highfunctioning autism spectrum disorder as a basic disorder in adult psychiatry and psychotherapy: psychopathological presentation, clinical relevance and therapeutic concepts. *European archives of psychiatry and clinical neuroscience*, 263(2), 189-196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-013-0459-3
- Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., Weich, S., ... & Stewart-Brown, S. (2007). The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of life Outcomes*, 5(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-5-63</u>
- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggressive behavior*, 41(1), 14-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum

disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 48(7), 2308-2318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2

- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *50*(5), 1457-1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Precursors of sibling bullying in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *108*, 104633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633</u>
- Toseeb, U., Wolke, D. (2021). Sibling Bullying: A Prospective Longitudinal Study of Associations with Positive and Negative Mental Health during Adolescence. *J Youth Adolescence*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01495-z</u>
- Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling conflict during COVID-19 in families with special educational needs and disabilities. *British journal of educational psychology*, 92(1), 319-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12451</u>
- Toseeb, U., & Asbury, K. (2022). A longitudinal study of the mental health of autistic children and adolescents and their parents during COVID-19: Part 1, quantitative findings. *Autism*, 13623613221082715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613221082715</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. (2013). Association of sibling aggression with child and adolescent mental health. *Pediatrics*, 132(1), 79-84. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-3801
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014). Family dynamics and young children's sibling victimization. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(5), 625–633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000016</u>
- UK Data Service. (2020, March 16). Data catalogue. Accessed 16.03. 2020.

https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue

Urzúa, A., Ferrer, R., Godoy, N., Leppes, F., Trujillo, C., Osorio, C., & Caqueo-Urízar, A. (2018). The mediating effect of self-esteem on the relationship between perceived discrimination and psychological well-being in immigrants. *PloS one*, *13*(6), e0198413. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198413

Van Buuren, S. (2018). Flexible imputation of missing data. CRC press.

van der Cruijsen, R., & Boyer, B. E. (2021). Explicit and implicit self-esteem in youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 25(2), 349-360.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320961006

- Wolke, D., & Samara, M. M. (2004). Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 45(5), 1015-1029. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-</u> 7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x
- Wolke, D. & Skew, A. (2012). Bullying among siblings. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 24 (2012), pp. 17-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh.2012.004</u>
- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2011). Family factors, bullying victimisation and wellbeing in adolescents. *Longitudinal and Life Course Studies*, 3(1), 101-119. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.14301/llcs.v3i1.165</u>
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917-929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X</u>
- Yang, P., Zhao, S., Li, D., Ma, Y., Liu, J., Chen, X., & French, D. (2022). Bullying victimization and depressive symptoms in Chinese adolescents: a moderated mediation model of self-esteem and friendship intimacy. *Journal of affective disorders*, *319*, 48-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.09.038

Zablotsky, B., Bradshaw, C. P., Anderson, C. M., & Law, P. (2014). Risk factors for bullying

among children with autism spectrum disorders. Autism, 18(4), 419-427.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361313477920

Zhong, M., Huang, X., Huebner, E. S., & Tian, L. (2021). Association between bullying victimization and depressive symptoms in children: The mediating role of self-esteem. *Journal of affective disorders*, 294, 322-328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.07.016</u>

Chapter 7: Study IV: Sibling Relationships and Parental Interventions to Sibling Bullying During Covid-19: A Qualitative Comparison of British and Turkish Families of Autistic

Adolescents

Emre Deniz^{1*}, Kathryn Asbury¹, Umar Toseeb¹

¹ Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK

Correspondence: Correspondence regarding this article should be addressed to Emre Deniz,

Department of Education, University of York, York YO10 5DD, UK, email:

emre.deniz@york.ac.uk.

Financial Disclosure: The authors have no financial disclosure relevant to this article.

Funding Source: This study has been conducted as a part of a PhD study that is fully funded by the Republic of Turkey Ministry of National Education, Directorate-General for Higher and Foreign Education.

Declaration of Conflicting Interests: The authors declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Citation

Deniz, E., Asbury, K., & Toseeb, U. (2023). Sibling Relationships and Parental Interventions to Sibling Bullying During Covid-19: A Qualitative Comparison of British and Turkish Families of Autistic Adolescents. <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/nqez3</u> (**Under revision-**Journal of Autism and Developmental Language Impairments).

Abstract

Background and aims: Despite its high potential for affecting sibling relationships, few studies have explored the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on this important family dynamic. Of these, the reported evidence has been inconsistent across cultures and lacks cross-cultural comparability. For the first time, the current study investigated cross-cultural variability in the impact of Covid-19, and the restrictions associated with it, on sibling relationships of autistic adolescents from a Western (United Kingdom) and non-Western (Turkey) country. The current study also explored how British and Turkish parents intervene in negative sibling interactions – i.e., sibling bullying –when witnessed.

Methods: Parents of 164 British and 96 Turkish autistic adolescents, aged 9-20 years, were asked how they perceived the effects of Covid-19 on their children's sibling relationships, and how they were most likely to react to instances of sibling bullying. Free response data from parents were analysed using qualitative content analysis.

Results: The current findings indicated more cross-cultural similarities than differences between British and Turkish families. The majority of both British and Turkish parents indicated that Covid-19 worsened sibling relationships between their autistic and non-autistic children. An overwhelming majority of British and Turkish parents also said that they would step in directly when witnessing sibling bullying. Despite the high volume of cross-cultural similarities generally, some cross-cultural differences were also found, for instance in relation to the most common negative impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships and the most preferred parental responses to sibling bullying.

Conclusions and implication: Implications and suggestions are discussed in more detail, drawing on the Etic approach to cross-cultural psychology.

7.1 Introduction

Nearly all families around the globe had to abide by nationwide lockdowns, stay-athome orders, school closures, and social distancing rules during the Covid-19 pandemic. This social disruption, without proper support in place, brought profound challenges for intrafamily relationships such as increased parental stress and burnout, marital conflict, and parent-child conflict (Asbury et al., 2021; Horton et al., 2022; Russell et al., 2020). Such deteriorations in intra-family relationships were projected to have a spillover impact on sibling relationships (Prime et al., 2020). Similarly, some researchers predicted that the increased proximity of siblings during the pandemic (Perkins et al., 2021) and reduced parental supervision (Fontanesi et al., 2020) would increase negative sibling interactions such as sibling violence. Confirming what Prime et al. (2020) projected, researchers have indeed found deteriorated sibling relationships with strong links to negative intra-family relationships during the pandemic (Horton et al., 2022). Additionally, aligning with Perkins et al.'s (2021) predictions, researchers have found that the pandemic increased daily sibling conflict and sibling violence among children and youth due to increased proximity, i.e., increased time together, of siblings (Salmon et al., 2022; Stadheim et al., 2022; Toseeb, 2022). That is, Covid-19-related social disruptions and their immediate consequences for intra-family relationships have had profound impacts on sibling relationships.

7.1.1 Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships in Families with an autistic child

The deteriorating impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships may have been particularly prominent in some families where additional challenges were in place, for example, families with one or more autistic children. Families with autistic children appear to have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic for reasons including autistic children's resistance to changes in routines, urgent needs for education and therapies, and intense child-care responsibilities for parents (Asbury & Toseeb, 2023; Bellomo et al., 2020). Such a disproportionate impact on the lives of autistic children and their families meant there were likely to be heightened risks for experiencing negative intra-family relationships (Degli Espinosa et al., 2020) which could then lead to negative sibling relationships (Prime et al., 2020). Confirming this, researchers have reported increased sibling fights, rivalry, and jealousy since the onset of the pandemic in families with autistic children (Stadheim et al., 2022; Tokatly Latzer et al., 2021; Toseeb, 2022¹). Those researchers have argued that changes in routines, challenges in remote education and therapy, increased parental stress, and increased time spent together at home heightened the risk of deteriorating impacts of the pandemic in such families.

Furthermore, given autistic individuals' emerging social interests during the transition from childhood to adolescence, pandemic-related social disruption may have been a particular challenge for families of autistic adolescents. It is suggested that the improvement in social communication skills from childhood to adolescence may trigger social interest and desires for peer interaction in autistic adolescents (Fecteau et al., 2003; McGovern & Sigman, 2005; Seltzer et al., 2003). Despite their increased peer interest during adolescence, autistic adolescents are less likely to see friends, get called by friends, and be invited to social activities with friends out of school compared to their non-autistic peers (Shattuck et al., 2011). That said, school is the primary source for autistic adolescents to socialise and interact with their peers. This means that school closures and confinement to the house during the pandemic potentially meant a sudden loss of full-scale peer interaction for autistic adolescents. Such social isolation felt to this extent may have triggered mental health problems in autistic adolescents such as anxiety, depression, and stress (Cage & McManemy, 2022), which have previously been reported as being associated with negative sibling interactions (Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). Thus, unmet social needs due to unprecedented

¹ This study had a sample of children and youth with special educational needs, mostly autistic (75%).

social isolation in families of autistic adolescents have made them more susceptible to the negative effects of the pandemic than other young people.

Also, families consisting of autistic and non-autistic siblings may have been more prone to the negative impact of the pandemic than those with autistic-only siblings. This argument is based on the homophily-effect theory which suggests that individuals prefer forming friendships and social relationships with people similar to themselves (Lazarsfeld & Merton, 1954). In support of this, researchers have reported that autistic individuals show a tendency in forming friendships based on propinquity (i.e., proximity) and homophily meaning that they prefer to be friends with autistic peers more than non-autistic peers (Black et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021). The reverse argument is also true; neurotypical² individuals may prefer forming friendships with neurotypical peers (Hoffmann et al., 2021). Perhaps the double-empathy problem³ (Milton, 2012) may be the leading cause of homophily-oriented friendships in these groups. Strengthening these arguments, the likelihood of experiencing negative peer interactions, such as bullying, is higher between autistic and non-autistic peers compared to autistic-autistic or autistic-SEN peers (Humphrey & Hebron, 2015; Maiano et al., 2016). Taken from here, families formed by autistic-non-autistic sibling pairs may have been at greater risk for experiencing negative sibling interactions during the pandemic than families of autistic-autistic sibling pairs.

Increased sibling conflict in autistic families during the pandemic (Stadheim et al., 2022; Tokatly Latzer et al., 2021; Toseeb, 2022) could evolve into a more harmful form of negative sibling interaction such as bullying (Hoetger et al., 2015; Wolke et al., 2015). Sibling bullying is defined as repeated aggressive behaviours that intend to harm the other sibling directly (i.e., physical bullying) or indirectly (i.e., social, relational, or psychological

² Individuals with typical neurological functioning.

³ The double empathy problem suggests a mutual failure between autistic and non-autistic individuals to take the perspective of the other.

bullying) (Wolke et al., 2015). It is potentially the most common form of violence in autistic adolescents' lives because it has been found that as many as one in two experience sibling bullying every week (Deniz & Toseeb, 2022; Toseeb et al., 2018). Hence, given that autistic adolescents already had high rates of sibling bullying prior to the onset of the pandemic, increased time together at home with limited space has potentially created fertile ground for daily sibling conflict and perhaps increased sibling bullying (Toseeb, 2022).

7.1.2 Sibling Relationships in Cross-Cultural Context During Covid-19

Covid-19 may have worsened sibling relations, and this effect could have varied across cultures due to differences in the strictness of governmental measures and culturespecific protective mechanisms. Supporting this, Foley et al (2021) have found a positive link between the stringency of Covid-19 measures and intra-family difficulties such as parentchild conflict. This multi-national study reported that families from the United States experienced greater social disruption than those from China. Based on the previously made argument, (Prime et al., 2020), American children may be expected to deteriorate more in sibling relations than Chinese ones. However, researchers have found no significant changes in sibling relationships in American families during the pandemic (Cassinat et al., 2021; Sun et al., 2021), while both improving and worsening impacts have been reported from Chinese families (Jiang et al., 2023; Tang et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2022). This indicates that there may be culture-level protective mechanisms that mitigated the negative impact of the pandemic on intra-family relationships. In this specific case, Foley et al. (2021) have argued that this was potentially due to the protective impact of the American families' unique daily family routines such as having family meals, doing family leisure activities, and following bedtime routines. That is, although the differences in the stringency of the pandemic measures are likely to lead to differing impacts of the pandemic on sibling relationships, culture-specific protective mechanisms might mitigate this impact.

The United Kingdom (UK) and Turkey, two culturally distanced countries (Hofstede Insights, 2023), differed in the severity and duration of the pandemic measures implemented. This means that families from the two cultures faced unequal levels of social disruption. As can be seen in Figure 1, the UK government imposed stricter and longer-term Covid-19 restrictions than the Turkish government; families in the UK entered their third nationwide lockdown while Turkish families were yet to enter their first nationwide lockdown. Given the greater social disruption faced by British families, British siblings may be expected to be more susceptible to the pandemic than Turkish siblings. The literature is extremely limited in this regard. However, evidence from both cultures suggests increased levels of negative sibling interactions during the pandemic (Sancili & Tugluk, 2021; Toseeb, 2022). More specifically, a recent cross-cultural comparison between British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents showed higher rates of sibling bullying in British families than in Turkish ones during the pandemic (Deniz & Toseeb, 2023). That is, families of autistic adolescents facing greater social disruptions have been more prone to the impact of the pandemic than others.

Figure 1 (7.1)



Timeline of Covid-19 Restrictions in the UK and Turkey

The Covid-19 Pandemic Timeline in The UK and Turkey

British and Turkish families show distinct family characteristics some of which could have influenced the way Covid-19, and restrictions associated with it, impacted sibling relationships. For instance, British mothers of autistic adolescents have, on average, higher educational attainment, are more likely to be in paid employment, and spend less time with their children than Turkish mothers which points towards potentially lower parental supervision in British families than in Turkish ones (Deniz & Toseeb, 2023). Additionally, a greater proportion of mothers in employment means higher rates of parentification – caregiving responsibilities of siblings – for British siblings compared to Turkish ones (Kosonen, 1996; Updegraff et al., 2011). Conversely, Turkish families are larger, have more children, and show higher rates of poverty than British families (OECD, 2023a, 2023b) which indicates lower familial resources and higher overcrowding rates in Turkish families than in British ones. Such family characteristics, in both cultures, are likely to serve, to some extent, as risk factors for negative sibling interactions (Bowes et al., 2014; Deniz & Toseeb, 2023; Dirks et al., 2019; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2020b; Tucker et al., 2014; Wolke et al., 2015). That said, family characteristics of British and Turkish parents are likely to mitigate, i.e., strengthen or weaken, the impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships.

British and Turkish families differ in parenting styles, which could have potentially impacted the way Covid-19 measures affected sibling relationships. For instance, in child disciplining, British parents prefer verbal communication and negotiations while Turkish parents tend to use physical punishment (Aytac et al., 2019). This could lead to differing parental responses to negative sibling interactions, such as conflict and bullying, which holds the potential to increase or decrease the likelihood of such actions being repeated. For instance, siblings in families where parents use punitive disciplinary techniques exhibit increasingly aggressive and hostile behaviours towards each other (Cicirelli, 2013). Given that Turkish parents show more negativity and apply disciplinary measures (e.g., punishment, verbal criticism) more often than British parents (Aytac et al., 2019; Gürmen & Kılıç, 2022), Turkish siblings might have been at a heightened risk for repeated sibling conflict, and bullying too, during the pandemic than British siblings.

7.1.3 The current study

The evidence suggests that Covid-19 has worsened sibling relations. There are growing concerns about the impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships in families of autistic adolescents with autistic-non-autistic sibling pairs. Within this particular group, sibling relationships in families living in countries with high levels of COVID-19-related restrictions may have been worsened above and beyond the deterioration felt in other cultures where milder restrictions were in place. However, this is not clear cut as the existence of culturespecific protective mechanisms might have mitigated the negative impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships in those cultures. Similarly, differing parental intervention styles to negative sibling interactions, such as bullying, could have influenced, i.e., strengthened or weakened, the impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships. Such lack of clarity makes it particularly important to investigate the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on sibling relationships and parents' intervention styles when faced with sibling bullying in families of autistic adolescents from two culturally distanced countries where Covid-19 measures were in place at different stringency. To bridge this knowledge gap, this study, for the first time, proposes a cross-cultural comparison of families of autistic adolescents from two distant cultures (the UK and Turkey) where Covid-19 measures were in place at different scales.

The current study had two aims. First, to investigate how British and Turkish parents perceived the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the relationships between their autistic and non-autistic children. Based on previous research (Stadheim et al., 2022; Tokatly Latzer et al., 2021; Toseeb, 2022), the current study expected to find worsened sibling relationships in both British and Turkish families during the pandemic. Given the differences in the

stringency of Covid-19 measures in both countries, more deteriorated sibling relationships were expected in British families compared to Turkish ones. Finally, it was predicted that both British and Turkish parents would report indices of sibling bullying during the pandemic *(e.g., constant physical harm, picking on each other)*. However, it was also expected that parents may not explicitly mention such instances as bullying due to most parents not perceiving such negative sibling interactions as bullying (Caffaro, 2013; Rypi, 2023; Skinner & Kowalski, 2013). Second, based on expectations towards the occurrence of sibling bullying indices during the pandemic, the current study aimed to investigate how British and Turkish parents intervene in sibling bullying when witnessed. According to a previous report (Aytac et al., 2019), the expectation was that Turkish parents would take more disciplinary measures than British parents when intervening in sibling bullying.

In performing the cross-cultural comparison, a commonly used cross-cultural psychological approach was adopted, i.e., *Etic*, which focuses on the presence or absence of between-culture variations on a psychological phenomenon (Kagitcibasi & Berry, 1989). That said, investigating potential causes of cross-cultural differences between the two cultures, *i.e. the Emic approach*, was not within the scope of the present study unless it was directly observed in the data. For example, in case Turkish parents are found to take disciplinary actions more often than British parents, as hypothesised, the reason why Turkish parents are more likely to take disciplinary actions than British parents will stay out of the scope of the study unless explicitly mentioned by parents. Therefore, following the Etic approach, the current study sought to answer two research questions: (1) Do British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents differ in terms of parents' perceptions of the impact of Covid-19 on their children's sibling relationships? and (2) Do British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents differ regarding parental intervention styles to sibling bullying?

7.2 Methods

7.2.1 Ethical Approval

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Department of Education Ethics Committee, University of York (Ref: FC20/2). Research permission was also sought from Turkey Ministry of National Education (Ref: b34d-55f1-3d4e-9ee4-6c65) to recruit participants from Turkish schools. All participants provided informed consent.

7.2.2 Sampling

The present study is part of a larger-scale project in which convenience sampling was used to recruit parents of autistic adolescents from the UK and Turkey. To participate in the study, families were required to meet the following criteria: *a) having an autistic child, b) the autistic child is between nine and 20 years of age⁴, c) having a non-autistic child, and d) both autistic and non-autistic child had been living in the same house in the preceding six months.* To determine whether the families met the first inclusion criteria (a), parents were asked to answer the following questions: "*Have any of your children been diagnosed with autism, Asperger's syndrome or autistic spectrum disorder?*" and "*What types of special education needs or disabilities does your child have?*". Those who answered *yes* to the former question or *autism spectrum conditions* to the latter question met the inclusion criteria.

An online survey, containing multiple-choice questionnaires, was distributed to parents of autistic adolescents using Qualtrics (Qualtrics, 2022). In cases where parents had more than one autistic or non-autistic child, they were asked to choose two siblings closest in age when answering the survey. All data were collected between February and September 2021. Detailed information regarding the national Covid-19 measures of both countries, during the data collection period, can be seen in Figure 1.

⁴This inclusion criterion was defined to recruit autistic adolescents. According to the World Health Organisation (2023), adolescence is the period of life between childhood and adulthood which covers ages 10 and 19. Since the current study was designed as a 1-year longitudinal study, the lower and upper age bounds were moved 1 year and set as 9 and 20 to maximise the sample power.

7.2.3 Participants

A total of 260 parents of autistic adolescents (British=164, Turkish=96) answered the open-ended questions, which constituted the sample for the present study. Sample characteristics are summarised below, and detailed information about siblings' demographics is shown in Table 1.

Table 1 (7.1)

	UK (n=164)		TR (n=87*)	
	Autistic	Non-autistic	Autistic	Non-autistic
Mean age (Years)	13.2	12.0	12.6	14.4
Boys n (%)	122 (74%)	76 (46%)	73 (84%)	45 (52%)
First-born n (%)	94 (57%)	47 (29%)	44 (51%)	31 (36%)
Full-biological siblings n (%)	145 (88%)		79 (91%)	
One only sibling n (%)	106 (65%)		60 (69%)	
Same-sex siblings n (%)	94 (57%)		51 (59%)	
Siblings mean time spent together (Pre-Covid) ⁵	4.5h		6.6h	
Siblings mean time spent together (After-Covid) ²	6.1h		7.4h	
Parent-child mean time spent together (Pre-Covid) ⁶	5.8h		8.1h	
Parent-child mean time spent together (After-Covid) ³	7.8h		9h	
Autistic Child School type-Mainstream n (%)	66 (40%)		40 (46%)	
Autistic Child School type-Special n (%)	82 (50%)		34 (39%)	
Autistic Child School type-Other n (%)	13 (8%)		12 (14%)	
Autistic Child School type-Not in education n (%)	3 (2%)		1 (1%)	
Full-time school attainment	114 (70%)	100 (61%)	57 (65%)	70 (80%)

Demographic Characteristics of Siblings by Country

Note. * Of 96 Turkish parents, 9 participants did not report any demographic information.

⁵ This represents time spent together between the autistic and non-autistic child

⁶ This represents time spent together between the parent and both children
The characteristics of the British and Turkish families were broadly similar. For British families, the majority of respondents were mothers (87%), White (90%), married (78%), and living in England (96%). In terms of their children, the majority of autistic adolescents were boys (74%), and the non-autistic siblings were approximately equally boys (46%) and girls (54%). The mean ages of autistic and non-autistic siblings were 13.2 years and 12 years, respectively. For Turkish families, the majority of respondents were mothers (90%), Turkic ethnicity (86%), and married (80%). A large proportion of Turkish parents were living in Marmara - Greater Istanbul – province (40%). As with the British sample, the majority of Turkish autistic adolescents (84%) were boys, and their siblings were approximately equally boys (52%) and girls (48%). The mean ages of Turkish autistic adolescents and their non-autistic siblings were 12.6 years and 14.4 years, respectively. In both cultures, less than 2% were out of formal education (i.e., not attending school).

Concerning sample differences, mostly representing mothers, more British parents (57%) had a college or above degree compared to Turkish ones (22%). Additionally, there were more working mothers in the British sample (68%) compared to the Turkish sample (22%). Finally, Turkish parents were spending more daily time with their children than British parents, both pre-pandemic (British=5.8 hours; Turkish=8.1 hours) and during the pandemic (British=7.8 hours; Turkish=9 hours).

7.2.4 Measures

Parents were asked to report their own as well as their children's demographic information. Additionally, they were also asked to answer two open-ended questions in regard to the impacts of Covid-19 on children's sibling relationships, and how parents respond to sibling bullying among their children. All questions were asked in the participants' native language (English or Turkish). All questions were translated into Turkish by the first author, a bilingual speaker of both languages. Although the term *bullying* in English has a literal translation in Turkish, *zorbalık*, to minimise the construct bias across two cultures, a broad definition for sibling bullying (see Q2) was provided using items from a well-constructed sibling bullying measure (Dantchev et al., 2019). Additionally, the existing literature indicates that parents tend to perceive sibling bullying incidents not as bullying due to the normalising discourse on the term sibling bullying and perhaps due to its very high prevalence (Wolke et al., 2015). Therefore, to be able to capture parents' responses and minimise attrition in this question, a semi-conditional sentence was used. That is, instead of asking parents their reaction to sibling bullying when witnessed, parents were asked how they react or would react when or *if t*hey witness sibling bullying.

Q1: "Please describe how the Covid-19 pandemic and school closures have been affecting the sibling relationships between your autistic child and their non-autistic sibling."

Q2: "Definition of sibling bullying: Sibling Bullying is when a sibling tries to upset the other one by saying nasty and hurtful things, or completely excluding [them] from their group of friends, hitting, kicking, pushing or shoving [them] around, telling lies or making up false rumours about [them].

Please describe how you react or would react when or if you witness sibling bullying between your autistic child and their non-autistic sibling."

7.2.5 Coding Frame and Analysis

When conducting multi-site qualitative research, Miles and Huberman (1994) recommend using a detailed, systematic, and shared coding scheme as well as joint analysis of data across sites for consistency purposes. This has been successfully applied in previous multi-site research as well as in cross-cultural qualitative studies (Osborn, 2001; Webb et al., 2004). Additionally, it is suggested that cross-cultural research should be conducted by researchers who are familiar with the language and culture they are studying (Niblo & Jackson, 2004). Thus, for consistency purposes, the entire coding and analysis procedures were carried out by the first author [ED], who is a bilingual speaker of Turkish and English and has lived in both cultural settings, using a single data-driven codebook. The second author [KA] assisted in the initial stages of the data coding process for the development of a codebook-based approach.

Codebook Approach. In the present study, the codebook approach was followed to systematically code the multi-site and multi-language data (MacQueen et al., 1998). As the first step, prior to the development of the codebook, the first author [ED] deeply engaged with the data by reading the text repeatedly, highlighting potentially relevant segments, and taking notes (Forman & Damschroder, 2007). Second, upon sufficient engagement with the data, a hybrid coding scheme (a combination of inductive and deductive coding approaches) was developed. Third, the data was split into three parts for the application of the hybrid coding scheme: 1) Batch-I (10% of the data), 2) Batch-II (10% of the data), and 3) Batch-III (80% of the data). In the fourth step, Batch-I data were coded following a data-driven coding scheme (i.e., inductive coding) where codes were freely produced and a codebook, with codes, definitions of codes, and exemplar quotes, was drafted. The codebook was then reviewed and revised by the second author [KA]. In the fifth step, the first author used the agreed codebook to code Batch-II data (i.e., deductive coding). At this stage, new codes were allowed to be freely produced. The Batch-II data coding process was also reviewed and agreed upon by the second author. As the final step, the first author deductively coded the rest of the data – Batch-III – using the latest version of the agreed codebook.

Qualitative Content Analysis. Following data coding, qualitative content analysis (QCA) was used to explore cross-cultural similarities and differences between families from the UK and Turkey. The QCA was chosen as the analytical method due to its advantages in analysing rich data that requires interpretation and in quantifying the qualitative findings in

multi-site comparisons such as cross-cultural comparisons (Bernard et al., 2016). It is described as a method for systematically analysing qualitative data to generate codes (manifests), group them under relevant subcategories, and combine those subcategories under higher-order latent meanings (categories) that may not be immediately obvious in texts (Schreier, 2012).

7.3 Results

The current study, aimed to answer two research questions. First, this study focused on how British and Turkish parents perceived the impact of Covid-19 on their children's sibling relationships (RQ1). Negative impacts of the pandemic on sibling relationships were expected to be found in both cultures. Furthermore, the current study expected to find increased sibling conflict as well as indices of sibling bullying in both cultures. More specifically, higher instances of sibling conflict were expected to be found in British families than in Turkish families. Second, the current study also looked into how British and Turkish parents intervene in sibling bullying when witnessed (RQ2). For this, Turkish parents were expected to take disciplinary actions more often than British parents. The findings are presented in two sections with each section corresponding to the relevant research question.

7.3.1 The Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships

To answer RQ1, three primary categories that correspond to the overall impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships of autistic adolescents were identified: *1*) *worsened*; *2*) *improved*; and *3*) *not affected*. As hypothesised, a negative impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships was found in both cultures, which was the most commonly reported impact of the pandemic (British=59%, Turkish=53%). Although not hypothesised, some parents, from both cultures, indicated a positive impact or no impact of the pandemic on sibling relations. Nearly a third of parents (British=33%; Turkish=31%) said that the pandemic had positive effects on sibling relationships. Finally, about one in five parents (British=18%,

Turkish=22%) indicated that Covid-19 did not affect the sibling relationships of autistic adolescents. In summary, the pandemic had three distinct impacts on the sibling relationships of autistic adolescents consistent across the two cultures. Despite the similar pattern found for the impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships in the two cultures, upon further investigation, additional cross-cultural differences were found in the way that Covid-19related factors formed an overall negative or positive impact. Findings are discussed below, and detailed information is outlined in Table 2 and Figure 2.

Table 2 (7.2)

	British (N=145) Freq (%)	Turkish (N=91) Freq (%)		British	Turkish
1. Worsened	<u>84 (59%)</u>	<u>49 (54%)</u>	Increased anger/temper	3	5
1.1. Cooped up	13	13	Increased resentment/frustration	3	0
Walled in	0	13	Increased stress	4	1
No alone time	7	1	Increased meltdowns	5	0
No space	6	0	Increased boredom	0	5
1.2. Struggled to get along	37	20	Withdrawn	2	4
Increased time together-Negative	9	2	2. Improved	<u>48 (33%)</u>	<u>28 (31%)</u>
Changes in routines-Negative	1	4	2.1. Improved mood	6	0
Increased tension	5	2	No outside triggers	5	0
Decreased patience	10	3	Less stressful	3	0
Strained relationships	5	1	2.2. Attached more	32	15
Increased aggression	2	5	Better relationships	15	7
Increased reliance or controlling	8	2	Brought them closer	18	6
1.3. Distanced	18	17	Cared more	4	3
Worse relationships	9	16	2.3. Increased positive interactions	20	17
Loss of sibling interest	10	1	Studied together	4	1
1.4. Increased sibling conflict	53	11	Chatted more	4	1
Argued more	15	2	Played more	7	4

Impacts of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships: Codes, Subcategories, and Categories

1.5. Negative emotions	11	13			
Verbal abuse	4	1	Got along well	4	2
Physical abuse	6	4	Same as before	22	18
Irritated/annoyed more	15	1	3. Not affected	<u>26 (18%)</u>	<u>20 (22%)</u>
Fought more	11	3	Spent more time together	9	10
Conflicted more	16	2	More shared activities	6	4

Figure 2 (7.2)

The Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships



259

7.3.1.1 Covid-19 Worsened Sibling Relationships

More than half of British and Turkish parents indicated that Covid-19 worsened (primary category) the sibling relationships of autistic adolescents with five common indicators (subcategories): 1) cooped up, 2) distanced, 3) struggled to get along, 4) increased sibling conflict, and 5) negative emotions. While British and Turkish parents agreed on the overall worsening impacts of Covid-19 on their children's sibling relationships and its five indicators, the extent to which each indicator contributed to an overall negative impact differed between British and Turkish families.

To British parents, the most common indicator of the negative impact of Covid-19 was increased sibling conflict between their autistic and non-autistic children. British parents indicated this with responses such as: "They have been arguing more" (BR033, mother); "They fight more" (BR-142, mother); "It has caused verbal name-calling" (BR165, mother). Although Turkish parents also mentioned increased sibling conflict during the pandemic, this was not the most common negative impact of the pandemic on Turkish siblings. To Turkish parents, the most common negative impact of Covid-19 was that it made it difficult for siblings to get along. Turkish parents described this as: "Tension and disagreement between them increased" (TR041, mother); "After a certain hour, he could not get along with his brother" (TR181, mother). Both British and Turkish parents indicated that the reason for deteriorated sibling relationships (i.e., sibling conflict in the British sample and struggles in getting along in the Turkish sample) was the increased amount of time siblings spent together all day every day: "They are spending more time together in the house, at home. They argue and fight more" (BR005, mother); "It was difficult to be together for a long time" (TR044, mother).

As expected, neither British nor Turkish parents used the word bullying when reporting the negative impacts of the pandemic on sibling relationships. However, looking at the data more closely, potential signs of sibling bullying were identified in both cultures. For instance, a British parent said: "My autistic child has become bored and lonely and spends time picking on his siblings and annoying them" (BR077, mother). Similarly, a Turkish parent indicated signs of physical bullying perpetrated by the autistic child:

My autistic child's sensitivity to sound as well as his level of anxiety increased during this period. Anger and violence increased due to the lack of speech-verbal communication. He does not understand why we are forbidden to be outside, and he does not know why he is deprived of education 6 days a week. He cannot make sense of his sibling's voices in the home environment. Anger because there is no space change, and then harms himself and his brother and shows physical violence against family members (TR003, mother).

7.3.1.2 Covid-19 Improved Sibling Relationships

Although the majority of parents indicated negative impacts of Covid-19 on their children's sibling relationships, about a third of parents, in both cultures, mentioned that the pandemic also had positive impacts on their children's sibling relationships. The story in this data drew a picture of two cross-culturally common (i.e., bonded more and increased positive interactions) and one British culture-specific (i.e., improved mood) indicator for the positive impact of Covid-19. More cross-cultural differences were identified in the most commonly reported indicators of the positive impact of Covid-19.

To British parents, the pandemic improved sibling relationships mostly due to the fact that children were emotionally attached and bonded more closely during the pandemic: "It actually made it stronger as they only had each other to play with" (BR170, mother); "The coronavirus has actually brought them closer" (BR150, mother). To Turkish parents, the most common indicator for improved sibling relationships was increased daily positive interactions between siblings: "More interactions and played together" (TR033, mother); "They started playing better with each other" (TR082, mother). Additionally, British, but not Turkish parents, indicated improved sibling relationships due to autistic child's improved moods and behaviours: "The children spent a lot more time together. My autistic son's behaviour did improve as the outside stressors in his life were removed and he did not attend school" (BR125, mother).

Although the most commonly reported positive impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships differed between the two cultures, the main driven factor for improved sibling relationships during the pandemic seemed to be the school closures in both British and Turkish cultures. To British parents, school closures meant increased time spent together between siblings which improved their attachment and connection: "Now because of changes to the school schedule they are together most all day, every day. In their case, it's given them time to talk, work on projects, study, and play together. It's improved their connection" (BR092, mother). Some British parents also indicated that school closures reduced the amount of daily outside stressors that the autistic child faced which improved the mood and behaviours of the autistic child: which was then reflected in their sibling relationships "It has improved the relationship somewhat as we haven't had to contend with outside stressors such as school for child with asd" (BR066, mother). The same pandemic-related reason, school closure, led to improved sibling relationships in Turkey too, but in a different way, namely increased positive interactions: "They have been home-schooled so more opportunities to play together" (TR001, mother)". That is, the same pandemic-related factor, school closure, led to improved sibling relationships in both cultures, by following a different path (i.e., increased attachment in the British sample and increased positive interactions in the Turkish sample).

7.3.1.3 Covid-19 Did Not Affect Sibling Relationships

Interestingly, about one in five British and Turkish parents said Covid-19 had no impact on the sibling relationships of their children. For this, parents indicated that their children's sibling relationships stayed the same as before or that their children generally get along well. Parents who indicated that their children's sibling relationships stayed the same as before commonly pointed out that they were already bad before the pandemic, so the pandemic did not deteriorate them any more: "They weren't good anyway. Nothing has changed during the pandemic" (TR028, mother); "I don't think they disagreed any more through the pandemic than they usually do" (BR217, mother). Conversely, some parents indicated that sibling relationships were unaffected as their children get along remarkably well: The two of them get along well and can take care of each other" (BR015, mother); "We did not have any problems, the two siblings are very attached to each other, his sister is a friend to him, they are happy to be together (TR064, mother). Engaging more closely with the data, it was found that the routine lives of those families, in general, were not affected by the pandemic and Covid-19 related measures (i.e., school closures): A Turkish parent described this as: "They were not affected at all, normal routine life continued" (TR006, mother). Similarly, a British parent said:

My autistic son is going to school every day through his own choice. This has helped him immensely and has meant that he hasn't spent any additional time with his nonautistic sibling. In this respect, it hasn't had a huge impact on their relationship (BR031, mother).

7.3.2 Parental Response to Sibling Bullying

As expected, potential signs of increased sibling bullying during the pandemic were identified when asking parents how Covid-19 affected their children's sibling relationships. Following up with this, parents were asked how they react or would react to sibling bullying instances when/if witnessed. Based on parents' answers, three common parental interventions to sibling bullying were identified: *direct, indirect,* and *no intervention*. Most parents (British=86%, Turkish=83%) indicated that they would directly intervene in sibling bullying meaning that they would get involved immediately upon witnessing sibling bullying. In addition, although less frequent than direct intervention, nearly half of the British parents (44%) and more than a third of Turkish parents (37%) reported *indirect interventions* to sibling bullying such as teaching perspective taking. Finally, some parents, the least common, said that they would not get involved in the situation when witnessed sibling bullying (British=3%, Turkish=3%). Engaging with the data more closely enabled us to identify cross-cultural variations in the most common direct and indirect types of interventions parents preferred to apply. Cross-cultural differences are presented below and shown in Table 3 and Figure 3.

7.3.2.1 Direct intervention

A vast majority of parents, over 80% in both cultures, reported that they would directly intervene in sibling bullying, when witnessed, indicating five types of direct interventions: *1*) *step in*, *2*) *explore the problem*, *3*) *discipline*, *4*) *cool-off*, and *5*) *remind child(ren) of the rules*. Although most British and Turkish parents said they would directly intervene in sibling bullying, the most common type of direct intervention they preferred differed.

To British parents, the most preferred direct intervention was stepping into the situation directly and immediately when witnessing sibling bullying. British parents indicated six different ways in terms of how they step in to sibling bullying: *1) tell them to stop:* "When they are behaving in the above way, I tell them to stop" (BR003, mother); *2) stop the action:* "I will stop them in time" (BR091, mother); *3) solve the issue:* "Try and solve the issue and make them stay separated for a while" (BR108, mother); *4) intervene calmly:* "I will always

try to calmly intervene" (BR031, father); *5) React angrily:* "I would get angry and yell at the normal kid who was bullying" (BR090, father); and *6) Remove the conflict trigger:* "I hide the toy they are arguing about" (BR007, mother).

As hypothesised, the most common direct intervention Turkish parents preferred was taking disciplinary actions with the majority disciplining the bully as the first course of action. Turkish parents indicated six different disciplinary actions when they witnessed sibling bullying: *1) discipline the bully:* "I would talk to my bullying child and tell him that he did it wrong" (TR121, mother); *2) discipline both:* "I tell off both" (TR009, mother); *3) discipline the non-autistic child:* "I warn my typically developing child" (TR147, mother); *4) use or threat with punishment:* "if necessary, punish the guilty one" (TR068, father); *5) revoke privileges:* "He had increased the violence even more recently. So, I said I wouldn't cook chicken at home until he stops this behaviour completely. His teacher also said that he would not play football and take physical education classes at school" (TR028, mother); and *6) Make both apologise:* "I sweeten up the situation by making them apologise to each other" (TR039, mother).

7.3.2.2 Indirect intervention

Although the majority of parents said that they would intervene directly when witnessing sibling bullying, some parents also stated using indirect interventions, with British parents slightly more than Turkish parents (British=44%, Turkish=37%). In this regard, it was found that three indirect intervention styles were common in both cultures: *1) improve understanding*, *2) promote positive behaviours*, and *3) prevent*. There was also a culturespecific indirect intervention, *addressing feelings*, reported by only British parents. Some cross-cultural differences were also observed in the most commonly preferred indirect interventions across the two cultures. In the British sample, parents most commonly reported that they would promote positive behaviours in dealing with sibling bullying. This included *encouraging kindness* and *empathy*. For instance, some parents expressed that they would encourage empathy when they witness sibling bullying to help children take perspective: "I tried to tell the children how each other of them are feeling and what they would feel like if that was happening to them" (BR209, mother). Additionally, some other parents said that they would encourage kindness to promote positive behaviours: "We have been quick to intervene from the start if there was any type of physical or verbal aggression between them, reminding them both to be kind in words and touch" (BR075, mother); "They know bullying is not acceptable and wrong we talk about being kind to each other weekly" (BR021, mother). Furthermore, British parents also reported that they would address feelings which included expressing their own feelings over the situation and acknowledging their children's feelings. Some British parents described this as: "I would explain I was disappointed and that he should protect his brother not bully him" (BR144, mother); "My typical reaction is take the younger child aside and listen to his frustrations about his older brother" (BR128, mother).

Turkish parents, however, were keener to improve their children's understanding of the situation. This included the following parental reactions: *1) promote understanding, 2) explain autism to the non-autistic child,* and *3) explain the situation to the autistic child.* For instance, some parents said they would promote understanding of their non-autistic child: "I ask him to be understanding" (TR028, mother); "I tell him to try to understand his brother" (TR069, mother). Additionally, some parents said they would explain autism to their non-autistic child, "I try to explain to the non-autistic brother that his brother is not like us, he is a little different, so he should not be stubborn with him" (TR159, mother), while others preferred to explain the situation to the autistic child to promote their understanding: "I explain the situation to my autistic child" (TR017, mother).

7.3.2.3 No intervention

Although an overwhelming proportion of parents, from both cultures, indicated a direct or indirect intervention to sibling bullying, a few parents said that they prefer not to get involved when witnessing sibling bullying. Interestingly, the reasons that British and Turkish parents preferred not to intervene varied. For instance, Turkish parents mostly said they would *ignore* the situation to let children work it out between themselves while British ones said they would not intervene due to feeling uncertain about how to react, with some indicating need for professional help "Sometimes both of them should handle it without intervening" (TR118, mother); "I usually prefer not to intervene" (TR005, mother); "I feel torn and helpless" (BR197, mother); "Seek professional help from a psychologist" (BR135, mother).

Table 3 (7.3)

	British (N=147) Freq (%)	Turkish (N=60) Freq (%)		British	Turkish
<u>1. Direct Intervention</u>	<u>126 (86%)</u>	<u>50 (83%)</u>	Refer to family rules	6	2
1.1. Step in	49	18	Show no tolerance	7	2
Tell them to stop	12	0	Explain that their action is unacceptable	30	14
Stop the action	18	0	2. Indirect Intervention	<u>64 (44%)</u>	<u>22 (37%)</u>
React angrily	8	7	2.1. Address feelings	11	0
Intervene calmly	7	2	Acknowledge children's feelings	8	0
Protect the autistic child	0	4	Express own feelings (Parents)	3	0
Solve the issue	3	5	2.2. Improve understanding	27	17
<i>Remove the conflict trigger</i>	1	1	Promote understanding	6	5
1.2. Explore the problem	34	4	Explain autism to the non- autistic child	6	11
Individual chat	16	0	Explain the situation to the autistic child	0	4
Group chat	21	0	2.3. Promote positive behaviours	37	13
Investigate the issue	8	3	Encourage kindness	23	6
1.3. Discipline	47	21	Encourage empathy	14	7
Discipline the bully	13	9	2.4. Prevent	3	3
Discipline both	15	8	Prevent from happening	0	2
Discipline the NT child	0	3	Keep an eye on	1	0
Use/threat with punishment	7	3	Teach how to handle conflict	4	1
Revoke privileges	14	1	3. No intervention	<u>5 (3%)</u>	<u>2 (3%)</u>
Make both apologise	10	1	3.1. Let them work it out	2	2
1.4. Cool-off	41	11	Ignore	2	2
Time-out/ separate them	33	6	3.2. Uncertain	5	0
Comfort both	6	4	Feel helpless	4	0
Calm the autistic child	5	2	Seek professional help	1	0
1.5. Remind the rules	40	16			

Parents' Responses to Sibling Bullying: Codes, Subcategories, and Categories

Figure 3 (7.3)

Parents' Responses to Sibling Bullying



7.4 Discussion

Using a cross-cultural sample, this qualitative study explored how British and Turkish parents perceived the impact of Covid-19 on their autistic and non-autistic child's sibling relationships. Additionally, it also examined how British and Turkish parents respond to sibling bullying, predicting that the pandemic would increase the instances of sibling bullying in both cultures. Overall, more cross-cultural similarities than differences were found in the effects of Covid-19 on sibling relationships of autistic adolescents and parents' responses to sibling bullying across the two cultures. Discussion of the findings follows the Etic approach, meaning that only the absence and presence of cross-cultural variations are emphasised (Kagitcibasi & Berry, 1989).

7.4.1 Impact of Covid-19 on Sibling Relationships

For the first time, this cross-cultural study identified three distinct impacts of the pandemic on sibling relationships of autistic adolescents, namely worsened, improved, and not affected. Closely supporting the current finding, a single-culture study, from the general population, has also shown a triple impact of the pandemic, worsened, improved, or not impacted, on sibling relationships of Canadian adolescents (Martin-Storey et al., 2021). Similarly, reports from China have also indicated a double-edged impact of the pandemic– positive and negative– on sibling relationships of children and adolescents (Jiang et al., 2023; Tang et al., 2022). Moreover, some other researchers across the globe have also found either negative, positive, or no impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships (Cassinat et al., 2021; Stadheim et al., 2022; Sun et al., 2021; Toseeb, 2022; Zhang et al., 2022). Taken together, providing the first cross-cultural perspective, the current study suggests that Covid-19 has had not only negative but also positive or no impact on the sibling relationships of autistic adolescents and that this three-fold effect appears to be consistent across Western and non-Western cultures.

270

Although the majority of British and Turkish parents reported a negative impact of the pandemic on sibling relationships, the way Covid-19 related factors led to a negative impact differed across the two cultures. For instance, more British than Turkish parents reported increased sibling conflict, flagging it as the driving factor for deteriorated sibling relationships. In Turkish culture, the main driving factor for deteriorated sibling relationships was flagged as struggles in getting along. Previous research supports both findings as they have indicated increased sibling conflict in the UK and increased struggles in getting along in Turkey (Sancili & Tugluk, 2021; Toseeb, 2022). Further aligning with this, a recent study also indicated higher sibling bullying rates in the British than in Turkish culture during the pandemic (Deniz & Toseeb, 2023). This highlights the importance of considering cultural dynamics when examining the impact of the pandemic on family dynamics. More research following the Emic approach (i.e., in-depth testing of culture-level differences) is needed to clarify the potential cultural reasons underlying such differences found in the current study.

While the most common negative impact of the pandemic differed between the two cultures, one may be the leading cause of the other. Although not analysed in the current study, due to following the Etic approach, one might speculate that siblings' struggles in getting along may have led to increased sibling conflict more often in the British than in the Turkish culture. Two potential reasons could be anticipated for this namely, individualism/collectivism and parental supervision in British and Turkish families. For instance, British siblings are individualistic while their Turkish counterparts are collectivist which means an increased need for autonomy and independence in the British than Turkish families. Based on this, one might argue that the pandemic-related disruptions to individuals' personal space and private time might have led to higher sibling conflict in British, than Turkish, culture. Additionally, although both British and Turkish mothers spent more time with their children during the pandemic than pre-pandemic, Turkish mothers reported higher

parental supervision than British mothers. Based on this, one might argue that the extra time that Turkish mothers were spending with their children potentially prevented siblings' struggles in getting along leading to sibling conflicts (Tucker et al., 2014; Wolke et al., 2015). It is crucial to note that the current arguments are only speculations and, therefore, more research is needed to support these arguments.

7.4.2 Parental Interventions to Sibling Bullying

For the first time, this study unpacked three cross-culturally common parental responses to sibling bullying: *direct, indirect, and no intervention.* Overall, the current findings are in line with previous reports. For instance, McHale et al. (2000) conceptualised three common parental interventions for sibling conflict which closely resemble the current findings: non-involvement, intervene, and coach. Similarly, Kramer et al. (1999) also found that American parents apply similar responses when witnessing sibling conflicts such as no intervention (e.g., passive active no intervention), direct intervention (e.g., commands to stop the fight, collaborative problem solving), and indirect intervention (e.g., exploring emotions). Moreover, Tucker and Kazura (2013) identified three common categories of parental responses to sibling bullying, two of which are well aligned with the intervention styles conceptualised in the present study: no intervention (non-intervention; ignore, do not pay attention); indirect intervention (child-centred; help them negotiate, teach them, explain the other child's feelings). Although none of these studies was cross-cultural, triple parental intervention styles to sibling bullying – no intervention, direct intervention, indirect *intervention*- appear to be a universal parental catalogue for intervening in sibling conflict and bullying.

In both British and Turkish cultures, the most common parental intervention for sibling bullying was direct intervention where the parent immediately stepped into the situation. The existing literature, although based on sibling conflict not bullying, contradicted the current findings. For instance, American parents were found to be more inclined towards indirect interventions (i.e., coaching) than directly intervening in sibling conflict when witnessed (Milevsky et al., 2011). Similarly, others have also found that most parents prefer not to intervene (Kramer et al., 1999; Martin & Ross, 1995) or indirectly intervene (Tucker & Kazura, 2013) when witnessing sibling conflict. One might suggest two reasons for this inconsistency. First, parental awareness of sibling bullying has recently increased as researchers have found moderate agreement between child-report and parent-report sibling bullying rates (Dantchev & Zemp, 2022) compared to low agreement found in the past (Durán et al., 2017; Holt et al., 2008). This increased parental awareness might have encouraged parents to take more direct actions to prevent the detrimental impacts of sibling bullying. Second, all previous findings regarding how parents intervene in sibling bullying come from the non-autistic population. Therefore, it may be that the social communication difficulties experienced by autistic individuals may be leading parents to take direct interventions more often than indirect interventions to defuse sibling bullying.

British and Turkish parents differed in terms of the use of direct and indirect intervention styles. In regard to direct interventions, most British parents preferred to directly step into the situation (e.g., stop the bullying action), while Turkish parents tended to take disciplinary actions. One might link this difference to the different parenting styles between British and Turkish families. For instance, in child-rearing, Turkish parents show more negativity and apply disciplinary measures (e.g., punishment, verbal criticism) more often than British parents (Aytac et al., 2019; Gürmen & Kılıç, 2022) which may be the reason that most Turkish parents chose to take disciplinary measures. In terms of indirect interventions, acknowledging feelings, both children's and parents', was an indirect intervention style specifically used by British but not Turkish parents. Addressing children's feelings has frequently been found as a parental strategy to deal with sibling conflict, although the existing evidence comes primarily from Western cultures (Kramer et al., 1999; McHale et al., 2000; Milevsky et al., 2011; Tucker & Kazura, 2013). Based on this, it could be argued that addressing children's feelings may be a Western-specific parental strategy to deal with sibling conflict, although more non-western studies are needed to support this argument. To conclude, the differences in the parental responses to sibling bullying may be due to cross-cultural differences in parenting and child-rearing styles.

7.4.3 Strengths and Limitations

The current study holds several strengths and limitations. In terms of its strengths, having sufficiently large samples from both cultures, improved the cross-cultural comparability. Moreover, the data coder in the current study was a bilingual speaker of both Turkish and English languages and had living experience in both cultures which potentially improved the engagement of the coder with the data. There were also a number of limitations. First, the current sample is mainly formed by mothers, thus, British and Turkish fathers' views were underrepresented. Second, having a relatively larger sample of British parents, compared to Turkish parents, might have affected the degree of representation of Turkish parents in the reported cross-cultural comparisons. Third, this study focused on autistic adolescents' sibling relationships with their closest aged non-autistic sibling, thus, the current findings do not inform about the relationships of autistic adolescents with other or multiple siblings. Finally, the current study focused on parents' perceptions which do not represent the lived experiences of autistic adolescents in terms of the impacts of Covid-19 on their sibling relationships. Thus, all findings should be evaluated within these strengths and limitations.

7.4.4 Conclusions and Suggestions

Overall, the current findings showed that Covid-19 negatively affected sibling relationships in most families of autistic adolescents in both cultures. In terms of parental responses to sibling bullying, most British and Turkish parents indicated directly intervening in sibling bullying when witnessed, which has not been found in other previous studies. This suggests a potential increase in parents' awareness of sibling bullying from the past to the present. Differences in parenting styles potentially led to the differing direct parental interventions to sibling bullying (British= step in directly, Turkish= take disciplinary actions).

The current study suggests that parental awareness of such negative impacts of the pandemic on sibling relationships could potentially buffer the aftermath of the pandemic. Finally, effective parental interventions to negative sibling interactions, such as sibling bullying, are also likely to reduce the likelihood of such events repeating in the future. At times when parents struggle with how to handle sibling bullying, seeking professional support may be more beneficial than ignoring the situation or letting children work it out between themselves.

References

- Asbury, K., Fox, L., Deniz, E., Code, A., & Toseeb, U. (2021). How is COVID-19 affecting the mental health of children with special educational needs and disabilities and their families?. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *51*(5), 1772-1780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2
- Aytac, B., Pike, A., & Bond, R. (2019). Parenting and child adjustment: a comparison of Turkish and English families. *Journal of Family Studies*, 25(3), 267-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13229400.2016.1248855</u>
- Bellomo, T. R., Prasad, S., Munzer, T., & Laventhal, N. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Pediatric Rehabilitation Medicine*, *13*(3), 349-354. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/PRM-200740</u>
- Bernard, H. R., Wutich, A., & Ryan, G. W. (2016). *Analyzing qualitative data: Systematic approaches*. SAGE publications.
- Black, M. H., Kuzminski, R., Wang, J., Ang, J., Lee, C., Hafidzuddin, S., & McGarry, S. (2022). Experiences of Friendships for Individuals on the Autism Spectrum: A Scoping Review. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 1-26.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-022-00332-8
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032-e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Caffaro, J. V. (2013). Sibling abuse trauma: Assessment and intervention strategies for children, families, and adults. Routledge.
- Cage, E., & McManemy, E. (2022). Burnt out and dropping out: A comparison of the experiences of autistic and non-autistic students during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 792945.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.792945

- Cassinat, J. R., Whiteman, S. D., Serang, S., Dotterer, A. M., Mustillo, S. A., Maggs, J. L., & Kelly, B. C. (2021). Changes in family chaos and family relationships during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from a longitudinal study. *Developmental psychology*, *57*(10), 1597. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0001217</u>
- Chen, Y. L., Senande, L. L., Thorsen, M., & Patten, K. (2021). Peer preferences and characteristics of same-group and cross-group social interactions among autistic and non-autistic adolescents. *Autism*, 25(7), 1885-1900.

https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211005918

- Cicirelli, V. (2013). Sibling relationships across the life span. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, 10, 651. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651</u>
- Dantchev, S., & Zemp, M. (2022). Does bullying occur behind closed doors? Agreement of bullying reports between parents and children and its differential associations with child outcomes. *Children*, 9(10), 1440. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children9101440</u>
- Degli Espinosa, F., Metko, A., Raimondi, M., Impenna, M., & Scognamiglio, E. (2020). A model of support for families of children with autism living in the COVID-19 lockdown:
 Lessons from Italy. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, *13*(3), 550-558.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-020-00438-7
- Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2022). A Longitudinal Study of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Self-esteem. <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/km9f2</u>

Deniz, E., & Toseeb, U. (2023, May 10). Sibling Bullying and Mental Health in British and

Turkish Autistic Adolescents: The Role of Social and Emotional Functioning. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/jvzn5

- Durán, L. G., Scherñuk Schroh, J. C., Panizoni, E. P., Jouglard, E. F., Serralunga, M. G., & Esandi, M. E. (2017). Bullying at school: agreement between caregivers' and children's perception. Arch Argent Pediatr, 115(1), 35-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.5546/aap.2017.eng.35</u>
- Fecteau, S., Mottron, L., Berthiaume, C., & Burack, J. A. (2003). Developmental changes of autistic symptoms. *Autism*, 7(3), 255-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361303007003003</u>

Foley, S., Badinlou, F., Brocki, K. C., Frick, M. A., Ronchi, L., & Hughes, C. (2021). Family

function and child adjustment difficulties in the COVID-19 pandemic: an international study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(21), 11136. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182111136</u>

Fontanesi, L., Marchetti, D., Mazza, C., Di Giandomenico, S., Roma, P., & Verrocchio, M.
C. (2020). The effect of the COVID-19 lockdown on parents: A call to adopt urgent measures. *Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy*, *12*(S1), S79. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/tra0000672

Forman, J., & Damschroder, L. (2007). Qualitative content analysis. In *Empirical methods for bioethics: A primer* (Vol. 11, pp. 39-62). Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1479-3709(07)11003-7

- Gürmen, M. S., & Kılıç, S. (2022). Parenting in Turkey. In *Parenting Across Cultures: Childrearing, Motherhood and Fatherhood in Non-Western Cultures* (pp. 243-257).
 Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Hoetger, L. A., Hazen, K. P., & Brank, E. M. (2015). All in the family: A retrospective study comparing sibling bullying and peer bullying. *Journal of Family Violence*, *30*, 103-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-014-9651-0</u>

- Hoffmann, L., Wilbert, J., Lehofer, M., & Schwab, S. (2021). Are we good friends?–Friendship preferences and the quantity and quality of mutual friendships. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 36(4), 502-516.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2020.1769980</u>
- Hofstede Insights. (2023). Country Comparison Hofstede Insights. <u>https://www.hofstede-</u> insights.com/country-comparison/turkey,the-uk/
- Holt, M. K., Kaufman Kantor, G., & Finkelhor, D. (2008). Parent/child concordance about bullying involvement and family characteristics related to bullying and peer victimization. *Journal of school violence*, 8(1), 42-63.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220802067813
- Horton, A. L., Russell, B. S., Tambling, R. R., Britner, P. A., Hutchison, M., & Tomkunas,
 A. J. (2022). Predictors of children's emotion regulation outcomes during COVID-19:
 Role of conflict within the family. *Family Relations*, 71(4), 1339-1353.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12717
- Hughes, C., Ronchi, L., Foley, S., Dempsey, C., Lecce, S., & I-Fam Covid Consortium.
 (2023). Siblings in lockdown: International evidence for birth order effects on child adjustment in the Covid19 pandemic. *Social Development*.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12668
- Humphrey, N., & Hebron, J. (2015). Bullying of children and adolescents with autism spectrum conditions: A 'state of the field'review. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19(8), 845-862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.981602</u>
- Jiang, Y., Tan, Y., Wu, D., Yin, J., & Lin, X. (2023). The double-edged impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Chinese family relationships. *Journal of Family Issues*, 44(1), 91-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X211041990</u>

Kagitcibasi, C., & Berry, J. W. (1989). Cross-cultural psychology: Current research and

trends. *Annual review of psychology*, 40(1), 493-531. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.ps.40.020189.002425

- Kenny, L., Hattersley, C., Molins, B., Buckley, C., Povey, C., & Pellicano, E. (2016). Which terms should be used to describe autism? Perspectives from the UK autism community. *Autism*, 20(4), 442-462. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361315588200</u>
- Kosonen, M. (1996). Siblings as providers of support and care during middle childhood:
 Children's perceptions. *Children & Society*, *10*(4), 267-279.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1099-0860.1996.tb00595.x
- Kramer, L., Perozynski, L. A., & Chung, T. Y. (1999). Parental responses to sibling conflict: The effects of development and parent gender. *Child Development*, 70(6), 1401-1414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00102</u>
- Lazarsfeld, P. F., & Merton, R. K. (1954). Friendship as a social process: A substantive and methodological analysis. In: Berger M, Abel T, Page CH, editors. *Freedom and Control in Modern Society*. Van Nostrand; New York: 1954. pp. 18–66.
- Maiano, C., Normand, C. L., Salvas, M. C., Moullec, G., & Aime, A. (2016). Prevalence of school bullying among youth with autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autism research*, 9(6), 601-615. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1568
- Martin, J. L., & Ross, H. S. (1995). The development of aggression within sibling conflict. *Early Education and Development*, 6(4), 335-358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15566935eed0604_4</u>
- MacQueen, K. M., McLellan, E., Kay, K., & Milstein, B. (1998). Codebook development for team-based qualitative analysis. *Cam Journal*, 10(2), 31-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X980100020301</u>
- McGovern, C. W., & Sigman, M. (2005). Continuity and change from early childhood to adolescence in autism. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *46*(4), 401-408.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00361.x

- McHale, S. M., Updegraff, K. A., Tucker, C. J., & Crouter, A. C. (2000). Step in or stay out?
 Parents' roles in adolescent siblings' relationships. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62(3), 746-760. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00746.x
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. Sage.
- Milevsky, A., Schlechter, M. J., & Machlev, M. (2011). Effects of parenting style and involvement in sibling conflict on adolescent sibling relationships. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships, 28(8), 1130-1148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407511406894</u>
- Milton, D. E. (2012). On the ontological status of autism: The 'double empathy problem'. *Disability & society*, 27(6), 883-887. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.710008</u>
- Niblo, D. M., & Jackson, M. S. (2004). Model for combining the qualitative emic approach with the quantitative derived etic approach. *Australian Psychologist*, 39(2), 127-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00050060410001701843</u>
- OECD. (2023a). Family Database. Accessed on 04 January 2023. https://www.oecd.org/els/family/database.htm
- OECD. (2023b). *Poverty rate (indicator)*. Accessed on 04 January 2023. https://data.oecd.org/inequality/poverty-rate.htm
- Osborn, M. (2001). Constants and contexts in pupil experience of learning and schooling: comparing learners in England, France and Denmark. *Comparative education*, *37*(3), 267-278. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050060120067776
- Perkins, N. H., Rai, A., & Grossman, S. F. (2021). Physical and emotional sibling violence in the time of COVID-19. *Journal of family violence*, 1-8.

Prime, H., Wade, M., & Browne, D. T. (2020). Risk and resilience in family well-being

during the COVID-19 pandemic. *American Psychologist*, 75(5), 631. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/amp0000660

- Qualtrics, X. M. (December, 2022). Qualtrics XM. Provo, Utah, USA. Available at: https://www.qualtrics.com
- Russell, B. S., Hutchison, M., Tambling, R., Tomkunas, A. J., & Horton, A. L. (2020). Initial challenges of caregiving during COVID-19: Caregiver burden, mental health, and the parent–child relationship. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, *51*, 671-682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-020-01037-x</u>
- Rypi, A. (2023). Ambiguous but Crucial Boundaries-Professionals Differentiating Sibling
 Abuse from Sibling Quarrels. Sociological Focus, 1-17.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2023.2180466
- Salmon, S., Taillieu, T. L., Fortier, J., Stewart-Tufescu, A., & Afifi, T. O. (2022). Pandemicrelated experiences, mental health symptoms, substance use, and relationship conflict among older adolescents and young adults from Manitoba, Canada. *Psychiatry Research*, 311, 114495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2022.114495</u>
- Sancili, S., & Tugluk, M. N. (2021). Investigation of the problem behaviors emerging in children during the COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey. *Southeast Asia Early Childhood Journal*, 10(1), 101-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.37134/saecj.vol10.1.9.2021</u>
- Schreier, M. (2012). Qualitative content analysis in practice. Sage publications.
- Seltzer, M. M., Krauss, M. W., Shattuck, P. T., Orsmond, G., Swe, A., & Lord, C. (2003).
 The symptoms of autism spectrum disorders in adolescence and adulthood. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *33*, 565-581.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JADD.0000005995.02453.0b

Shattuck, P. T., Orsmond, G. I., Wagner, M., & Cooper, B. P. (2011). Participation in social activities among adolescents with an autism spectrum disorder. *PloS one*, 6(11), e27176. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027176 Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(8), 1726-1736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512468327</u>

- Stadheim, J., Johns, A., Mitchell, M., Smith, C. J., Braden, B. B., & Matthews, N. L. (2022). A qualitative examination of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on children and adolescents with autism and their parents. *Research in developmental disabilities*, *125*, 104232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2022.104232</u>
- Sun, X., Updegraff, K. A., McHale, S. M., Hochgraf, A. K., Gallagher, A. M., & Umaña-Taylor, A. J. (2021). Implications of COVID-19 school closures for sibling dynamics among US Latinx children: A prospective, daily diary study. *Developmental psychology*, 57(10), 1708. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/dev0001196</u>
- Tang, Y., Shao, Y., He, T., Wang, Y., Hinshaw, S. P., & Lin, X. (2022). Latent profiles of adolescents' relationships with parents and siblings: Associations with emotional and behavioral responses during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Current Psychology*, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-022-03959-2</u>
- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggressive behavior*, 41(1), 14-24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557
- Tokatly Latzer, I., Leitner, Y., & Karnieli-Miller, O. (2021). Core experiences of parents of children with autism during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. *Autism*, 25(4), 1047-1059. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320984317</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 48, 2308-2318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2</u>

Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Sibling bullying in middle

childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *50*(5), 1457-1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>

- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Precursors of sibling bullying in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 108, 104633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633</u>
- Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling conflict during COVID-19 in families with special educational needs and disabilities. *British journal of educational psychology*, 92(1), 319-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12451</u>
- Tucker, C. J., & Kazura, K. (2013). Parental responses to school-aged children's sibling conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 22, 737-745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9741-2</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014). Family dynamics and young children's sibling victimization. *Journal of family psychology*, 28(5), 625. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/fam0000016</u>
- Webb, R., Vulliamy, G., Hämäläinen, S., Sarja, A., Kimonen, E., & Nevalainen, R. (2004). A comparative analysis of primary teacher professionalism in England and Finland. *Comparative education*, 40(1), 83-107.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0305006042000184890
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917-929. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X
- World Health Organization. (January 2023). *Adolescent health*. Accessed on: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/adolescent-health</u>
- Zhang, T. T., Cao, X. J., & Liu, Y. H. (2022). Sibling relationship qualities during the COVID-19 pandemic: A brief report of protective effect. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, *32*(1),

86-90. https://doi.org/10.2989/16073614.2021.2017180

Chapter 8: Key Findings, Integrated Discussion, and General Conclusions

This chapter summarises the key findings of the current thesis and provides an integrated discussion within the scope and limitations of the existing literature. The integrated findings and subsequent discussions and conclusions mainly focus on the following: 1) the prevalence of sibling bullying, 2) direct and indirect correlates of sibling bullying, 3) the impacts of Covid-19 on sibling relationships and bullying, and 4) parental responses to sibling bullying in British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents. The etic approach, a theoretical framework in cross-cultural psychological research (Kagitcibasi & Berry, 1989), is followed in the presentation and discussion of cross-cultural similarities and differences between the two cultures. That said, the following key findings and discussions merely consider between-culture variations on measured psychological phenomena (e.g., prevalence and correlates of sibling bullying) instead of focusing on potential reasons underlying such cross-cultural differences. Taking the current findings into account, future researchers may wish to follow the emic approach to explore the potential reasons underlying such cross-cultural similarities and variations reported in the current thesis. Strengths, limitations, implications, and future directions are also presented.

8.1 Summary of Key Findings

8.1.1 Prevalence and Correlates of Sibling Bullying Across Cultures

In the current thesis, findings showed that sibling bullying is highly prevalent in both British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents as approximately two-thirds experienced sibling bullying every week. In both cultures, autistic adolescents were more likely to be perpetrators (British= 65%, Turkish= 56%), than victims (British: 53%, Turkish=45%), of sibling bullying. The most common bullying role for autistic adolescents, from both cultures, was being the bully-victim (British=46%, Turkish=33%), while the least common bullying role was being the victim-only (British=7%, Turkish=%12).

Additionally, a wide range of correlates – potential risk factors – of sibling bullying were identified, more in the British compared to the Turkish culture (see, Table 1). In the case of sibling bullying victimisation, being a male, having an opposite-gendered sibling, having a physically stronger sibling, and being a perpetrator of sibling bullying in the past appears to be associated with increased rates of sibling bullying victimisation in British, but not Turkish, autistic adolescents. Additionally, increased parental education, i.e., college or above degree, seems to be associated with an increased risk of sibling bullying victimisation in Turkish, but not British, families of autistic adolescents. Furthermore, both British and Turkish autistic adolescents who were victimised by a sibling in the past were more likely to be victimised by a sibling in the present compared to those who were not victimised before.

In terms of sibling bullying perpetration, having a physically weaker sibling was associated with increased sibling bullying perpetration in British, but not Turkish, autistic adolescents. Additionally, having a younger sibling increased the likelihood of bullying a sibling for Turkish, but not British, autistic adolescents. Moreover, both British and Turkish autistic adolescents who were victimised by a sibling or bullied a sibling in the past were more likely to bully a sibling in the present compared to those who did not perpetrate a sibling in the past. Adding to this, British, but not Turkish, autistic adolescents who had low autistic traits (i.e., high functioning) were more likely to be victimised by a sibling than those with high autistic traits (i.e., low functioning). More findings from a British-only sample (Study II) also indicated that British autistic adolescents who had a shared bedroom were more likely to be victimised by a sibling than those who had their own bedroom. Finally, British autistic adolescents who had a late autism diagnosis were more likely to be perpetrators of sibling bullying than those who had an early diagnosis of autism.

287

Table 1 (8.1)

	Sibling Bullying Victimisation	on	Sibling Bullying Perpetration		
	British	Turkish	British Turkish		
Individual- level	 Low autistic traits (i.e., being high functioning). Shared bedroom* Gender (i.e., being a boy) Having an oppositegendered sibling (i.e., male/female) Power imbalance (i.e., being weaker) Past sibling bullying victimisation Past sibling bullying 	Past sibling bullying victimisation	 Late diagnosis* Power imbalance (i.e., being stronger) Past sibling bullying victimisation Past sibling bullying perpetration Past sibling bullying perpetration 		
Family- level	perpetration	• Parental education (i.e., college or above)			

Overview of significant correlates – potential risk factors – of sibling bullying across cultures

Note. * These findings are from Study II which was performed on a British-only sample.

8.1.2 Sibling Bullying and Mental Health: Direct and Indirect Links

In the current thesis, Study II (cross-sectional, cross-cultural) and Study III (longitudinal, British-only) tested whether sibling bullying is a direct or indirect risk factor for mental health difficulties in British and Turkish autistic adolescents. Significant indirect links between sibling bullying and mental health are summarised in Table 2.

In terms of indirect correlations, in British autistic adolescents, increased rates of sibling bullying, either victimisation or perpetration, were indirectly associated with increased internalising problems through reduced emotional functioning (i.e., emotion regulation and self-esteem). Additionally, sibling bullying perpetration was indirectly associated with increased externalising problems through detrimental social behaviours. On the Turkish side, both sibling bullying victimisation and perpetration were indirectly linked to
increased internalising and externalising problems through increased detrimental social behaviours. Finally, no indirect association was found between sibling bullying and mental health through positive social functioning, in either culture, To note, all tested indirect associations, in Study II, were based on cross-sectional data reported by parents.

Table 2 (8.2)

Indirect Links Between Sibling Bullying and Mental Health

Paths	Turkish	British
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Emotion Regulation \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	No	Yes (cross-sectional)
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Emotion Regulation \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	No	No
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Emotion Regulation \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	No	Yes (cross-sectional)
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Emotion Regulation \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	No	No
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Social Functioning \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	No	No
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Social Functioning \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	No	No
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Social Functioning \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	No	No
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Social Functioning \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	No	No
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Det. Social Behaviours \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	Yes	No
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Det. Social Behaviours \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	Yes	No
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Det. Social Behaviours \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	Yes	Yes (cross-sectional)
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Det. Social Behaviours \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	Yes	Yes (cross-sectional)
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Self-Esteem \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	Not Tested	Yes (longitudinal)
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Self-Esteem \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	Not Tested	Yes (longitudinal)
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Self-Esteem \rightarrow Inter. Prob.	Not Tested	Yes (longitudinal)
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Self-Esteem \rightarrow Exter. Prob.	Not Tested	Yes (longitudinal)
Sibling Victimisation \rightarrow Self-Esteem \rightarrow Wellbeing	Not Tested	Yes (longitudinal)
Sibling Perpetration \rightarrow Self-Esteem \rightarrow Wellbeing	Not Tested	Yes (longitudinal)

There were also direct links between sibling bullying and mental health. For instance, increased sibling bullying victimisation was directly linked to increased internalising and

externalising problems in British autistic adolescents. On the Turkish side, however, increased rates of sibling bullying victimisation were a direct correlate of increased internalising but not externalising problems. On the contrary, while sibling bullying perpetration was a direct correlate of both internalising and externalising problems in the Turkish culture, it was only directly related to externalising problems in the British culture.

In summary, cross-sectional findings (Study II) indicated both direct and indirect correlations between sibling bullying and mental health through emotional dysfunction (British) and social dysfunction (British & Turkish). Additionally, longitudinal findings (Study III) supported the cross-sectional findings by indicating significant indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing through emotional dysfunction. Finally, the longitudinal findings also indicated no direct associations between sibling bullying and mental health suggesting that sibling bullying may have short-term-only direct effects (see, Study II) on the mental health of autistic adolescents.

8.1.3 Triggering Impacts of Covid-19 on Sibling Bullying and Parental Interventions

In the current thesis, Study IV investigated the potential impacts of Covid-19 on sibling relationships of British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents. Findings from both cultures indicated three types of impact of Covid-19 on sibling relationships: *Worsened, improved,* and *not affected.* The majority of both British and Turkish parents reported that Covid-19 worsened sibling relationships at their homes. Of these, some parents mentioned that this was partly due to the increased instances of sibling conflict at home since the onset of the pandemic. Given that this was an expected finding, parents were also asked how they handled sibling bullying, when witnessed. On this, British and Turkish parents showed great similarities in the way they handled sibling bullying. More precisely, the majority of both British and Turkish parents reported that they would directly intervene in sibling bullying

when witnessed. This included: stepping in, exploring the problem, disciplining, cool-off, and reminding the child(ren) of the rules.

8.2 Integrated Discussion

8.2.1 Sibling Bullying Is Highly Prevalent

To the best of my knowledge, the current thesis is the first to report the prevalence of sibling bullying in autistic adolescents in a cross-cultural context. In the current thesis, parent reports indicated that more than two-thirds of British and Turkish autistic adolescents experience sibling bullying. This finding well aligns with a previous report from the UK in which two-thirds of British autistic adolescents self-reported being involved in sibling bullying at least once a week (Toseeb et al., 2018). It also aligns with some findings from the general population; for example about two-thirds of adolescents from the US also selfreported being involved in sibling bullying (Skinner & Kowalski, 2013). However, there is also contradicting evidence in the literature as lower rates also have been reported by previous studies. For example, previous researchers in the general population have commonly reported a rate of sibling bullying ranging from 30% to 50% (Duncan, 1999; Finkelhor et al., 2006; Wolke & Skew, 2012; Wolke et al., 2015). Notwithstanding, previous reports from China have reported even lower rates of sibling bullying ranging from 10% to 20% (Liu et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2022; Qing et al., 2022). Given the scale of the inconsistency between previously reported estimates of sibling bullying, the current findings take its place in these inconsistencies.

The inconsistencies in the prevalence estimates of sibling bullying could be attributed to numerous factors one of which is the differences in the measurement of sibling bullying (Brett et al., 2023; Wolke et al., 2015). Another reason for this variation may be the potential cross-cultural differences in the rates of this particular phenomenon (Brett et al., 2023; Sabah et al., 2022). Hence, although Turkey is classified as a non-Western culture, the prevalence of sibling bullying appears to be almost as high as what is observed in Western cultures, despite lower rates measured in non-Western societies such as China. However, more research is needed to replicate the current findings given that this has been the first systematic reporting of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents.

8.2.2 The Risk of Sibling Bullying Potentially Heightens When A Sibling Has Autism

Although not measured directly, the very high prevalence of sibling bullying found in the current thesis, about two-thirds, points towards potentially heightened risks for sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic compared to non-autistic child families. This is not a new finding as previous studies have already suggested that autistic adolescents are more likely to be involved in sibling bullying compared to non-autistic adolescents both outside their homes (Humphrey & Hebron, 2015; Nowell et al., 2014; Wainscot et al., 2008) and at home (Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). The exact reasons why autistic adolescents are at heightened risk for being involved in bullying than their non-autistic peers, both in family and outside family, is not yet clear cut as there may be numerous factors leading to this. However, the theoretical framework of the current thesis¹, together with the limited evidence in the literature, collectively point towards two dimensions: individual-level factors and family-level factors (Bronfenbrenner, 1979; Hawley, 1999; Milton, 2012; Patterson et al., 1967; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a). That said, there is an increased risk for sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic and this risk appears to be driven by both individual and family-level factors.

To begin with, social communication², behavioural³, and emotional⁴ difficulties accompanying autism are likely to be triggers of the increased risks of sibling bullying in such families. Looking more closely, social communication difficulties of autistic individuals

¹ i.e., coercion theory, resource control theory, ecological systems theory, double empathy problem theory.

² e.g., receptive and expressive language, empathy, taking another's perspective, restricted social interest.

³ e.g., coercive and aggressive behaviours, temperament, behavioural dysregulation.

⁴ e.g., emotion dysregulation, impulsivity, internalising and externalising problems.

such as deficits in theory of mind, empathy, prosociality, social awareness, reading social cues, verbal ability, and communication have been shown to put autistic individuals at increased risks of being involved in bullying both outside (Bauminger, 2002; Cappadocia et al., 2012; Cook et al., 2010; Fox & Boulton, 2005; Gini et al., 2007; Humphrey & Hebron, 2015; Paul et al., 2018; Sreckovic et al., 2014; Sterzing et al., 2012; Van Roekel et al., 2010) and at home (Toseeb et al., 2020a). In terms of behavioural problems, excessive aggression, tantrum, anger, explosiveness, and lack of emotional control shown by autistic individuals (Mascha & Boucher, 2006; Petalas et al., 2012) have been found to be sparks of bullying both outside home (Kloosterman et al., 2014; Rieffe et al., 2012; Zablotsky et al., 2013) and at home (Button & Gealt, 2010; Toseeb et al., 2018). Finally, autistic children show higher levels of emotional distress, peer problems, hyperactivity, conduct problems, fear and deficits in executive function skills (e.g., emotion regulation) than their non-autistic peers which increase their likelihood of being targeted by bullies both outside (Cappadocia et al., 2012; Hebron & Humphrey, 2014; Paul et al., 2018; Rieffe et al., 2012; Sterzing et al., 2012) as well as at home (Bowes et al., 2014; Toseeb et al., 2018). Consequently, a range of difficulties accompanying autism seems to put autistic individuals at an increased risk of being involved in bullying both outside the home and at home.

Despite the fact that social, behavioural, and emotional difficulties experienced by autistic individuals heighten their risks for bullying involvement, it is important to note that the severity of autistic traits is negatively correlated with sibling bullying victimisation. More specifically, both current findings (i.e., Study II and Study III) and previous studies (Libster et al., 2022; Nowell et al., 2014; Rowley et al., 2012; Zablotsky et al., 2014) have shown that autistic individuals who show better social communication, behavioural, and emotional functioning are at heightened risks for being victimised than those with more severe autistic traits. This is likely because better-functioning autistic individuals show greater social

interest, spend more time with their peers and siblings, and have more social interactions with them than those with lower functioning which, in turn, increases risks for bullying for those individuals (Libster et al., 2022; Rowley et al., 2012; Toseeb, 2022). Hence, social communication, behavioural, and emotional difficulties associated with autism seem to heighten risks for bullying involvement, though, the severity of the risk appears to be greater for individuals with milder, than severe, autistic traits.

Finally, parents may also play a role in increased risks of sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic. For instance, there is increased parental differential treatment and favouritism in families where a child is autistic (Meyer & Vadasy, 1997; Mokoena & Kern, 2022; Nealy et al., 2012), also found in Study IV (Chapter 7), which reinforces subsequent bullying behaviours of the non-autistic sibling (Bouchard et al., 2019; Bouchard & Sonier, 2021; Kramer & Chung, 1999; Tucker & Kazura, 2013; Updegraff et al., 2005). Additionally, increased rates of parental stress, burnout, and emotional difficulties (Enea & Rusu, 2020; Hayes & Watson, 2013; Johnson et al., 2011; Hall & Graff, 2011) as well as increased parentchild conflict and inter-parental conflict in such families (Chan & Leung, 2020; Hartley et al., 2019; Sim et al., 2016) further trigger sibling bullying instances in such families (Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Tucker et al., 2014a). Furthermore, higher levels of marital separation and divorce in families where a child is autistic (Hartley et al., 2010) are likely to be another factor triggering sibling bullying (Qing et al., 2022; Tucker et al., 2014a). Finally, increased harsh parenting and parental maltreatment and neglect in families where a child is autistic (Chan & Lam, 2016; McDonnell et al., 2019) may be another parent-related factor increasing rates of sibling bullying in such families (Bowes et al., 2014, Eriksen & Jensen, 2009; Tippett & Wolke, 2015, Toseeb et al., 2018; Tucker et al., 2014a; Updegraff et al., 2005). To conclude, parental characteristics seem to play a role in the heightened risks of sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic.

8.2.3 Correlates of Sibling Bullying Vary Across Cultures

In light of the etic approach (Kagitcibasi & Berry, 1989) and the Ecological Systems Theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1979), the current thesis, for the first time, suggested that the precursors of sibling bullying show cross-cultural variations. More specifically, current findings have shown that British autistic adolescents are exposed to a higher number of individual risk factors than their Turkish peers. Aligning with the existing literature (Bowes, 2014; Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Dantchev et al., 2019; Hoetger et al., 2015; Menesini et al., 2010; Tippett & Wolke, 2015; Toseeb et al., 2018, 2020a; Tucker et al., 2013a, 2014a, Wolke et al., 2015) being male, physical power imbalance, and siblings' gender composition were found to be risk factors for increased sibling bullying, victimisation or perpetration, in British autistic adolescents. However, none of these were risk factors for Turkish autistic adolescents. Instead, again aligning with previous evidence (Tippett & Wolke, 2014; Tucker et al., 2014a) higher parental education seemed to increase the risk for sibling bullying victimisation while having a younger sibling (Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2018) increased risks for sibling bullying perpetration in Turkish autistic adolescents. Again, these factors were not correlates of sibling bullying in British families. Hence, the precursors of sibling bullying appear to vary between British and Turkish families of autistic adolescents, though the reasons for this have remained largely unknown.

Although the current thesis aimed to report the cross-cultural variations at the psychometric scale level⁵, some speculations could be made on the potential reasons for such differences. Looking more closely at the current findings, one might argue that the cross-cultural differences in the prevalence of sibling bullying may be due to culture-specific risk and protective factors of sibling bullying. For instance, there appears to be a higher number

⁵ i.e., Etic approach.

of individual-level predictors of sibling bullying in British⁶ than in Turkish⁷ families of autistic adolescents. This is, British autistic adolescents are exposed to more risk factors which makes them more prone to sibling bullying compared to their Turkish peers. Similarly, there may be increased family-level protective factors of sibling bullying in Turkish, compared to British, families of autistic adolescents. As an example, an overwhelming majority of Turkish parents were found to have low educational degrees (i.e., below college), which was negatively associated with sibling bullying rates in the current as well as in previous findings (Eriksen & Jensen, 2006; Tucker et al., 2014a). Supporting this with the findings from Study IV (Chapter 7), it appears that lower parental education in Turkish parents indicates higher parental supervision (i.e., spending more time with their children) compared to the British parents who showed higher parental education and lower parental supervision. Based on this, although not clear, one could speculate that parents with lower educational degrees may be more likely to be stay-at-home parents which potentially protects children against sibling bullying due to increased parental supervision (Eriksen & Jensen, 2006; Tucker et al., 2014a). Hence, cross-cultural differences in the precursors of sibling bullying may, to some extent, explain the cross-cultural variations in the prevalence of sibling bullying.

8.2.4 There Are Indirect Paths From Sibling Bullying To Mental Health

Perhaps the most striking finding of the current thesis is showing, for the first time, that sibling bullying leads to poor mental health and wellbeing through social and emotional dysfunction in British and Turkish autistic adolescents. These findings are novel in the existing literature as they suggest that, for the first time, factors that link sibling bullying to mental health are likely to show cross-cultural variations. Although this has been the first

⁶ i.e., gender, power imbalance, siblings' gender composition, past sibling bullying experiences.

⁷ i.e., having a younger sibling and past sibling bullying experiences.

systematic reporting of the indirect relations between sibling bullying and mental health, these newly explored indirect paths, to some extent, get their roots in the existing literature. Finally, with the current findings, the cross-cultural variations in the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health have now become a matter of concern and their reasons are yet to be unpacked.

The current findings suggest an indirect link between sibling bullying and mental health through emotion regulation which closely aligns with existing evidence as this path had already been discovered in the Western general population (Fite et al., 2022). More supporting evidence existed in the peer bullying literature attributing a mediator role to emotion regulation in between victimisation and mental health (Schwartz & Proctor, 2000). There are potentially numerous reasons that explain how emotion regulation plays a role in the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health. Perhaps the clearest link was made by Kennedy and Kramer who argued that "The ability to engage in appropriate social behaviors rests strongly on one's ability to manage emotional experiences and behaviors" (2008, p.568). On this, they have suggested that poorly regulated frustration, anger, or other negative emotions are likely to trigger subsequent sibling bullying instances. Aligning with this argument, researchers have found that individuals who perpetrate a sibling show low capacity to regulate their emotions and show emotional instability (Menesini et al., 2010; Toseeb et al., 2020b). In terms of sibling victimisation, researchers previously suggested that being victimised by a sibling decreases self-compassion, an emotion regulation strategy (Játiva & Cerezo, 2014). Reduced emotion regulation, as a result of perpetrating a sibling or being victimised by a sibling, leads to increased mental health difficulties (Mazefsky et al., 2014; McLaughlin et al., 2011). Finally, it comes to the attention that the link between sibling bullying and emotion regulation, suggested by previous research – including the current findings – comes from Western cultures. That is, there may be a possibility that the link

between sibling bullying and mental health through emotion regulation is specific to Western populations. However, more research is needed to explore why this is the case, if at all.

The current findings also showed that sibling bullying, victimisation (Turkish only) and perpetration (British and Turkish), had indirect routes to mental health through detrimental social behaviours. Based on these findings, one might argue that bullying a sibling may be a greater indirect risk factor for the mental health of British autistic adolescents than being victimised by a sibling. Although no previous research has specifically tested this, perhaps some foundational roots already existed in proxy outcomes. For instance, previous researchers have suggested a link between increased bullying and increased social dysfunction, antisocial behaviours, and reduced prosociality (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Schwartz & Proctor, 2000; Toseeb et al., 2020a). Such detrimental social outcomes, in turn, increase mental health difficulties (Tucker et al., 2014b; Wolke & Skew, 2012). The current findings add to this existing literature by suggesting that the indirect link between sibling bullying and mental health through detrimental social outcomes is likely to vary across families from distant cultures. More research is now needed to shed light on the reasons for cross-cultural variability in the role of detrimental social outcomes between sibling bullying and mental health.

Pre-existing research suggests clear links between sibling bullying and reduced selfesteem and between reduced self-esteem and poor mental health and wellbeing (Plamondon et al., 2021; Sharpe et al., 2021; Toseeb et al., 2020b; Toseeb & Wolke, 2022; van der Cruijsen & Boyer, 2021). However, no previous studies have ever tested the mediating role of self-esteem in this association. Taken from there, the current thesis⁸ confirmed that sibling bullying is an indirect risk factor for mental health and wellbeing through self-esteem in

⁸ Note: The role of self-esteem between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing could not be tested in Turkish families due to using existing data i.e., Millennium Cohort Study.

British autistic adolescents. There is some closely supporting evidence in the peer bullying literature; self-esteem has been reported as a significant mediator in the associations between peer bullying and mental health (Yang et al., 2022; Zhong et al., 2021). However, there are also contradicting arguments in the literature suggesting that bullying a socially vulnerable peer boosts the self-esteem levels of bullies (Pollastri, 2010; Slee & Rigby, 1993). Hence, the current research provides initial insights into the potential mediating role of self-esteem in between sibling bullying and mental health and that more research is needed to support these findings and to test whether this is the case in Turkish autistic adolescents.

Finally, it is important to note that causality must not be drawn on all reported indirect associations, in the current thesis, due to the cross-sectional nature of some tested parameters. This is mainly because there is a possibility for reverse causality or bidirectionality in cross-sectionally reported parameters. For instance, the role of emotion regulation in between sibling bullying and mental health, in the British sample, could be speculated otherwise. More specifically, as reported previously, the link between sibling bullying and emotion regulation is likely bidirectional (Kramer, 2014). That said, it is not yet clear whether emotion dysregulation drives sibling bullying or vice versa. Similar arguments may as well be made for the role of detrimental social behaviours as reduced social functioning may as well lead to increased risks for sibling bullying (Toseeb et al., 2020b). However, it is, perhaps, meaningful to argue for a causal mediator role of self-esteem in between sibling bullying and mental health in British autistic adolescents as this association was tested in a longitudinal mediation model which allows for causal inferences (Hayes, 2009).

8.2.5 Covid-19 May Led To Inconsistent Rates of Sibling Bullying Across Cultures

Although it is not within the scope of this thesis to explore the reasons for the crosscultural differences identified between British and Turkish families, some of the current findings may guide future researchers as to where to find potential underlying causes of particular cross-cultural differences. For instance, Study II indicated slightly higher rates of sibling bullying in British than Turkish families. The reasons for this have remained unclear. However, looking at the findings from Study IV, one might argue that higher levels and stringency of Covid-19 measures in place in British culture, than in Turkish culture, may have boosted the instances of sibling bullying in British families beyond the rates in Turkish families. More specifically, British autistic adolescents spent a significantly higher amount of time together with their siblings and had lower parental supervision than their Turkish peers which may have further boosted sibling bullying instances in this culture (Toseeb, 2022; Tucker et al., 2014; Wolke et al., 2015). However, it is important to note that these are only speculations over the limited findings in the current thesis and, therefore, may not reflect the actual reasons underlying such cross-cultural variations in the prevalence rates of sibling bullying. Future researchers are advised to investigate whether differences in the contingency of Covid-19 measures together with time siblings spent together and parental supervision lead to cross-cultural variations in the prevalence of sibling bullying.

8.2.6 Parental Responses to Sibling Bullying Seem to Be Consistent Across Cultures

The current thesis identified more similarities than differences in parental responses to sibling bullying across British and Turkish families. More specifically, in both cultures, three common parental responses to sibling bullying were found: *direct, indirect,* and *no intervention*. Not only is this finding consistent across British and Turkish families, but it also aligns well with the existing findings from other cultures. For instance, an investigation of European-American families suggested that these families also apply three different common reactions to sibling conflict, namely *passive active no intervention/non-involvement, direct intervention/intervene, and indirect intervention/coach*, which closely resembles the current findings (Kramer et al., 1999; McHale et al., 2000). Furthermore, a study of French-Canadian families (Bouchard et al., 2019) has also indicated three common parental intervention styles

to sibling conflict namely parental *non-involvement* (i.e., uninvolved), *coaching* (i.e., indirect), and *parental control* (i.e., direct) which also closely aligns with what the current thesis reports. Thus, the present cross-cultural findings, together with pre-existing evidence from single-culture studies, point to cross-cultural consistency in parental response styles to sibling conflict and bullying.

8.3 Strengths

The current thesis holds several strengths in terms of its originality, methodological quality, and reporting of findings. In terms of its originality, to the best of my knowledge, the current thesis has been the first to investigate certain unexplored dynamics of sibling bullying. For example, the current thesis outlines the first study reporting the prevalence of sibling bullying in Turkish adolescents, i.e., the general population, while also validating the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (SBQ) in this new population (Study I). Additionally, the current thesis has been the first to investigate cross-cultural variations in the prevalence, precursors, and outcomes of sibling bullying in families of autistic adolescents (Study II). Moreover, this thesis has been the first to unlock the indirect pathways between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing in autistic adolescents (Study II and Study III). Furthermore, the current thesis has been the first to suggest that sibling bullying is linked to increased detrimental social behaviours and reduced emotion regulation and self-esteem in British autistic adolescents. Finally, the current thesis, for the first time, has suggested that measuring cumulative risk exposure may be meaningful when reporting precursors of sibling bullying, instead of a limited focus on individual risk factors that are likely to confound one another (Study II).

In terms of its methodological strengths, first, the sample of Study III comes from a UK-based, nationally representative birth cohort study (i.e., Millennium Cohort Study) which improves the generalisability of the reported findings. Second, the use of standardised scales,

i.e., reliable and valid, in measuring the interest variables throughout the thesis, i.e., Study I-II-III, significantly improves the reliability and consistency of findings within- and betweencultures. On this, the translation and validation of the Sibling Bullying Questionnaire in the Turkish culture have further improved the consistency in conceptualisation and reporting of sibling bullying across two distant cultures. Third, the focus on both parent report (Study II) and child self-report (Study I & Study III) has potentially improved the sensitivity of the reported findings as it is not yet clear whether autistic adolescents or their parents are better reporters of autistic adolescents' sibling bullying experiences and subsequent mental health outcomes than another⁹.

Finally, in terms of its strengths in reporting findings, the use of advanced statistical techniques¹⁰ to handle missing data improved the power of analysis and reduced the likelihood of biased estimates in the current thesis. Additionally, the use of structural equation modelling (SEM), instead of simple regressions, provided several advantages in terms of the simultaneous test of multiple associations, the test of complex model structures, and the evaluation of model fits and measurement errors. The SEM also allowed for confirming the factor structure of the newly translated SBQ. Finally, the use of SEM was also advantageous in building latent structures of the mental health outcomes (i.e., internalising

⁹ On the one hand, parents may not be aware of or witness sibling bullying between their autistic and nonautistic children due to the fact that it often happens behind closed doors, thus, underreport their bullying experiences (Dantchev, & Zemp, 2022). On the other hand, common pre-existing mental health difficulties of autistic adolescents may lead them to over-perceive and over-report their sibling bullying experiences than their actual levels (Bowes et al., 2014). Notwithstanding, autistic individuals may also misinterpret their bullying involvement as non-bullying, thus, underreport their bullying experiences (Van Roekel et al., 2010). Similarly, while parents may be better at reporting their child's externalising problems, adolescents may be better at reporting their internalising problems (Van der Meer, et al., 2008).

¹⁰ For example, multiple imputations by chained equations, Full Information Maximum Likelihood.

and externalising problems) of autistic adolescents, where enough power was in place (i.e., Study II).

8.4. Limitations

The current thesis also holds several limitations which could be categorised under four sections: 1) sex/gender representation, 2) sensitivity of measures, 3) potential confounding impact, 4) test of causal models using cross-sectional data (Study II), and 5) limited scope. Hence, all findings reported in the current thesis should be interpreted within the scope of these limitations.

In terms of sex/gender representation, the samples of three studies (Study I, II, and III) in the current thesis have been predominantly male/boys, more than 70%, which extensively limits the representation of females/girls. Although males are 4 times more likely to be diagnosed with autism than females, the ongoing arguments suggest that this may be due to the masking and camouflaging tendency in females (Gould, 2017; Sedgewick et al., 2021). In this case, females/girls may likely be underrepresented in the current thesis. Additionally, Study II and Study IV, in the current thesis, are based on parent-report data which comprised mostly (90%) mothers. That is, fathers' views were underrepresented in these two studies.

In regard to the potential confounding impact, given the observational nature of the data and non-random recruitment of samples in the current thesis, it is likely that the reported findings suffer from potential unmeasured confounding impacts. For example, the current thesis did not control for the other type of bullying experiences such as peer bullying which is likely to confound the correlations between sibling bullying and its subsequent outcomes (i.e., social and emotional dysfunction and mental health and wellbeing). Additionally, given that sibling bullying is linked to various individual and family characteristics, there may be many other individual- and family-level factors, e.g., pre-existing mental health difficulties,

parent-child relationships, interparental conflict, that could not be controlled in the current thesis but hold the potential to confound the associations between reported risk factors and sibling bullying.

Concerning the cross-sectional test of causal models, Study II, in the current thesis, reports indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health through social and emotional dysfunction. In the existing literature (Hayes, 2009), such models are identified as mediation models and suggested to be indicators of causal associations. However, the cross-sectional reporting of indirect associations is, to some extent, problematic as the direction of the effect could not be inferred. Therefore, although a causal model has been tested in Study II, no causal inferences should be concluded based on these findings.

Finally, in terms of its limited scope, first, following the double-empathy problem theory, Study II and Study III, in the current thesis, focus on families formed by autistic and non-autistic siblings. Additionally, since little to no information is available regarding the characteristics of siblings of the cohort members in the Millennium Cohort Study, i.e., Study III sample, the sibling compositions in this sample, e.g., autistic-autistic, autistic-non-autistic, could not be known. Due to this limitation, it is not possible to suggest whether findings from the current thesis inform in regard to the dynamics of sibling bullying in otherwise formed families (e.g., autistic-autistic). Second, the current thesis exclusively focuses on the outcomes of autistic siblings, therefore, it does not inform regarding the impacts of sibling bullying on the developmental outcomes of non-autistic siblings. This is problematic as sibling bullying experiences are likely to cause similar or even worse detrimental outcomes for non-autistic siblings too. Finally, although the current thesis reports the dynamics of sibling bullying in a cross-cultural context, the reported findings are limited to a single Western (UK) and non-Western (Turkey) culture and, thus, should not be generalised to all Western and non-Western cultures.

8.5 Practical Implications

Findings from individual studies, in the current thesis, lead to several practical implications which can be categorised under two main themes, namely preventing sibling bullying and minimising its potentially deteriorating effects on mental health and wellbeing. Practical implications for preventing sibling bullying include the following: 1) parental response to sibling bullying, 2) eliminating or controlling risk factors of sibling bullying, 3) practical suggestions for autistic and non-autistic siblings, and 4) suggestions for how to design effective sibling bullying intervention programmes. Alternative strategies to buffer the negative impact of sibling bullying, where prevention seems not feasible or possible, include promoting the social and emotional functioning and mental health of autistic adolescents.

In terms of effective parental response to sibling bullying, although the current thesis does not report what type of parental response to sibling bullying is more effective than others, it has explored how British and Turkish parents¹¹ intervene in sibling bullying. Although an overwhelming majority of parents said they would directly or indirectly intervene in sibling bullying when witnessed, a few mentioned that they would take no actions to intervene in the situation. Some of these parents, mainly British, said this is due to their uncertainty regarding how to respond to sibling bullying. Not intervening in sibling bullying is problematic as parental non-intervention in sibling bullying increases subsequent sibling bullying experiences. Additionally, some instances of harsh parenting¹² were observed, especially in Turkish families which is also a risk factor for sibling bullying. As a practical implication, seeking professional advice in terms of how to handle sibling bullying, instead of not intervening or showing harsh parenting may be effective in reducing the risk of subsequent sibling bullying in such families.

¹¹ This is mostly mothers (i.e., more than 80%).

¹² i.e., using punishments, disciplining the bully or the non-autistic child only.

In terms of eliminating or controlling some risk factors of sibling bullying, the current findings indicate that certain, but not all, risk factors of sibling bullying could be eliminated which may further prevent or ease instances of sibling bullying. For instance, in the light of findings from Study III, providing autistic and non-autistic siblings with their own bedroom is likely to reduce the instances of sibling bullying as sharing a bedroom was found to increase the risk of sibling bullying. Additionally, although certain risk factors can not be prevented (e.g., siblings' gender composition, the severity of autistic traits, physical power imbalance between siblings), increased parental attention and supervision where such risk factors are in place may buffer the risk of sibling bullying. Moreover, in families formed by autistic and non-autistic sibling pairs, both siblings may fail to take the other's point of view (i.e., the double empathy problem) which increases the risks of sibling bullying. That said, for parents in such families, promoting empathy between two siblings may be an effective strategy to minimise the likelihood of future sibling bullying instances.

To the best of my knowledge, no past studies have ever presented any practical implications for siblings in terms of how they can minimise or prevent being victimised by their sibling or bullying a sibling at home. In terms of sibling victimisation, the findings of the current thesis suggest that not disclosing sibling bullying experiences to parents may reinforce the bullies' actions and increase the likelihood of subsequent sibling bullying. To minimise this, both autistic and non-autistic adolescents are advised to speak to their parents about their sibling bullying experiences so that their parents can take preventive measures. Though, in some cases, parents may normalise such instances and see them as part of daily sibling interaction, and therefore, choose not to intervene. In such cases, children may choose to disclose their sibling bullying experiences to others, such as another sibling, teacher, or another relative (e.g., grandmother), which may further discourage the bully from taking such actions. Additionally, for non-autistic siblings, it is important to be aware of their autistic

siblings' social, behavioural, and emotional difficulties and acknowledge that their siblings may not be aware of their bullying actions. Talking to their autistic siblings about how they feel when their autistic siblings show bullying behaviours may help the autistic sibling realise the harmful effects of their behaviours which may reduce their bullying actions.

Findings from the current thesis provide important practical implications for designing effective sibling bullying prevention programmes with a particular focus on eliminating individual- and family-level risk factors of sibling bullying. In terms of targeting individual-level risk factors, given that certain behavioural and emotional characteristics of autistic adolescents are likely to serve as risk factors for increased sibling bullying, such as highly aggressive and coercive behaviours, interventions targeting such developmental areas of autistic siblings may be effective in reducing subsequent instances of sibling bullying. In terms of family-level risk factors, since parenting practices, i.e., harsh parenting, parental differential treatment and favouritism, and parental non-intervention to sibling bullying are risk factors for subsequent sibling bullying, practitioners may choose to focus on such parenting practices to prevent future sibling bullying instances. Moreover, the cross-cultural findings from the current thesis (Study II) highlight the need for intervention programmes tailored to the cultural dynamics, as individual- and family-level precursors of sibling bullying vary across cultures. Thus, professionals and practitioners are strongly advised to focus on culture-specific needs to design effective intervention programmes. Finally, given that individuals who are involved in sibling bullying are likely to experience peer bullying, school policies and intervention programmes targeting peer bullying could be broadened to also target bullying experiences at home which would likely reduce both sibling and peer bullying instances altogether.

There are also some practical implications for parents and professionals to minimise the deteriorating impacts of sibling bullying on the mental health and wellbeing of autistic

307

adolescents, where prevention of sibling bullying seems not possible for various reasons. In some cases, preventing sibling bullying may not be entirely feasible due to several reasons, for example, sibling bullying often happens behind closed doors, autistic children may not be aware of their bullying involvement, either as the bully or the victim, and some autistic children (e.g., non-verbal) may not be able to disclose such experiences to their parents. In these cases, parents and professionals may choose to focus on minimising the deteriorating impacts of sibling bullying on the developmental outcomes of autistic adolescents. Minimising the detrimental effects of sibling bullying on autistic adolescents is also likely to result in reduced rates of subsequent sibling bullying. More specifically, findings from the current thesis have shown indirect links between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing through social¹³ and emotional functioning¹⁴ in autistic adolescents. These findings are important as they imply that promoting the social and emotional functioning of autistic adolescents is likely to buffer the detrimental impacts of sibling bullying on their mental health and wellbeing. Additionally, given that pre-existing mental health difficulties increase the risk for subsequent sibling bullying involvement (Katsantonis, 2022), protecting the mental health and wellbeing of autistic adolescents from the deteriorating impacts of sibling bullying is also likely to serve as a protective factor for subsequent sibling bullying involvement.

8.6 Directions for Future Research

The current thesis provides several important directions for future researchers which are conceptualised around four main themes: 1) reliable and consistent conceptualisation and measurement of sibling bullying, 2) testing of direct and indirect precursors and outcomes of sibling bullying, 3) controlling for potential confounding effects, 4) expanding cross-cultural

¹³ i.e., detrimental social behaviours.

¹⁴ i.e., emotion regulation and self-esteem.

understanding of the dynamics of sibling bullying, 5) exploring broader precursors and outcomes of sibling bullying in autistic adolescents, and 6) other suggestions.

First, the literature keeps growing on inconsistent findings due to a lack of common practice in reporting the dynamics of sibling bullying (Brett et al., 2023). To overcome this, the current thesis suggests future researchers stick to the definition of sibling bullying conceptualised by Wolke and colleagues (2015) as it is the most comprehensive definition of sibling bullying adapted from the general bullying literature. Additionally, this thesis suggests future researchers use standardised scales in measuring sibling bullying.

Second, it is not yet clear whether adolescents or their parents are better reporters of adolescents' sibling bullying experiences, especially when a child is autistic. Given that autistic adolescents may not be fully aware of their sibling bullying experiences, both victimisation and perpetration, as they may not be able to conceptualise such instances as bullying, they may under-report their bullying experiences. Additionally, social communication difficulties of autistic children, i.e., being non-verbal, may further limit their abilities to report their sibling bullying experiences. Notwithstanding, pre-existing mental health difficulties, which are more common in autistic than non-autistic children, may lead them to over-perceive and over-report their bullying experiences (Bowes et al., 2014). Therefore, to control for such potential reporting bias, similar to Dantchev and Zemp's (2022) suggestion, the current thesis directs future researchers to integrate child-, sibling-, and parent reports for the most accurate measurement of sibling bullying. Finally, a focus on cross-cultural variations in cross-informant agreement in bullying is needed to understand parental awareness of sibling bullying across cultures.

Third, findings from the current thesis have shown, for the first time, that sibling bullying is indirectly correlated with mental health and wellbeing through third factors¹⁵ in

¹⁵ i.e., detrimental social behaviours, emotion regulation, self-esteem.

autistic adolescents. Unlocking the potential indirect paths between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing is highly important for two reasons. First, in cases where the prevention of sibling bullying seems not feasible (e.g., child's non-disclosure, parental normalisation, etc.), promoting the factors that play a role in the relationship between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing may protect such developmental outcomes from the deteriorating impacts of sibling bullying. Second, it is evident that pre-existing mental health difficulties increase the risk of subsequent sibling bullying (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019; Katsantonis, 2022). That said, protecting the mental health and wellbeing of individuals by promoting such factors in between sibling bullying and mental health is likely to result in a reduced likelihood of subsequent sibling bullying in the future. Therefore, the current thesis strongly encourages future researchers to unlock other potential indirect paths between sibling bullying and mental health and wellbeing to be able to minimise the detrimental impacts of sibling bullying and its future prevention.

Fourth, just like the indirect correlation between sibling bullying and its developmental outcomes, it may as well be indirectly predicted by its precursors. For instance, although the current findings have suggested that lower autistic traits and being latediagnosed with autism are precursors of sibling bullying, these risk factors are likely to have indirect links with sibling bullying, e.g., increased social sibling interactions. Similarly, being a male and having a male sibling are suggested to increase the risk of sibling bullying, though it is not sensible to suggest that individuals' sex predicts such instances. It is most likely the case that being a male or having a male sibling leads to other third factors which, in turn, result in sibling bullying. For instance, previous researchers indicated that males are less likely to disclose their sibling bullying to their parents than females (Hunter et al., 2004), which is likely to result in parental non-awareness and non-intervention which is a risk factor for increased sibling bullying (Bouchard et al., 2019). Similarly, bystanders of male bullying are less likely to intervene than bystanders of female bullying (Cowie, 2000), which may be one triggering reason for increased sibling bullying amongst males. Hence, although it appears that some precursors of sibling bullying may be indirect risk factors, instead of direct risk factors, to the best of my knowledge, no previous studies, including the current thesis, have ever tested this yet. Therefore, future researchers are urged to test the potential indirect links between sibling bullying and its precursors, preferably in longitudinal research designs to draw causality.

Fifth, given the non-randomised, observational nature of all previous studies on sibling bullying, including the findings of the current thesis, there is a great possibility that some of the reported parameters, precursors and outcomes, are confounded by other potential correlates of sibling bullying. For instance, in the current thesis, parameter estimates between sibling bullying and developmental outcomes¹⁶ are not controlled for peer bullying which is highly prevalent and associated with both sibling bullying and its subsequent outcomes, and thus, holds the potential to confound its parameter estimates. Additionally, the limited testing of precursors of sibling bullying, in both previous research and the current thesis, raises concerns over potential false-positive results as such precursors may turn out to be not significant upon testing with all other potential precursors of sibling bullying. To minimise the confounding bias, future researchers are advised to replicate past and current findings on sibling bullying by controlling for potential confounding factors, either through testing of all potential confounders or the use of advanced statistical analysis techniques, such as propensity score matching.

Sixth, to the best of my knowledge, the current thesis has been the first cross-cultural investigation of sibling bullying. Although this provides great advantages for cross-cultural understanding of the dynamics of sibling bullying, i.e., prevalence, risk factors, and

¹⁶ i.e., social skills, detrimental social behaviours, emotion regulation, self-esteem, mental health, wellbeing.

outcomes, findings are limited to British and Turkish families only. Given that findings of the current thesis indicated that prevalence, precursors, and outcomes of sibling bullying vary across a Western and a non-Western culture, a wider cross-cultural investigation of this phenomenon strikes more important than ever as past research in the literature has mainly built on findings from Western-cultures. To overcome this, future researchers are advised to conduct a multi-country study of sibling bullying where they test for cross-cultural variations in the prevalence, culture-specific risk factors, and outcomes of sibling bullying.

Seventh, past research, including the current thesis, has focused on the implications of sibling bullying on one sibling's developmental outcomes while broader outcomes of sibling bullying have commonly remained unexplored. For instance, previous research, including the current thesis, has commonly reported the implications of sibling bullying on the target sibling's (e.g., the autistic child (Study II), the cohort member (Study III)) developmental outcomes due to feasibility reasons while outcomes of siblings have largely remained unknown. Additionally, previous research has focused on the impacts of parents (e.g., parenting characteristics) on sibling bullying while, to the best of my knowledge, no research has reported potentially detrimental impacts of sibling bullying on parental outcomes (e.g., parental distress). Moreover, sibling bullying is also likely to influence broader developmental outcomes of target siblings, such as academic outcomes, intimate relationships, life and career goals and so on, which have so far remained unexplored. Based on this, the current thesis advises future researchers to take a broader focus on the implications of sibling bullying on wider outcomes for both siblings as well as parents.

There are also some final suggestions. To begin with, Study III has shown that latediagnosed autistic adolescents are at a greater risk for sibling bullying than those who were early-diagnosed. Given that females are more likely to be missed on or late-diagnosed with autism than males, late-diagnosed female autistic adolescents may be more prone to sibling bullying than male autistic adolescents. Though this could not be tested in the current thesis due to sample power restrictions, therefore, future researchers are invited to look into this matter. Furthermore, the current thesis reports the dynamics of sibling bullying in families where a child is autistic which provides insights to otherwise formed families. Therefore, future research is advised to explore sibling bullying in families formed by autistic – autistic siblings in a cross-cultural context. Finally, current findings provide initial insights into the indirect links between sibling bullying and mental health with no substantial supporting evidence in the literature, thus, more research is needed to replicate these findings.

8.7 General Conclusions

Sibling bullying is highly prevalent in the lives of British and Turkish autistic adolescents and leads to detrimental mental health outcomes. Therefore, it should not be regarded as a normative part of daily sibling interactions. The inconsistency in the measurement practices of sibling bullying potentially degrades the scale of the problem as the reported prevalence rates do not align from one to another research. Improved practices around a standard conceptualisation and measurement of sibling bullying are urgently needed to reveal the scale of the problem. After many decades of failure in preventing sibling bullying instances, the current findings bring new hopes in terms of alternative preventative measures such as manipulating factors that link sibling bullying to mental health. Given that our society has invested a lot of resources in preventing mental health difficulties at early ages, directing such funding sources into research on sibling bullying, a threat to the mental health of children and adolescents, would likely contribute to such goals in our society. Finally, increased parental attention and supervision are needed at times when children are forced to spend an excessive amount of time together, e.g., lockdown, or social isolation, as such measures further trigger sibling bullying instances at home.

References

Bauminger, N. (2002). The facilitation of social-emotional understanding and social interaction in high-functioning children with autism: Intervention outcomes. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, *32*, 283-298.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1016378718278

- Bouchard, G., Plamondon, A., & Lachance-Grzela, M. (2019). Parental intervention style and adult sibling conflicts: The mediating role of involvement in sibling bullying. *Journal of social and personal relationships*, *36*(8), 2585-2602.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407518793227
- Bouchard, G., & Sonier, N. A. (2023). Relationship between sibling bullying, family functioning, and problem solving: A structural equation modeling. *Current Psychology*, 42(14), 11565-11574. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-02475-z
- Bowes, L., Wolke, D., Joinson, C., Lereya, S. T., & Lewis, G. (2014). Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*, 134(4), e1032-e1039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2014-0832</u>
- Brett, H., Bartoli, A. J., & Smith, P. K. (2023). Sibling bullying during childhood: A scoping review. Aggression and Violent Behavior, 101862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2023.101862
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Harvard university press.
- Button, D. M., & Gealt, R. (2010). High risk behaviors among victims of sibling violence. *Journal of family violence*, 25, 131-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-009-9276-x</u>
- Cappadocia, M. C., Weiss, J. A., & Pepler, D. (2012). Bullying experiences among children and youth with autism spectrum d https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1241-

xisorders. Journal of autism and developmental disorders, 42, 266-277. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1241-x

- Chan, K. K. S., & Lam, C. B. (2016). Parental maltreatment of children with autism spectrum disorder: A developmental-ecological analysis. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 32, 106-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2016.09.006
- Chan, K. K. S., & Leung, D. C. K. (2020). The impact of child autistic symptoms on parental marital relationship: Parenting and coparenting processes as mediating mechanisms. *Autism Research*, 13(9), 1516-1526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2297</u>
- Cook, C. R., Williams, K. R., Guerra, N. G., Kim, T. E., & Sadek, S. (2010). Predictors of bullying and victimization in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic investigation. *School psychology quarterly*, 25(2), 65. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0020149</u>
- Cowie, H. (2000). Bystanding or standing by: Gender issues in coping with bullying in English schools. *Aggressive Behavior: Official Journal of the International Society for Research on Aggression*, 26(1), 85-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-</u> 2337(2000)26:1%3C85::AID-AB7%3E3.0.CO;2-5
- Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). Sibling bullying at 12 years and high-risk behavior in early adulthood: A prospective cohort study. *Aggressive behavior*, 45(1), 18-32. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21793
- Dantchev, S., Hickman, M., Heron, J., Zammit, S., & Wolke, D. (2019). The independent and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying in childhood on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in adulthood. *Frontiers in psychiatry*, *10*, 651. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651
- Dantchev, S., & Zemp, M. (2022). Does bullying occur behind closed doors? Agreement of bullying reports between parents and children and its differential associations with child

outcomes. Children, 9(10), 1440. https://doi.org/10.3390/children9101440

- Duncan, R. D. (1999). Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extrafamilial bullying. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *14*(8), 871–886. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626099014008005
- Enea, V., & Rusu, D. M. (2020). Raising a child with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of the literature investigating parenting stress. *Journal of Mental Health Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, *13*(4), 283-321.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/19315864.2020.1822962
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2006). All in the family? Family environment factors in sibling violence. *Journal of family violence*, 21, 497-507. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298
- Eriksen, S., & Jensen, V. (2009). A push or a punch: Distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(1), 183–208.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508316298
- Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Ormrod, R. (2006). Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child abuse & neglect*, 30(12), 1401-1421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006.
- Fite, P. J., Cooley, J. L., Tampke, E. C., Hesse, D. R., & Doyle, R. L. (2022). The Role of Emotion Dysregulation in the Links Between Sibling Victimization and Internalizing Symptoms in Middle Childhood. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 44(2), 560-569. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-022-09956-w
- Fox, C. L., & Boulton, M. J. (2005). The social skills problems of victims of bullying: Self, peer and teacher perceptions. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75(2), 313-328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/000709905X25517</u>
- Gini, G., Albiero, P., Benelli, B., & Altoe, G. (2007). Does empathy predict adolescents'

bullying and defending behavior?. *Aggressive Behavior: Official Journal of the International Society for Research on Aggression*, *33*(5), 467-476. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20204

- Gould, J. (2017). Towards understanding the under-recognition of girls and women on the autism spectrum. *Autism*, 21(6), 703-705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361317706174</u>
- Hall, H. R., & Graff, J. C. (2011). The relationships among adaptive behaviors of children with autism, family support, parenting stress, and coping. *Issues in comprehensive pediatric nursing*, 34(1), 4-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/01460862.2011.555270</u>
- Hartley, S. L., Barker, E. T., Seltzer, M. M., Floyd, F., Greenberg, J., Orsmond, G., & Bolt,
 D. (2010). The relative risk and timing of divorce in families of children with an autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 24(4), 449.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0019847
- Hartley, S. L., Hickey, E. J., DaWalt, L., & Rodriguez, G. (2019). Broader autism phenotype and couple interactions in parents of children with autism. *Autism*, 23(8), 2068-2079.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361319841312
- Hawley, P. H. (1999). The ontogenesis of social dominance: A strategy-based evolutionary perspective. *Developmental review*, 19(1), 97-132.
 https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.1998.0470
- Hayes, A. F. (2009). Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millennium. *Communication monographs*, 76(4), 408-420. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637750903310360
- Hayes, S. A., & Watson, S. L. (2013). The impact of parenting stress: A meta-analysis of studies comparing the experience of parenting stress in parents of children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 43, 629-642. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1604-y</u>

- Hebron, J., & Humphrey, N. (2014). Exposure to bullying among students with autism spectrum conditions: A multi-informant analysis of risk and protective factors. *Autism*, 18(6), 618-630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361313495965</u>
- Hoetger, L. A., Hazen, K. P., & Brank, E. M. (2015). All in the family: A retrospective study comparing sibling bullying and peer bullying. *Journal of Family Violence*, *30*, 103-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-014-9651-0</u>
- Humphrey, N., & Hebron, J. (2015). Bullying of children and adolescents with autism spectrum conditions: A 'state of the field'review. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 19(8), 845-862. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2014.981602</u>
- Hunter, S. C., Boyle, J. M., & Warden, D. (2004). Help seeking amongst child and adolescent victims of peer-aggression and bullying: The influence of school-stage, gender, victimisation, appraisal, and emotion. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 74(3), 375-390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/0007099041552378</u>
- Játiva, R., & Cerezo, M. A. (2014). The mediating role of self-compassion in the relationship between victimization and psychological maladjustment in a sample of adolescents. *Child abuse & neglect*, *38*(7), 1180-1190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.04.005
- Johnson, N., Frenn, M., Feetham, S., & Simpson, P. (2011). Autism spectrum disorder: parenting stress, family functioning and health-related quality of life. *Families, systems,* & health, 29(3), 232. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0025341</u>
- Kagitcibasi, C., & Berry, J. W. (1989). Cross-cultural psychology: Current research and trends. *Annual review of psychology*, 40(1), 493-531.
 https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.ps.40.020189.002425
- Katsantonis, I. (2022). The mediating role of school and sibling bullying in the relationship between subjective well-being and mental health symptoms. *Psych*, 4(2), 258-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/psych4020022</u>

- Kennedy, D. E., & Kramer, L. (2008). Improving emotion regulation and sibling relationship quality: The more fun with sisters and brothers program. *Family Relations*, 57(5), 567-578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2008.00523.x</u>
- Kloosterman, P. H., Kelley, E. A., Parker, J. D., & Craig, W. M. (2014). Executive functioning as a predictor of peer victimization in adolescents with and without an autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(3), 244-254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2013.12.006
- Kramer, L., Perozynski, L. A., & Chung, T. Y. (1999). Parental responses to sibling conflict: The effects of development and parent gender. *Child Development*, 70(6), 1401-1414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00102</u>
- Kramer, L. (2014). Learning emotional understanding and emotion regulation through sibling interaction. *Early Education and Development*, 25(2), 160-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2014.838824</u>
- Libster, N., Knox, A., Engin, S., Geschwind, D., Parish-Morris, J., & Kasari, C. (2022). Personal victimization experiences of autistic and non-autistic children. *Molecular autism*, 13(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-022-00531-4
- Liu, X., Wolloh Ii, M. G., Lin, X., Qiu, X., Qing, Z., Wang, W., ... & Lu, D. (2021). The association between sibling bullying and psychotic-like experiences among children age 11–16 years in China. *Journal of affective disorders*, 284, 31-37.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.01.073
- Mazefsky, C. A., Borue, X., Day, T. N., & Minshew, N. J. (2014). Emotion regulation patterns in adolescents with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder: Comparison to typically developing adolescents and association with psychiatric symptoms. *Autism Research*, 7(3), 344-354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1366</u>

Mascha, K., & Boucher, J. (2006). Preliminary investigation of a qualitative method of

examining siblings' experiences of living with a child with ASD. *The British Journal of Development Disabilities*, *52*(102), 19-28. https://doi.org/10.1179/096979506799103659

- McDonnell, C. G., Boan, A. D., Bradley, C. C., Seay, K. D., Charles, J. M., & Carpenter, L.
 A. (2019). Child maltreatment in autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability:
 Results from a population-based sample. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 60(5), 576-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12993</u>
- McHale, S. M., Updegraff, K. A., Tucker, C. J., & Crouter, A. C. (2000). Step in or stay out?
 Parents' roles in adolescent siblings' relationships. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 62(3), 746-760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00746.x</u>
- McLaughlin, K. A., Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Mennin, D. S., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2011). Emotion dysregulation and adolescent psychopathology: A prospective study. *Behaviour research and therapy*, 49(9), 544-554. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2011.06.003</u>
- Menesini, E., Camodeca, M., & Nocentini, A. (2010). Bullying among siblings: The role of personality and relational variables. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 28(4), 921–939. <u>https://doi.org/10.1348/026151009X479402</u>
- Meyer, D., & Vadasy, P. (2013). Meeting the unique concerns of brothers and sisters of children with special needs. In *Families in Context* (pp. 62-75). David Fulton Publishers.
- Milton, D. E. (2012). On the ontological status of autism: The 'double empathy problem'. *Disability & society*, 27(6), 883-887.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09687599.2012.710008
- Mokoena, N., & Kern, A. (2022). Experiences of siblings to children with autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *13*, 959117. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.959117</u>
- Nealy, C. E., O'Hare, L., Powers, J. D., & Swick, D. C. (2012). The impact of autism spectrum disorders on the family: A qualitative study of mothers' perspectives. *Journal* of Family Social Work, 15(3), 187-201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2012.675624</u>

- Nowell, K. P., Brewton, C. M., & Goin-Kochel, R. P. (2014). A multi-rater study on being teased among children/adolescents with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and their typically developing siblings: associations with ASD symptoms. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 29(4), 195-205.
 <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1177/1088357614522292</u>
- Patterson, G. R., Littman, R. A., & Bricker, W. (1967). Assertive behavior in children: A step toward a theory of aggression. *Monographs of the society for research in child development*, 32(5), iii-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1165737</u>
- Paul, A., Gallot, C., Lelouche, C., Bouvard, M. P., & Amestoy, A. (2018). Victimisation in a French population of children and youths with autism spectrum disorder: a case control study. *Child and adolescent psychiatry and mental health*, *12*(1), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-018-0256-x
- Peng, C., Wang, Z., Yu, Y., Cheng, J., Qiu, X., & Liu, X. (2022). Co-occurrence of sibling and peer bullying victimization and depression and anxiety among Chinese adolescents: The role of sexual orientation. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *131*, 105684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2022.105684
- Petalas, M. A., Hastings, R. P., Nash, S., Reilly, D., & Dowey, A. (2012). The perceptions and experiences of adolescent siblings who have a brother with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, *37*(4), 303-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/13668250.2012.734603</u>
- Plamondon, A., Bouchard, G., & Lachance-Grzela, M. (2021). Family dynamics and young adults' well-being: The mediating role of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 36(9-10), NP5362-NP5384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518800313</u>
- Pollastri, A. R., Cardemil, E. V., & O'Donnell, E. H. (2010). Self-esteem in pure bullies and bully/victims: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 25(8), 1489-

1502. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260509354579

- Qing, Z., Ma, Y., & Liu, X. (2022). Prevalence and associated family factors of sibling bullying among Chinese children and adolescents. *Frontiers in psychology*, 4169. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.892598
- Rieffe, C., Camodeca, M., Pouw, L. B., Lange, A. M., & Stockmann, L. (2012). Don't anger me! Bullying, victimization, and emotion dysregulation in young adolescents with ASD. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 9(3), 351-370. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2012.680302
- Rowley, E., Chandler, S., Baird, G., Simonoff, E., Pickles, A., Loucas, T., & Charman, T. (2012). The experience of friendship, victimization and bullying in children with an autism spectrum disorder: Associations with child characteristics and school placement. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 6(3), 1126-1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2012.03.004
- Sabah, A., Aljaberi, M. A., Lin, C. Y., & Chen, H. P. (2022). The Associations between Sibling Victimization, Sibling Bullying, Parental Acceptance–Rejection, and School Bullying. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 19(23), 16346. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192316346
- Schwartz, D., & Proctor, L. J. (2000). Community violence exposure and children's social adjustment in the school peer group: the mediating roles of emotion regulation and social cognition. *Journal of consulting and clinical psychology*, 68(4), 670.

https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-006X.68.4.670

- Sedgewick, F., Hull, L., & Ellis, H. (2021). Autism and masking: How and why people do it, and the impact it can have. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Sharpe, H., Fink, E., Duffy, F., & Patalay, P. (2021). Changes in peer and sibling victimization in early adolescence: longitudinal associations with multiple indices of

mental health in a prospective birth cohort study. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01708-z</u>

- Sim, A., Cordier, R., Vaz, S., & Falkmer, T. (2016). Relationship satisfaction in couples raising a child with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of the literature. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, *31*, 30-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2016.07.004
- Skinner, J. A., & Kowalski, R. M. (2013). Profiles of sibling bullying. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 28(8), 1726-1736. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260512468327
- Slee, P. T., & Rigby, K. (1993). The relationship of Eysenck's personality factors and selfesteem to bully-victim behaviour in Australian schoolboys. *Personality and individual differences*, *14*(2), 371-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(93)90136-Q
- Sreckovic, M. A., Brunsting, N. C., & Able, H. (2014). Victimization of students with autism spectrum disorder: A review of prevalence and risk factors. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 8(9), 1155-1172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2014.06.004</u>
- Sterzing, P. R., Shattuck, P. T., Narendorf, S. C., Wagner, M., & Cooper, B. P. (2012).
 Bullying involvement and autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence and correlates of bullying involvement among adolescents with an autism spectrum disorder. *Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine*, *166*(11), 1058-1064

https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2012.790

- Tippett, N., & Wolke, D. (2015). Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggressive behavior*, 41(1), 14-24. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21557
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., & Wolke, D. (2018). The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(7), 2308–2318.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2

- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Oldfield, J., & Wolke, D. (2020a). Sibling bullying in middle childhood is associated with psychosocial difficulties in early adolescence: The case of individuals with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(5), 1457–1469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04116-8</u>
- Toseeb, U., McChesney, G., Dantchev, S., & Wolke, D. (2020b). Precursors of sibling bullying in middle childhood: Evidence from a UK-based longitudinal cohort study. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 108, 104633.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104633

- Toseeb, U. (2022). Sibling conflict during COVID-19 in families with special educational needs and disabilities. *British journal of educational psychology*, 92(1), 319-339. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12451
- Toseeb, U., & Wolke, D. (2022). Sibling bullying: a prospective longitudinal study of associations with positive and negative mental health during adolescence. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, *51*(5), 940-955. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-021-01495-z</u>
- Tucker, C. J., & Kazura, K. (2013). Parental responses to school-aged children's sibling conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 22, 737-745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-013-9741-2</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014a). Family dynamics and young children's sibling victimization. *Journal of family psychology*, 28(5), 625. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/fam0000016</u>
- Tucker, C. J., Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., & Shattuck, A. M. (2014b). Sibling and peer victimization in childhood and adolescence. *Child abuse & neglect*, 38(10), 1599-1606. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.05.007</u>

Updegraff, K. A., Thayer, S. M., Whiteman, S. D., Denning, D. J., & McHale, S. M. (2005).
Relational aggression in adolescents' sibling relationships: Links to sibling and parentadolescent relationship quality. *Family Relations*, *54*(3), 373-385. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3729.2005.00324.x

van der Cruijsen, R., & Boyer, B. E. (2021). Explicit and implicit self-esteem in youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 25(2), 349-360.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320961006

- Van der Meer, M., Dixon, A., & Rose, D. (2008). Parent and child agreement on reports of problem behaviour obtained from a screening questionnaire, the SDQ. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 17, 491-497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-008-0691-y</u>
- Van Roekel, E., Scholte, R. H., & Didden, R. (2010). Bullying among adolescents with autism spectrum disorders: Prevalence and perception. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 40, 63-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-009-0832-2</u>
- Wainscot, J. J., Naylor, P., Sutcliffe, P., Tantam, D., & Williams, J. V. (2008). Relationships with peers and use of the school environment of mainstream secondary school pupils with Asperger syndrome (high-functioning autism): A case-control study. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, 8(1), 25-38.
- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2012). Bullying among siblings. Int J Adolesc Med Health. .https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh.2012.004
- Wolke, D., Tippett, N., & Dantchev, S. (2015). Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 2(10), 917-929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X</u>
- Wolke, D., & Skew, A. J. (2012). Bullying among siblings. Int J Adolesc Med Health. .https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh.2012.004
- Yang, P., Zhao, S., Li, D., Ma, Y., Liu, J., Chen, X., & French, D. (2022). Bullying victimization and depressive symptoms in Chinese adolescents: a moderated mediation model of self-esteem and friendship intimacy. *Journal of affective disorders*, *319*, 48-56.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2022.09.038

- Zablotsky, B., Bradshaw, C. P., Anderson, C., & Law, P. A. (2013). The association between bullying and the psychological functioning of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, *34*(1), 1-8.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e31827a7c3a
- Zhong, M., Huang, X., Huebner, E. S., & Tian, L. (2021). Association between bullying victimization and depressive symptoms in children: The mediating role of self-esteem. *Journal of affective disorders*, 294, 322-328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.07.016

Appendices

Appendix I: Study-I Supplementary Materials

Table S1

The Turkish Sibling Bullying Questionnaire (T-SBQ)

	Hiç	Sadece	Ayda 2	Yaklaşık	Haftada
		1 veya 2 kez	veya 3 kez	haftada bir kez	birkaç kez
Son 6 ay içerisinde ne sıklıkla herhangi	 bir ka	rdeşin aşağ	jida sıralan	anları sana ka	rşı yaptı?
1- Sana vurdu, seni tekmeledi veya itti,	1	2	3	4	5
veya bunları yapmakla seni tehdit etti.					
2- Sana ait eşyaları veya parayı izinsiz	1	2	3	4	5
aldı veya eşyalarına zarar verdi.					
3- Sana hakaret ve nefret içeren	1	2	3	4	5
kelimelerle hitap etti.					
4- Senin ile alay etti.	1	2	3	4	5
5- Seni bilerek görmezden geldi veya	1	2	3	4	5
arkadaş grubundan dışladı.		_	_		_
6- Senin hakkında yalan söyledi,	1	2	3	4	5
söylentiler yaydı veya başkalarının					
senden nefret etmesi için çalıştı.					_
7- Başka bir şekilde sana zorbalık yaptı.	1	2	3	4	5
Son 6 ay içerisinde sen ne sıklıkla aşağıc	 la sıra	lananları h	erhangi bi	r kardeşine yaj	ptın?
8- Kardeşine vurdun, onu tekmeledin	1	2	3	4	5
veya ittin, veya bunları yapmakla onu					
tehdit ettin.					
9- Kardeşine ait eşyaları veya parayı	1	2	3	4	5
izinsiz aldın veya eşyalarına zarar verdin.					
10- Kardeşine hakaret ve nefret içeren	1	2	3	4	5
kelimelerle hitap ettin.					
11- Kardeşin ile alay ettin.	1	2	3	4	5
12- Kardeşini bilerek görmezden geldin	1	2	3	4	5
veya arkadaş grubundan dışladın.					
13- Kardeşin hakkında yalan söyledin,	1	2	3	4	5
söylentiler yaydın veya başkalarının					
ondan nefret etmesi için çalıştın.					
14- Başka bir şekilde kardeşine zorbalık	1	2	3	4	5
yaptın.					

Collinearity metrics for multiple regression models

	VIF	Tolerance
T-SBQ items		
I was hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved around or they threatened to do this.	2.37	.42
I had things damaged or taken from me, including money.	1.86	.53
I was called nasty and hateful names.	2.56	.39
I was made fun of.	2.37	.42
They kept me out of things on purpose, leaving me out of their group of friends.	1.68	.59
They told lies or spread rumours about me or tried to make others dislike me.	2.02	.49
I was bullied in another way.	1.97	.50
I hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved a brother or sister around, or threatened to do.	2.71	.36
I took money or other things from a brother or sister or damaged their belonging.	1.61	.62
I called a brother or sister nasty and hateful names.	2.97	.33
I made fun of a brother or sister in other ways.	2.55	.39
I kept a brother or sister out of things on purpose, leaving them out of my group of friends.	1.79	.55
I spread rumours about a brother or sister or tried to make others dislike them.	2.29	.43
I bullied in another way.	1.86	.53
Mean	2.19	.47

Note. The VIF and tolerance values were calculated by using the complete case dataset with no imputations.

Missing data and imputed values

Variables	Complete (N)	Imputed (N)	Imputed (%)	Total (N)
Parent's characteristics				
Parent's sex	297	4	1	301
Child Characteristics				
Child's sex	238	63	21	301
Child's age	301	0	0	301
Child's birth order	299	2	1	301
Child's number of siblings	287	14		301
Child's type of school	301	0	0	301
Child's school grade	301	0	0	301
T-SBO items				
I was hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved around or they threatened to do this.	299	2	1	301
I had things damaged or taken from me, including money.	294	7	2	301
I was called nasty and hateful names	289	12	4	301
I was made fun of	294	7	2	301
They kept me out of things on purpose leaving me out of	291	10	3	301
their group of friends	271	10	5	501
They told lies or spread rumours about me or tried to make others dislike me	287	14	5	301
I was bullied in another way	286	15	5	201
I was builled in another way. I hit bioked muched or showed a brother or sister	200	15	5	201
around, or threatened to do.	294	1	2	501
I took money or other things from a brother or sister or damaged their belonging.	297	4	1	301
I called a brother or sister nasty and hateful names.	300	1	3	301
I made fun of a brother or sister in other ways.	300	1	1	301
I kept a brother or sister out of things on purpose, leaving them out of my group of friends.	294	7	2	301
I spread rumours about a brother or sister or tried to make others dislike them.	288	13	4	301
I bullied in another way.	287	14	5	301
Disclosure to parents	294	7	2	301
Disclosure to teacher	271	30	10	301
Disclosure to friends	269	32	11	301
Disclosure to others	248	53	18	301
R-SBO items	210	00	10	501
I called my sibling nasty names and made fun of him/her	287	14	5	301
I kent my sibling out of our group and ignored him/her.	287	19	6	301
I best my sibling and pushed him/her around	282	21	0 7	301
I spread rumours about my sibling to make others dislike	280	21	7	301
them.	280	21	7	301
I damaged my sibling's belongings.	278	23	8	301
I made fun of my sibling's physical appearance or	278	23	8	301
speech.				
I gave my sibling a hard time.	277	24	8	301
I made my sibling afraid of me and I liked it.	278	23	8	301
I showed my sibling that I am the boss.	278	23	8	301

Factor	Eigenvalue	Difference	Proportion	Cumulative
Factor1	6.28	4.67	.44	.44
Factor2	1.60	.59	.11	.56
Factor3	1.01	.13	.07	.63
Factor4	.87	.10	.06	.69
Factor5	.77	.13	.05	.75
Factor6	.63	.10	.04	.80
Factor7	.53	.09	.03	.83
Factor8	.43	.03	.03	.86
Factor9	.40	.04	.02	.89
Factor10	.36	.05	.02	.92
Factor11	.31	.02	.02	.94
Factor12	.29	.04	.02	.96
Factor13	.24	.04	.01	.98
Factor14	20		01	1.00

The factor structure of the T-SBQ according to PCA results

 Factor 14
 .20
 .
 .01
 1.00

 Note: LR test: independent vs. saturated: $chi2(91) = 1856.12 \ Prob>chi2 = 0.0000$

Inter-scale and between subscales correlation coefficients and floor and ceiling effects (N =

301)

Scales / Subscales		1	2	3	4	Floor	Ceiling
1- Victimisation (T-SBQ subscale)	1.00					20%*	1%*
2- Perpetration (T-SBQ subscale)	.76	1.00				22%**	0**
3- The T-SBQ (T-SBQ test scale)	.95	.93	1	1.00		14%***	0%***
4- The R-SBQ (R-SBQ test scale)	.65	.84	•	.79	1.00	27%****	0%****

Note. * refers to a complete case of 274 adolescents, ** refers to a complete case of 284 adolescents, *** refers to a complete case of 262 adolescents, **** refers to a complete case of 269 adolescents.

T-SBQ inter-item correlations

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1- Victim. Physical	1.00						
2- Victim. D. Property	.49	1.00					
3- Victim. Verbal1	.58	.49	1.00				
4- Victim. Verbal2	.56	.45	.66	1.00			
5- Victim. Relational1	.27*	.40	.42	.42	1.00		
6- Victim. Relational2	.26*	.43	.35	.34	.40	1.00	
7- Victim. Other	.40	.45	.42	.44	.49	.45	1.00
8- Perpet. Physical	.69	.44	.59	.58	.33	.28*	.35
9- Perpet. D.Property	.43	.51	.35	.33	.27*	.27*	.23*
10- Perpet. Verbal1	.52	.37	.65	.57	.23*	.30	.31
11- Perpet. Verbal2	.48	.32	.50	.60	.28*	.25*	.33
12- Perpet. Relational1	.26*	.30	.28*	.29*	.37	.44	.25*
13- Perpet. Relational2	.21*	.32	.25*	.29*	.40	.61	.37
14- Perpet. Other	.35	.27*	.38	.39	.28*	.32	.52
8- Perpet. Physical	8 1.00	9	10	11	12	13	14
9- Perpet. D. Property	.45	1.00					
10- Perpet. Verbal1	.66	.44	1.00				
11- Perpet. Verbal2	.61	.39	.70	1.00			
12- Perpet. Relational1	.36	.25*	.35	.42	1.00		
13- Perpet. Relational2	.25*	.33	.29*	.34	.54	1.00	
14- Perpet. Other	.42	.34	.50	.50	.35	.44	1.00

Note: * = < 0.3

	Obs	Min Max	Mean	Std. Dev.	Item Test Cor	Item Rest Cor	Average Interitem	alpha
I was hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved around or they threatened to do this.	301	1-5	2.5	.09	.69	.63	.39	.89
I had things damaged or taken from me, including money.	301	1-5	1.8	.07	.67	.61	.40	.89
I was called nasty and hateful names.	301	1-5	2.5	.08	.74	.69	.39	.89
I was made fun of.	301	1-5	2.5	.08	.73	.68	.39	.89
They kept me out of things on purpose, leaving me out of their group of friends or completely ignoring me.	301	1-5	1.6	.06	.60	.53	.40	.90
They told lies or spread rumours about me, or tried to make others dislike me.	301	1-5	1.3	.05	.61	.53	.40	.89
I was bullied in another way.	301	1-5	1.6	.06	.63	.56	.40	.89
I hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved a brother or sister around, or threatened to do this.	301	1-5	2.3	.08	.74	.69	.39	.89
I took money or other things from a brother or sister or damaged their belongings.	301	1-5	1.5	.05	.59	.51	.41	.90
I called a brother or sister nasty and hateful names.	301	1-5	2.2	.07	.73	.68	.39	.89
I made fun of a brother or sister in other ways.	301	1-5	2.1	.08	.71	.65	.39	.89
I kept a brother or sister out of things on purpose, leaving them out of my group or completely ignored them.	301	1-5	1.4	.05	.59	.51	.41	.90
I spread rumours about a brother or sister or tried to make others dislike them.	301	1-5	1.2	.03	.60	.52	.41	.90
I bullied in another way.	301	1-5	1.5	.05	.63	.56	.40	.89
Test scale							.40	.90

Internal consistency of the T-SBQ (N = 301)

Note. Results from 10 imputed data sets were averaged to report internal consistency of the T-SBQ

		Birth Order		Nur	nber of S	biblings
	Eldest	Middle	Youngest	1	2	3+
	(Boys~Girls)	(Boys~Girls)	(Boys~Girls)	0/	0/	0/
Sibling bullying status	%0	%0	%0	%0	%0	%0
Storing burrying status						
Uninvolved	36	50	63	41	50	55
	(24 ~ 46)	(50 ~ 49)	$(67 \sim 60)$			
Pure-Victims	20	22	12	19	19	16
i die vietinis	(24 ~ 17)	$(26 \sim 18)$	$(8 \sim 16)$	1)	17	10
	× ,	× ,	× ,			
Pure-Bullies	6	3	1	2	5	3
	(6 ~ 6)	(3 ~ 2)	$(2 \sim 0)$			
Bully-Victims	38	25	24	38	25	26
Duny victims	(45 ~ 31)	$(20 \sim 31)$	$(22 \sim 24)$	50	25	20
			· · ·			
Types of sibling bullying						
Physical	48	35	24	47	35	27
1 119 51000	(57 ~ 41)	(29 ~ 39)	(25 ~ 23)	.,	00	
Verbal	47	38	30	43	37	37
	(54 ~ 42)	(32 ~ 42)	(31 ~ 30)			
Relational	16	12	17	15	16	14
Other	(25 ~ 9)	(6 ~ 16) 12	(15 ~ 18)	17	12	10
Uniti	$(21 \sim 13)$	$(9 \sim 15)$	$(14 \sim 9)$	1/	15	10

Sibling bullying involvement and by birth order and number of siblings (N = 301)

Figure S1

Translation and cross-cultural adaptation process of the T-SBQ



Figure S2





Figure S3

Correlations between the T-SBQ and R-SBQ scales and subscales



Appendix II: Study-II Supplementary Materials

Appendix A - Methods

Measures

Autistic Traits

The AQ-10 was used to assess the autistic characteristics of British and Turkish autistic adolescents. The AQ-10 was originally developed in English and later translated into Turkish and validated in a Turkish sample (Cetinoglu & Aras, 2022). In the current study, given the age range of the target autistic sample was between 9-20 years, the AQ-Child-10 was used to measure the autistic traits of those aged 9-11 years and the AQ-Adolescents-10 was used for those aged 12+ years. An overall autistic traits test scale was generated by summing the child and adolescent AQ scores. The autistic traits test scale showed good internal consistency in the British sample (a=.72) and acceptable in the Turkish sample (a=.54). The autistic traits variable was included as a potential confounder in the SEM models.

Sibling Bullying

The SBQ was used to evaluate the sibling bullying victimisation and perpetration experiences of autistic adolescents. The SBQ was originally developed in English (Dantchev et al., 2019a), adapted from the Olweus's (1993) bullying questionnaire, and was later translated into Turkish and validated in a Turkish sample of adolescents (Deniz et al., 2022).

In the present study, the SBQ showed good internal consistency reliability for both victimisation (UK a =.90, TR a =.80) and perpetration (UK a =.88, TR a =.75) subscales. Sibling victimisation and perpetration scales were used as continuous variables with higher scores indicating higher rates of sibling bullying involvement. Additionally, a well-accepted cut-off value, about once a week, was used to report descriptive statistics such as prevalence of sibling victimisation/perpetration and to construct sibling bullying groups: *Victim-only*: Those who were victimised at least once a week but perpetrated less than once a week, *Perpetrator-only*: Those who were victimised less than once a week but perpetrated at least once a week, *Victim-Perpetrator*: Those who were victimised by their neurotypical sibling and

perpetrated their sibling at least once a week (Dantchev & Wolke, 2019a; Toseeb et al., 2018; Wolke & Samara, 2014; Deniz et al., 2022).

Emotion Regulation

The ERC was used to measure the emotion regulation skills of autistic adolescents. The ERC was originally developed in English (Shields & Cicchetti, 1997) and has been used extensively in measuring the emotion regulation skills of autistic children, adolescents, and adults (Berkovits et al., 2017; Burton et al., 2020; Cai et al., 2018; Sáez-Suanes et al., 2020; Tajik-Parvinchi et al., 2020; Thomson et al., 2015). The ERC was later translated into Turkish and validated in a Turkish sample of children (Kapci et al., 2009) and has been widely used to measure the emotion regulation skills of neurotypical and neurodiverse Turkish children and adolescents aged 0-17 years old (Acar et al., 2021; Batum & Yagmurlu, 2007; Elikucuk & Ozyurt, 2018; Ozyurt et al., 2017a; Ozyurt et al., 2017b; Ozyurt et al., 2018; Pala et al., 2022). In this study, the emotion regulation subscale of the ERC showed acceptable internal consistency reliability in both British (*a*=.64) and Turkish (*a*=.70) samples.

Social Skills

The ASSP was used to measure social functioning and detrimental social behaviours of autistic adolescents. The ASSP was originally developed in English (Bellini & Hopf, 2007) and was later translated into Turkish and validated in a Turkish sample of children and adolescents (Demir, 2014). The social participation and social reciprocity subscales of the ASSP were combined to generate the social functioning test scale and detrimental social behaviours total score was used as indication of detrimental social behaviours. Both test scales were further modificated using according to item-test loadings. In the social functioning test scale showed excellent internal consistency in the British (a=.93) and Turkish (a=.96) samples. Similarly, in the detrimental social behaviours testscale, two items were removed due to showing a weak

item-test correlation (<.20) in either sample which provided good internal consistency and reliability in the British (a=.79) and Turkish (a=.76) samples.

Mental Health

The SDQ was used to measure the mental health of autistic adolescents. The original form of the SDQ was developed in English (Goodman, 1997) which was then translated into Turkish and validated in a sample of Turkish adolescents (Güvenir et al., 2008). Both internalising problems (UK=.60, TR=.71) and externalising problems (UK=.68, TR=.68) test scales showed acceptable internal consistency reliability in both samples.

Data Analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted using STATA/ MP 17. All variables in the SEM were manifest variables, instead of latent constructs. This was done to reduce model complexity and to improve model fit (Stephenson & Holbert, 2003). A recently developed MEDSEM package (Mehmetoglu, 2018) was used to report the indirect associations between sibling bullying and mental health difficulties. Monte Carlo simulation was used to replicate MEDSEM results on randomly generated samples (N=5000) to correct parameter estimates due to non-normal distribution in interest variables (see Table S4). To indicate how well the data fit the pre-hypothesised models, the following goodness of fit indices of the SEMS were reported: the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), comparative fit index (CFI), Tucker–Lewis index (TLI), Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR), and the coefficient of determination (CD) were reported. The model fits were considered adequate where the CFI and TLI \geq .90, RMSEA and SRMR \leq .08 (Browne & Cudeck, 1992; Hu & Bentler, 1999). Additionally, saturated models were also considered acceptable if the chi-square p-value was non-significant (>.05).

Missing Data

Data missingness was tested to see whether the prerequisites for using advanced techniques to handle missing data and maximise samples' power, missing at random (MAR), were met (Rubin, 2004). The MAR assumption indicates that missingness in the data is not

predicted by the observed values in variables of interest. In doing this, a binary variable was generated to indicate the presence of missing values in the data (0=No missing values, 1= One or more missing values). Logistic regression models were fitted, independently, to test whether the missingness in the data was predicted by the observed values in demographic (e.g., gender) or interest variables (e.g., sibling bullying, internalising and externalising problems). The results indicated that the data was MAR, thus, the prerequisites for data imputation were met (see Table S5).

Since the missing data were MAR, two advanced statistical techniques – multiple imputations by chained equations (MICE) and Full Information Maximum Likelihood (FIML) – were used to handle missing data. In fitting MICE, the predictive mean matching (PMM) method was used to generate 50 multiply imputed data sets, the number of imputed datasets (m) was greater than the highest proportion of missingness (Van Buuren, 2018), to report descriptive statistics on full samples. Additionally, FIML was used to maximise samples' power in SEMs. The number of missing and imputed values in demographic and interest variables can be seen in Table S6 (Supplementary materials).

Parents' Demographics

	UK (N=	289)	TR (N=1	171)		
	Freq	%	Freq	%		
Respondent						
Mother	231	80	151	88		
Father	58	20	20	12		
Ethnicity						
White	267	.92	-	-		
Non-White	22	.08	-	-		
Turkic	-	-	150	88		
Non-Turkic	-	-	21	12		
Education						
College degree or above	144	50	38	22		
Below college degrees	145	50	133	78		
Marital Status						
Married (First, second, or later)	272	94	163	95		
Not married (Single, divorced, etc)	17	6	8	5		
Living Area						
England	262	91	-	-		
Scotland	10	3.5	-	-		
Wales	10	3.5	-	-		
Northern Ireland	7	2	-	-		
Marmara	-	-	64	37		
Mediterranean	-	-	50	29		
Aegean	-	-	23	13		
Central Anatolia	-	-	18	10		
Other	-	-	16	9		

Note. Demographic information reported on multiply imputed date sets (m=50).

Demographic	Information	of Autistic	Children	by Coun	try
-------------	-------------	-------------	----------	---------	-----

	UK	(N=289)	TR (N=171)
	Freq	%	Freq	%
Gender (Autistic Child)				
Boys	210	73	137	80
Girls	79	27	34	20
Gender (Neurotypical Sibling)				
Boys	147	51	95	56
Girls	142	49	76	44
Birth order (Autistic Child)				
First-born	153	53	86	50
Second or later born	136	47	85	50
Birth order (Neurotypical Sibling)				
First-born	98	34	69	40
Second or later born	191	66	102	60
School Type (ASC)				
Mainstream	120	42	75	44
Special school	151	52	79	46
Other	18	6	17	10

Note. Demographic information is reported on multiply imputed date sets (m=50).

Internal Consistency of the Scales by Country

	U	K (N=28	89)	TR (N=171)		
Scale	Obs.	Item Test Cor.	alpha	Obs.	Item Test Cor.	alpha
Perpetration 1- Autistic child hit, kicked, pushed or shoved their NT sibling around or	288	.76	.86	161	.64	.72
threatened to do this	200			101		
2- Autistic child took or damaged their NT sibling's belongings, including money	288	.71	.87	160	.59	.74
3- Autistic child called their NT sibling nasty and hateful names	287	.79	.86	161	.73	.69
4- Autistic child made fun of their NT sibling	288	.78	.86	156	.71	.70
5- Autistic child kept their NT sibling out of things on purpose, left them	283	.78	.86	158	.51	.75
out of their group of friends or completely ignored them	202		07	1.50		=0
6- Autistic child told lies or spread rumours about their NT sibling, or	282	.74	.87	158	.62	.73
The to make others dislike them 7 Autistic shild bullied their NT sibling in another way	285	80	96	150	65	72
Test scale	283	.80	.80 .88	139	.05	.72 .75
Victimisation						
1- NT child hit, kicked, pushed or shoved their autistic sibling around or threatened to do this	285	.78	.89	152	.72	.77
2- NT child took or damaged their autistic sibling's belongings, including	285	.80	.88	149	.52	.78
money						
3- NT child called their autistic sibling nasty and hateful names	284	.76	.89	144	.71	.77
4- NT child made fun of their autistic sibling	286	.79	.88	144	.74	.76
5- NT child kept their autistic sibling out of things on purpose, left them	283	.74	.89	146	.64	.78
6. NT child told lies or spread rumours about their autistic sibling, or tried	283	70	88	1/13	60	77
to make others dislike them	203	.19	.00	145	.09	.//
7- NT child bullied their autistic sibling in another way	279	.87	.87	143	.64	.79
Test scale			.90			.80
Emotion Regulation	• • • •				10	
1- Is a cheerful child	281	.66	.56	161	.68	.64
2- Responds positively to neutral or friendly approaches by adults.	280	.65	.56	157	.73	.62
3- Responds positively to neutral or friendly approaches by peers.	280	.64	.57	155	.70	.63
4- Can say when s/he is feeling sad, angry or mad, fearful or afraid.	281	.41	.64	157	.64	.65
J- Seeins sau of insuess. 6. Displays flat affect (avpression is vacant and inavpressive: child seems	201	.40	.04 64	155	.39	.72
emotionally absent)	219	.45	.04	157	.49	.09
7- Is empathic towards others; shows concern when others are upset or	280	.59	.58	156	.66	.64
distressed.						
8- Displays appropriate negative emotions (anger, fear, frustration, distress) in response to hostile, aggressive or intrusive acts by peers	280	.45	.63	157	.28*	.73
Test scale			.64			.70
5UU-Internalising Problems	277	12	50	151	50	60
2. Many warries, often seems warried	277	.45	.38	151	.30	.09
3- Often unhappy, down-hearted or tearful	274	.52	.55 54	153	.09	.05 67
4- Nervous or clingy in new situations easily loses confidence	276	50	56	155	.05 67	.07
5- Many fears, easily scared	270	.56	.50	155	.63	.67
6- Rather solitary, tends to play alone	277	.33	.61	154	.50	.69
7- Has at least one good friend	277	.31	.61	151	.44	.71
8- Generally liked by other children	277	.46	.57	155	.50	.69
9- Picked on or bullied by other children	277	.50	.56	155	.44	.71
10- Gets on better with adults than with other children	277	.46	.57	151	.28	.73
Test scale			.60			.71
SDO Freemalicing Ducklasse						
DUC-EXIGENALISING FEODIEMS	276	61	63	152	63	62
2- Generally obedient, usually does what adults request	277	.56	.65	151	.60	.62

3- Often fights with other children or bullies them	277	.46	.67	151	.38	.68
4- Often lies or cheats	277	.53	.65	151	.37	.69
5- Steals from home, school or elsewhere	276	.53	.65	147	.36	.68
7- Constantly fidgeting or squirming	270	.03	.03	155	.57	.03
8- Fasily distracted concentration wanders	277	.50	.00	152	.59	.03 64
9- Thinks things out before acting	273	.33	.69	152	.50	.65
10- Sees tasks through to the end, good attention span	277	.36	.69	151	.51	.65
Test scale			.68			.68
1						
Anxiety ¹	072	65	01	154	57	00
2. ITEM 2 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	273	.05	.91	154	.57	.90
2- 11 EM-2 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.39 64	.91	140	.30	.90
4- ITEM-4 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	202	.0 4 60	.91 91	144	59	.90 90
5- ITEM-5 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.63	.91	148	.66	.90
6- ITEM-6 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	270	.64	.91	149	.71	.89
7- ITEM-7 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	270	.60	.91	141	.51	.90
8- ITEM-8 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.70	.91	143	.69	.90
9- ITEM-9 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	270	.54	.91	151	.70	.90
10- ITEM-10 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.59	.91	147	.62	.90
11- ITEM-11 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	269	.45	.91	148	.40	.90
12- ITEM-12 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	270	.60	.91	146	.67	.90
13- ITEM-13 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	271	.58	.91	145	.52	.90
14- ITEM-14 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	271	.59	.91	140	.47	.90
15-11EM-15 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	266	.58	.91	142	.50	.90
16-11 EM-16 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	2/1	.39	.91	135	.37	.90
17-11EM-17 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	209	.01	.91	139	.40	.90
19- ITEM-19 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.57	.91	141	.43 54	.90
20- ITEM-20 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	270	.02 61	91	138	59	90
21- ITEM-21 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.52	.91	139	.61	.90
22- ITEM-22 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	270	.54	.91	138	.36	.90
23- ITEM-23 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	272	.43	.91	136	.58	.90
24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights	269	.67	.91	135	.69	.89
24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale	269	.67	.91 .91	135	.69	.89 .90
24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale	269	.67	.91 .91	135	.69	.89 .90
24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning	269	.67	.91 .91	135	.69	.89 .90
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 	269 267	.67 .41	.91 .91 .92	135 139	.69 .62	.89 .90 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 	269 267 268	.67 .41 .52	.91 .91 .92 .92	135 139 135	.69 .62 .73	.89 .90 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 3- Asks questions about topics 	269 267 268 269	.67 .41 .52 .40	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135	.69 .62 .73 .75	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 3- Asks questions about topics 4- Maintains "give-and-take" conversations 	269 267 268 269 268	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 3- Asks questions about topics 4- Maintains "give-and-take" conversations 5- Expresses sympathy for others 	269 267 268 269 268 269 268	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 3- Asks questions about topics 4- Maintains "give-and-take" conversations 5- Expresses sympathy for others 6- Acknowledges others' interests 7- Bacarrizes the facial expressions of others 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 3- Asks questions about topics 4- Maintains "give-and-take" conversations 5- Expresses sympathy for others 6- Acknowledges others' interests 7- Recognizes the facial expressions of others 8- Understands the iokes or humour of others 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 57	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning 1- Takes turns during games and activities 2- Asks questions about a person 3- Asks questions about topics 4- Maintains "give-and-take" conversations 5- Expresses sympathy for others 6- Acknowledges others' interests 7- Recognizes the facial expressions of others 8- Understands the jokes or humour of others 9- Considers multiple viewpoints 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136 133	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 50	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136 133 134	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136 133 134 135	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136 133 134 135 136	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting 	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 136 133 134 135 136 131	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Iso on the previous of the second sec	269 267 268 269 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 133 134 135 136 131 136 134	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 133 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 134 131	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67 .67	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 133 134 136 131 136 134 131 133	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .72	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .65 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67 .62 .49	.91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 133 134 136 131 136 134 131 133 134	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .72 .77	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others I- Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Responds to questions directed at him/her Compromises during disagreements 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67 .62 .49 .59	.91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 134 131 133 134	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .72 .77 .56	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others I- Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Compromises during disagreements Compromises during disagreements Initiates previous directed at him/her 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63	.91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 133 138 138 136 131 136 131 136 134 131 133 134 127 127	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .72 .77 .56 .76	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others I- Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Compromises during disagreements Compromises during disagreements Initiating personal hygiene 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52	.91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 138 138 138 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 133 134 127 127 131	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .72 .77 .56 .76 .45 .45	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others I- Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Responds to questions directed at him/her Compromises during disagreements Initiating personal hygiene Speaks with an appropriate volume 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .46	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 138 138 138 138 138 134 135 136 131 136 134 131 133 134 127 127 131 126 130	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .73 .66 .73 .77 .56 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .75 .67 .67 .52 .75 .67 .52 .75 .67 .52 .75 .67 .52 .67 .52 .67 .55 .67 .52 .67 .55 .55 .67 .55 .67 .55 .67 .55 .67 .55 .55 .67 .55 .55 .67 .55 .55 .55 .55 .55 .55 .55 .55 .55 .5	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Yerbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Responds to questions directed at him/her Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Maintains personal hygiene Speaks with an appropriate volume Maintains appropriate distance with peers 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .46 .67	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 138 138 138 138 138 133 134 135 136 131 136 134 131 133 134 127 127 131 126 130 125	$\begin{array}{c} .69\\ .62\\ .73\\ .75\\ .67\\ .67\\ .64\\ .52\\ .47\\ .50\\ .58\\ .76\\ .72\\ .67\\ .73\\ .66\\ .73\\ .72\\ .77\\ .56\\ .76\\ .45\\ .64\\ .55\\ .73\end{array}$.89 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .9
 24. ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Yerbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Politely asks others to move out of the way Acknowledges compliments from others Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Maintains personal hygiene Speaks with an appropriate volume Maintains appropriate distance with peers Joins in activities with peers 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 .41 .52 .40 .69 .56 .58 .57 .68 .53 .58 .50 .52 .66 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .46 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .49 .59 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .49 .52 .63 .42 .52 .64 .67 .62 .67 .61	.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	 135 139 135 135 133 128 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 134 127 127 131 126 130 125 129 	$\begin{array}{c} .69\\ .62\\ .73\\ .75\\ .67\\ .67\\ .64\\ .52\\ .47\\ .50\\ .58\\ .76\\ .72\\ .77\\ .56\\ .73\\ .72\\ .77\\ .56\\ .45\\ .64\\ .55\\ .73\\ .79\end{array}$.89 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .9
 24. ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Speaks with an appropriate volume Maintains appropriate volume Maintains appropriate volume Invites peers to join in activities 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	$\begin{array}{c} .67\\ .41\\ .52\\ .40\\ .69\\ .56\\ .58\\ .57\\ .68\\ .53\\ .58\\ .50\\ .52\\ .66\\ .67\\ .62\\ .49\\ .59\\ .63\\ .42\\ .52\\ .46\\ .67\\ .61\\ .65\end{array}$.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	 135 139 135 135 133 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 134 131 133 134 127 127 131 126 130 125 129 127 	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .67 .67 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .72 .77 .56 .45 .64 .55 .73 .79 .68	.89 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .9
 24. ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Responds to questions directed at him/her Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Maintains personal hygiene Speaks with an appropriate volume Maintains appropriate distance with peers Inivites peers to join in activities Joins in activities with peers Interacts with peers during unstructured activities 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	$\begin{array}{c} .67\\ .41\\ .52\\ .40\\ .69\\ .56\\ .58\\ .57\\ .68\\ .53\\ .58\\ .50\\ .52\\ .66\\ .67\\ .62\\ .49\\ .59\\ .63\\ .42\\ .52\\ .46\\ .67\\ .61\\ .65\\ .61\end{array}$.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	 135 139 135 135 133 128 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 134 127 127 131 126 130 125 129 127 122 	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .74 .55 .73 .79 .68 .79	.89 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .9
 24. ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Verbally expresses how he/she is feeling Responds to the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Politely asks others to move out of the way Acknowledges compliments from others Responds to questions directed at him/her Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Maintains appropriate volume Maintains appropriate distance with peers Inities peers to join in activities Joins in activities with peers Fortexts with peers during unstructured activities Interacts with peers during structured activities 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 $.41$ $.52$ $.40$ $.69$ $.56$ $.58$ $.57$ $.68$ $.53$ $.50$ $.52$ $.66$ $.67$ $.62$ $.49$ $.59$ $.63$ $.42$ $.52$ $.46$ $.67$ $.61$ $.65$ $.61$ $.47$.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 128 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 131 136 134 131 133 134 127 127 131 126 130 125 129 127 122 130	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .72 .67 .73 .66 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .74 .55 .73 .79 .68 .79 .77	.89 .90 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95
 24. ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Understands the greetings of others Sond a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Provides compliments from others Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Maintains appropriate distance with peers Initiates press to join in activities Joins in activities with peers Interacts with peers during unstructured activities Interacts with groups of peers 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 $.41$ $.52$ $.40$ $.69$ $.56$ $.58$ $.57$ $.68$ $.53$ $.50$ $.52$ $.66$ $.67$ $.62$ $.49$ $.59$ $.63$ $.42$ $.52$ $.46$ $.67$ $.61$ $.65$ $.61$ $.47$ $.57$.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 131 136 131 133 134 127 127 131 126 130 125 129 127 122 130 126	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .73 .66 .72 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .77 .77	.89 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .9
 24- ITEM-24 not displayed due to the scale's Copyrights Test scale ASSP-Social Functioning Takes turns during games and activities Asks questions about a person Asks questions about topics Maintains "give-and-take" conversations Expresses sympathy for others Acknowledges others' interests Recognizes the facial expressions of others Understands the jokes or humour of others Considers multiple viewpoints Offers assistance to others Understands the greetings of others Joins a conversation without interrupting Initiates greetings with others Provides compliments to others Provides compliments from others Responds to questions directed at him/her Compromises during disagreements Introduces self to other Maintains appropriate distance with peers Joins in activities with opers Joins in activities with geers Interacts with grees during ustructured activities For larets with groups of peers Allows peers to join him/her in activities 	269 267 268 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269 269	.67 $.41$ $.52$ $.40$ $.69$ $.56$ $.58$ $.57$ $.68$ $.53$ $.50$ $.52$ $.66$ $.67$ $.62$ $.49$ $.59$ $.63$ $.42$ $.52$ $.46$ $.67$ $.61$ $.65$ $.61$ $.47$ $.57$ $.51$.91 .91 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92 .92	135 139 135 135 133 133 138 136 133 134 135 136 131 136 131 136 131 133 134 127 127 131 126 130 125 129 127 122 130 126 127	.69 .62 .73 .75 .67 .64 .52 .47 .50 .58 .76 .73 .66 .72 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .56 .73 .77 .77 .77 .77 .75	.89 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .95 .9

32- Engages in positive peer interactions 33- Engages in solitary interests and hobbies	261 263	.67 . 12 *	.92 .92	124 123	.77 .46	.95 .95
34- Exhibits fear or anxiety about social interactions	264	.04*	.92	122	.27*	.95
35- Engages in solitary activities near peers	264	.08*	.92	125	.14*	.96
Test scale			.92			.95
ASSP-Detrimental Social Behaviours						
1- Changes conversation topic to fit self-interests	263	.55	.73	116	.52	.71
2- Misinterprets the intentions of others	263	.69	.70	124	.60	.70
3- Makes inappropriate comments	261	.70	.70	119	.70	.67
4- Ends conversations abruptly	260	.66	.70	114	.65	.69
5- Fails to read cues to terminate conversations	201	.70	.70	111	.70	.08
- Experiences negative peer interactions	259	.30	./3	119	.05	.09 72
7- Eligages in socially mappropriate behaviours 8. Exhibits poor timing with his/her social initiations	239	.37	.72	122	.44	./5
0. Recognizes the "body language" of others	250	.70 10*	.70	120	.30 20*	.71
9- Recognizes the body language of others 10- Is manipulated by peers	258	.19* 20*	.78	123	36	.75 74
Test scale	250	.20	.78 75	124	.50	73
			•15			.15
AQ-Autistic Traits						
1-S/he often notices small sounds when others do not / S/he notices	287	.32	.74	167	.31	.56
patterns in things all the time						
2- S/he usually concentrates more on the whole picture, rather than the	287	.47	.72	159	.38	.54
small details / S/he usually concentrates more on the whole picture, rather						
than the small details						
3- In a social group, s/he can easily keep track of several different	287	.64	.68	162	.62	.45
people's conversations / In a social group, s/he can easily keep track						
of several different people's conversations	207		-	1.60		
4-She finds it easy to go back and forth between different	287	.52	.70	163	.57	.47
activities / If there is an interruption, s/he can switch back to what s/he						
was doing very quickly	200	45	70	150	24	
5- S/he doesn't know now to keep a conversation going with his/her peers	288	.45	.12	158	.34	.55
/ S/he frequently finds that s/he doesn't know how to keep a						
6. S/ha is good at social chit chat / S/ha is good at social chit chat	288	70	67	158	57	17
7. When s the is read a story s the finds it difficult to work out the	200	.70	.07	150	.57	.47
character's intentions or feelings / S/he finds it difficult to imagine	200	.57	.09	100	.42	.55
what it would be like to be someone else						
8-When s/he was in preschool s/he used to enjoy playing games	287	46	71	159	38	54
involving pretending with other children / When s/he was younger s/he	207	.10	•••	107	.50	
used to enjoy playing games involving pretending with other children						
9- S/he finds it easy to work out what someone is thinking or	288	.69	.67	160	.42	.52
feeling just by looking at their face / S/he finds social situations easy						
10- S/he finds it hard to make new friends / S/he finds it hard to make new	287	.52	.70	164	.43	.52
friends						
Test scale			.72			.54
				-	_	

Note. Internal consistency reports are based on the complete (non-imputed) datasets. Items 33, 34, and 35 were removed from the social functioning test scale due to showing a low item-test correlation. Items 9 and 10 were removed from the detrimental social behaviours subscale due to showing a low item-test correlation.

Skewness and Kurtosis Normality Test for Mediator and Dependent Variables

Variable	Observation	Skewness	Kurtosis	Adjusted	Chi2
				chi ²	р
British Sample (N=289)					
Emotion Regulation	289	.34	.78	0.98	.61
Social Functioning	289	.39	.00	24.19	<.001
Detrimental Social Behaviours	289	.44	.29	1.69	.43
Internalising Problems	289	.51	.67	0.62	.73
Externalising Problems	289	.50	.10	3.04	.21
Anxiety	289	.54	.25	1.70	.43
Turkish Sample (N=171)					
Emotion Regulation	171	.95	.94	0.01	.99
Social Functioning	171	.15	.25	3.36	.18
Detrimental Social Behaviours	171	.82	.18	1.84	.39
Internalising Problems	171	.83	.10	2.80	.25
Externalising Problems	171	.95	.01	6.34	.04
Anxiety	171	.01	.26	11.34	.01

Note. The normality test is conducted on multiply imputed data sets (N=50).

				UK						TR		
	N	Coef.	Std. err.	Z	р	CI	N	Coef.	Std. err.	Z	р	CI
Missingness												
Autistic Traits	283	.01	.03	0.60	.54	04, .07	144	01	.04	-0.04	.96	07, .07
Victimisation	275	03	.02	-1.32	.18	07, .02	134	.06	.04	1.44	.15	02, .14
Perpetration	279	02	.02	-1.03	.30	05, .02	148	.02	.04	0.55	.58	05, .09
Emotion Regulation	278	.07	.04	1.71	.08	01, .15	149	.01	.04	0.19	.85	07, .09
Social Functioning	253	01	.01	-0.99	.32	03, .01	99	.01	.01	0.97	.33	01, .03
Detrimental Social Behaviours	253	.01	.03	0.12	.90	06, .07	103	01	.04	-0.01	.99	08, .08
Anxiety	256	01	.01	-1.12	.26	04, .01	113	.01	.02	0.92	.36	02, .05
Internalising Problems	273	.04	.04	0.87	.38	05, .12	139	04	.05	-0.75	.45	13, .06
Externalising Problems	269	.03	.04	0.74	.46	05, .11	132	03	.05	-0.53	.59	14, .08

Logistic Regression Predicting Missingness Pattern (Missing at Random)

Missing and Imputed Values in the Demographic and Interest Variables

		UK		TR					
	Complete	Missing	Imputed	Total	Complete	Missing	Imputed	Total	
Demographic-Parent									
Responded (Mother, Father, etc)	288	1	1	289	166	5	5	171	
Ethnicity	288	1	1	289	162	9	9	171	
Marital	271	18	18	289	150	21	21	171	
Parental Education	288	1	1	289	162	9	9	171	
Living Area (England, Scotland, Marmara, etc)	288	1	1	289	166	5	5	171	
Urban living	288	1	1	289	154	17	17	171	
Religion	289	0	0	289	166	5	5	171	
Time spent together (Parent- Child)	260	29	29	289	123	48	48	171	
Demographic-Children									
Age (ASC)	286	3	3	289	157	14	14	171	
Age (NT)	287	2	2	289	167	4	4	171	
Gender (ASC)	283	6	6	289	163	8	8	171	
Gender (NT)	270	19	19	289	145	26	26	171	
Birth Order (ASC)	282	7	7	289	164	7	7	171	
Birth Order (NT)	277	12	12	289	152	19	19	171	
Number of Sibling	283	6	6	289	150	21	21	171	
Sibling Type	274	15	15	289	155	16	16	171	
Bullying Disclosure (ASC)	276	13	13	289	138	33	33	171	
Bullying Disclosure (NT)	281	8	8	289	141	30	30	171	
Time Spent Together (Siblings)	259	30	30	289	119	52	52	171	
School type (ASC)	285	4	4	289	167	4	4	171	
School attendance (ASC)	258	31	31	289	129	42	42	171	
School attendance (NT)	237	52	52	289	119	52	52	171	
Interest Variables									
Autistic Traits	283	6	6	289	144	27	27	171	
Victimisation	275	14	14	289	134	37	37	171	
Perpetration	279	10	10	289	148	23	23	171	
Emotion Reg.	278	11	11	289	149	22	22	171	
Social Functioning	253	36	36	289	100	71	71	171	
Detrimental Social Behaviours	253	36	36	289	103	68	68	171	
Anxiety	256	33	33	289	113	58	58	171	
Internalising Problems	273	16	16	289	139	32	32	171	
Externalising Problems	269	20	20	289	132	39	39	171	

Note. Missing data imputed using MICE-Regress option (N=50 multiply imputed dataset).

Sibling Bullying Rates by Autistic Child's Demographic Characteristics

	UK (N=289 ¹)										TR (N=17)	L ^a)		
		Sibling b	ullying Involve	ying Involvement Sibling Bullying Role					Sibling Bu	ıllying Involver	nent	Sibli	ng Bullying	Role
	N	Sibling victimisation Freq (%)	Sibling perpetration Freq (%)	Sibling bullying Freq (%)	Victim- only Freq (%)	Bully- only Freq (%)	Bully- victim Freq (%)	N	Sibling Victimisation Freq (%)	Sibling Perpetration Freq (%)	Sibling Bullying Freq (%)	Victim- only Freq (%)	Bully- only Freq (%)	Bully- victim Freq (%)
Overall	289	153 (53)	188 (65)	208 (72)	20 (7)	55 (19)	133 (46)	171	77 (45)	95 (56)	115 (67)	20 (12)	38 (22)	57 (33)
Gender														
Boys Girls	210 79	110 (52) 43 (54)	136 (65) 52 (66)	151 (72) 57 (72)	15 (7) 5 (11)	41 (19) 14 (18)	95 (45) 38 (48)	137 34	65 (47) 12 (35)	73 (53) 22 (65)	90 (67) 25 (73)	17 (12) 3 (9)	25 (18) 13 (38)	48 (35) 9 (26)
Birth order														
First-born Second or later born	153 136	76 (50) 77 (57)	91 (59) 97 (71)	104 (65) 104 (76)	13 (13) 7 (5)	28 (27) 27 (20)	63 (60) 70 (51)	86 85	44 (51) 33 (39)	57 (66) 38 (45)	65 (76) 50 (59)	8 (9) 12 (14)	21 (24) 17 (20)	36 (42) 21 (25)
Past sibling														
Yes No	114 175	85 (74) 68 (38)	93 (82) 95 (54)	101 (88) 107 (61)	8 (7) 12 (7)	16 (14) 39 (22)	77 (67) 56 (32)	41 130	28 (68) 49 (38)	30 (73) 65 (50)	36 (88) 79 (61)	6 (15) 14 (11)	8 (20) 30 (23)	22 (54) 35 (27)
Past sibling perpetration														
Yes No	129 160	78 (60) 75 (47)	96 (74) 92 (58)	104 (81) 104 (65)	8 (6) 12 (8)	26 (20) 29 (18)	70 (54) 63 (39)	41 130	23 (56) 54 (41)	29 (71) 66 (51)	35 (85) 80 (61)	6 (15) 14 (11)	12 (29) 26 (20)	17 (41) 40 (31)
Power imbalance														
Weaker ² Stronger	196 93	123 (63) 30 (32)	127 (65) 61 (66)	144 (73) 64 (69)	17 (9) 3 (3)	21 (11) 34 (37)	106 (54) 27 (29)	56 115	33 (59) 44 (38)	36 (64) 59 (51)	44 (79) 71 (62)	8 (14) 12 (10)	11 (20) 27 (23)	25 (45) 32 (28)

¹ Multiply imputed datasets (MICE) were used to report descriptives. ² Autistic child is weaker than the neurotypical sibling and vice versa.

			UK					TR		
	Coeff.	Std.	Z	р	[95% CI]	Coeff.	Std.	Z	р	[95% CI]
Standardized		Err.					Err.			
Victimisation	33	05	6 33	~ 001	11 23	08	07	1.01	312	23 07
CVRI	.30	.05	4.75	<.001 <.001	.18, .43	.54	.07	8.21	<.001	.41, .67
Emotion Regulation										
Victimisation	18	.06	-2.73	<.01	30,05	.01	.07	0.17	.867	14, .16
Autistic Traits	28	.06	-4.40	<.001	40,15	48	.06	-7.44	<.001	61,35
Social Functioning										
Victimisation	.05	.05	0.92	.358	05, .16	.15	.08	1.82	.069	01, .30
Autistic Traits	57	.05	-12.13	<.001	66,48	61	.06	-10.61	<.001	72,50
Det. Soc. Behav.										
Victimisation	.11	.07	1.76	.078	01, .25	.32	.11	2.79	<.01	.10, .55
Autistic Traits	.14	.07	2.12	.034	.01, .27	.04	.09	0.38	.704	23, .15
Anxiety Victimisation	.11	.06	1.67	.095	02, .23	.09	.08	1.06	.289	08, .27
Autistic Traits	.17	.07	2.26	.024	.02, .31	16	.11	-1.40	.160	38, .06
Emotion Regulation	32	.06	-5.01	<.001	45,19	50	.11	-4.43	<.001	73,28
Social Functioning	.40	.08	4.94	<.001	.24, .56	06	.16	-0.40	.686	37, .25
Det. Soc. Behav.	.22	.05	3.88	<.001	.11, .33	.35	.09	3.69	<.001	.16, .53
Internalising Prob.										
Victimisation	.13	.06	2.13	.033	.01, .25	.09	.08	1.22	.223	06, .25
Autistic Traits	.21	.07	3.07	<.01	.07, .35	.04	.09	0.39	.698	15, .22
Emotion Regulation	21	.06	-3.52	<.001	33,09	34	.10	-3.37	<.001	54,14
Social Functioning	.03	.08	0.42	.677	12, .18	31	.14	-2.21	.027	58,03
Det. Soc. Behav.	.37	.05	7.27	<.001	.27, .47	.38	.08	4.48	<.001	.21, .53
Externalising Prob.										
Victimisation	.14	.06	2.46	.014	.02, .25	.17	.08	2.09	.037	.01, .34
Autistic Traits	17	.06	-2.54	<.01	30,04	15	.10	-1.47	.141	34,05
Emotion Regulation	.04	.06	0.66	.512	07, .15	17	.11	-1.55	.121	39, .05
Social Functioning	30	.07	-4.09	<.001	44,16	51	.14	-3.59	<.001	79,23
Det. Soc. Behav.	.54	.04	-12.02	<.001	.45, .63	.25	.09	2.74	<.01	.07, .43
Emotion Regulation ~ Social Functioning	.46	.04	9.40	<.001	.37, .56	.61	.06	9.70	<.001	.48, .73
Emotion Regulation ~ Det. Soc. Behav.	01	.06	0.29	.768	14, .10	.06	.10	0.68	.496	12, .26
Social Functioning ~ Det. Soc. Behav.	.06	.06	0.93	.351	.06, .18	.29	.10	2.85	<.01	.09, .49
Anxiety ~ Internalising Prob.	.49	.04	10.15	<.001	.40, .59	.53	.07	7.31	<.001	.39, .67
Anxiety ~ Externalising Prob.	01	.06	-0.22	.822	13, .11	.16	.09	1.64	.102	03, .35
Internalising Prob. ~ Externalising Prob	07	.06	-1.23	.218	20, .05	.29	.08	3.47	<.001	.12, .46

SEM-I: Sibling Bullying Victimisation and Mental health: Path Coefficients

Note. Path coefficients are reported on full sample size using FIML (UK=287, TR=164).

			UK					TR		
Standardized	Coeff.	Std. Err.	Z	р	[95% CI]	Coeff.	Std. Err.	Z	р	[95% CI]
Perpetration										
Autistic Traits CPRI	03 .46	.05 .05	-0.51 8.66	.611 <.001	14, .08 .35, .56	05 .56	.07 .06	-0.67 8.79	.501 < .001	19, .09 .44, .69
Emotion Regulation										
Perpetration	29	.05	-5.34	<.001	40,18	03	.07	-0.44	.660	18, .11
Autistic Traits	23	.05	-4.21	<.001	34,12	48	.06	-7.49	<.001	61, -,36
Social Functioning										
Perpetration	04	.05	-0.82	.409	14, .06	.13	.07	1.74	.081	01, .27
Autistic Traits	60	.04	-14.93	<.001	68,52	62	.05	-11.05	<.001	73,51
Det Soc Behav										
Perpetration	.47	.049	9.48	<.001	.37, .57	.37	.08	-4.24	<.001	.20, .54
Autistic Traits	.14	.05	2.52	.012	.03, .24	.04	.09	0.39	.698	22, .14
Anvioty										
Perpetration	.23	.06	3.59	<.001	.10, .36	.13	.08	1.55	.121	03, .30
Autistic Traits	.16	.07	2.33	.020	.0230	- 15	.11	-1.29	.197	- 37. 07
Emotion Regulation	27	.06	-4.12	<.001	4014	49	.11	-4.33	<.001	7126
Social Functioning	.39	.07	5.04	<.001	.1455	06	.16	-0.42	.676	3824
Det. Soc. Behav.	.12	.06	1.84	.066	.01, .24	.32	.09	3.35	<.001	.13, .51
Perpetration	.04	.06	0.64	.521	0917	.19	.07	2.64	<.01	.0534
Autistic Traits	.18	.06	2.61	<.01	.0431	.05	.09	0.61	.543	1223
Emotion Regulation	23	.06	-3.65	<.001	10,35	33	.10	-3.46	<.001	52,14
Social Functioning	.05	.08	0.71	.479	1021	32	.13	-2.39	.017	5806
Det. Soc. Behav.	.36	.06	5.93	<.001	.24, .47	.35	.08	4.32	<.001	.19, .51
Externalising Prob.					,					,
Perpetration	.35	.05	6.18	<.001	.24, .46	.29	.08	3.40	<.001	.12, .45
Autistic Traits	15	.06	-2.59	<.01	27,04	12	.10	-1.23	.217	31, .07
Emotion Regulation	.11	.05	1.99	.046	.01, .22	15	.11	-1.43	.153	36, .06
Social Functioning	29	.07	-4.27	<.001	42,16	53	.14	-3.81	<.001	79,25
Det. Soc. Behav.	.39	.05	7.34	<.001	.29, .49	.20	.09	2.21	.027	.02, .39
Covariances Emotion Regulation ~ Social Functioning	.45	.05	8.97	<.001	.35, .55	.61	.06	9.72	<.001	.48, .73
Social Functioning ~ Det. Soc. Behav.	.10	.06	1.50	.134	.03, .22	.30	.09	3.05	<.01	.10, .49
Anxiety ~ Internalising Prob.	.51	.05	10.63	<.001	.41, .60	.52	.07	6.89	<.001	.37, .67
Anxiety ~ Externalising Prob.	08	.06	-1.42	.154	21, .03	.14	.10	1.41	.158	05, .33
Internalising Prob. ~ Externalising Prob.	08	.06	-1.31	.189	24, .04	.26	.08	3.07	<.01	.09, .43

SEM-II: Sibling Bullying Perpetration and Mental Health: Path Coefficients

Note. Path coefficients are reported on full sample size using FIML (UK=287, TR=164).

References

- Acar, I. H., Veziroğlu-Çelik, M., Çelebi, Ş., İngeç, D., & Kuzgun, S. (2021). Parenting styles and Turkish children's emotion regulation: The mediating role of parent-teacher relationships. *Current Psychology*, 40(9), 4427-4437.
- Batum, P., & Yagmurlu, B. (2007). What counts in externalizing behaviors? The contributions of emotion and behavior regulation. *Current Psychology: Developmental*• *Learning*• *Personality*• *Social*, 25(4), 272-294. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02915236
- Berkovits, L., Eisenhower, A., & Blacher, J. (2017). Emotion regulation in young children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of autism and developmental disorders*, 47(1), 68-79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-016-2922-2
- Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. *Sociological methods & research*, 21 (2), 230-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124192021002005</u>
- Burton, T., Ratcliffe, B., Collison, J., Dossetor, D., & Wong, M. (2020). Self-reported emotion regulation in children with autism spectrum disorder, without intellectual disability. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 76, 101599.
- Cai, R. Y., Richdale, A. L., Uljarević, M., Dissanayake, C., & Samson, A. C. (2018). Emotion regulation in autism spectrum disorder: Where we are and where we need to go. *Autism Research*, 11(7), 962-978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1968</u>
- Cetinoglu, E., & Aras, S. (2022). The Autism-Spectrum Quotient (AQ) Adolescent's Version in Turkey: Factor Structure, Reliability and Validity. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 52(7), 3260-3270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-021-05257-</u> <u>5</u>
- Demir, Ş. (2014). Assessing social skills of children with autism. Ankara University Journal of Faculty of Educational Sciences (JFES), 47(2), 1-22.
- Elikucuk, C. D., & Ozyurt, G. (2018). Augmentative and Alternative Communication and

Speech Prosody in Turkish-Speaking Children with Developmental Language Disorders: A Randomized Controlled Study of Awareness and Developmental Language Intervention. *Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences*, 8(3), 95. https://doi.org/10.5455/PBS.20180502122355

- Güvenir, T., Özbek, A., Baykara, B., Arkar, H., Şentürk, B., & İncekaş, S. (2008). Güçler ve güçlükler anketi'nin (gga) Türkçe uyarlamasinin psikometrik özellikleri. *Turkish Journal of Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, *15*, 65-74.
- Hu, L. T., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural equation modeling: a multidisciplinary journal*, 6(1), 1-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540</u>
- Kapci, E. G., Uslu, R., Akgun, E., & Acer, D. (2009). Psychometric properties of the Turkish adaptation of the emotion regulation checklist. *Turk J Child Adolesc Men Health*, 16(1), 13-20.
- Linares, L. O. (2006). An understudied form of intra-family violence: Sibling-to-sibling aggression among foster children. *Aggression and violent behavior*, *11*(1), 95-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2005.07.001
- Olweus, D. (1993). Bullying at school: What we know and what we can do. Blackwell.
- Ozyurt, G., Ozturk, Y., & Akay, A. (2017a). Evaluation of the relation between emotion regulations of children diagnosed with anxiety disorders and attachment, anxiety sensitivity, emotion regulation of their mothers. *Anadolu Psikiyatri Dergisi*, *18*(4), 369-379.
- Ozyurt, G., Ozturk, Y., & Akay, A. (2017b). Relation of emotion regulation and empathy skills with maternal emotion regulation and attachment in children diagnosed with ADHD. *Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry/Anadolu Psikiyatri Dergisi*, 18(6).

Ozyurt, G., Dinsever Eliküçük, Ç., Tufan, A. E., & Baykara, B. (2018). Are language features

and emotion regulation related to maternal depression in autism and language delay?. *Pediatrics International*, 60(10), 931-937.

- Pala, F. C., Gökdağ, C., Özsoy, D., & Hastaoğlu, Z. Ş. (2022). How parents assist children's emotion regulation in Turkey: The Turkish adaptation of the parental assistance with child emotion regulation (PACER) questionnaire. *Current Psychology*, 1-15.
- Sáez-Suanes, G. P., García-Villamisar, D., del Pozo Armentia, A., & Dattilo, J. (2020). Emotion regulation as a mediator between depressive symptoms and autism spectrum disorder (ASD) in adults with ASD and intellectual disabilities. *Research in autism spectrum disorders*, 78, 101654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2020.101654</u>
- Stephenson, M. T., & Holbert, R. L. (2003). A Monte Carlo simulation of observable versus latent variable structural equation modeling techniques. *Communication Research*, 30(3), 332-354. <u>https://doi-org.manchester.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/0093650203030003004</u>
- Tajik-Parvinchi, D. J., Farmus, L., Cribbie, R., Albaum, C., & Weiss, J. A. (2020). Clinical and parental predictors of emotion regulation following cognitive behaviour therapy in children with autism. *Autism*, 24(4), 851-866. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320909178

Thomson, K., Burnham Riosa, P., & Weiss, J. A. (2015). Brief report of preliminary outcomes of an emotion regulation intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45(11), 3487-3495.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2446-1

Appendix III: Study-III Supplementary Materials

Table S1

Raw score to metric score conversion of the SWEMWBS (Stewart-Brown et al., 2009, p.7)

Raw Score	Metric Score
7	7
8	9.51
9	11.25
10	12.40
11	13.33
12	14.08
13	14.75
14	15.32
15	15.84
16	16.36
17	16.88
18	17.43
19	17.98
20	18.59
21	19.25
22	19.98
23	20.73
24	21.54
25	22.35
26	23.21
27	24.11
28	25.03
29	26.02
30	27.03
31	28.13
32	29.31
33	30.70
34	32.55
35	35

Testing the Missingness Pattern in the Dataset

	Odds ratio	Std. err.	Z	Р	95% CI
Missingness Pattern					
Sex^1	.68	.27	-0.93	.351	.30, 1.52
Ethnicity ²	1.18	.65	0.31	.760	.39, 3.50
Victimisation (Age 11)	.87	.10	-1.17	.241	.69, 1.09
Victimisation (Age 14)	1.12	.13	0.98	.325	.88, 1.42
Perpetration (Age 11)	1.14	.13	1.11	.266	.90, 1.44
Perpetration (Age 14)	.80	.10	-1.66	.097	.61, 1.04
Self-esteem (Age 11)	.94	.06	-0.76	.448	.82, 1.08
Self-esteem (Age 14)	1.03	.06	0.49	.625	.90, 1.17
Internalising Problems (Age 17)	.88	.05	-1.96	.050	.79, 1.00
Externalising Problems (Age 17)	.96	.04	-0.76	.446	.86, 1.06
Wellbeing (Age 17)	.90	.05	-1.77	.077	.80, 1.01

¹ Male

² White

Missing and Imputed Values

	Complete	Missing	Imputed	% of missing/imputed values	Total
Demographics					
Ethnicity	403	13	13	3%	416
Sex	410	6	6	1.5%	416
Late diagnosis	372	44	44	11%	416
Birth order	400	16	16	4%	416
Number of siblings	416	0	0	0%	416
Own bedroom	410	6	6	1.5%	416
Family income	355	61	61	15%	416
SEM Variables					
Sibling Victimisation (Time 1)	348	68	68	16%	416
Sibling Perpetration (Time 1)	353	63	63	15%	416
Sibling Victimisation (Time 2)	288	128	128	31%	416
Sibling Perpetration (Time 2)	286	130	130	31%	416
Self-esteem (Time 1)	335	81	81	20%	416
Self-esteem (Time 2)	281	135	135	32%	416
Internalising Problems (Time 3)	248	168	168	40%	416
Externalising Problems (Time 3)	243	173	173	42%	416

Note. Missing data imputed using MICE (m=50).

	Bullying Type			Bullying Ro	ole	
	Sibling Bullying N (%)	Sibling Victimisation N (%)	Sibling Perpetration N (%)	Victim- only N (%)	Perpetrator- only N (%)	Victim- Perpetrator N (%)
Overall	259 (62%)	243 (58%)	168 (40%)	91 (35%)	16 (6%)	152 (59%)
Ethnicity						
White	237 (65%)	224 (61%)	151 (41%)	86 (36%)	13 (6%)	138 (58%)
Non-White	22 (45%)	19 (39%)	17 (35%)	5 (23%)	3 (14%)	14 (63%)
Sex						
Males	197 (61%)	184 (57%)	133 (41%)	64 (32%)	13 (7%)	120 (61%)
Females	62 (68%)	59 (65%)	35 (38%)	27 (43%)	3 (5%)	32 (52%)
Late-Diagnosis						
Late-diagnosed	218 (64%)	206 (61%)	144 (42%)	74 (34%)	12 (6%)	132 (60%)
Early-diagnosed	41 (53%)	37 (48%)	24 (31%)	17 (41%)	4 (10%)	20 (49%)
Birth order						
First-born	109 (65%)	101 (60%)	62 (37%)	47 (43%)	8 (7%)	54 (50%)
Second or later born	150 (60%)	142 (57%)	106 (43%)	44 (29%)	8 (6%)	98 (65%)
Number of siblings						
One-only sibling	107 (55%)	102 (53%)	59 (30%)	48 (45%)	5 (5%)	54 (50%)
Two or more sibling	152 (68%)	141 (64%)	109 (49%)	43 (28%)	11 (7%)	98 (65%)
Having own bedroom						
Own	173 (60%)	162 (56%)	108 (38%)	65 (38%)	11 (6%)	97 (56%)
Shared	86 (67%)	81 (63%)	60 (47%)	26 (30%)	5 (6%)	55 (64%)
			× ,			
Family income	1.00 (50.00)	150 (5151)	0.0 (2.61)	61 (66 -1)	10 (()	00 (5 (5))
High	160 (58%)	150 (54%)	99 (36%)	61 (38%)	10 (6%)	89 (56%)
Low^2	99 (70%)	93 (66%)	69 (49%)	30 (30%)	6 (6%)	63 (64%)

Prevalence of Sibling Bullying by Participants' Demographics (n=416)

Note. Descriptive statistics are reported on the multiply imputed data sets (m=50) MICE.

² OECD below median income

¹ OECD above median income

Sensitivity SEM1(N=416)

Standardised	β	SE	Z	р	95% C
Direct Pathways					
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	14	.05	-2.55	<.01	24,0
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	09	.08	-1.03	.304	26, .0
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.10	.08	1.29	.196	05, .2
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.05	.06	0.84	.403	07, .1
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	.39	.05	7.64	<.001	.29, .4
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	01	.10	-0.16	.871	22, .1
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	05	.09	-0.57	.571	24, .1
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.01	.08	0.14	.886	14, .1
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	31	.09	-3.13	<.01	50,1
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	32	.08	-3.81	<.001	48,1
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.33	.06	4.90	<.001	.20, .4
					,
Concurrent Associations Externalising Problems (T3) チナ Wellbeing (T3)	- 40	06	_7 22	<i>~</i> 001	- 62 - 3
Internalising Problems (T2) \checkmark Wellbeing (T2)	>	.00	-7.22	< 001	02,3
Externalising Problems $(T_2) \leftarrow \Delta$ Internalising Problems (T_2)	37	.10	-5.52	< 001	77,3
Externalising Floblenis $(13) \leftarrow 7$ internalising Floblenis (13)	.00	.15	5.87	<.001	.55, 1.0
Covariates Ethnicity \rightarrow Sibling Victimization (T1)	15	05	2 55	011	03 2
Sex \rightarrow Sibling Victimisation (T1)	04	.05	-0.85	.394	15, .0
Late Diagnosis \rightarrow Sibling Victimisation (T1)	.09	.05	1.65	.098	01, .2
Birth order \rightarrow Sibling Victimisation (T1)	03	.05	-0.72	.472	14, .0
Own Bedroom \rightarrow Sibling Victimisation (T1)	12	.05	-2.34	.019	23,0
Family Income \rightarrow Sibling Victimisation (T1)	.07	.05	1.44	.150	02, .1
Ethnicity \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	08	.05	-1.45	.146	19, .0
Sex \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	.23	.04	4.95	<.001	.14, .3
Late Diagnosis → Self-Esteem (T2)	06	.05	-1.08	.281	17, .0
Birth order \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	14	.05	-2.73	<.01	24,0
Sex \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	37	.07	-5.18	<.001	52,2
Family income \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	.25	.08	2.91	<.01	.08, .4
Family income \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.12	.07	1.69	.091	02, .2
Ethnicity \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.04	.06	0.51	.611	10, .1
Late diagnosis → Externalising Problems (T3)	.07	.07	1.08	.280	06, .2
Late diagnosis \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	03	.05	-0.62	.533	15, .0
Family income \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	14	.05	-2.44	.015	26,0
Factor Loadings					
Internalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow Emotional Problems (T3)	.67	.07	9.59	<.001	.538
Internalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow Peer Problems (T3)	.43	.06	6.64	<.001	.30, .5
Externalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow Conduct Problems (T3)	.62	.05	11.24	<.001	.517
Table S6

Sensitivity SEM2 (N=416)

Standardised	β	SE	Z	р	95% CI
Direct Pathways					
Sibling Perpetration $(T1) \rightarrow$ Self-Esteem $(T2)$	14	.05	-2.59	<.01	24,03
Sibling Perpetration (T1) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	14	.08	-1.55	.121	30, .03
Sibling Perpetration (T1) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.13	.07	1.55	.120	03, .28
Sibling Perpetration (T1) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	08	.06	-1.26	.209	21, .04
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	.39	.05	7.56	<.001	.29, .49
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	01	.10	-0.15	.878	22, .19
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	06	.09	-0.63	.526	24, .12
Self-Esteem (T1) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.01	.07	0.22	.827	13, .17
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	32	.09	-3.26	<.001	52,13
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	31	.08	-3.71	<.001	47,15
Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	.30	.06	4.54	<.001	.17, .44
Concurrent Associations	47	0.6	< 00	.001	(1 22
Externalising Problems (13) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Wellbeing (13)	47	.06	-6.88	<.001	61,33
Internalising Problems (T3) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Wellbeing (T3)	59	.10	-5.73	<.001	80,39
Externalising Problems (T3) $\leftarrow \rightarrow$ Internalising Problems (T3)	.82	.13	5.93	<.001	.54, 1.09
Covariates					
Ethnicity \rightarrow Sibling Perpetration (T1)	01	.05	-0.08	.933	12, .11
Sex \rightarrow Sibling Perpetration (11) Late Diagnosis \rightarrow Sibling Perpetration (T1)	.01 13	.05	0.23	.820	09, .11
Birth order \rightarrow Sibling Perpetration (T1)	01	.00	-0.23	.815	1109
Own Bedroom \rightarrow Sibling Perpetration (T1)	05	.05	-1.01	.315	16, .05
Family Income \rightarrow Sibling Perpetration (T1)	.10	.05	1.86	.063	01, .21
Ethnicity \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	09	.05	-1.77	.077	20, .01
Sex \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	.24	.05	5.15	<.001	.1534
Late Diagnosis \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	06	.05	-1.04	.297	1705
Birth order \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2)	14	.05	-2.66	<.01	23,03
Sex \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	36	.07	-5.02	<.001	51,22
Family income \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	.25	.08	3.02	<.01	.09 .42
Family income \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.12	.07	1.67	.096	02, .27
Ethnicity \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.06	.07	0.83	.404	0719
Late diagnosis \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	.07	.07	1.00	.315	06, .21
Late diagnosis \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	02	.06	-0.50	.619	1408
Family income \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	13	.05	-2.26	.024	25,01
Factor Loadings					
Internalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow Emotional Problems (T3)	66	06	9 74	< 001	53 80
Internalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow Peer Problems (T3)	.00	.00	6 75	<.001 <.001	.30, 56
Externalising Problems $(T3) \rightarrow Conduct Problems (T3)$	67	05	11 31	< 001	51 73
Externalising Problems (T3) \rightarrow Hyperactivity (T3)	.02 76	.05	13 73	< 001	65 87
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$.05	13.75	TLLO	.05, .07

Note. Model Fit= χ^2 (35) = 38.09, χ^2 (p)=.330, RMSEA = 0.01, CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.98, CD= 0.63.

Table S7

Sensitivity Mediation Findings (n=416)

	Standardised	Coefficients		Sobel Test				
Mediation Pathways	X -> M	M -> Y	X -> Y	Ind. eff.	Std. err.	Z	р	95% CI
	β (<i>p</i>)	β (<i>p</i>)	β (<i>p</i>)					
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	139 (< .01)	309 (.002)	091 (.304)	.043	.022	1.98	.048	.00, .09
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	139 (< .01)	316 (<.001)	.103 (.196)	.044	.021	2.11	.034	.01, .08
Sibling Victimisation (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	139 (< .01)	.330 (< .001)	.055 (.403)	046	.020	-2.26	.024	08,01
Sibling Perpetration (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Internalising Problems (T3)	140 (< .01)	322 (< .001)	136 (.121)	.045	.022	2.03	.043	.01, .09
Sibling Perpetration (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Externalising Problems (T3)	140 (< .01)	310 (< .001)	.124 (.120)	.043	.020	2.12	.034	.01, .08
Sibling Perpetration (T1) \rightarrow Self-Esteem (T2) \rightarrow Wellbeing (T3)	140 (< .01)	.310 (<.001)	085 (.193)	043	.019	-2.25	.024	08,01

Appendix IV: Study-IV Supplementary Materials

Table S1

Parents' Demographics by Country

	UK (n=164)	TR (N=87*)
Respondent		
Mother	142 (87%)	78 (90%)
Father	22 (13%)	9 (10%)
Ethnicity		
White	148 (90%)	-
Turkic	-	75 (86%)
Other	16 (10%)	12 (14%)
Education		
College degree or above	94 (57%)	19 (22%)
Below college degrees	70 (43%)	68 (78%)
Marital Status		
Married (First, second, or later)	128 (78%)	69 (80%)
Non-married (Single, cohabiting, separated, divorced, other)	38 (22%)	17 (19%)
Not reported	-	1 (1%)
Working Status		
Employed	112 (68%)	19 (22%)
Unemployed	52 (32%)	63 (72%)
Not reported	-	5 (6%)
Living Area		
England	157 (96%)	
Scotland	3 (2%)	
Wales	4 (2%)	
Marmara (Greater Istanbul)	-	39 (45%)
Mediterranean	-	23 (24%)
Aegean	-	11 (14%)
Other (Black Sea, Middle, Eastern, or Southeastern Anatolia)	-	14 (17%)
Urban living		
Urban	124 (76%)	76 (87%)
Rural	40 (24%)	11 (13%)

Note. * Of 96 Turkish parents, 9 participants did not report any demographic information.